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Special Note Regarding Forward-looking Statementsral Industry Data

This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statemethtst are based on our management’s beliefs andnasisins and on information
currently available to our management. The forwaaking statements are contained principally indbetions entitled “Risk factors,”
“Management’s discussion and analysis of finanoieddition and results of operations,” and “BusineBsrward-looking statements include
information concerning our possible or assumedréutasults of operations, business strategiesding plans, competitive position, industry
environment, potential growth opportunities andéfects of competition. Forwarldoking statements include statements that ardistdrical
facts and can be identified by terms such as “guaies,” “believes,” “could,” “seeks,” “estimatesgxpects,” “intends,” “may,” “plans,”
“potential,” “predicts, “projects,” “should,” “will" “would” or similar expressions and the negatiegshose terms.

”ou ” i, 3,

Forward-looking statements involve known and unkneisks, uncertainties and other factors that nayse our actual results,
performance or achievements to be materially difiefrom any future results, performance or achieamts expressed or implied by the
forward-looking statements. We discuss these iiskgeater detail in “Risk factors” and elsewheretiis Form 10-K. Given these
uncertainties, you should not place undue reliamcthese forward-looking statements. Also, forwimmking statements represent our
management’s beliefs and assumptions only as afdteof this Form 10-K.

Except as required by law, we assume no obligatiarpdate these forward-looking statements, opttate the reasons actual results
could differ materially from those anticipated irese forward-looking statements, even if new infition becomes available in the future. You
should read this Form 10-K completely and with thelerstanding that our actual future results mambaterially different from what we
expect.

Corporate information

Our predecessor company, TeleNav, Inc., incorpdrait¢he State of Delaware in 1999 and we incorgarin the State of Delaware in
2009 as TNAV Holdings, Inc. Pursuant to stockholaeprovals received in December 2009, our predecessnpany merged with and into us
on April 15, 2010. As the entity surviving the mergupon completion of the merger, we changed aorento TeleNav, Inc. Our executive
offices are located at 1130 Kifer Road, Sunnyv@kdjfornia 94086, and our telephone number is (438)-3800. Our website address is
www.telenav.com. The information on, or that carebeessed through, our website is not part ofRbrsn10-K.

We file or furnish periodic reports, including camnual reports on Form 10-K, our quarterly report$=orm 10-Q and our current reports
on Form 8-K, our proxy statements and other infdiomawith the Securities and Exchange Commissiothe SEC. Such reports, proxy
statements and other information may be obtaineddiing the Public Reference Room of the SECC# E Street, NE, Washington, D.C.
20549, by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 ordndig an electronic message to the SEC at pufdi@sec.gov. In addition, the SEC
maintains a website (www.sec.gov) that containsmspproxy and information statements and othirimation regarding issuers that file
electronically. Our reports, proxy statements ati@ioinformation are also made available, freehafrge, on our investor relations website at
http://investor.telenav.com/financials.cfm as sasmreasonably practicable after we electronicéllysuch information with the SEC. The
information posted on our website is not incorpedanto this Form 10-K.

In this Form 10-K, “we,” “us” and “our” refer to T&Nav, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

The names “TeleNa® " “TeleNav GPS Navigator™”, “GR&vigator™”, “TeleNav Track™", “TeleNav Vehicle acker™”, “TeleNav
Asset Tracker™”, “TeleNav Shotgun™”, “TeleNav VeleidManager™”, “ONMYWAY® " “OMW™” “Sipity™”, “Alway s Find Your
Way™” “Wherebout2 ”, “Smart Planner™”, “My Milea@®”, “TeleNav Navigator™”, “Evie™”, “Jungle™”, “MyTés™"” and “TeleNav
LocalAdvantage™” and our logo are our trademarkkother trademarks and trade names appearingsr-ttrm 10K are the property of the
respective owners.
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

Our mission is to help people be more productieelglss stressed, and have more fun whentheyi the go. Our personalized naviga
services “get you and get you there” and help angb people make daily decisions about “where tchgw to get there, what to do, and even
when to go”—and we make it possible across mol@lgéats, mobile applications, wireless carrierspagbiles, and enterprises, both
domestically and abroad. In the three months edded 30, 2011, we had a monthly average of 24 lmjbaying end users.

As a leading provider of personalized navigatiod kxtation based services, or LBS, we are wellt{fmeéd to capitalize on growing
market opportunities to reach new customers angesapre people in more places with features sudbcasion based search and voice-guided
navigation. By using the most integral tools of tzdly lives of people on the go, their mobile pesrand vehicles, people can access our
personalized navigation and location based serdbmest anytime and anywhere to help them quicklgide where to go, how to get there,
what to do, and even when to go—in both persondlprofessional settings.

Consumers, wireless carriers, enterprises and altilermanufacturers and original equipment manufacs, or OEMs, are our
customers. We generate revenue from recurringaestibscriptions, software licenses, premium sesvénd mobile advertising and
commerce. End users with recurring subscription®fw services are generally billed for our sersitt@ough their wireless carrier. Our
wireless carrier customers pay us based on sediffieent revenue models, including (1) a monthipscription fee per end user, (2) a fixed
annual fee for any number of subscribers (up tcifipd thresholds) receiving our services as pabumdles with other voice and data servis
or (3) a revenue sharing arrangement that maydecéduminimum fee per end user, (4) based on usagther basis. We also derive revenue
from the delivery of customized software and ragalfrom the distribution of this customized softev&n automotive navigation applications,
as well as through premium services and mobile cernensold to consumers and mobile advertising teoélvertisers and advertising
agencies.

Through our hosted service delivery model, we mtewiur solutions to end users and customers thrihgyhetworks of leading wireless
carriers in the United States, including AT&T MabjilLLC, or AT&T, Sprint Nextel Corporation, or Spt, T-Mobile USA, Inc., or T-Mobile,
and U.S. Cellular Corporation, or U.S. Cellularnadl as through certain wireless carriers in ottmuntries. Our flexible and proprietary
platform enables us to efficiently reach and retairs of millions of end users, across more thantg@es of mobile phones, all major mobile
phone operating systems and a broad range of w&reletwork protocols. This platform provides datd analytics to create more personalized
experiences for mobile applications, location baagkrtising and customer lifecycle management.

Our fiscal year ends June 30. In this Form 10-Kye&fer to the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009, 20it02011 as fiscal 2009, fiscal 2010
and fiscal 2011, respectively. Our total revenumagirom $110.9 million in fiscal 2009 to $171.2 hih in fiscal 2010 and to $210.5 million
fiscal 2011. Our net income also increased from&2gillion in fiscal 2009 to $41.4 million in fist2010 and to $42.6 million in fiscal 2011.

I ndustry background

The mobile phone is the most widely used portablaraunication device in the world and continuesl&y @n increasingly prominent
role in consumers’ and business professionalssli@gnificant improvements in device technologied the deployment of advanced mobile
wireless networks have not only enhanced mobilepklioperformance, but also made possible the iatiegr of features and functions such as
email, instant messaging, Internet browsing anéuarforms of multimedia. Historically, these fertsiand functions were only available on
Internet connected PCs. The inclusion of locatietednination technologies, such as the

1
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satellite based Global Positioning System, or G 8)obile phones has allowed location data to leelis enhance and expand the service:
can be delivered to mobile phone users and comgibto the emergence of the LBS market.

The LBS market consists of advanced mobile Intesnetdata applications that leverage location imfdion to provide mobile phone
users with location specific and personalized festand functions. LBS that incorporate locatidnrimation include turn by turn navigation,
route planning, real time traffic alerts and poiotsnterest, or POI, searches. Beyond these ntawigapecific services, new mobile LBS, such
as location based advertising, commerce and soefalorking, have emerged. Heightened consumer aaseof the scope and benefits of
these services are leading to increased demandeTymamics result, in part, from the availabitifyfadvanced GPS enabled mobile phones
and wireless networks as well as wireless carrigrehg marketing efforts as they seek to increagenue from data-centric applications, such
as LBS.

Advanced, GPS enabled mobile phones and wirelé¢amries are proliferating In an effort to remain competitive, mobile phone
manufacturers and wireless carriers are rapidhpihtcing mobile phones with enhanced features anctibns, including GPS. Mobile phones
that incorporate GPS technology are typically cépabsupporting advanced mobile phone operatirsgesys and rich data applications
because of other enhancements, such as fastespoosgincreased memory and larger high resolstogens. Wireless carriers continue to
invest hundreds of billions of dollars deploying a@d 4G wireless networks worldwide. In combinatitese advancements and investments
have changed the way consumers access and intgtiadhternet based content and services, effelgtivenging the richness of the PC based
Internet experience to the mobile phone and englifie emergence of LBS.

The LBS market offers multiple opportunities fgpamsion. The enhanced convenience and utility associatédlBS is driving rapid
adoption and growth of the LBS market. For examplebile navigation, the most popular LBS applicatioday, makes it easier for consun
to find their way, including driving from one lodaih to another. LBS are not limited to mobile phdresed navigation services. LBS enable
consumers to enjoy benefits of an enhanced matiidgriet experience, such as location based adwgitisommerce and social networking on
their mobile phones and on other mobile devicesS ko enables consumers to enjoy an enrichedataigexperience in their cars.
Similarly, services such as mobile resource managénor MRM, enable enterprises to leverage thetitsrof LBS to more effectively and
efficiently manage their mobile resources.

In response to consumer demand for affordable asg ® use LBS, LBS providers are developing atrddlucing new applications that
integrate location information in innovative wajar example, a consumer can use a mobile phonestbngtime and anywhere to help them
quickly decide where to go, how to get there, wbato, and even when to go. As LBS applicationsdasingly incorporate consumers’
locations and preferences, targeted mobile adirggtend commerce will become more compelling arldatale to advertisers and marketers.

In a similar response to consumer demand, automatdinufacturers are introducing affordable navigatinits as a central componen
on-board entertainment and information systemssé liretegrated units extend beyond traditional retiog units by combining audio and
voice capabilities with wireless network connedtivtb deliver real time LBS, such as traffic, weatinformation and other connected data.

Enterprises are seeking solutions that enable tbarost effectively and efficiently manage theirbile resources, as well as their
company data, communications and work flow. Histlly, these solutions required the deploymentostly applications and hardware,
primarily limiting the use of these solutions toda enterprises. The development and widespredthhbnity of LBS provides enterprises of all
sizes with a viable alternative, MRM. Enterprisadg LBS solutions can help increase the adoptionddfile business applications. MRM
solutions give business customers visibility oveitt mobile assets while enabling the movemeneaf time information like work orders and
proof of service processes.
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I ndustry challenges

Technological advancements have led consumergecekmmediate access to the latest, most accunfatenation, real time responses
and greater convenience at lower cost in both fherisonal and professional lives. At the same timieless carriers are facing pressure to
increase revenue and increase subscriber loyadty result, wireless carriers are investing heawilyireless network infrastructure and
partnering with handset OEMs, application providend mobile operating system providers, to kee péath end user demand and the latest
technologies.

Challenges facing end userslistorically, consumers relied on paper mapstorigation and paper directories for limited infation
about POls. More recently, many consumers begaglymn directions they could download and priatnfrthe Internet. However, these
solutions often require advanced planning, are arsdme and dangerous to use while driving and ¢gmoweide updated directions based on
route conditions or reroute a driver when he orishest. The increased use of GPS technology iloua consumer applications addressed
many of the shortcomings of these traditional naticm solutions. Personal navigation devices, oDBNequire dedicated navigation only
hardware. Most GPS based solutions also rely orpmggand POI information that is static, requirt@nsumers to expend time, effort and
money to periodically refresh the content and safewDue to the general lack of upgradeabilitys¢hsolutions become obsolete very quickly,
requiring consumers to replace the device if thaytio take advantage of many of the latest featanel functions.

Enterprises also face the challenge of managingdhglexity of their organizations and increasing productivity of their workforces
and assets in a cost effective manner. Addresseg Imeeds such as locating, tracking and dispejchorkforces, as well as delivering time
sensitive information to and from the field, isesftdifficult and expensive. Developing solutionattiecurely link enterprises’ information
technology infrastructure with diverse mobile degidn the field typically requires costly, time saming implementations that rely largely on
customized components.

Challenges facing automobile manufacturdise automobile industry is experiencing significeohsumer demands resulting from the
distributed internet. Current on-board navigatigstems are limited to the vehicle in which they iastalled and the mapping and POI data is
static, requiring time, cost and effort to upddteey are also considered expensive and as a sgtdt from relatively low rates of adoption
consumers. Manufacturers that can enhance the iexp&rience with mobile connectivity and improvefibtainment capabilities are finding
greater acceptance from consumers, but the delofethyese capabilities is technically challengimgl @ot a traditional part of the auto
manufacturer’s capabilities. This challenge is idigvauto manufacturers to seek new partners tdedifierentiated in-car experiences.

Challenges facing wireless carrier§Vireless carriers are under pressure to increagnue and enhance subscriber loyalty. Their core
voice businesses are threatened by several keyrgaatcluding strong competition in a heavily peated market, a lack of subscriber loyalty
due to phone number portability and potential caitipa from free voice service providers. Compourgithese issues, wireless carriers are
under increasing pressure to invest in infrastmecta keep pace with consumer expectations andehmeand for low cost, reliable and
increasingly faster network service. Additionabpme mobile phone manufacturers and mobile phoagatipg system providers are seekin
develop direct relationships with consumers, witichld weaken the existing relationship wirelessiees share with their subscribers. For
example, Google, Inc., or Google, offers free valdgen, turn by turn, mobile navigation software Android phones, along with access to the
Android Marketplace with tens of thousands of addl LBS applications, including local searchfficainformation and events offerings.
Nokia Corporation, or Nokia, provides a downloadifs latest version Nokia Maps on its smart phpraglucts to consumers free of chai
Microsoft Corporation, or Microsoft, also providiese turn by turn navigation software on its WindoMobile operating system. Although
wireless carriers receive revenue from data netsvaged to provide these services, these servicgsause wireless carriers to reduce the
monthly fees to subscribers for these servicesderao compete for advertising revenue. These mhyesmare driving wireless carriers to seek
innovative ways to differentiate themselves byging more compelling applications and services.
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Our competitive strengths

We are one of the early pioneers in LBS and hal2-gear history of developing and delivering adwahmobile navigation and other
LBS solutions. The breadth and depth of our tedirdaod market expertise has enabled us to develagst LBS, attract a large end user base
and establish deep relationships with wirelessexarand other members of the LBS value chainuifinly mobile phone manufacturers and
content, applications and technology providers.

Large and growing end user bask the three months ended June 30, 2011, we haah#hly average of 24.6 million paying end users.
Our large and growing end user base, and our expagisupporting a broad range of mobile phonesijlenpbone operating systems and
wireless network protocols, enables us to realemmemies of scale and deliver incremental valuexisting and future end users and our
wireless carrier and other customers, such as plairty content and advertising providers. By delivg our services to millions of end users,
we can leverage our product development costs guertise more effectively and efficiently. The patial returns to third party content and
advertising providers are higher across a largdruser base, which makes them more inclined tmpavtith us.

Strong and deep partnerships with key membersedf S value chainOur LBS are deployed by 14 wireless carriersdrc@untries,
including leading wireless carriers in the Unitedt8s. Our wireless carrier customers continueakeninvestments that foster our long term
relationships because our LBS assist them in isangaheir data average revenue per user, or ARRU strengthen their subscriber
relationships. We work closely with our wirelessriga customers during their product developmetat #sting cycles and undergo a
comprehensive certification process. Our back-gstess are tightly integrated with those of oureldss carrier customers, which enables the
seamless delivery of our services from productdauio billing. We also collaborate closely with nilelphone manufacturer and wireless
carrier customers so that our services work in mamuntries and on a wide range of mobile phonesnareless network protocols.

We also have strong and deep relationships withpkayers across the LBS value chain, including igpfibn developers, map and other
content providers and voice recognition platforrmviders. These relationships allow us to develapdeliver high quality, robust LBS to our
end users.

Leveraged distribution channels to expand user lzessepromote distribution capabilitDur hosted delivery model enables our wireless
carrier customers the option to brand and markeitséomized version of our LBS and leverage oumastfucture, partnerships and expertise.
Our offerings enhance subscriber loyalty and caremse revenue for our wireless carrier customaiteelping us to drive adoption of our
LBS without incurring significant sales and marketicosts. Traditionally, we have relied on the satial resources of our wireless carrier
customers for our marketing and sales efforts. \&@ @ase our wireless carrier customers’ infrastrecto assist in validation and provisioning
of and to bill for our services. Our wireless carustomers may offer our services on a standdlasis or bundled with other voice and data
services. We also offer our services under our deleNav brand and have been increasing the userdfrand more recently. We believe
whether under our own brand or the carriers bréveprovision of our services to end users resulés) alignment of mutual interests with our
carrier customers to attract and retain subscritberaddition, with the continuing industry shift tnore open platform distribution of
applications, TeleNav's expansion of its own bramaly provide for better positioning and name rectigmifor capturing new end users in the
future.

Our services and products

We provide a range of LBS for consumers, enterprigatomobile manufacturers and OEM customers.cOong LBS include mobile
navigation for consumers and MRM for enterprises. &k also extending our core LBS to new devicéqulas, such as tablet devices, as well
as developing new LBS for mobile phones, includowation based mobile advertising, commerce an@bkpetworking.
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Mobile navigation. We deliver our solutions through our locationdzhtechnology, applications and service deliveagfptm, or SDP,
which are tightly integrated with a broad rangenahbile phones, mobile phone operating systems arafless network protocols. GPS
Navigator is our flagship voice guided, real tirhen by turn, mobile navigation service that hatpasumers quickly decide what to do, wh
to go and how to get there. Accessed primarilyugtomobile phones, this service delivers many imtige features and functions and is
available to end users both on a white label basigh as Sprint Navigation and AT&T Navigator, amdler the TeleNav brand. GPS Navig:
utilizes accurate, updated information to providd asers with an enhanced mobile navigation expegie

Core functions Enhanced connected featur:

. voice guided, turn by turn directions withdated maps; . multi-route capability;

. 3D moving maps; . one-box search;

. automatic rerouting for missed turns; . real time traffic, gas prices and weatméorimation;

. over 20 million searchable POIs in North énca, including . voice recognition for address input andaldzusiness
restaurants, hotels, ATMs, Wi-Fi hotspots and gasos; and POI searches;

. search along route; and . traffic optimized routing, intelligent oratick

navigation rerouting and updated estimated time of

* integration with contacts. arrival based on current traffic flow;

. POI reviews, including end user generagiemws and
POI review sharing;

. real time traffic alerts specific to a chogoute;

. preplanned routes through our website ¢hatbe
saved, downloaded to mobile phones and accessed
with a one-click routing function; and

. address sharini

We offer our mobile navigation services to custarirra number of ways. We distribute our servibesugh our wireless carrier partni
and directly to consumers through mobile applicastores and marketplaces. We provide our serficess monthly fee and more recently
have begun to provide some of our services to coessifor free, the opportunities to purchase premigrsions of the product. The type of
distribution from free to premium is referred to by as the “freemium” model of distribution. Thislay to serve the customer advertising is
also included in our free products. Success withfteemium model depends upon our ability to gateea substantial active user base and to
generate revenues from advertising and converdiasears from free to premium subscription.

Mobile Resource Management/e offer enterprises an integrated suite of MRMisons to better manage mobile workforces aneltfle
and improve productivity. Depending on their spieaileeds and requirements, enterprises may useraikof our MRM solutions. Our
TeleNav Enterprise Solutions include our flagshgeNav Track service, as well as TeleNav Vehicledgger, TeleNav Vehicle Tracker and
TeleNav Asset Tracker.

Our MRM solutions allow enterprises to monitor andnage mobile workforces and assets by using o& Btform to track job status
and the location of workers, field assets and egeit. TeleNav Track enables two-way data commuisicatetween an enterprise’s back-end
systems and its mobile workforces, providing mdfeative and efficient management of assignmentstR&fs in the field using TeleNav
Track can easily
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transmit information wirelessly to the enterprise&ck-end systems via our customizable workflow dxble forms from their mobile
phones. Key features and functions of our MRM sonhg include:

e voice guided, turn by turn directions to efficigntlavigate workers to their destinatio

» real time and historical reports of the locatiorthe® mobile workforce and routes taken and traimis as compared to optirr
routes and ideal transit time

» updated job status information to improve efficigand productivity in connection with assignmel
e automatic alerts when workers or vehicles entaxitra specific area, have stopped or are spee

» customizable wireless forms to capture field infatimn and improve communication, including job dstaignatures and barcode
scans

» wireless timecards to improve payroll accuracy wodkforce time and attendance; &

» integration with an enterprise’s back-end systentsapplications, such as accounting, billing argpdiching applications that
together support business process mobilizatiorutfivahe movement of real time informatit

Automotive on-board and connected navigatidve have been working with certain automobile nfacturers and OEM customers to
provide our mobile navigation services through oa+# and connected systems. Our technology pow#oshative navigation services that
provide accurate, easy to use and connected LB8uers at a low cost. Our first automotive navigatservice became available as a prem
option in the 2010 Ford Focus and Taurus modetsisdNorth America, and it continues to expandtteeo Ford and Lincoln vehicles today.
By combining Microsoft's SYNC and other connectedhnologies with our GPS technologies in theseckehi drivers are able to utilize their
car’s existing radio screen and speaker systeranjuaction with their mobile phone to utilize ouBS. In addition, Ford has utilized our on-
board automotive navigation product in the nextegation Ford SYNC platform, which includes MyForduth and MyLincoln Touch. Ford
began shipping this product in certain North Amamnieehicles with the 2011 model year, with planaeailability in selected international
markets thereafter.

Location based mobile advertisingn fiscal 2010, we launched mobile location baaddertising services that deliver location based a
time sensitive mobile advertising with featurestsas location specific sponsored listings, contemtipons and dining menus. We currently
provide mobile search based advertising for ourkiggless carrier customers, including AT&T, SpriftMobile and U.S. Cellular. We have
access to over 800,000 advertisers through a nketefgroviders and we have created unique ad fimithe mobile space, including thdrive
to” advertising unit. This is an ad unit for whiatvertisers pay when users, in response to antsbment, click a “drive to” button that
provides the user a GPS navigation session thas tlem directly to the advertised location.

End user billing and support

End user billing. End users are generally billed for our servitesugh their wireless carrier, which may offer services on a
standalone basis or bundled with other voice ama skervices. The wireless carriers bill subscrilbeosithly. We and our wireless carrier
customers may offer subscribers a 30-day freefoiabur service. We believe that the wirelessieatilling makes our services more
appealing to consumers and enterprises as theyoarequired to pay a separate monthly chargediéferent vendor. For a small minority of
end users who purchase our LBS through our website application stores, we bill their credit cadirectly on a monthly basis, or utilize the
application store billing process.

End user supportOur wireless carrier customers generally pro¥iide level support to their subscribers if the eligss carrier provides
our services on a white label basis. We provideseéary support for issues that cannot be resolyenlib wireless carrier customers. If the
service is provided under the TeleNav brand, we
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generally provide all support to end users. For@BS Navigator support functions, we utilize adhparty customer support service provider
located in the Philippines that provides live custo support 24 hours a day, seven days a week.rgvap training and technical managem
to their employees and assist with problem resmutiVe also maintain our own call center availahlgng business hours that generally
focuses on support escalations for all our sendcesproducts.

Platform and architecture

Our hosted SDP and client software enable us teadadur end user interface as well as the featangisfunctions of our LBS on GPS
enabled mobile phones and other GPS enabled devices

Service delivery platformOur hosted SDP is a modular and scalable platthenenables us to bring different types of infation
together to respond to voice or data requests bgiodi users. Our SDP manages different engineb,asmapping, routing, converting
addresses into geographic coordinates (known asodew), local searches, location specific aldrédfic alerts, searches along the route, gas
prices and weather, as well as our proprietary attcauthentication system and other functionalit@sr SDP communicates with our client
software in mobile phones or other devices ovendteless carrier customers’ networks. Our SDPeisighed to easily add capacity for our
rapidly expanding end user base through the additiondividual service elements, such as applicasiervers or database nodes. We have
developed many proprietary technologies to difféed@ our LBS offerings. For example, our routimgime produces fast and accurate results,
our content search engine and address captureestogprovide end users with accurate and releestlts, and we provide voice activated
search and address input that is customized feetstrames.

In addition, our SDP has the following advantadpes further strengthen our position in the LBS istriyt

Tight integration with many wireless carrier netisr Our SDP allows us to operate effectively with tieéworks of our wireless carrier
customers, minimize downtime and achieve efficgver load balancing. Our SDP is integrated withwireless carrier customers’ back-end
systems, such as billing and authentication, péngitapid end user verification and improved reg@times. For example, we maintain a
dedicated connection from our data center to ormipfvireless carrier customers’ data centers, lwkitables a faster, superior service.

Integration with a large number of third party cent providers Our SDP is integrated with many third party comfgroviders through
our proprietary applications. This integration féates a high quality end user experience by énglthe delivery of rich local information and
more accurate search results by removing duplaadeconflicting data, and providing the flexibility incorporate a wide array of content,
including POlI, traffic, gas prices and weather infation. The flexibility of our SDP enables us tdakly add new content providers and meet
evolving market demands.

Scalability to other applications and business nt®d©ur SDP is scalable, which allows us to addrapgirgrowth in our end user base.
For example, our SDP is able to support differgmiiaations and business models such as our GP®&tay, our wireless carrier customers’
white label navigation services, TeleNav Track, lwétion based mobile advertising.

Client software

Client application approachOur client application approach is to delivetexible client application environment, which erebls to
quickly and effectively support different mobilegrtes and integrate with the continually evolvingtéee sets they include to create a better
user experience. Our client software interfacek witr SDP to access updated information and daiging and other services without using
device memory for data intensive functions suchap and POI storage. Our client software condumts pavigation functions such as GPS
data noise filtering, 3D moving map generation, aser friendly audio and graphical guidance ger@araOur client software also enables our
user interface to capture end user requests.
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Intuitive user interface Our LBS provide one-button access to local infation, an intuitive user interface and consisteatudres and
functions regardless of the mobile phone, mobilenghoperating system or wireless network protdeelend user is utilizing. For many mot
phones, we also offer customized user interfacddeatures and functions based on the featurenerefes of our wireless carrier customers,
including the ability to obtain directions from tead user’s contact data on the mobile phone withauing to retype the address.

Easy feature and functions upgradéd/e can automatically provide over the air updafemnhanced versions of our service to mobile
phones that use our recent client applicationd)owit the need to upload new client software.

Cached data for operation with limited connectiviur client applications are also built to addrbssrealities of wireless networks. (
client applications allow us to provide simplifiadvigation services even if users enter an area afr limited network connectivity by cachi
the route and navigation information along the ecattthe beginning of the trip.

Technology

Our proprietary technologies enable us to provigield3S to millions of end users, across hundredsialbile phones as well as all major
mobile phone operating systems and wireless netmartocols. Our scalable LBS includes technolotfies are deployed on the client and in
the back-end to deliver an integrated service. dant technologies include a navigation and guiga@ngine and tools allowing us to
efficiently develop and deploy new applicationsrtobile phones. In addition, we have developed ascptatform framework and proprietary
markup language that allow us to extend our LBSiegions across different mobile phone operatiygteans more efficiently, eliminating the
need for costly and time consuming redesign anéldement. In Europe and Canada, end users cart aditguage and our client software
interface and related services will be deliverethat language over the wireless network.

Our client application development processes, whiclude design, porting and publication procesabsw us to extend our services
effectively and efficiently to different mobile phes across multiple mobile phone operating systainsless network protocols, languages
countries. Our processes also allow us to tailoersewvices to different mobile phone operating esyst and address different feature prefere
of our wireless carrier customers. We work with wineless carrier customers and mobile phone maturfars prior to launch of new devices
to ensure our end users have an easy to discauéiia product experience.

Our back-end technologies include our geograptiarimation system, or GIS, engines for local seantbbile voice recognition, geo
alert and advanced geo data aggregation, trafficadocal advertising platform. We have developest@mized voice recognition technology
built upon a third party voice recognition engineserve the specific needs of navigation servioesld8S customers. We are continuing to
leverage our existing back-end technologies fotajepent to the automobile manufacturer and OEM timhuopportunities. We are also
adapting existing technology in new ways to expénedconnectivity and service offerings for in-caperiences, including interaction between
end users mobile devices and automobile hardwate asidisplays, sensors and audio systems.

We have developed a mobile search technology titatskes on information with localized relevance aoclracy to address the needs of
mobile phone users and the relatively small screénsobile phones. We have developed a proprigg8/which provides fast route and map
generation while optimizing the route based onenirtraffic conditions. Because our proprietary @$&s less computing resources, these
efficiencies enable us to scale our servers mavaaically.

We have developed an application hosting and pianviisg system that we integrate with the billingt®ms of our wireless carrier
customers. Our application hosting and provisiorsiygtem provides a range of billing options dedigteemaximize the attractiveness of our
services to end users with different payment
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preferences. We believe that this system allows aepen our relationships with our wireless earcustomers. This system is also integrated
with third party verification services to allow tesbill our end users’ credit cards if a wirelessrier customer is not involved.

I nfrastructure and operations

Our end users rely on our services while on the.réa a result, we strive to ensure the continuaaslability of our services through o
high quality hosting platform and operational elemte.

Data center facilities We have developed our infrastructure with thel gbanaximizing the availability of our applicatisnwhich are
hosted on a highly scalable and available netwackted in two secure third party facilities in Sa6lara and Sunnyvale, California. We ha
disaster recovery facility in Sacramento, Califarttiat is currently able to deploy our servicesrid users in the case of a prolonged outage.

We have entered into service agreements with lafeNetwork Services Corporation, CenturyLink, forlm&nown as Qwest
Communication Corporation, RagingWire Enterpristuons, Inc., and Equinix, Inc., in connection kviiur data center facilities in Santa
Clara, Sunnyvale and Sacramento, California, resmdy. Pursuant to the service agreements, we leased facility space, power, cooling
Internet connectivity for a term of one, two ancethyears, respectively, with an annual optioretew for additional one year terms.

Hosting infrastructure Our hosting operations incorporate industry séaddhardware and software, including the Apache dairopen
source operating system and Oracle and MySQL dsg¢abinto a flexible, scalable architecture. Eletmehour infrastructure can be replaced
or added with no interruption in service, helpingehsure that any single hardware failure will cenise a broad service outage. Our archite
enables us to host multiple wireless carriers aitlibms of end users on a single server farm armtksigned to use inexpensive, industry
standard hardware. Our infrastructure is also aesido support the varying needs of different veigslcarriers.

Service level commitmenThe combination of our hosting infrastructure 8edible architecture enables us to offer our \eiss carrier
customers at least 99.9% uptime every month, exgudesignated periods of maintenance. We tardeeeging an even higher level of service
availability. However, we have in the past and rimathe future experience service outages.

Performance monitoringWe continuously monitor and optimize the perfonggof our SDP. We have built a custom application
common logging infrastructure that continuouslyorels the transactional behavior of the system, lwhan be reviewed to address any
anomalies or issues. We have also built or licemsadralized performance consoles, automated l@ddition tools and various self-
diagnostic tools and programs. We have live peréaroe monitoring 24 hours a day, seven days a wegkomptly identify and address any
technical issues.

Research and development
Our research and development organization is resiplenfor the design, development and testing ofseuvices and products. Our
engineering team has deep expertise and experieiizeS and wireless and connected services anchiweednumber of personnel with
longstanding experience with LBS applications aralisg hosted service models.
Our current research and development efforts anested on:
» improving and expanding features, functionality @edformance of our existing servic

» developing applications, services and productsév mobile phones, mobile phone operating systemsmerging wireles
network technologies, and developing our technofogyautomobiles; an

» developing key technology and content to reduael tharty costs
9
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Our development strategy is to identify featuresyiges and products that are, or are expected,tndeded or desired by our end users.
We also work closely with our wireless carrier cusers to develop and offer service features theattiractive to their subscriber base, which
are complementary to their other offered applicetj@and strategies to address their need to iresdsscribers and revenue.

As of June 30, 2011, our research and developraant tonsisted of 750 people, 213 of whom are IddatSunnyvale, California and
537 of whom are located in Beijing, Shanghai an@rXiChina. We have been successful in creatingsdborder capabilities in the United
States and China for high value engineering at taest. Our U.S. and China research and developopsrations function together on service
and product development and extension of our exjstervices to new mobile phones. Our researctdenelopment expenses were $23.5
million, $41.6 million and $56.5 million for fisc&009, fiscal 2010 and fiscal 2011, respectively &pect that the number of our research
development personnel will continue to increaser timee and that the absolute dollar amount of esearch and development expenses will
also increase.

Marketing and sales

We rely on the extensive distribution channelswfwireless carrier customers to expand the adogti@ur LBS. In addition, we sell o
LBS to end users through our website and mobileplapplication stores, such as Apple’s App Store.fi¢us the majority of our marketing
efforts on supporting our wireless carrier custasherarketing programs to promote our LBS to thalscribers through either our wireless
carrier customers’ white label or our own brandetsion of our solution. This strategy enables usverage the marketing resources of our
wireless carrier customers and reduce our salesnamkleting costs.

Marketing. Our wirelesarrier customers are our primary source of mamgetth end users. They employ a variety of markepirgggram
to sell our LBS, including promotion in retail stégrand through their sales forces, and througlowsiinedia and Internet advertising. We also
implement selected public relations activitiesupgort the launch of our LBS on new devices orrtlease of new LBS.

We typically provide original marketing and pronwstimaterials, as well as electronic sales toolthdéowireless carrier customers with
which we work closely to drive the adoption of WBS. We also provide a limited number of demongtrasubscriptions for use by our
wireless carrier customers’ sales and marketingqrerel. Our wireless carrier customers generallgrdene the distribution channels to be
used and ensure that the marketing materials aessible to their direct and indirect sales foregsch may include third party distribution
vendors. We often assist our wireless carrier ensts with trade shows and other events at theirastgWe also provide our wireless carrier
customers with access to application demonstratiodsself-guided training.

In addition, we have begun to focus certain manigeéfforts for our services on distribution in #heple, Android and Blackberry
application marketplaces. These efforts are foceseduilding our direct relationship with consumarsl the TeleNav brand generally.

Sales. Our wireless carrier customers are primarily oesible for obtaining our end users through thalies and marketing efforts to
their existing and potential subscribers. For edampobile phones enabled with our LBS are soldTi&T’s direct channels, such as retalil
stores, and through the AT&T website and indirdtrmels, such as national retail partners anddotdealers. Certain of our wireless carrier
customers offer our LBS as part of a bundle ofisesy such as Sprint’'s Simply Everything plans. @iy of our LBS with voice and/or data
packages has led to substantial increases in tin@erof our new end users. At June 30, 2011, wealsales team consisting of 30 employees
that focus on selling our MRM products and servicesnterprise customers in conjunction with certiour wireless carrier customers. In
connection with sales efforts directed primarilyeaterprises, we work closely with representatfesur wireless carrier customers, often
participating in sales calls and other aspecti@ftlling process. In connection with sales effditected at auto manufacturers, we have a
sales team that focuses on targeted customerseapdnds to requests for proposal and related gpfEstunities.

10
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Customers

We primarily derive our revenue from our partnepshivith wireless carriers who sell our LBS to thaibscribers either as a standalone
service or in a bundle with other data or voicevisess. We also derive revenue from Ford for thévdey of customized software and royalties
from the distribution of this customized softwaneautomotive navigation applications. End users alag subscribe to our services directly
from our website, but these customers represemia#i minority of our end users. We currently praviour LBS to customers in North
America, Asia, Europe and South America.

As of June 30, 2011, we had entered into agreemtitsl4 wireless carriers to provide our LBS in@funtries. Our revenue from the
United States constituted 96%, 97% and 96% of atai tevenue for fiscal 2009, fiscal 2010 and fig#l 1, respectively.

We are substantially dependent on Sprint and AT&Tolur revenue. For fiscal 2009, 2010 and fiscdl12(print represented 61%, 55%
and 42% of our revenue, respectively, and AT&T espnted 29%, 34% and 37% of our revenue, respBctive expect Sprint and AT&T to
represent a significant portion of our revenuetlfier foreseeable future.

Effective September 1, 2010, we amended our agnetewith Sprint to, among other things, extend tkpigtion of our agreement from
December 31, 2011 to December 31, 2012. Pursudhétierms of our agreement with Sprint, we arerBprpreferred supplier of navigation
applications until December 31, 2012 and Springggiired to use commercially reasonable efforfeature our navigation services more
prominently than other navigation applications andsets and to preload certain of our productsama$ets. Sprint is entitled to expand the
number of bundles in which our navigation serviaesoffered. For bundled navigation services, $pvith pay us a fixed annual fee, regardl
of the number of subscribers (up to specified tihokts). In connection with our amended agreemetit $print, we and Sprint have agreed to
transition Sprint Navigation branded services ttelav branded navigation services. Other than vetipect to the fixed fee arrangement for
bundled navigation services, our agreement witlinBpiill automatically renew on January 1, 2013 $occessive 12-month periods unless
either party provides notice of termination at te¥¥days prior to the expiration of the applicatelen. Our agreement with Sprint also allows
either party to terminate the agreement if the oplaety materially breaches its obligations antsfe cure such breach. Additionally, Sprint
may terminate the agreement if we effect a changeitrol transaction or become insolvent and,@gg June 30, 2012, Sprint may
terminate our agreement for any reason by providitgce at least 30 business days prior to terrgnat

As amended in January 2011, our agreement with A€&ires in March 2013 and during the term of @reament, we are the
exclusive provider of white label GPS navigatiorvgees to AT&T. AT&T is not required to offer ourBS. The agreement with AT&T will
automatically renew at the end of the initial tfomsuccessive one year periods unless either paotjides notice of termination at least 60
days prior to the expiration of the applicable te@®ur agreement with AT&T also allows either padyerminate the agreement if the other
party is insolvent or materially breaches its ofigns and fails to cure such breach. We are algoired to give AT&T preferred pricing
during the term of our agreement.

Under our agreements with Sprint and AT&T, we halikgations to indemnify Sprint and AT&T againstang other things, losses
arising out of or in connection with any claim tleatr technology or services infringe third partpgmietary or intellectual property rights. Our
agreements with Sprint and AT&T may be terminatethe event an infringement claim is made agaisstnd it is reasonably determined that
there is a possibility our technology or servickiimged upon a third party’s rights.

We employ administrative, physical and technicégaards to prevent unauthorized collection, acaess and disclosure of our end
users’ private data and to comply with applicaklgefral, state and local laws, rules and regulatdfesdo not use any end user data for direct
marketing or promotions without the consent of the
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user and do not store any user location informatiamis specifically identifiable with an end usscept to deliver and support our services.
We are also required to comply with our wirelessieacustomers’ stringent privacy policies anchsi@rds.

Intellectual property

We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, &nawdrk and trade secret laws, as well as confidéptaocedures and contractual
restrictions, to establish and protect our proprietights. These laws, procedures and restrictiwogide only limited protection and the legal
standards relating to the validity, enforceabiéityd scope of protection of intellectual properghts are uncertain and still evolving.
Furthermore, effective patent, trademark, copyragid trade secret protection may not be availabévéry country in which our services and
products are available.

We seek to patent key concepts, components, pistqguocesses and other inventions. As of Augus2@%1, we held eight U.S. patents
and 16 foreign patents expiring between April 102@and February 7, 2027, and have 89 U.S. andaté@n patent applications pending. Of
the pending 89 U.S. patent applications, 86 ar@ruvMisional patent applications, which are patgmtiaations that are examined on their
merits by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office,thneke are provisional patent applications, whighfded for purposes of establishing
priority but cannot result in an issued U.S. pateriess they are first converted to nonprovisigraénts. These patents and patent applications
cover claims associated with features and functifrmaur LBS and the technology platform we usermvite them. We have filed, and will
continue to file, patent applications in the Unift@dtes and other countries where there existaegic technological or business reason to do
so. Any future patents issued to us may be chadienigvalidated or circumvented. Any patents thaynssue in the future with respect to
pending or future patent applications may not pie\sufficiently broad protection or may not prowée enforceable in actions against alleged
infringers.

As of June 30, 2011, we owned the TeleNav and Wioertz trademarks, registered with the U.S. PatedtTaademark Office. We also
own the TeleNav and design logo registered tradeinahe United Kingdom and European Union. We hsereral unregistered trademarks,
including TeleNav GPS Navigator, TeleNav Track,eNdv Vehicle Tracker, TeleNav Asset Tracker, TeleMehicle Manager, ONMYWAY
OMW, Sipity, TeleNav LocalAdvantage, Always Find fdVay, Smart Planner, My Mileage, Evie, Jungle Bhdies.

We endeavor to enter into agreements with our eyeel® and contractors and with parties with whictdedusiness in order to limit
access to and disclosure of our proprietary infdiona\We cannot be certain that the steps we helkentwill prevent unauthorized use or
reverse engineering of our technology. Moreovdrerst may independently develop technologies tleatampetitive with ours or that infringe
our intellectual property. The enforcement of amtellectual property rights also depends on theesg of our legal actions against these
infringers, but these actions may not be successfein when our rights have been infringed.

We also enter into various types of licensing agrerts to obtain access to technology or data tichusers utilize in connection with ¢
LBS. Our contracts with certain licensors includ@imum guaranteed royalty payments, which are pi@yadgardless of the ultimate volume
revenue derived from the number of paying end ugaus most important agreements are with the pergidf maps pursuant to which we
generally pay a monthly fee per end user, a pas#tetion fee or a revenue sharing percentage farptavided based in each case upon a
multi-tiered fee structure. We obtain map data pans to an agreement with Tele Atlas North Amerioa,, now known as TomTom Maps,
dated July 1, 2009, as amended. Our agreemenfTwitiTom Maps has an initial term of five years (gtder off-board applications sold on
Apple’s App Store and selected vehicle navigatigstem applications) and will automatically renew éach supported application for
successive one year periods thereafter, unlessr gittrty provides written notice of terminatioriesist 90 days prior to the expiration of the
thencurrent term for each supported application. IntS&aper 2010, we amended our agreement with TomTaypsleffective August 1, 20:
to change the fee structure for map and POI data
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we use to provide our services for Sprint’s bundifdrings. Pursuant to the amended agreement,ilvpay TomTom Maps a percentage of
fees we collect from Sprint for basic navigationvgges and our gross advertising and mobile comeneeeenue and a flat monthly fee per
subscriber for premium navigation services. We alg@ed to pay TomTom Maps certain guaranteed roimipayments for such services.
expiration of the license period for navigationvsegs provided for Sprint’s bundled offerings hagb changed from July 1, 2014 to the earlier
of December 31, 2012 or termination of our agree¢matt Sprint with respect to the those bundled/meis. We also obtain map data from
Navigation Technologies Corporation, or NAVTEQ, susint to an agreement dated December 1, 2002.gPeeraent with NAVTEQ had &
initial term of one year which has been extenddd danuary 31, 2012 and will automatically reneaw $uccessive one year periods thereafter
unless either party provides written notice of tiexation at least 180 days prior to the expiratibthe then current term. Our agreements with
TomTom Maps and NAVTEQ also allow a party to teratenthe agreement if the other party materiallyabnes its obligations and fails to ¢
such breach. In addition, we obtain other data siscweather updates, gas prices, POl and trafficnmation from additional providers.

Competition

The market for development, distribution and sdleRS is highly competitive. Many of our competigonave greater name recognition,
larger customer bases and significantly greatamiiiel, technical, marketing, public relationsesalistribution and other resources than we
do.

Competitors are offering LBS navigation servicest thave similar functionality to ours for free. Feorample, Google offers free voice
guided, turn by turn navigation as part of its aske of Google Maps Navigation for mobile deviceseldeon the Android 1.6 and higher
operating system platform and Nokia provides a doaahfor its latest version of Nokia Maps on itssstphones which also provides turn by
turn navigation functions. Microsoft also providefee turn by turn navigation solution with itsmMiows Mobile operating system.
Competition from these free offerings may reducereuenue and harm our business. If our wirelegsecaustomers can offer these LBS to
their subscribers for free, they may elect to celsi relationships with us, alter or reduce thenmer or extent to which they market or offer
our services or require us to substantially redugesubscription fees or pursue other businesgegies that may not prove successful.

We compete in the LBS market and our primary coitgrstinclude providers of LBS such as Google, M#oft, Navigon AG, or
Navigon, Nokia, TeleCommunication Systems, or TtB8ugh its acquisition of Networks in Motion, ofN{l Telmap Ltd., or Telmap, ar
TomTom Maps; PND providers such as Garmin LtdGarmin, and TomTom Maps; integrated navigation negbilone providers such as
Garmin and Nokia; providers of Internet and mob#esed maps and directions such as AOL CorporatiioAQL, Mapquest, Inc., or Mapque
Google, Microsoft and Yahoo!, Inc., or Yahoo.

We compete in the automotive navigation market wittablished automobile manufacturers and OEMgpamdders of on-board
navigation services such as Bosch, Garmin, TomTapsvand NNG, or Nav N Go, as well as other congrstdguch as Google, Microsoft and
TCS.

Competition in our market is based primarily ondarot performance which includes features, functioakability, flexibility, scalability
and interoperability; wireless carrier relationsghifechnological expertise, capabilities and intiova price of services and products and total
cost of ownership; brand recognition; and size famehcial stability of operations. We believe werguete favorably with respect to these
factors based upon the performance, reliability largddth of our services and products and our teahexperience.

Some of our competitors and potential competitojsyeadvantages over us, either globally or inipatar geographic markets, including
with respect to the following:

» significantly greater revenue and financial resesy
» stronger brand and consumer recognition in a pdatianarket segment, geographic region or worldy
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» the capacity to leverage their marketing expendgacross a broader portfolio of produ
» access to core technology and intellectual propargjuding more extensive patent portfoli
» access to custom or proprietary cont
» quicker pace of innovatiol
» stronger wireless carrier and handset manufactalationships
* more financial flexibility and experience to malegaisitions;
* lower labor and development costs; i
» broader global distribution and preser
Our competitors’ and potential competitors’ advgetover us could make it more difficult for us#dl our LBS, and could result in

increased pricing pressures, reduced profit maygicseased sales and marketing expenses andefédluincrease, or the loss of, market share
or expected market share, any of which would lileglyse harm to our business, operating result§iamtcial condition.

Employees

As of August 31, 2011, we employed 1,039 peoplduiting 775 in research and development, 131 iessahd marketing, 58 in custor
support and data center operations and 75 in ageared administrative capacity. As of that date,ivad 392 employees in the United States,
639 in China, 6 in the United Kingdom and 2 in Bra&/e also engage a number of temporary emplogedsconsultants. None of our
employees is represented by a labor union or &ty o a collective bargaining agreement.

Executive Officers of the Registrant
The following table sets forth the names, age®f{dsine 30, 2011) and positions of our executiVeefs:

Name Age  Position

Dr. HP Jin 47 President, Chief Executive Officer and ChairmathefBoard of Director
Douglas Miller 53 Chief Financial Officer and Treasut

Y.C. Chac 46 Vice President, Research and Developn

Salman Dhanar 38 Vice President, Produc

Loren Hillberg 53 General Counsel and Secret

Dariusz Paczusl 45 Vice President, Marketin

Robert Rennar 66 Chief Technical Office

Hassan Wahl 39 Vice President, Business Development and Carrikes!

Dr. HP Jinis a cofounder of our company and has served apresident and a member of our board of directoxesOctober 1999.
Dr. Jin has also served as our chief executiveaffand chairman of our board of directors fromobet 1999 to May 2001 and since
December 2001. Prior to TeleNav, Dr. Jin served ssnior strategy consultant at the McKenna Graugtrategy consulting firm. Prior to that
time, Dr. Jin was a business strategy and manageroasultant at McKinsey & Company, a managemensaghing firm. Dr. Jin was also
previously a technical director at Loral Integraialvigation Communication Satellite Systems, or CB8, a division of Loral Space &
Communications, Inc., a GPS service and engineeongpany. Dr. Jin holds a B.S. and M.S. in Mecharimgineering from Harbin Institute
of Technology in China and a Ph.D. in Guidance,ityaion and Control, with a Ph.D. minor in Elecali&€ngineering, from Stanford
University.

Douglas Millerhas served as our chief financial officer since M896. From July 2005 to May 2006, Mr. Miller sethas vice president
and chief financial officer of Longboard, Inc., avately held provider of telecommunications softeia=rom October 1998 to July 2005,
Mr. Miller held various management positions at
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Synplicity, Inc., a publicly traded electronic dgsiautomation company acquired by Synopsys, Including senior vice president of finance
and chief financial officer. Prior to that time, MYliller also served as chief financial officer2DLabs, Inc., a publicly held graphics
semiconductor company, and as a partner at Erngiudg LLP, a professional services organization. Mitler is a certified public accounta
(inactive). He holds a B.S.C. in Accounting frorm&aClara University.

Y.C. Chads a cofounder of our company and has served agiceipresident, research and development, sinagetv2006. From
October 1999 to March 2006, Dr. Chao served asewior director of technology. From June 1998 tto®er 1999, Dr. Chao was a GPS
software engineer at Snaptrack, an assisted GR8dlegy company and a subsidiary of Qualcomm Inaxated. Prior to that, Dr. Chao was a
GPS receiver engineer at Trimble Navigation, atmoshg products solutions company. Dr. Chao hald&S. in Mechanical Engineering from
National Taiwan University, an M.S. in Aerospacegleering from the University of Texas AerospacegiBaering, Center for Space Rese:
and a Ph.D. in Aeronautics and Astronautics froanfatrd University.

Salman Dhanarnis a cofounder of our company and was promotedc® president, products and marketing, in Augu§©2@nd became
vice president, products in August 2010. Mr. Dhasanved as our executive director of marketingrfidarch 2009 to July 2009 and as our
senior director of marketing from November 199%&bruary 2009. From January 1999 to November 1999Dhanani served as a consultant
at the McKenna Group, a strategy consulting firmonfr July 1996 to December 1998, Mr. Dhanani seasedn application engineer at
Schlumberger Ltd., a technology consulting servam@apany. Mr. Dhanani holds a B.S. in Electricagideering from the University of
Washington.

Loren Hillberghas served as our general counsel since April 28@8n September 2007 to September 2008, Mr. Hijllserved as vice
president and general counsel at Forcel0 Netwargsyately held communications and networks corgp&nom April 2005 to May 2007,
Mr. Hillberg held various management positionsjuding executive vice president and general couas®lacrovision Corporation (now Rovi
Corporation), a publicly traded digital entertaimheompany. From May 1998 to March 2005, Mr. Hilllpeerved as senior vice president and
general counsel at Macromedia, Inc., a providevelf publishing products and solutions that was iaedy Adobe Systems Incorporated.
Mr. Hillberg holds a B.A. in Economics from Standddniversity and a J.D. from the University of Gaifhia, Hastings College of Law.

Dariusz Paczukdias served as our vice president, marketing sige2010. From December 2007 to July 2010, Mr. Bakizheld
various positions, including senior director of 8iGarrier Strategy and senior director of Tellmen§&loner Services, at Microsoft Corporation.
From 2002 to 2007, Mr. Paczuski held various posgj including vice president, Search Productsvécelpresident, Product Marketing, at
AOL Inc. Prior to that time, Mr. Paczuski held pasis at Netscape Communications Corporation ameé Electric Company. Mr. Paczuski
holds a B.S. in Marketing from California State aisity in Long Beach.

Robert Rennards a cofounder of our company and has served ashiefrtechnical officer since February 2002. Fidetember 1999 to
February 2002, Dr. Rennard served as our vicegeasif engineering. From March 1998 to Novemb&91®r. Rennard served as directo
product development at Cyberstar/Loral, a divisibhoral Space & Communications, Inc. From AprildI®to February 1998, Dr. Rennard
served as director of systems engineering at Cidoérsral. From July 1996 to April 1997, Dr. Rendaerved as vice president of engineering
at LINCSS/Loral. Prior to that time, Dr. Rennardsweavice president of GPS Navigation Systems aif@té Telecom, a telecommunications
company acquired by ITT and Newbridge Networks @oaion, and an acquisition program manager fotdf& Air Force. Dr. Rennard hol
a B.S. in Electrical Engineering from the Univeysif Wyoming, an M.S. in Electrical EngineeringrimdOhio State University and a Ph.D. in
Aerospace Science from the Air Force Institute e€finology.
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Hassan Wahlavas promoted to vice president, business developarghcarrier sales, in August 2009 and servediagxecutive
director of business development from May 2005 tgést 2009. From April 2003 to May 2005, Mr. Wabkéved as a senior product mane
at Nextel Communications, a wireless communicat@mrmapany that merged with Sprint. From February22@0April 2003, Mr. Wahla served
as vice president of business development of WiselMultimedia Solutions, a privately held wirelssdtware platform company. From
September 1999 to February 2002, Mr. Wahla sersatiractor of business development at MicroStratagy, a business intelligence softw
company. Prior to that time, Mr. Wahla served asr@ior consultant at Maritime Power, a maritimeipeuent company. Mr. Wahla holds a

B.S. in Industrial Engineering from Virginia Tedm M.S. in Management from Stevens Institute ofihetogy and a Masters of International
Affairs from Columbia University.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

We operate in a rapidly changing environment th@bilves numerous uncertainties and risks. Thevatg risks and uncertainties may
have a material and adverse effect on our busirfesmcial condition or results of operations. Yswuld consider these risks and
uncertainties carefully, together with all of théher information included or incorporated by refaoe in this Form 10-K before you decide
whether to purchase any of our securities. If ahthe risks or uncertainties we face were to octiue, trading price of our securities could
decline, and you may lose all or part of your irtwesnt.

Risk related to our business

We are substantially dependent on two wireless carrier customers for a large portion of our revenue and if these wireless carrier customers
wereto limit or terminate our relationships with them or to offer LBS directly or from other vendors, our revenue and net income would be
adversely affected.

We are substantially dependent on two wirelessarazustomers for a large portion of our revenadidcal 2009, 2010 and 2011, Sprint
represented 61%, 55% and 42% of our revenue, rigplgc Effective September 1, 2010, we amendedagueement with Sprint to, among
other things, extend the term of our agreement fdoember 31, 2011 to December 31, 2012. Pursodhéetterms of our agreement with
Sprint, we are Sprint’s preferred supplier of natign applications until December 31, 2012 andr8psirequired to use commercially
reasonable efforts to feature our navigation ses/imore prominently than other navigation applaetion handsets and to preload certain of
our products on handsets. Sprint is entitled taarthe number of bundles in which our navigatienvises are offered. For bundled naviga
services, Sprint will pay us a fixed annual feeareiiess of the number of subscribers (up to spettfiresholds). Sprint may terminate our
agreement for any reason, beginning June 30, 284@roviding notice at least 30 business days gadermination. Our amended agreement
with Sprint will result in declines in ARPU compdrt the quarters prior to implementation of theeadment due to increasing numbers of
Sprint bundle subscribers with access to our sesvénd fixed revenue from Sprint for bundled basiigation services. Although we are
entitled to receive more revenue from enterpris& LiBobile commerce and premium navigation senticas we previously were, we may not
be able to realize these benefits in the near terat all. Our failure to renew or renegotiate gggeement on or after June 30, 2012 on
favorable terms or at all, a termination of ouresgnent by Sprint or our failure to otherwise mamtar relationship with Sprint would
substantially reduce our revenue and significalmélsm our business, operating results and finacoiadlition.

In connection with our amended agreement with $pnie and Sprint have agreed to transition Sprienitfation branded services to
TeleNav branded navigation services. The brandengsttion may not increase end user recognitioouofbrand and may result in confusion
that results in reduced or more limited adoptioowf services by Sprint's subscribers.

In March 2008, Sprint began offering the Simply Bileing plans which currently include our LBS. Asesult, we have experienced a
significant increase in end users and benefitteahfincreased marketing exposure since the SimpéyyEhing plans’ introduction. If Sprint
reduces its expenditures for marketing our LBSngea its Simply Everything plans to eliminate cenv&ces, prices our LBS at a level that
makes them less attractive or offers and promaiggpeting LBS, in lieu of, or to a greater degresnttour LBS, our revenue would be
materially reduced and our business, operatindteeand financial condition would be materially sadversely affected.

In fiscal 2009, 2010 and 2011, AT&T represented 29986 and 37% of our total revenue, respectively&A is not required to offer ot
LBS. As amended in January 2011, our agreementAilitaT expires in March 2013 and during the termoof agreement, we are the
exclusive provider of white label GPS navigationvges to AT&T. If AT&T were to terminate its agneent with us or fail to renew or
renegotiate the agreement on favorable terms wthexpires, we would lose a substantial portionwf@venue and our business operating
results and financial condition could be harmedtif@rmore, our failure to otherwise maintain odatienship with AT&T would substantially
harm our business.
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We operate in a highly competitive market, including competitors that offer their services for free, which could makeit difficult for usto
acquire and retain wireless carrier customers and end users.

The market for development, distribution and sdleRS is highly competitive. Many of our competigonave greater name recognition,
larger customer bases and significantly greatamiiiel, technical, marketing, public relationsesalistribution and other resources than we
do. Competitors may offer LBS that have at leasiedent functionality to ours for free. For exampoogle offers free voice guided, turn by
turn navigation as part of its Google Maps prodacimobile devices based on the Android 1.6 anthdrigoperating system platform and No
provides a download for its latest version of Ndkiaps on its smartphones which also provides tyrtuln navigation functions. Microsoft
also provides a free turn by turn navigation solutivith its Windows Mobile operating system viaittiging for Mobile application.
Competition from these free offerings may reducereuenue and harm our business. If our wirelegsecaustomers can offer these LBS to
their subscribers for free, they may elect to celasi relationships with us, alter or reduce thenmer or extent to which they market or offer
our services or require us to substantially reduaefees or pursue other business strategies tmatiot prove successful.

Our primary competitors include providers of LBSIsas Google, Microsoft, Nokia, TCS, through itquisition of NIM, Telmap and
TomTom Maps; PND providers such as Garmin and TamMaps; integrated navigation mobile phone provddarch as Garmin and Nokia;
providers of Internet and mobile based maps arettdims such as AOL, Mapquest, Google, Microsoft #ahoo!; and wireless carriers and
communication solutions providers developing tloein LBS. Some of our competitors’ and our potent@hpetitors’ advantages over us,
either globally or in particular geographic markétslude the following:

» the provision of their services at no or low castbnsumers

« significantly greater revenue and financial reseay

» stronger brand and consumer recognition regiormallyorldwide;

» the capacity to leverage their marketing expendgwacross a broader portfolio of mobile and nontegiyoducts
» access to core technology and intellectual propartyuding more extensive patent portfoli
» access to custom or proprietary cont

» quicker pace of innovatiol

» stronger wireless carrier and handset manufactatationships

e greater resources to make and integrate acquisj

» lower labor and development costs; i

» broader global distribution and preser

Our competitors’ and potential competitors’ advgetover us could make it more difficult for us#dl our LBS, and could result in
increased pricing pressures, reduced profit margicseased sales and marketing expenses andefadluncrease, or the loss of, market share
or expected market share, any of which would likelyse harm to our business, operating result$imaacial condition.

Our wireless carrier customers may change the pricing and other terms by which they offer our LBS, which could result in increased end
user turnover, lower revenue and adver se effects on our business.

Certain of our wireless carrier customers sellmitkd data service plans, which include our LBSaAssult, end users do not have to
a separate monthly fee to use our services. Ifvangless carrier customers were to eliminate owrises from their unlimited data service
plans, such as the Sprint Simply Everything plarescould lose end users as they would be requirpay a separate monthly fee to continue
to use our
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services. In addition, we could be required to ggaour fee structure to retain end users, whicldcoegatively affect our gross margins. For
example, effective September 1, 2010, we amendedgraement with Sprint to, among other thingsyjgi® bundled navigation services for a
fixed annual fee from Sprint regardless of the nemdf subscribers (up to specified thresholdshawrthan the per subscriber per month fee
structure we and Sprint had previously employed.anicipate that our future revenue from Sprint and ARPU and gross margins will be
negatively affected as a result of the shift tixad fee model for services we provide to bundigossribers. Our wireless carrier customers
may also seek to reduce the monthly fees per siblesthat they pay us if their subscribers do re® aur services as often as the wireless
carriers expect or for any other reason in ordeetice their costs. Our wireless carrier custommerg also decide to raise prices, impose u
caps or discontinue unlimited data service plars¢chvcould cause our end users who receive ourcssrthrough those plans to move to a less
expensive plan that does not include our servicésrminate their relationship with the wirelessriza. If imposed, these pricing changes or
usage restrictions could make our LBS less attracthd could result in current end users abandaming.BS. If end user turnover increased,
the number of our end users and our revenue wadtedse and our business would be harmed. Wesareegjuired to give AT&T certain
most favored customer pricing on specified prodaats in certain markets. In certain circumstanbasrhay require us to reduce the price per
end user under the AT&T contract, which may advgrisepact our revenue.

We are substantially dependent on our wireless carrier customersto market and distribute our LBSto end users and our business may be
harmed if our wireless carrier customers elect not to broadly offer our services.

We rely on our wireless carrier customers to intiee] market and promote our LBS to end users. @méyof our wireless carrier
customers is contractually obligated to continuddcso. If wireless carrier customers do not intice} market and promote mobile phones that
are GPS enabled and on which our client softwapedkaded and do not actively market our LBS,LId$ will not achieve broader
acceptance and our revenue may not grow as fastti@pated, or may decline.

Wireless carriers, including those with which wedaxisting relationships, may decide not to offer services and may enter into
exclusive relationships with one or more of our petitors. While our LBS may still be available wastomers of those wireless carriers as
downloads from application stores or our websigesof our LBS would likely be much more limitddan if our LBS were preloaded as a
white label service actively marketed by the camiewere included as part of a bundle of servi€as. inability to offer our LBS through a
white label offering or as part of a bundle on gapmobile phones would harm our operating resatis financial condition.

New entrants and the introduction of other distribution models, particularly free to premium options, in the LBS market may harm our
competitive position.

The markets for development, distribution and sleBS are evolving rapidly. New entrants seekiog&in market share by introducing
new technology and new products may make it mdfiedlt for us to sell our LBS, and could creater@ased pricing pressure, reduced profit
margins, increased sales and marketing expenghse tss of market share or expected market shayeof which may significantly harm our
business, operating results and financial condition

Although historically wireless carriers controllptbvisioning and access to the applications thatccbe used on mobile phones
connected to their networks, in recent years comssitnave been able to download and provision agtfgits from individual provider websit
and to select from a menu of applications throughApple App Store, Android Marketplace, the Blasti App World and other application
aggregators. In these marketplaces there is agneghium on being noticed. In order to achieve mgdrket rankings many vendors, including
ourselves, provide free versions of products the tprovide opportunities for end users to upgtaggemium versions for a charge. This
distribution model may not be sustainable if thetad providing free services is greater than thesnue opportunity associated with the
premium services and any related revenue oppoytémitfree services, such as advertising.
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In addition, other new entrants may seek to hae# giroducts preloaded on mobile devices by OEMaffared by OEMs directly.
Increased competition from providers of LBS whichribt rely on a wireless carrier may result in fewéeless carrier subscribers electing to
purchase their wireless carrier’s branded LBS, tvigiould harm our business and revenue. In additimse LBS may be offered for free or on
a one time fee basis, which could force us to redanonthly subscription fees, migrate to a one fieeemodel or offer free versions of our
products that allow for upgrades to more premiumnsioas for a fee to remain competitive. We may #&se end users or face erosion in AF
if these competitors deliver their products witholiérge to the consumer by generating revenue &arertising or as part of other applicati
or services. Finally, we may not be successfukategating revenue from premium navigation servicesd users believe that free services are
comparable or adequate.

Our success depends on significantly increasing the number of end usersthat purchase our LBS from our wireless carrier customers.

Our revenue is derived almost exclusively from suiption fees that we receive from our wirelesgiearcustomers for end users who
subscribe to our services on a standalone basissobundle with other services. Depending on tireless carrier contracts, we receive
revenue as (1) a monthly subscription fee per aed, (2) a fixed annual fee for any number of stibecs (up to specified thresholds) recei
our services as part of bundles with other voicd data services, or (3) a revenue sharing arrangetimg may include a minimum fee per end
user, or (4) based on usage or other basis. To aaddatively small number of end users have gilteset for our services in connection with
their wireless plans compared to the total numibenabile phone users. Our near term success depeaddly on achieving significantly
increased subscriber adoption of our LBS eitheyuitgh standalone subscriptions to our services pagf bundles from our existing wireless
carrier customers. Our success also depends oevaufiwidespread deployment of our LBS by attractind retaining additional wireless
carrier customers. The use of our LBS will dependre pricing and quality of those services, subscrdemand for those services, which may
vary by market, as well as the level of subscrtbemover experienced by our wireless carrier custsmlf subscriber turnover increases more
than we anticipate, our financial results couldabeersely affected.

If our current and future wireless carrier custosraw not successfully market our LBS, particul&RS Navigator, to their customers or
if we are not successful in maintaining and expagdiur relationships with our wireless carrier oostrs, we will not be able to maintain or
increase the number of end users that use our bB®@ar business, operating results and financiadlition will be materially adversely
affected.

If our wireless carrier customers lose net subscribers, such as the losses Sprint previously experienced, or if their subscribers do not continue
to purchase service plansthat include our LBS and we are unable to develop relationships with other significant wireless carriers, we may
lose end users and our revenue and operating results may be adversely affected.

Wireless carriers’ relationships with subscribemgénbeen threatened by several factors, includinogg competition, lack of subscriber
loyalty and the development of direct relationstbpsveen mobile phone manufacturers and mobile @bperating system providers and
consumers. A loss of net subscribers by one or mboar wireless carrier customers could harm ausiiess as we rely on our wireless carrier
customers to market our products. For example oboeir key wireless carrier customers, Sprint, éxgserienced losses in net subscribers i
past. Although Sprint has recently experiencedgymimet subscribers, if these gains in subscribiersiot sustained or if Sprint subscribers do
not continue to purchase service plans that inctudd BS, we may also lose end users and expermieeline in revenue to the extent we are
unable to develop similar relationships with othiginificant wireless carriers which include oungegs in attractive bundled or other LBS
offerings that generate comparable revenue. A fiignt decrease in the number of our end usersaghilersely affect our revenue and
operating results.
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Our ability to increase or maintain our end user base and revenue will be impaired if mobile phone manufacturers do not allow usto
customize our servicesfor their new devices.

We typically deliver our services through clienfta@re that has been customized to work with amgivbile phone’s operating system,
features and form factors. Wireless carrier custsroéien insist that mobile phone manufacturersnitews to customize our client software for
their devices in order to provide the end user &iffositive experience. Wireless carriers or maglfilene manufacturers may enter into
agreements with other providers of LBS for new @pydar mobile phones. For this reason or othersgsmobile phone manufacturers may
refuse to permit us to access preproduction maxfalseir mobile phones or the mobile phone manufacs may offer a competing service. If
mobile phone manufacturers do not permit us toocoite our client software and preload it on theivides, we may have difficulty attracting
end users because of poor user experiences ocamvienient provisioning process. If we are unablprbvide seamless provisioning or end
users cancel their subscriptions to our serviceaulre they have poor experiences, our revenue enbgrined.

Our operating income and net income could decline as a percentage of revenue as we make further expenditures to enhance and expand our
operationsin order to support additional growth in our business.

As a percentage of revenue, our operating incone38&0, 40% and 33% and our net income was 27%,a20% in fiscal 2009,
2010 and 2011, respectively. Since June 30, 2068)ave made significant investments in new opeagatimd information systems and
additional data centers, hired substantial numbengew research and development, sales and magketith general and administrative
personnel and expanded our operations outside titedUStates. Efforts to develop new services andyxts and attract new wireless carrier
customers require investments in anticipation ofkr term revenue. We intend to make additionastments in systems and personnel and
continue to expand our operations to support grateid growth in our business. As a result of tlias®rs, we believe our operating income
and net income may decline as a percentage of uevatleast through fiscal 2012. Furthermore, puestments and expenditures may not
result in the growth that we anticipate. We alsth mot be able to reduce our expenditures on alyirbasis, if at all, if we do not generate
anticipated revenue.

We are substantially dependent on revenue from our GPS Navigator service, our flagship LBS, and, if we fail to generate significant revenue
from other services, our operating results may be harmed if revenue from GPS Navigator declines.

Although revenue in absolute dollars from sourdbgiothan GPS Navigator rose in all periods preskmevenue from our GPS
Navigator service represented 92%, 94% and 88%iiofavenue in fiscal 2009, 2010 and 2011, respelgtiVf we were unable to be tl
exclusive provider of white label navigation seegd¢o our major wireless carrier customers or tirebrer of end users for GPS Navigator were
to decline, our revenue would be substantially letnWe have experienced a reduction of ARPU frons Glevigator over time as our
wireless carrier customers implement white label more bundled offerings, for which we typicallgeédve a lower monthly subscription fee
a fixed annual fee regardless of the number ofusmadls (subject to specified thresholds) to whictpreide our services. We may be unable to
increase our revenue from our enterprise LBS, aatime navigation, mobile advertising and commence premium LBS. If we were unable
to offset declining ARPU from GPS Navigator by ieasing the amount of revenue that our other sex\d@nd products represent, our business,
operating results and financial condition wouldhaemed.

We rely on our wireless carrier customers for timely and accurate subscriber information. A failure or disruption in the provisioning of this
data to us would materially and adversely affect our ability to manage our business effectively.

We rely on our wireless carrier customers to hibscribers and collect monthly fees for our LB$hei directly or through third party
service providers. If our wireless carrier custosnartheir third party service providers providewith inaccurate data or experience errors or
outages in their own billing and provisioning
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systems when performing these services, our reverayebe less than anticipated or may be subjeadjisstment with the wireless carrier. In
the past, we have experienced errors in wirelesgecaeporting. If we are unable to identify am$olve discrepancies in a timely manner, our
revenue may vary more than anticipated from peiégaeriod and this could harm our business, opggatsults and financial condition.

Werely on a proprietary provisioning and reporting system to track end user activation, deactivation and usage data and any material
failuresin this system could harm our revenue, affect our costs and impair our ability to manage our business effectively.

Our provisioning and reporting system that auttuatéis end users and tracks the number of end aiserthieir use of our services is a
proprietary and customized system that we develagednally. Although we believe that the flexilbiiof this service to integrate tightly with
wireless carriers’ reporting and provisioning syssegives us a competitive advantage, we mightriegenue and the ability to manage our
business effectively if the system were to expedematerial failures or be unable to scale as asiness grows. In addition, we may not be
able to report our financial results on a timelgibaf our wireless carrier customers questionateuracy of our records or we experience
significant discrepancies between the data gereetat®ur provisioning and reporting systems ana danerated by the wireless carriers’
systems, or if our systems fail or we are unablepwort timely and accurate information to ourdhparty data providers. The inability to tim:
report our financial results would impair the gtyabf our financial reporting and could result iretdelisting of our common stock.

Our profitability may decline as we expand into other service and product areas and we may be unable to recoup our investments.

We receive a substantial majority of our revenoenfmonthly subscription fees paid by wireless earcustomers who bill their
subscribers for our services on a standalone adlbdrbasis. As we expand our LBS offerings to ema&lpld users to purchase our services from
application stores outside of wireless carrierg&splatforms, we may have to adapt our revenueetrtoch one time fee for services. In
addition, as we expand into the automotive navigetharket, mobile advertising and commerce and prenBS or other markets for LBS,
we may be required to adopt pricing models othan ttnonthly subscription fees and may incur coseeénue substantially different than that
which we have experienced historically due in pathird party content costs. These different pigcmodels and increased costs of revenue
may result in declines in our gross margins.

We have limited experience in selling our serviaed products outside of the wireless carrier appba platform. As we expand into
new service and product areas, such as automaiiigation systems, we may not be able to compé&etefely with existing market
participants and may not be able to realize a pesieturn on the investment we have made in thesgucts or services. If our introduction of
a new product or service is not successful or veenat able to achieve the revenue or margins weaxpur operating results may be harmed
and we may not recover our product developmentaadketing expenditures.

Our automotive navigation products are an important part of our effort to expand outside of mobile device navigation to other platforms and
we may not be successful in our effortsto attract and retain automobile manufacturers and OEMs, implement high quality products or
achieve end customer acceptance of our services and fee model.

We began to offer our first automotive off-boardigation service as an option to certain 2010 mgdak Ford vehicles in certain 2011
model year Ford vehicles. These navigation solsti@present our first significant activities in #tagomotive market and we may not be
successful at achieving manufacturer and end custanteptance of these navigation solutions.

As we expand into the automotive navigation manketwill be competing with established automotiieNDs and providers of on-board
navigation services such as Bosch, Garmin, TomTapdvand NNG, or
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Nav N Go, as well as other competitors such as @&odgjcrosoft and TCS. Certain of the-board solutions that we offer may not satisfy
automotive manufacturers’ or end customers’ expiects for those solutions. To the extent that wargh service fees beyond an initial fee at
the time the vehicle is purchased, we may not lbeessful in gaining traction with customers to fdevservices and charge ongoing fees
outside of the traditional on-board navigation ggmodel.

As we have limited experience in the on-board retibgn market, we also may not price our solutionsuch a way that is profitable for
us and enables us to recoup the development expemsimcurred to provide such solutions in the timeeexpect or at all. Development
schedules for automotive navigation products dfecdit to predict, and there can be no assurahaewe will achieve timely delivery of these
products to our customers. Furthermore, we areelgtpursuing and have yet to be successful witinested automotive navigation solutions,
but believe this will be an important market. If fedl to achieve profitability in any of our autom@ navigation solutions (whether on-board,
connected or other), we may be unable to achiev&éé¢hefits of revenue diversification.

We will also be dependent on our automobile martufac or OEM customer to report on vehicles sold emremit fees due at the time
sale. If our automobile manufacturer or OEM custmmk not report promptly or correctly, our revencest of revenue and net income ma
affected.

The success of our automotive navigation products may be affected by overall automotive industry dynamics and customer issues.

Our ability to succeed long term in the automotidustry depends on our ability to enter into caaots for future year vehicles with our
current automobile manufacturers in addition tcaldlening out to other automobile manufacturers aBM€ For automobile manufacturers
with whom we have established relationships sudkhoad, our success depends on continued produatieehicles with and adoption by
automobile buyers of our products offered by sudglemobile manufacturers. As we move forward, Foey mot include our solutions in futt
year vehicles or territories, which would negatyeaffect our revenue from these produ

We may also not be successful in attracting aradimiely other automobile manufacturers and OEMstduetense competitive pressures
affecting vehicle sales on a global basis, the egta restructuring among certain domestic autoneofianufacturers and OEMs and severe
financial-related shocks upon the automotive marked supply chain.

If our end usersincrease their usage of our services, our net operating income may decline because the fees we receive from our wireless
carrier customers generally do not depend on usage.

With limited exceptions, our wireless carrier cus&rs pay us fees that do not vary depending onhghetr how often an end user uses
our services. Historically, end users using cenmtadibile phones or under certain service plans gtaese our services more than other end
users. We budget and operate our services by makirigin assumptions about usage patterns. Ifmdiusers were to further increase their
usage of our services substantially or were todyenjited to use basic versions of our service ffaea we would incur additional expenses to
expand our server capacity, operate additional clatiéers and pay additional third party contens fééese additional costs would harm our
operating results and financial condition.

We may not be able to enhance our LBS to keep pace with technological and market developments, or develop new LBS in a timely manner
or at competitive prices.

The market for LBS is emerging and is charactertagdapid technological change, evolving industgnslards, frequent new product
introductions and short product life cycles. Togk@ace with technological developments, satisfydasing customer requirements and ack
product acceptance, our future success dependsaypability to enhance our current LBS platfornd @n continue to develop and introduce
new LBS
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offerings and enhanced performance features ardidunality on a timely basis at competitive pric@air inability, for technological or other
reasons, to enhance, develop, introduce or datiwepelling LBS in a timely manner, or at all, ispense to changing market conditions,
technologies or consumer expectations could hawaterial adverse effect on our operating resultsooaid result in our LBS becoming
obsolete. Our ability to compete successfully ddpend in large measure on our ability to maingatechnically skilled development and
engineering team and to adapt to technologicalgésand advances in the industry, including progdor the continued compatibility of our
LBS platform with evolving industry standards amdtpcols and competitive network operating envirents.

Development and delivery schedules for LBS aradiliff to predict. We have in the past and may ftiture fail to deliver new versions
of our services in a timely fashion. If new releaséour LBS are delayed or our services are nelbpded on mobile phones upon their initial
commercial release, our wireless carrier custommeng curtail their efforts to market and promote bBS and end users may switch to
competing services, any of which would result thetay or loss of revenue and could harm our busifasaddition, we cannot assure you that
the technologies and related LBS that we develdigoeibrought to market by our wireless carriertousers as quickly as anticipated or that
they will achieve broad acceptance among wirelagsers or consumers.

Werely on third party data and content to provide our services and if we were unable to obtain content at reasonable prices, or at all, our
gross margins and our ability to provide our services would be harmed.

We rely on third party data and content to provade services, including map data, POI, traffic mfiation, gas prices and weather
information. If our suppliers of this data or camtevere to enter into exclusive relationships wather providers of LBS or were to discontinue
providing such information and we were unable f@aee them cost effectively, or at all, our abilieyprovide our services would be harmed.
Our gross margins may also be affected if the gbstird party data and content increases subsiinti

We obtain map data from TomTom Maps and NAVTEQ,chitdre companies owned by our current and potestdiapetitors TomTom
Maps and Nokia, respectively. Accordingly, thededtparty data and content providers may act ireamer that is not in our best interest. For
example, they may cease to offer their map date to

We may not be able to upgrade our LBS platformuggpsrt certain advanced features and functionalitiiout obtaining technology
licenses from third parties. Obtaining these liesnsay be costly and may delay the introductiosuch features and functionality, and these
licenses may not be available on commercially falte terms, or at all. The inability to offer adead features or functionality, or a delay in
our ability to upgrade our LBS platform, may adedysaffect consumer demand for our LBS and, consetly, harm our business.

We have experienced rapid growth in recent periods. If we fail to manage our growth effectively, our financial performance may suffer.

We have substantially expanded our overall busjrerss user base, headcount and operations in rpegntls. We increased our total
number of full time employees from 438 at JuneZM8 to 1,011 at June 30, 2011. During this samiegewne made substantial investments
in our information systems and significantly expatiéur operations outside the United States, imttudn expansion of our research and
development activities in China. Our expansionglased, and our expected future growth will continal place, a significant strain on our
managerial, administrative, operational, finaneiadl other resources. If we are unable to managgrourth successfully, our operating results
will suffer. In addition, due to the large numbérmployees located outside of the United Stateshawve exposure to changes in foreign
currency rates which could result in higher labwod eelated operating costs.
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Network failures, disruptions or capacity constraintsin our third party data center facilitiesor in our servers could affect the performance of
our LBS and harm our reputation and our revenue.

Our LBS are provided through a combination of amvers, which we house at third party data centeespublic Internet and the private
and wireless networks of our wireless carrier cuglis. Our operations rely to a significant degne¢he efficient and uninterrupted operation
of the third party data centers we use. Our hodétd centers are currently located in third paatjlities located in the San Francisco Bay A
We have recently added third party data centelitiasiin the Sacramento, California area to previor disaster recovery and, which we
expect, in the long term, to accommodate the guatted growth of our LBS. Depending on the growtk ia the number of our end users and
their usage of our services, if we do not timelynpdete and open additional data centers, we magrexce capacity issues, which could lead
to service failures and disruptions. In additidriwé are unable to secure data center space witoppate power, cooling and bandwidth
capacity, we may be unable to efficiently and dffety scale our business to manage the additiamewf wireless carrier customers, increases
in the number of our end users or increases intdaific.

Our data centers are potentially vulnerable to dgnta interruption from a variety of sources, inthg fire, flood, earthquake, power
loss, telecommunications or computer systems filawman error, terrorist acts or other eventsh@le not yet completed a comprehensive
business continuity plan and there can be no asserthat the measures implemented by us to dateeasures implemented by us in the
future, to manage risks related to network failuedisruptions in our data centers will be adeguat that the redundancies built into our
servers will work as planned in the event of netwfailures or other disruptions. In particularwié experienced damage or interruptions to our
data centers in the San Francisco Bay Area, or wegible to commence recovery operations in our dega center in Sacramento, California,
our ability to provide efficient and uninterruptegeration of our services would be significanthypeired.

We could also experience failures of our data agerdeinterruptions of our services, or other peoirs in connection with our operations,
as a result of:

» damage to or failure of our computer software adivare or our connections and outsourced serviemgements with third
parties;

» errors in the processing of data by our sen
e computer viruses or software defe«
» physical or electronic bre-ins, sabotage, intentional acts of vandalism amdai events; o
» errors by our employees or third party service ens.
Poor performance in or disruptions of our servioasld harm our reputation, delay market acceptaficar services and subject us to

liabilities. Our wireless carrier agreements reguis to meet at least 99.9% operational uptimeirements, excluding scheduled maintenance
periods, or be subjected to penalties.

In addition, if our end user base continues to graaditional strain will be placed on our techngl@ystems and networks, which may
increase the risk of a network disruption. Any getén a network or system, or other unanticipatedlem that leads to an interruption or
disruption of our LBS, could have a material adeegfect on our operating results and financialditoon.

If our LBS platform does not scale as anticipated, or we are unable to grow data center capacity as needed, our business will be harmed.

Despite frequent testing of the scalability of @&S platform in a test environment, the abilityafr LBS platform to scale to support a
substantial increase in the use of our servicesiorber of users in an actual commercial environrigeatproven. If our LBS platform does 1
efficiently and effectively scale to support andnage a substantial increase in the use of ourcgsar number of users while maintaining a
high level of performance, our business will beaesly harmed.
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Our quarterly revenue and operating results have fluctuated in the past and may fluctuate in the future due to a number of factors. Asa
result, we may fail to meet or exceed the expectations of securities analysts or investors, which could cause our stock price to decline.

Our quarterly revenue and operating results may significantly in the future. Therefore, you shdulot rely on the results achieved in
any one quarter as an indication of future perfaroea Period to period comparisons of our revenageogerating results may not be
meaningful. Our quarterly results of operations rflagtuate as a result of a variety of factorsjuding, but not limited to, those listed below,
many of which are outside of our control:

changes in the pricing of our services or prodocthose of our competitors and changes in théngriand content of bundled LE
offerings of our wireless carrier customers, suglttha revenue model changes resulting from ountemntract amendment with
Sprint;

impact of results of the offering of a premium ugudg on a basic version of our service that is effdor free included in a wireless
carrier custom¢ s bundled offerings

changes made to an existing contractual obligatidgtisa customer that may affect the nature anihtinof revenue recognitiol
loss of subscribers by our wireless carrier custsmea reduction in the number of subscriberddagthat include our service
the timing and quality of information we receiverir our wireless carrier customers and automobileufzeturers and OEM:
our inability to attract new end use

the timing and success of new service introductlmnas or our competitor

the timing and success of new mobile phone intridas by our wireless carrier custome

the loss of our relationship with any particulareléss carrier custome

the timing and success of wireless carrier custe’ marketing expenditure

the seasonality of new vehicle model introductiand consumer buying patter

the extent of any interruption in our servic

the amount and timing of operating costs and cbgigaenditures related to the expansion of our ajpgmrs and infrastructur
the timing of expenses related to the developmeatquisition of technologies, products or busiaess

potential foreign currency exchange gains and bassociated with expenses and sales denominatedréncies other than the
U.S. dollar;

general economic, industry and market conditioas ithpact expenditures for smartphones and LB&erltnited States and otF
countries where we sell our services and prod

changes in interest rates and our mix of investmentich would impact our return on our investmentsash and marketak
securities

changes in our effective tax rates;
the impact of new accounting pronounceme

Fluctuations in our quarterly operating results imigad analysts to change their models for valeimgcommon stock. As a result, our
stock price could decline rapidly and we could faostly securities class action lawsuits or othreaniicipated issues.
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If a substantial number of end users change mobile phones or if our wireless carrier customers switch to subscription plans that require
active monthly renewal by end users, our revenue could suffer.

Subscription fees represent the vast majority ofreuenue. As mobile phone development continudsnamw mobile phones are offered
at subsidized rates to subscribers in connectidim p¥an renewals, an increasing percentage of satswho already subscribe to our services
will likely upgrade from their existing mobile phes. With some wireless carriers, subscribers aablarto automatically transfer their existing
subscriptions from one mobile phone to anothemay choose to discontinue our services if their dewice has an alternative application pre-
installed.

In addition, wireless carriers may switch to sulption billing systems that require subscriberadtively renew, or opt-in, each month
from current systems that passively renew unleBscsibers take some action to opt-out of their stipgons. In either case, unless we or our
wireless carrier customers are able to resell sigisms to these subscribers or replace thesecsiiess with other subscribers, our revenue
would suffer and this could harm our business, &gy results and financial condition.

If we are unableto attract new wireless carrier customers, our revenue growth may be adversely affected and our net income could decline.

If we do not add new wireless carrier customersiaogkase the number of end users who receivessuices through those new wireless
carrier customers, we may not be able to increaseevenue in the longer term. Our sales and miaetfforts may not be successful in
establishing relationships with new wireless cartigstomers. We will not be successful in expanding new geographic markets without
developing relationships with successful wirelessiers in those markets. We expect to incur sigaift additional expenses in hiring
additional personnel and expanding our internatioparations in order to attract new wireless earcustomers in different geographic mar
to achieve revenue growth. If we fail to attracivreiccessful wireless carrier customers and thiisaribers or our new service introductions
are not successful, we may be unable to increaseevenue and our operating results may be adyeasfelcted.

Our lengthy sales cycle makesit difficult for usto predict when we will generate revenue from wireless carrier and automobile manufacturer
and OEM customers.

We have a lengthy and complex sales process. Tégration and testing of our LBS platform with @gpective wireless carrier requires
substantial time and expense before launching 8& Wwith that wireless carrier. In new geographichats, our sales cycles are typically
longer and may involve more challenges such asukge or government regulation/compliance requirésa&ven after a wireless carrier
decides to launch our LBS, the integration of oBSLplatform with a wireless carrier's network arillig systems generally requires several
months to complete. Moreover, launch of our LBSalwireless carrier typically may be timed to codtecivith a new mobile phone launch,
over which we have no control. In addition, beietested to participate and designed into new vehigbdels is a lengthy and time consuming
process and our LBS platform may not be includeddotors beyond our control if we are participgtin the vehicle with an OEM. Because
these lengthy cycles, we may experience delays fhenime we begin the sales process and incueased costs and expenses to obtain a
partner as a customer and integrate our LBS platfartil the time we generate revenue from suchlegsecarrier, OEM or automobile
manufacturers. These delays may make it diffiaufiredict when we will generate revenue from nestamers.

Thefailure of mobile phone providers selected by our wireless carrier customers to keep pace with technological and market developmentsin
mobile phone design and the rapid transition in the industry from feature phones to smartphones may negatively affect the demand for our
LBS.

Wireless carriers select various mobile phonesihoon their wireless networks. Our future succeiisdepend on these mobile phone
providers’ ability to design and manufacture molpitenes that meet the demands of wireless caaretsheir subscribers. In order to continue
their relationships with the wireless carriers stne

27



Table of Contents

mobile phone providers will have to continue togstin developing mobile phones that are compatifile the advanced network technology
that wireless carriers are deploying to increase/oik capacity and speed. If our wireless carriestomers fail to select mobile phone
providers whose products have superior GPS capabibr fail to adopt other advanced technologies,ability to sell our LBS may suffer. If
we do not extend our client software to these dmvin a timely and efficient manner before thaahitommercial launch of the mobile phone,
our adoption rates will suffer. In addition, if owireless carrier customers select mobile phonaisatte incompatible with our LBS client
software, we will incur additional time and expense extend our services to those devices, whicheaase us to incur unanticipated
operating expenses and miss product launch windBesause of short product life cycles in the wesleommunications industry, if we fail to
integrate our software on a mobile phone priotd@wommercial launch or if it is preloaded with #rey provider's LBS, we may lose a
substantial opportunity to gain end users who pasefthat device and our revenue may suffer.

The rapid transition occurring in the market forbit® phones from feature phones to smartphonesesr@pportunities for competitors
enter the market for our LBS services with wireleagiers that traditionally provided a single optifor their platform. This shift in consumer
hardware choice may result in more competitorsetimg the smartphone opportunities at lower prigiésout having to cooperate with the
wireless carrier. We traditionally benefited in ealationship with wireless carriers through thaéistribution of our application for their devices
as the prdeaded option for end users. As end users becomestmned to searching out their own applicatiomegaly they may also seek ¢
more alternatives for their LBS application.

Successful sales of our LBS depend on our wiraagser customers keeping pace with changing coesymeferences for mobile phol
and our ability to appeal to smartphone users mithe application options. If our wireless carrisstomers do not select mobile phones with
the design attributes attractive to consumers, sgdhin form factors, high resolution screens @deslired functionality, customers may select
wireless carriers with whom we do not have a refehip and subscriptions for our LBS may decling, @onsequently, our business may be
harmed.

A large percentage of our research and development operations are conducted in China and our ability to introduce new services and
support our existing services cost effectively depends on our ability to manage those remote devel opment sites successfully.

Our success depends on our ability to enhancewtert services and develop new services and ptedapidly and cost effectively. We
opened two research and development centers iraChiddition to our existing facility, for the qpuose of conducting more fundamental
product development in those locations. We curydmdlve a majority of our research and developmerggnnel in China. As we do not have
substantial experience managing core product dpredot operations that are remote from our U.S. dpgaders, we may not be able to
manage these remote centers successfully. We oauldunexpected costs or delays in product deweéoy that could impair our ability to
meet market windows or cause us to forego certam product opportunities.

Because our long term success depends on our ability to increase the number of end userslocated outside of the United States, our business
will be susceptible to risks associated with international operations.

As of June 30, 2011, we had international operatiarChina, the United Kingdom and Brazil. Our exgece with wireless carriers and
automobile manufacturers and OEMs outside the dr8tates is limited. Although we have entered agoeements with 14 wireless carrier:
provide our LBS in 29 countries and in absolutdatslour revenue from international operationseéased in each of the periods presented, oul
revenue from the United States comprised 96%, 9T8©&% of our total revenue for fiscal 2009, 2046 2011, respectively. Our limited
experience in operating our business outside thtetlStates increases the risk that our currenfatode international expansion efforts may
not be successful. In particular, our business inode
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may not be successful in particular countries gramres outside the United States for reasons thatusently do not anticipate. In addition,
conducting international operations subjects usstes that we have not generally faced in the Wh@¢ates. These include:

« fluctuations in currency exchange rat
» unexpected changes in foreign regulatory requirés
» difficulties in managing the staffing of remote ogitons;

* potentially adverse tax consequences, includingtmeplexities of foreign value added tax systemastrictions on the repatriatic
of earnings and changes in tax ra

» dependence on foreign wireless carriers with diffieipricing models

* roaming charges to end use

» availability of reliable 2G, 3G and 4G mobile netk®in those countrie:

* requirements that we comply with local telecommatian regulations in those countri

» the burdens of complying with a wide variety ofdign laws and different legal standar

* increased financial accounting and reporting busder complexities

» political, social and economic instability in sojneisdictions;

» terrorist attacks and security concerns in genarad

» reduced or varied protection for intellectual pnapeights in some countrie

The occurrence of any one of these risks couldtheda affect our international business and, copsatly, our operating results.

Additionally, operating in international marketgjugres significant management attention and firereisources. We cannot be certain that the

investment and additional resources required w@béish, acquire or integrate operations in othemtdes will produce desired levels of reve
or profitability.

Werely on our management team and need additional personnel to grow our business, and the loss of one or more key employees or our
inability to attract and retain qualified personnel could harm our business.

Our success and future growth depend on the skitisking relationships and continued services afrnanagement team and in
particular, our founders, Y.C. Chao, HP Jin and@&bRennard. Our future performance will depenadonability to continue to retain our
senior management.

Our future success also will depend on our abititattract, retain and motivate highly skilled mersel in the United States and
internationally. All of our employees work for us an at will basis. Competition for highly skillpérsonnel is intense, particularly in the
software industry and for persons with experienite @PS and LBS. The high degree of competitiorpnsonnel we experience has resulted
in and may also continue to result in the incuresotsignificantly higher compensation costs toaatt hire and retain employees. We have
from time to time experienced, and we expect tdinae to experience, difficulty in attracting, mg and retaining highly skilled employees
with appropriate qualifications. In addition, exigt employees often consider the value of the stve&rds they receive in connection with tl
employment. If our stock price performs poorlymiay adversely affect our ability to retain highkjlied employees. Our inability to attract a
retain the necessary personnel could adverselgtadte business and future growth prospects.

If we are unable to integrate future acquisitions successfully, our operating results and prospects could be harmed.

We have not made any acquisitions to date. Inuhed, we may make acquisitions to improve our ld¥8rings or expand to new
markets. Our future acquisition strategy will degp@m our ability to identify,
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negotiate, complete and integrate acquisitions iumgcessary, to obtain satisfactory debt or gdfiiancing to fund those acquisitions.
Mergers and acquisitions are inherently risky, ang mergers and acquisitions we complete may netibeessful. Any mergers and
acquisitions we may pursue would involve numerasisst including the following:

« difficulties in integrating and managing the oparas, technologies and products of the companieacgeire;
» diversion of our managem¢ s attention from normal daily operation of our Imesis;

» our inability to maintain the key business relasioips and the reputations of the businesses werag

» ourinability to retain key personnel of the acedicompany

* uncertainty of entry into markets in which we héinéited or no prior experience and in which compet have stronger market
positions;

» our dependence on unfamiliar affiliates and custsréthe companies we acqui
» insufficient revenue to offset our increased expsrassociated with acquisitiol
» our responsibility for the liabilities of the busisses we acquire, including those which we magntitipate; an
» our inability to maintain internal standards, cotgr procedures and policie
We may be unable to secure the equity or debt ighdecessary to finance future acquisitions ongetrat are acceptable to us. If we
finance acquisitions by issuing equity or convéetitbebt securities, our existing stockholders iikkly experience dilution, and if we finance

future acquisitions with debt funding, we will incaterest expense and may have to comply witfifed covenants and secure that debt
obligation with our assets.

We may be required to incur unanticipated capital expenditures.
Circumstances may arise that require us to makatigizated capital expenditures, including:
» the implementation of our equipment at new datdaererand expansion of our operations at data !
» the replacement of outdated or failing equipmentt
» the acquisition of key technologies to supportxgasnd our LBS

We rely on network infrastructures provided by our wireless carrier customers and mobile phones for the delivery of our LBSto end users.

We generally provide our services from our own sesvwhich require close integration with the wees carriers’ networks. We may be
unable to provide high quality services if the Wées carriers’ networks perform poorly or expergedelayed response times. Our future
success will depend on the availability and quaditpur wireless carrier customers’ networks in ttheted States and abroad to run our LBS.
This includes deployment and maintenance of redi@2i@, 3G and 4G networks with the speed, data @@ security necessary to provide
reliable wireless communications services. We deestablish or maintain these wireless networkstanet no control over interruptions or
failures in the deployment and maintenance by w&®lkarrier customers of their network infrastrrestin addition, these wireless network
infrastructures may be unable to support the dematated on them if the number of subscribers ages, or if existing or future subscribers
increase their use of limited bandwidth. Marketegtance of our LBS will depend in part on the gyadf these wireless networks and the
ability of our wireless carrier customers to effeely manage their subscribers’ expectations.
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Wireless communications have experienced a vaoietytages and other delays as a result of infreire and equipment failures and
could face outages and delays in the future. Thatsges and delays could affect our ability to gtevour LBS successfully. In addition,
changes by a wireless carrier to network infrastmecmay interfere with the integration of our ss/with their network and delivery of our
LBS and may cause end users to lose functionalitgérvices they have already purchased. Any ofdtegjoing could harm our business,
operating results and financial condition.

We cannot control the quality standards of our lese carrier customers, their mobile phone progided other technology customers.
We cannot guarantee that the mobile phones ardrfreeerrors or defects. If errors or defects odounobile phones or services offered by
wireless carrier customers, it could result in eonsrs terminating our services, damage to our agjput, increased customer service and
support costs, warranty claims, lost revenue anertiid development resources, any of which cowlebrely affect our business, results of
operations and financial condition.

Mergers, consolidations or other strategic transactionsin the wireless communications industry could weaken our competitive position,
reduce the number of our wireless carrier customers and adversely affect our business.

The wireless communications industry continuesxfeeience consolidation and an increased formatiailiances among wireless
carriers and between wireless carriers and othéremn Should one of our wireless carrier cust@remsolidate or enter into an alliance with
another carrier, this could have a material advienpact on our business. For example, our wiratesger customer Alltel was acquired by
Verizon in early 2009. Although we had an agreemutit Alltel to be the exclusive white label proeidof navigation services, Verizon elec
to discontinue selling mobile phones preloaded withLBS. We have experienced a decline in ourmagdrom the combined entity as a re
of this decision, and expect this decline to carginSuch a consolidation or alliance may cause last a wireless carrier customer or require
us to reduce prices as a result of enhanced custemaage, which would have a negative effect mnbwusiness. We may not be able to
expand our base of wireless carrier customersféebfevenue declines if we lose a wireless cactstomer or if the number of end users for
our services declines.

In addition, if two or more of our competitors oirgless carrier customers were to merge or parthergchange in the competitive
landscape could adversely affect our ability to pete effectively. We have agreements with both AT T-Mobile, and if the proposed
acquisition by AT&T of T-Mobile is completed, ourrangements with AT&T and/or Mobile may be adversely affected. Our competitoay
also establish or strengthen cooperative relatipsshith their wireless carrier customers, saleanciel partners or other parties with whom we
have strategic relationships, thereby limiting ahility to promote our LBS. These events could pedour revenue and adversely affect our
operating results.

Reduced expenditures for mobile phones or wireless services due to adverse or uncertain economic conditions may negatively affect our
business and results of operations.

Recent adverse economic conditions and future tain&es may directly affect the marketing andrilisttion of mobile phones and our
LBS by our wireless carrier customers. As currer future conditions in the domestic and globalneroies remain uncertain, it is difficult to
estimate the level of economic growth, which mayseasome wireless carriers to emphasize marketisig oice services rather than data
services, such as LBS. In addition, subscribers tmatp reduce their monthly expenses by reducpending on discretionary wireless
services, such as ours. Accordingly, the futuredlion of the overall domestic and global economigishave an impact on our overall
performance. Economic conditions are beyond outrobrif these economic conditions worsen or faiimprove, we may experience reduced
demand for and pricing pressure on our LBS, whimlia harm our operating results.
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Changesin business direction and market conditions could lead to charges related to structural reorganization and discontinuation of
certain products or services, which may adversely affect our financial results.

In response to changing market conditions and ésé&elto focus on new and more potentially attvactipportunities, we may be requi
to strategically realign our resources and congielgtructuring, eliminating, or otherwise exitingrtain business activities. Any decision to
reduce investment in or dispose of or otherwisélmginess activities may result in the recordihgpeecial charges, such as workforce
reduction and excessive facility space costs.

Risksrelated to our intellectual property and regulation

We operate in an industry with extensive intellectual property litigation. Claims of infringement against us or our wireless carrier customers
may cause our business, operating results and financial condition to suffer.

Our commercial success depends in part upon us@ancustomers not infringing intellectual propetights owned by others and being
able to resolve claims of intellectual propertyrimjement without major financial expenditures. @feerate in an industry with extensive
intellectual property litigation and it is not umomon for our wireless carrier customers and cortgrstto be involved in infringement lawsuits
by or against third parties. Many industry partaifs that own, or claim to own, intellectual prapexggressively assert their rights, and our
wireless carrier customers, which we agree in oediacumstances to indemnify for intellectual peoy infringement claims related to our
services, are often targets of such assertionscalieot determine with certainty whether any exgstin future third party intellectual property
rights would require us to alter our technolog@sain licenses or cease certain activities.

We have received, and may in the future receiamd from third parties asserting infringement atiter related claims. As of the date
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we were namga@ @efendant in certain cases alleging that ouicas infringe other parties’ patents, as
well as other matters. See Part |, Item 3, “LegaktBedings,” for a description of these matteresehcases and future litigation may make it
necessary to defend ourselves and our wirelesgrcaustomers by determining the scope, enforcéabihd validity of third party proprietary
rights or to establish our proprietary rights. Savheur competitors may have substantially gresgeources than we do and may be able to
sustain the costs of complex intellectual propétityation to a greater degree and for longer migiof time than we could. In addition, patent
holding companies that focus solely on extractmyplties and settlements by enforcing patent rigay target us or our wireless carrier
customers. These companies typically have littlemproduct revenue and therefore our patents mayide little or no deterrence against si
companies filing patent infringement lawsuits agaims. Regardless of whether claims that we aragihg patents or other intellectual
property rights have any merit, these claims ane ttonsuming and costly to evaluate and defencd:anid:

» adversely affect our relationships with our currenftuture wireless carrier custome

» cause delays or stoppages in the shipment of TeleNabled mobile phones, or cause us to modifyspand the provision of o
LBS;

» cause us to incur significant expenses in defendiigns brought against our wireless carrier cust@nor us
« divert manageme’s attention and resource

» subject us to significant damages or settleme

e require us to enter into settlements, royalty cenising agreements on unfavorable term

* require us to cease certain activiti

In addition to liability for monetary damages agains or, in certain circumstances, our wirelesgaracustomers, we may be prohibited
from developing, commercializing or continuing teyide certain of our LBS
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unless we obtain licenses from the holders of titerds or other intellectual property rights. Waraa assure you that we will be able to ob
any such licenses on commercially reasonable teyre, all. If we do not obtain such licenses, lbusiness, operating results and financial
condition could be materially adversely affected are could, for example, be required to cease ioffesur LBS or be required to materially
alter our LBS, which could involve substantial @oand time to develop.

Indemnity provisionsin various agreements potentially expose us to substantial liability for intellectual property infringement, damages
caused by defective software and other losses.

Our agreements with our wireless carrier and aubl@onanufacturer and OEM customers include indéigation provisions. We agree
to indemnify them for losses suffered or incurne@dnnection with our LBS or navigation productgliiding as a result of intellectual propt
infringement, damages caused by defects and dancagesd by viruses, worms and other malicious so@wTlhe term of these indemnity
provisions is generally perpetual after executibthe corresponding agreement, and the maximurmmgiatemount of future payments we
could be required to make under these indemnifiogtrovisions is generally substantial and mayddenited. In addition, some of these
agreements permit our indemnitees to terminate #ggeements with us if they determine that theafismir LBS or navigation products
infringes third party intellectual property.

We have received, and expect to receive in thedutlemands for indemnification under these agreesn&hese demands can be very
expensive to settle or defend, and we have in#iséipcurred substantial legal fees in connectigh wertain of these indemnity demands. For
example, we have been notified by several wiretassers that they have been named as defendacgstain patent infringement cases for
which they may seek indemnification from us. Seedéction entitled “Legal Proceedings.” These indigndemands relate to pending
litigation and remain outstanding and unresolvedfabe date of this Form 10-K. Large future indéiynpayments and associated legal fees
and expenses, including potential indemnity paysant legal fees and expenses relating to therdwrduture notifications, could materially
harm our business, operating results and finacoiadlition.

We may in the future agree to defend and indenwufywireless carrier or automobile manufacturer @& customers in connection
with the pending notifications or future demandsespective of whether we believe that we haveldigation to indemnify them or whether
believe that our services and products infringeatseerted intellectual property rights. Alterndtiy@ve may reject certain of our wireless
carrier customers’ or automotive suppliers’ and ufacturers’ indemnity demands, which may lead &pdies with our wireless carrier or
automobile manufacturer and OEM customers and reggtively impact our relationships with them omteg litigation against us. Our
wireless carrier or automobile manufacturer and Gdtigtomers may also claim that any rejection af theemnity demands constitutes a
material breach of our agreements with them, allovthem to terminate such agreements. Our agreeméthit Sprint and AT&T may be
terminated in the event an infringement claim iglmagainst us and it is reasonably determinedhleat is a possibility our technology or
services infringed upon a third party’s rights.d$ a result of indemnity demands, we make subatgratyments, our relationships with our
wireless carrier customers are negatively impaotdtiany of our wireless carrier agreements isiieated, our business, operating results and
financial condition could be materially adverseffeated. See the section entitled “Legal Proceesling

The occurrence or perception of a security breach or disclosure of confidential information could harm our business.

Our LBS include the transmission and storage ofqueal, private and confidential information priniarelated to the location of our end
users. If there is a security breach or if ther@nisnappropriate disclosure of any of these tygfésformation, we could be exposed to
investigations, litigation, fines and penaltiesnReliation of and liability for loss or misappropiten of end user or employee personal
information could have a material adverse effecbonbusiness and financial results. Even if weewet held liable for such
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event, a security breach or inappropriate disclsfipersonal, private or confidential informatimwuld harm our reputation and our
relationships with current and potential end usEven the perception of a security risk could ithiliarket acceptance of our LBS. In additi
we may be required to invest additional resouroggdtect against damages caused by any actuarceiped disruptions of our LBS or
security breaches. We may also be required to geoviformation about the location of an end userabile phone (or vehicle, with respect to
certain of our enterprise LBS) to government adtles; which could result in public perception tha are providing the government with
intelligence information and deter some end users fusing our services. Any of these developmeodddcharm our business.

Changesin government regulation of the wireless communicationsindustry and the automobile industry may adversely affect our business.

It is possible that a number of laws and regulatioray be adopted in the United States and elsewihareould restrict the wireless
communications industry or further regulate theoendbile industry, including laws and regulationgamling lawful interception of personal
data, use of mobile phones or navigation servigdsmautos or the control of such use, privacyatan, content suitability, copyright and
antitrust. Furthermore, the growth and developneéeiectronic storage of personal information meaynppt calls for more stringent consumer
protection laws that may impose additional burdemsompanies such as ours that store personaimata@n. We anticipate that regulation of
our industry will increase and that we will be reqd to devote legal and other resources to addhéssegulation. Changes in current laws or
regulations or the imposition of new laws and ragahs in the United States or elsewhere regartiegvireless communications or
automobile industries may lessen the growth of leg® communications or automobile industry servises make operation more costly, and
may materially reduce our ability to increase ointen sales of our LBS.

We may become subject to significant product liability costs.

If our LBS or products contain defects, there arers in the maps supplied by third party map pievs or if our end users do not heed
our warnings about the proper use of these prodcaalisions or accidents could occur resultingpinperty damage, personal injury or deat
any of these events occurs, we could be subjesigtoficant liability for personal injury and progg damage and under certain circumstances
could be subject to a judgment for punitive damalés maintain limited insurance against accidelateel risks involving our products.
However, we cannot assure you that this insurarmddibe sufficient to cover the cost of damagesthers or will continue to be available at
commercially reasonable rates. In addition, we fmaypamed as a defendant in litigation by consuindisidually or on behalf of a class if
their handsets or automobiles suffer problems fsoftware downloads from our wireless carrier cugtimor automobile manufacturer and
OEM customers. If we are unable to obtain inderoatfon from our customer for any damages or legee$ five may incur in connection with
such complaints, our financial position may be aslely impacted. In addition, insurance coveragegaly will not cover awards of punitive
damages and may not cover the cost of associagatifees and defense costs. If we are unable totaiaisufficient insurance to cover product
liability costs or if our insurance coverage doescgover an award, our business, financial condliéiod results of operations could be advel
affected.

Government regulation designed to protect end user privacy may make it difficult for usto provide our services or adopt advertising based
revenue models.

We transmit and store a large volume of persorfahimation in the course of providing our LBS. Thiformation is increasingly subject
to legislation and regulations in numerous juriidits around the world. This government actiorygdally intended to protect the privacy and
security of personal information that is collectstbred and transmitted in or from the governirgsgliction.
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Legislation may also be adopted in various jurigdits that prohibits use of personal informationd aearch histories to target end users
with tailored advertising, or provide advertisintgal. Although our advertising revenue to dataas significant, we anticipate we will continue
to grow advertising revenue in the future to im@@RPU in certain markets.

We could be adversely affected if domestic or imi¢ional legislation or regulations are expandetpire changes in our business
practices or if governing jurisdictions interpretimplement their legislation or regulations in wahat negatively affect our business. For
example, the USA PATRIOT Act provides certain riggtg U.S. law enforcement authorities to obtairspeal information in the control of
U.S. persons and entities without notifying theseféd individuals. If we are required to allocatmgicant resources to modify the delivery of
our services to enable enhanced legal intercepfitime personal information that we transmit armtestour results of operations and financial
condition may be adversely affected.

In addition, because various foreign jurisdictitiave different laws and regulations concerningstibeage and transmission of personal
information, we may face unknown requirements guste compliance challenges in new internationaketarthat we seek to enter. Such
variation could subject us to costs, delayed serldanches, liabilities or negative publicity tisatild impair our ability to expand our
operations into some countries and therefore limitfuture growth.

As privacy and data protection have become morsitbemissues, we may also become exposed to falttéabilities as a result of
differing views on the privacy of personal inforieat These and other privacy concerns could adiyensgact our business, results of
operations and financial condition.

If we are unableto protect our intellectual property and proprietary rights, our competitive position and our business could be harmed.

We rely primarily on a combination of patent lawsdemark laws, copyright laws, trade secrets,identfiality procedures and
contractual provisions to protect our proprietaghnology. However, our issued patents and anydyiatents that may issue may not surv
legal challenge to their scope, validity or enfataiéity, or provide significant protection for uBhe failure of our patents to adequately protect
our technology might make it easier for our contpedito offer similar products or technologiesatidition, patents may not issue from any of
our current or any future applications.

Monitoring unauthorized use of our intellectual peaty is difficult and costly. The steps we haveetato protect our proprietary rights
may not be adequate to prevent misappropriatiauofntellectual property. We may not be able teedeunauthorized use of, or take
appropriate steps to enforce, our intellectual priyprights. Our competitors may also independetiiyelop similar technology. In addition,
the laws of many countries do not protect our gedgry rights to as great an extent as do the ta#ise United States. Any failure by us to
meaningfully protect our intellectual property abuésult in competitors offering products that ingmrate our most technologically advanced
features, which could seriously reduce demand doL®S. In addition, we may in the future needrtitiate infringement claims or litigation.
Litigation, whether we are a plaintiff or a defentiacan be expensive, time consuming and may dikieréfforts of our technical staff and
managerial personnel, which could harm our businglssther or not such litigation results in a deti@ation favorable to us.

Confidentiality agreements with employees and others may not adequately prevent disclosure of our trade secrets and other proprietary
information.

We have devoted substantial resources to the dawelot of our proprietary technology, including greprietary software components
our LBS and related processes. In order to pratecproprietary technology and processes, we repait on confidentiality agreements with
our employees, licensees, independent contrachorsther advisors. These agreements may not efédgiprevent disclosure of our
confidential
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information and may not provide an adequate renretlye event of unauthorized disclosure of our werftial information. In addition, others
may independently discover trade secrets and @i@pyi information, and in such cases we could ss¢ld any trade secret rights against such
parties. Costly and time consuming litigation cobkdnecessary to enforce and determine the scope @foprietary rights, and failure to
obtain or maintain trade secret protection coulkeskly affect our competitive business position.

We use open source software in our LBS platformdiedit applications that may subject our LBS mati and client applications to
general release or require us teergineer our LBS platform and client applicationhjch may cause harm to our business. We use apgne
software in our LBS platform and client applicascemd may use more open source software in theefufiom time to time, there have been
claims challenging the ownership of open sourcernsoE against companies that incorporate open s@aftware into their products. As a
result, we could be subject to suits by partiesriteg ownership of what we believe to be open sewaftware. Some open source licenses
contain requirements that we make available sotwde for modifications or derivative works we ceebaised upon the open source software
and that we license such modifications or derivatitorks under the terms of a particular open solizease or other license granting third
parties certain rights of further use. If we congbaur proprietary software products with open sewaftware in a certain manner, we could,
under certain of the open source licenses, benedjtn release our proprietary source code. Intiadio risks related to license requirements,
usage of open source software can lead to grasksrthan use of third party commercial softwaseppen source licensors generally do not
provide warranties or controls on origin of thetaafre. Open source license terms may be ambigualisnany of the risks associated with
usage of open source cannot be eliminated, and cibwmiot properly addressed, negatively affectlousiness. If we were found to have
inappropriately used open source software, we neagquired to release our proprietary source aadengineer our LBS platform and client
applications, discontinue the sale of our servicthe event re-engineering cannot be accomplisheadtonely basis or take other remedial
action that may divert resources away from our tgraent efforts, any of which could adversely affeer business, operating results and
financial condition.

Risksrelated to being a publicly traded company and holding our common stock

As a public company, we are obligated to develop and maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting. We may not complete our
analysis of our internal controls over financial reporting in a timely manner, or these internal controls may not be determined to be effective,
which may adversely affect investor confidence in our company and, as a result, the value of our common stock.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that we test darrial controls over financial reporting and disciee controls and procedures. In
particular, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 20dlperformed system and process evaluation atidgeof our internal controls over financ
reporting to allow management and our independsgistered public accounting firm to report on tFeaiveness of our internal controls over
financial reporting, as required by Section 404hef Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Our compliance with Secliof requires that we incur substantial
expense and expend significant management timemwpliance-related issues. Moreover, if we are btg 0 comply with the requirements of
Section 404 in the future, or if we or our indepemicregistered public accounting firm identify défincies in our internal controls over
financial reporting that are deemed to be matev&dknesses, the market price of our stock mayrdz=ald we could be subject to sanctions or
investigations by the NASDAQ Stock Market’s Globédrket, the SEC or other regulatory authoritiesichtwould require significant
additional financial and management resources.
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We have in the past been subject to securities class action litigation and may be subject to similar litigation in the future. If the outcome of
thislitigation isunfavorable, it could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

On September 2, 2010, a purported stockholder eletizn was filed by David Smith in the United $&District Court for the Northern
District of California (Case No. 3:10-CV-03942-S&ainst us, certain of our officers and directarg] certain of our underwriters for our
May 13, 2010 initial public offering or IPO, allegj violations of Sections 11 and 15 of the Seasifhct. A hearing to approve settlement of
the case will be held in November 2011. The setiemwill include a payment of $3.8 million to regelall claims as to all defendants to the
litigation. The entire settlement amount will bedphy our insurance carrier. We do not anticipatg léability as a result of this matter.

In the future, especially following periods of viility in the market price of our shares, othergmnted class action or derivative
complaints may be filed against us. The outcomgoténtial future litigation is difficult to predieind quantify and the defense of such claims
or actions can be costly. In addition to divertfimgancial and management resources and generaldassdisruption, we may suffer from
adverse publicity that could harm our brand or tapon, regardless of whether the allegations afiel\or whether we are ultimately held
liable. A judgment or settlement that is not codelog or is significantly in excess of our insurawo@erage for any claims, or our obligation
indemnify the underwriters and the individual defents, could materially and adversely affect onaficial condition, results of operations and
cash flows.

We will incur increased costs and demands upon management as a result of complying with the laws and regulations affecting public
companies, which could harm our operating results.

As a public company, we will incur significant légaccounting, investor relations and other expetisat we did not incur as a private
company, including costs associated with public gany reporting requirements. We also have incuaretiwill incur costs associated with
current corporate governance requirements, incutBauirements under Section 404 and other prawssid the Sarbanedxley Act, as well &
rules implemented by the SEC and the stock exchangehich our common stock is traded. The expemsesred by public companies for
reporting and corporate governance purposes haveased dramatically over the past several yeagseXect these rules and regulations to
increase our legal and financial compliance cagitstsntially and to make some activities more timesuming and costly. We are unable
currently to estimate these costs with any degfeemainty. We also expect that, as a public compéd will be more expensive for us to
obtain director and officer liability insurance. Agesult, it may be more difficult for us to atirand retain qualified individuals to serve on
board of directors or as our executive officers.

Regulations relating to offshore investment activities by residents of China may limit our ability to acquire Chinese companies and could
adversely affect our business.

In October 2005, SAFE, a Chinese government aggmoyulgated Relevant Issues Concerning Foreign Exchange Coor@lomestic
Residents’ Corporate Financing and Roundtrip Irmesit Through Offshore Special Purpose VehiclesCiotular 75, that states that if
Chinese residents use assets or equity intereigimChinese entities as capital contributionegtablish offshore companies or inject asse
equity interests of their Chinese entities inteshffre companies to raise capital overseas, theynegister with local SAFE branches with
respect to their overseas investments in offshomgpainies. They must also file amendments to tlegistrations if their offshore companies
experience material events involving capital vasiatsuch as changes in share capital, share ér@nsfiergers and acquisitions, spinoff
transactions, long term equity or debt investmentsses of assets in China to guarantee offshdigatibns. Under this regulation, their failt
to comply with the registration procedures settfantsuch regulation may result in restrictionsnigeimposed on the foreign exchange activi
of the relevant Chinese entity, including restdns on the payment of dividends and other distidmstto its offshore parent, as well as
restrictions on the capital inflow from the offskantity to the Chinese entity.
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We attempt to comply, and attempt to ensure thaestmckholders who are subject to Circular 75 atheiorelated rules comply, with the
relevant requirements. However, we cannot provideassurances that all of our stockholders whaChiaese residents have complied or will
comply with our request to make or obtain any aygflie registrations or comply with other requiretseaquired by Circular 75 or other
related rules. Any future failure by any of ourctbolders who is a Chinese resident, or contrdied Chinese resident, to comply with
relevant requirements under this regulation coulgext us to fines or sanctions imposed by the €f@rgovernment, including restrictions on
our Chinese subsidiary’s ability to pay dividendsrake distributions to us.

If securities analysts do not publish research or reports about our business or if they publish negative evaluations of our stock, the price of
our stock could decline.

We expect that the trading price for our commomwlstwill be affected by any research or reports thdtstry or financial analysts publi
about us or our business. If one or more of théyatsawho may elect to cover us downgrade theituatins of our stock, the price of our
stock could decline. For example, in late July 2Gallowing our earnings release for the three rhergnd fiscal year ended June 30, 2011,
several financial analysts published research tgpawering their price targets of our stock. Afterr announcement and the publication of
these reports, our stock price fell more than 40%ne or more of these analysts cease coveragarafompany, our stock may lose visibility
in the market, which in turn could cause its ptizelecline. If our stock were to trade at pricelwe$5.00 per share in the future as a result of
an announcement, financial analysts may termimnaterage of our company due to internal policiediwitheir investment banks, which could
result in further stock price declines.

Our stock price has fluctuated and declined significantly since our PO in May 2010, and may continue to fluctuate or declinein the future.

Our common stock was sold in our IPO at $8.00 pares Although our common stock traded at pricesigis as $22.07 per share, it has
also traded at prices as low as $4.65 and hasddnd®ve significant downward and upward price ements in a relative short time period.
Future fluctuations or declines in the trading @ra¢ our common stock may result from a numberehés or factors, including those discus
in the preceding risk factors relating to our ofierss, as well as:

» actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operatiagults;
» changes in the financial projections we may protathe public or our failure to meet these pro@;

* announcements by us or our competitors of sigmfitechnical innovations, acquisitions, strategidiperships, joint venture
capital raising activities or capital commitmer

» the publi’s response to our press releases or other publ@uacements, including our filings with the SECd.
» lawsuits threatened or filed against
General market conditions and domestic or inteomali macroeconomic factors unrelated to our peréorce, such as the continuing
unprecedented volatility in the financial marketsy also affect our stock price. For these reasomsstors should not rely on recent trends to

predict future stock prices or financial resultszdstors in our common stock may not be able toadis of the shares they purchased at prices
above the IPO price, or, depending on market cmnmdit at all.

The concentration of ownership of our capital stock limitsyour ability to influence corporate matters.

Our executive officers, directors, current 5% araler stockholders and entities affiliated withntheeneficially owned (as determined in
accordance with the rules of the SEC) approxim&islyt% of our common
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stock outstanding as of June 30, 2011. This siganifi concentration of share ownership may adveedédygt the trading price for our common
stock because investors often perceive disadvasiiagavning stock in companies with controllingatbolders. Also, these stockholders,
acting together, will be able to control our mamagat and affairs and matters requiring stockhodghigroval, including the election of direct
and the approval of significant corporate transastj such as mergers, consolidations or the salebstantially all of our assets. Consequently,
this concentration of ownership may have the efféctelaying or preventing a change of controljudang a merger, consolidation or other
business combination involving us, or discouragirgptential acquirer from making a tender offeotirerwise attempting to obtain control,
even if that change of control would benefit ouraststockholders.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
Facilities

Our corporate headquarters are located at 1130 Rided, Sunnyvale, California in an office consigtof approximately 46,500 square
feet pursuant to a lease that expires in Janudat?.20e sublease additional office space in Sunmyv@hlifornia of approximately 23,000
square feet pursuant to a sublease that expif@edember 2011. In June 2011, we entered into aeawnt to lease approximately 175,000
square feet of office and research and developspate for our corporate headquarters in SunnyCalifornia, for an eight year period
expected to begin December 1, 2011. We lease aipmaitdy 48,500 square feet of space in Shanghanafor our research and development,
sales and support operations pursuant to leasé@$ngxim September 2014, as well as approximat@lPpQa0 square feet and approximately
9,500 square feet in Beijing and Xi'an, China, egjvely, for research and development operatiamsyant to leases expiring in May 2012
and October 2011, respectively. We also leaseeffiace of less than 2,500 square feet each itakdkWashington; Ashburn, Virginia;
Southfield, Michigan; S&o Paulo, Brazil; and Chdbmd, England for our sales, marketing and busidesglopment personnel located in those
areas. In addition to our headquarters and otHieesf we lease data center space in Sunnyvaleai®aato and Santa Clara, California. We

believe our current facilities will be adequatetwat additional space will be available on comnadtgireasonable terms for the foreseeable
future.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we may be subject to legal pediegs and claims in the ordinary course of busind&e have received, and may in
future continue to receive, claims from third pestasserting infringement of their intellectualg@ay rights. Future litigation may be neces:
to defend ourselves and our wireless carrier custsiby determining the scope, enforceability anulis of third party proprietary rights or
establish our proprietary rights. There can bessugnce with respect to the outcome of any cumehtture litigation brought against us or
pursuant to which we have indemnification obligai@nd the outcome could have a material advensadnon our business, operating results
and financial condition.

On November 17, 2009, WRE-Hol, LLC, or WRE-Holefila complaint against us in the U.S. District €éaurthe Western District of
Washington (Case No. 2:09-cv-01642-MJP). The lanalgges that certain of our products and/or sexvinfringe U.S. Patent No. 7,149,625,
and that we induce infringement and contributéhtibfringement of U.S. Patent No. 7,149,625 bythAccording to the patent, the
invention generally relates to a system and metbogdroviding navigation and automated guidanca toobile user. The complaint seeks
unspecified monetary damages, fees and expensésjanctive relief against us. On November 27, 2088RE-Hol served the complaint on
us. On January 25, 2010, we answered the WRE-Hoptaint asserting that the patent-in-suit is nétimged and is invalid and unenforceable.
On March 11, 2010, WRE-Hol amended its
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complaint to add a new defendant, and we subselguamdwered, repeating our assertions that thenpatesuit is not infringed and is invalid
and unenforceable. On April 27, 2010, we filed exeamination request for all of the claims of theesited patent before the U.S. Patent and
Trademark Office. On April 29, 2010, we filed a meotto stay the litigation pending the reexaminati@n May 3, 2010, WRE-Hol filed a
motion for leave to amend the complaint againssaeking to add claims for misappropriation of é&radcrets against us and our founders,
Chao, HP Jin and Robert Rennard. WRE-Hol's mot@rdave to amend also seeks to add a breach trfactilaim against us and a claim for
wrongful inventorship involving two of our patenteguesting a declaratory judgment that a WRE-He¢intor be named as an inventor on
these patents. On July 19, 2010, the U.S. PatehTeademark Office issued an order granting intetgs reexamination of all 51 claims of the
WRE-Hol ‘625 patent. On July 23, 2010, the distdotirt issued an order granting WRE-Hol’'s motionléave to amend its complaint, but at
the same time stayed the entire litigation pendimgpletion of the reexamination. The stay of thigdtion extends to the new claims the court
allowed. On September 13, 2010, the U.S. PatenTeadkmark Office rejected 44 of the 51 WRE-Holgpatclaims in a non-final first office
action and confirmed seven of the 51 claims. Oné¥abver 15, 2010, WRE-Hol responded to the officemactanceling some claims and
adding others. On December 15, 2010, TeleNav regubto the office action and WRE-Hol's response AQril 4, 2011, the U.S. Patent and
Trademark Office rejected WRE-Hol's November 151Q@ffice action response, and gave WRE-Hol 30 day#e a corrected response.
WRE-Hol filed its corrected response on May 4, 200dleNav responded to WRE-Hol’s filing on Jun2@11. The next step will be a second
office action from the Patent Office, which is egfesl within the next four months. Due to the pratiany status of the lawsuit and uncertair
related to litigation, we are unable to evaluateltkelihood of either a favorable or unfavorableanme. We cannot currently estimate a range
of any possible losses we may experience in coimmestith this case. Accordingly, we are unablehid time to estimate the effects of this
lawsuit on our financial condition, results of ogigons, or cash flows.

On December 31, 2009, Vehicle IP, LLC, or Vehicke filed a complaint against us in the U.S. Dist@ourt for the District of Delaware
(Case No. 1:09-cv-01007-JJF). The plaintiff alletiegt certain of our services, including our GPiljator and TeleNav Track, infringe U.S.
Patent No. 5,987,377, and that we induce infringgraad contribute to the infringement of U.S. Patéo. 5,987,377 by others. According to
the patent, the invention generally relates to\agadion system that determines an expected tinarofal. The complaint seeks unspecified
monetary damages, fees and expenses and injunelieeagainst us. Verizon Wireless was named ez@efendant in the Vehicle IP litigatic
based on the VZ Navigator product and has dematide¢dve indemnify and defend Verizon against Vehl&l. AT&T was also hamed as a co-
defendant in the Vehicle IP litigation based onAT&T Navigator product. AT&T has tendered the dede of the litigation to us and we are
defending the case on behalf of AT&T. The courtdumted a scheduling conference for the litigatiorFebruary 7, 2011 and set a jury trial
date for November 5, 2012. The parties are engagedtt discovery, which has a cutoff date of Afil2012. The court will hold a claim
construction hearing on October 24, 2011. We aveldeing our non-infringement and invalidity defeasn preparation for the case
dispositive motions. The parties are to submit chspositive motions by May 18, 2012. Due to theertainties related to litigation, we are
unable to evaluate the likelihood of either a falme or unfavorable outcome. We cannot currentiynede a range of any possible losses we
may experience in connection with this case. Acogylgl, we are unable at this time to estimate tifecés of this lawsuit on our financial
condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

On April 30, 2010, Traffic Information, LLC filed @eomplaint against us in the U.S. District Courtttte Eastern District of Texas (Case
No. 2:1(-cv-00145TJW). The lawsuit alleges that certain of our pidwand/or services infringe U.S. Patent No. 6,68, and that we indut
infringement and contribute to the infringementlo$. Patent No. 6,785,606 by others. Accordindnéofatent, the invention generally relates
to a system for providing traffic information tghurality of mobile users connected to a networtke Tomplaint seeks unspecified monetary
damages, fees and expenses and injunctive rebéfistgis. On May 28, 2010, Traffic Information, Lifii®d an amended complaint, adding a
new claim that certain of our products and/or sswiinfringe U.S. Patent No. 6,466,862, and thaindece infringement and contribute to the
infringement of U.S. Patent No. 6,466,862 by othArzording to the patent, the invention generedliates to a system for providing
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traffic information to a plurality of mobile usecsnnected to a network. The amended complaint sessecified monetary damages, fees and
expenses and injunctive relief against us. On Mars2011, we answered the Traffic Information ctaimt asserting that the patent-in-suit is
not infringed and is invalid and unenforceable. Duéhe preliminary status of the lawsuit and uteiaties related to litigation, we are unable
to evaluate the likelihood of either a favorableuinfavorable outcome. We cannot currently estirai@nge of any possible losses we may
experience in connection with this case. Accordingle are unable at this time to estimate the &ffetthis complaint on our financial
condition, results of operations or cash flows.

On April 11, 2011, Walker Digital, LLC, or Walkerigital, filed a complaint against us and 13 othefedidants in the United States
District Court for the District of Delaware (Case.N.:11-CV-00309-SLR), alleging infringement of URatent No. 6,199,014, and seeking a
permanent injunction, damages and attorneys’ feesld judgment be found in favor of Walker Digit@ln May 10, 2011, we filed an answer
denying the allegations. On June 30, 2011, Walkgit& dismissed its complaint against us withordjpdice.

On September 2, 2010, a purported stockholder eletzn was filed by David Smith in the United $&District Court for the Northern
District of California (Case No. 3:10-CV-03942-S&)ainst us, certain of our officers and directars] certain of our underwriters for our
May 13, 2010 IPO, alleging violations of Sectiorisahd 15 of the Securities Act. On March 21, 2@dintiff filed an amended complaint
purporting to be brought on behalf of all persotwacquired shares of our common stock pursuamitéPO and alleging that we, certain of
our officers and directors, and certain of our unditers for the IPO violated the Securities Actibguing the Registration Statement and
Prospectus, which the plaintiff alleges containedearial misstatements and omissions in violatioB@dtions 11, 12(a)(2) and 15 of the
Securities Act. The amended complaint sought adesification, compensatory damages, attorneys &l costs, rescission or a rescissory
measure of damages, equitable and/or injunctivefy@nd such other relief as the court may deempenr. We filed a motion to dismiss
plaintiff's amended complaint on May 4, 2011. Ond®, 2011, following a successful mediation betwtbe parties, the Court entered a
stipulation and order regarding settlement andistpall proceedings. A hearing to approve of thtlesment of the case will be held in
November 2011. The settlement will include a payneéi$3.8 million to resolve all claims as to a#ifdndants to the litigation. The ent
settlement amount will be paid by our insuranceiearWe do not anticipate any liability as a résilthis matter.

On June 6, 2011, Qaxaz, LLC, or Qaxaz, filed a dampagainst us and nine other defendants in thieed States District Court for the
District of Delaware (Case No. 1:11-cv-00492-LP&8leging infringement of U.S. Patent No. 7,917,28%] seeking a permanent injunction,
damages and attorneys’ fees should judgment belfoufavor of Qaxaz. On July 29, 2011, we answehedQaxaz complaint asserting that the
patent-in-suit is not infringed and is invalid amgenforceable. Due to the preliminary status ofléhesuit and uncertainties related to litigation,
we are unable to evaluate the likelihood of eithéavorable or unfavorable outcome. We cannot atigyestimate a range of any possible
losses we may experience in connection with thig cAccordingly, we are unable at this time toreate the effects of this complaint on our
financial condition, results of operations or céelvs.

In addition, we have received, and expect to comtito receive, demands for indemnification from wireless carrier customers, which
demands can be very expensive to settle or defamtiyve have in the past offered to contribute tieeseent amounts and incurred legal fees in
connection with certain of these indemnity demawdsumber of these indemnity demands, including aeas relating to pending litigation,
remain outstanding and unresolved as of the datgi®form 10-K. Furthermore, in response to tltesaands we may be required to assume
control of and bear all costs associated with gfertse of our wireless carrier customers in compkawith our contractual commitments. We
are not a party to the following cases; howevenuiteless carrier customers have requested thataemnify them in connection with such
cases:

In 2008, Alltel, AT&T, Sprint and T-Mobile each damded that we indemnify and defend them againstdés/brought by patent
holding companies EMSAT Advanced Geo-Location Tedbgy LLC and Location
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Based Services LLC (collectively, “EMSAT?”), in tidorthern District of Ohio (Case Nos. 4:08-cv-822)8cv-821, 4:08-cv- 817, 4:08-cv-
818). The lawsuits allege that the delivery of \éss telephone services infringes U.S. Patents )y646,611, 6,324,404, 6,847,822 and
7,289,763 and seek unspecified damages. In 209, 7aMobile also sought indemnification and defefrem Google, Google intervened in
the T-Mobile litigation. After claim constructiomd related motion practice, EMSAT agreed to disralsslaims against Google in at least the
T-Mobile suit, and in March 2011, EMSAT and AT&Ttded their claims. By March 2011, all the EMSATsea were either dismissed or
stayed until the U.S. Patent & Trademark Office plates its reexamination of the validity of thegyds at issue. Due to uncertainties relats
litigation, we are unable at this time to evaludie likelihood of either a favorable or unfavorablécome. We have arbitrated with and
compensated one carrier for our defense obligatieitout a negative effect on our financial coutit results of operations, or cash flows.
have not yet determined the extent of our defebfigations to the other wireless carriers, and aenot currently estimate a range of other
possible losses we may experience in connectidmtwis case. Accordingly, we are unable at thigtimestimate the overall effects of these
cases on our financial condition, results of operat or cash flows.

In March and May 2009, AT&T and Sprint demanded tii@ indemnify and defend them against a lawswitight by Tendler Cellular of
Texas LLC in the Eastern District of Texas (Case 869-cv-0115) alleging that the wireless carriafénge U.S. Patent No. 7,447,508 in
connection with the delivery of certain LBS as prtheir wireless telephone services and seekimgpecified damages. Tendler Cellular of
Texas is a patent holding company. In May 2009, ATr&sponded to the allegations, filing an answat the patent-in-suit is not infringed, is
invalid and unenforceable. In June 2009, Sprinthésame. In June 2010, AT&T settled its claimhwiendler and we came to an agreement
with AT&T as to the extent of our contribution tomla AT&T’s settlement; however, there continuebdoa disagreement as to any additional
amounts that might be provided to AT&T as it redate legal fees and expenses related to the defdrise matter. We do not believe these
additional amounts will have a material effect am financial condition, results of operations, asl flows.

In February 2010, Sprint demanded that we inderanify defend it against a lawsuit brought by AlfRed_evine, an individual, in the
Eastern District of Texas (Case No. 2:09-cv-003ging that Sprint and Samsung infringe U.S. Raios. 6,243,030 and 6,140,943 in
connection with providing wireless navigation sysse products and services. In March 2010, Sprepgaraded to the allegations, filing an
answer that the patents-in-suit are not infringed,invalid and unenforceable. Alfred Levine sulbsgdly denied these counterclaims and
requested that they be dismissed. At an initiaédaling conference held on August 30, 2010, theta®i a claim construction hearing date of
December 21, 2011 and a trial date of May 7, 281@.agreed to indemnify and defend Sprint agairestatvsuit, and we are presently
defending Sprint as a result. On October 28, 20&0ine filed an amended complaint, adding groupdedéndants from AT&T, T-Mobile,
Verizon, HTC, Intermec, Kyocera, LG Electronics, tdimla, Palm, Research In Motion, or RIM, and Sangalanuary 2011, AT&T demanc
that we indemnify and defend it in the lawsuit. Bfgered to indemnify and defend AT&T against thevdait, with certain limitations, and are
presently negotiating the scope of our indemnifizabbligations with AT&T. In February 2011, T-Mdbidemanded that we indemnify and
defend it in the lawsuit. We have agreed to indéyremnd defend T-Mobile against the lawsuit, witlitag limitations, and are presently
defending T-Mobile as a result. We cannot reasgneftimate to what extent we will indemnify SpramtT-Mobile or AT&T or the potential
losses they and we may experience in connectidnswith litigation. On January 10, 2011, the Coaltl la status conference. On January 14,
2011, the defendants filed a motion to modify tbleeslule to move the claim construction hearingtaatidate to June 2012 and November
2012, respectively. On April 11, 2011, the Coudrged-in-part the defendants’ motion, keeping thactconstruction hearing in December
2011 but moving the trial date to August 6, 2018.Jone 27, 2011, RIM was dismissed from the casedhan a confidential license and
settlement agreement. On June 16, 2011, we movietetwene in the Levine litigation in the East&nistrict of Texas. On June 29, 2011, the
Court granted our motion to intervene. On July@, 2 the judge assigned to the case, MagistrageJGtiarles Everingham, announced his
retirement from the bench effective September 8Q12At this time, we cannot reasonably determihetiver Judge Everingham’s departure
will affect the schedule for claim construction dridl. On July 14, 2011, Levine filed an answed aounterclaim to our declaratory judgment
complaint in
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intervention, asserting patent infringement claagainst us based on Levine’s previous allegatigaiat Sprint, T-Mobile and AT&T. On
August 4, 2011, we answered Levine’s counterclaifiatent infringement. We share the same clainsttoation hearing and trial date as the
defendants in the case. Due to the uncertaintlateteto litigation, we are unable to evaluatelikelihood of either a favorable or unfavorable
outcome. We cannot currently estimate a range yppassible losses we may experience in connectitmthis case. Accordingly, we are
unable at this time to estimate the effects of thimplaint on our financial condition, results pleoations or cash flows.

In February 2011, SourceProse, Inc. filed CaselNdl-cv-117 in the Western District of Texas, altegthat AT&T, MetroPCS, Sprint,
T-Mobile and Verizon each infringe U.S. Patents Ng$42,217 and 7,161,604, both titled “system method for synchronizing raster and
vector map images.” Although the complaint accusesart phone devices manufactured by Apple, RIMp@e, HTC, LG, Motorola, Nokia,
Palm, Samsung and others,” it does not identify @anyicular map software or services provided bpmusthers, and we have received nothing
that suggests that the plaintiff believes thatghtents at issue read on our products or servilmsetheless, Sprint and T-Mobile have both
demanded that we indemnify and defend them ag8mstceProse. Due to the preliminary status ofdlesulit and uncertainties related to
litigation, we are unable to evaluate the likeliddbat our products or services will be accuseaf@ither a favorable or unfavorable outcome
if they are, and cannot currently estimate a raxfgmy possible losses we may experience in coimmewafith this case. Accordingly, we are
unable at this time to estimate the effects of thimplaint on our financial condition, results pleoations or cash flows.

Large future indemnity payments and associated fega and expenses, including potential indempétyments and legal fees and
expenses relating to wireless carriers’ indemnégnends with respect to pending litigation, coulderially harm our business, operating
results and financial condition. When we believess or a cost of indemnification is probable aad be reasonably estimated, we accrue the
estimated loss or cost of indemnification in ounsalidated financial statements. Where the outcoftieese matters is not determinable, w
not make a provision in our financial statementtl time loss or cost of indemnification, if any,psobable and can be reasonably estimated or
the outcome becomes known. Although to date we havagreed to defend or indemnify our wirelessieacustomers for outstanding and
unresolved indemnity demands where we do not beleer solution infringes on asserted intellectuapprty rights, we may in the future ag
to defend and indemnify our wireless carrier orottustomers in connection with demands for indénation, irrespective of whether we
believe that we have an obligation to indemnifynther whether we believe our solution infringes éisserted intellectual property rights.
Alternatively, we may reject certain of our wiredesarriers’ or other customers’ indemnity demairtduding the outstanding demands, which
may lead to disputes with our wireless carriertbeo customers, negatively impact our relationshijib them or result in litigation against us.
Our wireless carrier or other customers may alamcthat any rejection of their indemnity demandgstitutes a material breach of our
agreements with them, allowing them to terminatthsagreements. If we make substantial paymentgesult of indemnity demands, our
relationships with our wireless carrier or othestomers are negatively impacted, or any of ourlegé®carrier or customer agreements is
terminated, our business, operating results arahéial condition could be materially harmed.

ITEM 4. (REMOVED AND RESERVED)
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PART Il
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock began trading on the NASDAQ Globatket under the symbol “TNAV” on May 13, 2010.dfollowing table sets
forth the range of high and low closing sales ricEour common stock for the periods indicated:

Year ended June 30, 2011 High Low

First Quartel $ 9.17 $ 4.6¢
Second Quarte $ 7.5 $ 4.8¢
Third Quartel $11.9¢ $ 7.22
Fourth Quarte $18.2( $10.1¢
Year ended June 30, 2010 High Low

May 13, 2010 through June 30, 2010 $ 9.8C $ 7.8E

We had approximately 92 stockholders of recordfasugust 31, 2011. We have never declared or paidiehds on our common stock
and do not expect to pay dividends on our commockdor the foreseeable future. Instead, we ardteiphat all of our earnings in the
foreseeable future will be used for the operatioth growth of our business.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use Bfoceeds.
I ssuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Maximum Number (or

Total Number of Approximate Dollar
: Shares Purchased ¢ Value) of Shares that
Average Price May Yet be Purchase(
Part of Publicly
Total Number of Paid per Announced Plans Under the Plans or
Shares Purchase Share or Programs Programs (1)
April 1 - April 30, 2011 — $ — — $ 10,265,74
May 1- May 31, 2011 98,54 $ 14.4¢ 98,54: $ 8,843,16.
June 1- June 30, 201 59,60( $ 14.5¢ 59,60( $ 7,975,63!
Total 158,14 $ 14.4¢ 158,14 $ 7,975,63!

(1) The purchases of our shares of common stock byeusiade pursuant to a stock repurchase plan anedurycus on November 15, 20:
Our board of directors authorized us to purchaseeshof our common stock up to an aggregate ofb&2dlion. This stock repurchase
plan will expire on November 15, 201
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STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH

This performance graph shall not be deemed “swigcinaterial” or to be “filed” with the Securitiesd Exchange Commission for
purposes of Section 18 of the Securities ExchangeofA1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, @rafilse subject to the liabilities under
that Section, and shall not be deemed to be incatpd by reference into any filing of TeleNav, lnader the Securities Act or the Exchange
Act.

The following graph shows a comparison from May 2@10 (the date our common stock commenced traatinhe NASDAQ Global
Market) through June 30, 2011 of cumulative togaim for our common stock, the NASDAQ Compositgetanand the Russell 3000 Index.
Such returns are based on historical results amdatrintended to suggest future performance. atdne NASDAQ Composite Index and the
Russell 3000 Index assume reinvestment of dividends

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*®
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data should bedrgaconjunction with the consolidated financiatsments and related notes thereto
appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-K. We havevddrthe statement of income data for fiscal yeaded June 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 and
the balance sheet data as of June 30, 2011 andi2Z0i@he audited consolidated financial stateméntikided elsewhere in this Form 10-K.
The statement of income data for the fiscal yended June 30, 2008 and 2007 and the balance siteedsiof June 30, 2009, 2008 and 2007
were derived from the audited consolidated findrat@ements that are not included in this FornK10he consolidated financial statements
have been prepared in accordance with accountingiples generally accepted in the United State§AAP. We have not declared or
distributed any cash dividends on our common sthicstorical results are not necessarily indicatfeesults to be expected for future periods.

Consolidated Statements of Income Data: Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
(in thousands, except per share data) 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Revenue $210,49: $171,16. $110,88( $48,06F $ 27,71¢
Cost of revenu 40,72( 29,48 20,25( 11,35¢ 7,96¢
Gross profil 169,77: 141,68: 90,63( 36,70¢ 19,75
Operating expense
Research and development 56,53¢ 41,55¢ 23,50( 13,68’ 10,92
Sales and marketir 24,88t 17,19: 16,53¢ 13,24t 14,50¢
General and administrative( 19,75’ 14,51¢ 8,30z 4,99:% 4,67
Total operating expens: 101,17 73,27! 48,33¢ 31,92¢ 30,10¢
Income (loss) from operatiol 68,59 68,41( 42,29: 4,781 (10,355
Other income (expense), r 1,17: (407) (77€) 10 71C
Income (loss) before provision for income ta 69,76° 68,00: 41,51¢ 4,791 (9,64%)
Provision for income taxe 27,19: 26,59: 11,89¢ 184 1
Net income (loss $ 42,57 $ 41,41C $ 29,61¢ $ 4,607 $ (9,646
Net income (loss) applicable to common stockhol: $ 4257: $ 2556( $ 1571¢ $ 1,87t $(10,85)
Net income (loss) per share applicable to commaocksiblders
Basic $ 101 $ 164 $ 13¢ $ 017 $ (1.00
Diluted $ 094 $ 08 $ 057 $ 007 $ (1.00

Weighted average shares used in computing net ia¢toss) per shai
applicable to common stockholde

Basic 41,97¢ 15,56¢ 11,27 11,17¢ 10,84(
Diluted 45,08¢ 30,83: 27,72« 26,87: 10,84(
(1) Fiscal 2010 includes $1.5 million of stock compéimgaexpense associated with certain stock optiantg that vested upon the closin
our IPO.
(2) Fiscal 2010 includes $1.3 million of stock campation expense associated with a stock optiant grat vested upon the closing of our
IPO.
Consolidated Balance Sheets Data: June 30,
(in thousands) 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments $203,31( $112,86: $33,12¢ $16,85( $ 18,73
Working capital 178,60: 134,87¢ 44,89¢ 22,67¢ 17,59¢
Total asset 260,62’ 173,72 72,21( 36,02¢ 26,58:
Preferred stock warrant liabilit — — 2,511 1,66¢ 1,01¢
Convertible preferred stoc — — 51,36¢ 50,16( 47,19¢
Common stock and additional p-in capital 115,10¢ 109,72¢ 3,501 2,92¢ 2,54:
Total stockholder equity (deficit) 188,46t 149,03 3,37¢ (25,765 (27,87
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should bel tegether with our consolidated financial statetseand the notes to those statem
included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. This disoussiontains forward-looking statements based oncourent expectations, assumptions,
estimates and projections about TeleNav and ourshg. These forward-looking statements involvksrignd uncertainties. Our actual results
could differ materially from those indicated in tleeforward-looking statements as a result of carfactors, as more fully described in “Risk
factor¢” in Item 1A of this Form 10-K, Management’s Dissigs and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resolt Operations and elsewhere
in this Form 10-K. We undertake no obligation taape publicly any forward-looking statements foy aeason, even if new information
becomes available or other events occur in theréutu

Overview

Our mission is to help people be more productieelelss stressed, and have more fun whentheyi the go. Our personalized naviga
services “get you and get you there” and help @gb people make daily decisions about “where tchgw to get there, what to do, and even
when to go"—and we make it possible across moleléads, mobile applications, wireless carrierspagbiles, and mobile enterprises, both
domestically and abroad. In the three months edded 30, 2011, we had a monthly average of 24leompaying end users.

As a leading provider of personalized navigatiod kxtation based services, we are well-positiomechpitalize on growing market
opportunities to reach new customers and serve pemple in more places with features such as locdtased search and voice-guided
navigation. By using the most integral tools ofithiaily lives, their mobile phones and vehiclespple can access our personalized navigation
and location based services almost anytime and laeneato help them quickly decide where to go, hogdt there, what to do, and even when
to go—in both personal and professional settings.

Consumers, wireless carriers, enterprises and aliermanufacturers and OEMs are our customersg&verate revenue from recurr
service subscriptions, software licenses, premiemices and mobile advertising and commerce. Erdsutrough recurring subscriptions for
our services are generally billed for our servitgeugh their wireless carrier. Our wireless carcigstomers pay us based on several different
revenue models, including (1) a monthly subscripfee per end user, (2) a fixed annual fee forranmber of subscribers (up to specified
thresholds) receiving our services as part of besdlith other voice and data services, or (3) amee sharing arrangement that may include a
minimum fee per end user, or (4) based on usagéher basis. We also derive revenue from the dsgligécustomized software and royalties
from the distribution of this customized softwanmeautomotive navigation applications, as well asulyh premium services sold to consumers
and mobile advertising sold to advertisers and didieg agencies.

Through our hosted service delivery model, we mtewdur solutions to end users and customers thrihgyhetworks of leading wireless
carriers in the United States, including AT&T, SypriT-Mobile and U.S. Cellular as well as througintain carriers in other countries. Our
flexible and proprietary platform enables us tacéhtly reach and retain tens of millions of ersrs, across more than 600 types of mobile
phones, all major mobile phone operating systerdsadoroad range of wireless network protocols. plagform provides data and analytics to
create more personalized experiences for mobilécapipns, location based advertising and custdifezycle management

In September 2010, we and our largest customemtSpntered into an amendment to our agreementélalts in us receiving a fixed
annual fee from Sprint for their bundled servicbsribers’ use of our navigation services whichdsdependent upon the number of
subscribers participating in those bundles untihsime as a specified threshold is reached. Thismaiment affected our results of operations
when it became effective in September 2010; howeherfull effect of this amendment is evident mdgig with the three months ended
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December 31, 2010 as the amendment was in effethideentire quarter. Over time, we anticipate thatamended agreement with Sprint will
result in further declines in ARPU due to anticgzhincreases in the number of Sprint bundle subeigiwith access to our services and the
significant reduction in revenue from Sprint fomliled basic navigation services compared to thetepsaprior to implementation of the
amendment. Although we are entitled to receiveeatgr share of revenue from enterprise LBS, mamilemerce and premium navigation
services than we were previously, we may not be tibtealize these benefits in the short term atlaWe cannot predict the ultimate financial
impact of our amended agreement with Sprint. Assalt of this amendment to our agreement with $prioviding for a fixed annual fee, we
believe that future ARPU will no longer provide &amingful indicator of our financial performancecclrdingly, we do not intend to use the
ARPU metric beginning in fiscal 2012, but will comie to report the number of paying end users torservices.

In September 2010, we also amended our agreemtnTainTom Maps, to change the fee structure for erapPOI data we provide as
part of our navigation services in Sprint’s bundidfitrings. The material impact of the amendmend ialign the manner in which we pay fees
to TomTom Maps with the manner in which we receawenue from Sprint. Pursuant to the amended agnegme will pay TomTom Maps a
percentage of fees we collect from Sprint for basicigation services and our gross advertisingraalile commerce revenue, as well as a flat
monthly fee per subscriber for premium navigatierviees. We also agreed to certain guaranteed mimipayments to TomTom Maps for
such services. These amendments affected oursedgudperations commencing in fiscal 2011. Althowghhave taken action to increase the
predictability of certain of our third party mapdaROI data costs for services that we provide oararual fixed fee basis that are not depen
on the number of subscribers, we may not have adelyualigned our fee structure for map and PO& ddth revenue from Sprint’s bundled
offerings, and may not be successful in reduciregitipact of the recent Sprint amendment on oursgnuargin.

In January 2011, we entered into an amendmentrtagreement with AT&T, one of our wireless cargestomers whose payments to us
represent a substantial portion of our revenues @hiendment extended our existing agreement wiTAfirough March 2013 and provided
that we will continue to be the exclusive providéwhite label GPS navigation services to AT&T. Tdraendment did not impact our revenue
for fiscal 2011 and our amended agreement with AT&fRined the prior terms, including the fee pdrssuiber per month model. For fiscal
2010 and 2011, AT&T represented 34% and 37% otatal revenue, respectively. AT&T is not requiredffer our LBS. We anticipate that
we will continue to depend on AT&T for a materiarpon of our revenue for the foreseeable future

In March 2011, we entered into amendments to orgeagent with Ford, to which we provide an on-bazadigation solution. The
amendments modified the nature of certain of oligabions under our original agreement, and prodifte additional payments to us. As a
result of these modifications, we now recognizeereie from customized software upon delivery to, acakptance by, Ford of our on-board
navigation solutions, and we recognize royalty rexeearned from the distribution of our customigefiware in vehicles as the vehicles are
produced. In addition, we recognize third partyteahand related costs of revenue when revene@nized.

Our total revenue grew from $110.9 million in fis2809 to $171.2 million in fiscal 2010 and to $2A.@nillion in fiscal 2011. Our net
income also increased from $29.6 million in fis2@D9 to $41.4 million in fiscal 2010 and to $42.#lion in fiscal 2011.

Key components of our results of operations
Sources of revenue

We primarily derive our revenue from our wirelessrier customers for their customers’ subscriptittngur LBS, as well as from
activation fees for certain of our services. Ourelgss carrier customers pay us based on sevéfieakdit revenue models, including (1) a
monthly subscription fee per end user, (2) a fiaedual fee
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for any number of subscribers (up to specifiedghotds) receiving our services as part of bundiiés @ther voice and data services or (3) a
revenue sharing arrangement that may include anmoimi fee per end user, or (4) based on usage orlodises. Certain of our contracts provide
our wireless carrier customers with discounts basethe number of end users paying for our seniit@sgiven month. In general, our wirel
carrier customers pay us a lower monthly fee pdruser if an end user subscribes to our LBS asgbarbundle of mobile data or voice
services than if an end user subscribes to our &B8& standalone basis. We also offer our applieatibrectly to end users through application
stores such as Apple’s or Google’s Android. In &ddj we derive revenue from the delivery of custzed software and royalties from the
distribution of this customized software in certaitomotive navigation applications. In the futwwe, may have other revenue models. For
example, we recently implemented revenue modettjdimg fees for advertising supported arrangememd versions of our services that
allow for upgrades to more premium versions foee f

Our wireless carrier customers are responsibléifting and collecting the fees they charge thetscribers for the right to use our LBS.
When we are paid on a revenue sharing basis witlvoaless carrier customers, the amount we recavies depending on several factors,
including the revenue share rate negotiated wighatiieless carrier customer, the price chargetig¢stibscriber by the wireless carrier
customer, the specific sales channel of the wisatasrier customer in which the service is offesiad the features and capability of the service.
As a result of these factors, the amount we redeivany subscriber may vary considerably, andiifect to change over time.

In addition, the amount we are paid per end usgratso vary depending upon the metric used to deter the amount of the payment,
including the number of end users at any time duairmonth, the average monthly paying end useesdimber and timing of end user billing
cycles and end user activity. Although our wireleagier customers generally have sole discretimughow to price our LBS to their
subscribers, our revenue sharing arrangementsagniaclude monthly minimum fees per end useralimuch lesser extent, we also sell our
services directly to consumers through our welssig: through application stores.

Subscription fees from our wireless carrier custamepresented a substantial majority of our reedoufiscal 2011. In fiscal 2011,
Sprint and AT&T represented 42% and 37% of our mexeg respectively. Subscription fees from our GRSidator service represented 94%
and 88% of our revenue in fiscal 2010 and 201 Jeetively. Revenue from our automotive navigatiolusons, enterprise LBS (sometimes
referred to as MRM), mobile advertising and comraeand premium LBS represented 6% and 13% of o@ntey in fiscal 2010 and 2011,
respectively. GPS Navigator is our flagship voic@&lgd real time, turn by turn, mobile navigatiomvése. Our technology also powers
automotive navigation services that provide aceyraasy to use LBS to drivers, including search,ad traffic functionality. Our enterprise
LBS solutions allow enterprises to monitor and ngenanobile workforces and assets by using our LBain to track job status and the
location of workers, field assets and equipment.afedeveloping other LBS solutions with new businmodels and distribution channels in
our current LBS market and adjacent markets. Thekdions include tablet devices, location basetdite@dvertising and commerce services
and premium LBS. While we have already introducexdain components or initial versions of severahefse LBS solutions, the scope and
timing of broader and more commercially viable dffgs is uncertain. The ultimate scope and timihgry future releases are dependent on
many factors, including adoption by wireless carciestomers and automobile manufacturers and OEMeed_BS solutions; end user
adoption and preferences; the quality, featuregtiamdg of our product offerings; the impact of cpatition; and market acceptance of mobile
advertising and social networking. See the sedaititled “Business—Our services and produdts additional information relating to our Gl
Navigator, o-board navigation, enterprise LBS and other LBSitsamhs. We believe our cash, cash equivalents bhad-¢erm investments and
anticipated cash flows from operations will be &igit to cover the costs of these developmentisffo

In fiscal 2010 and 2011, we generated 97% and 968arorevenue, respectively, in the United Staltesbsolute dollars, revenue from
our international operations increased in fiscdl2ZONe are pursuing expansion opportunities wittekess carriers in other countries and
therefore expect international revenue to incréasdsolute dollars over the longer term.
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Cost of revenue

Our cost of revenue consists primarily of the adghe third party content, such as map, POl itaffas price and weather data and voice
recognition technology that we use in providing bBiS. Our cost of revenue also includes expensascaged with data center operations,
customer support, the amortization of capitalizeftixgare and stock-based compensation. The largaspanent of our cost of revenue is the
fees we pay to providers of map and POI data, TamMaps and NAVTEQ. We have long term agreements WitmTom Maps and
NAVTEQ pursuant to which we pay royalties accordio@ variety of different fee schedules, includorga per use basis, on a per end use
month basis and commencing in fiscal 2011, on edffee basis for certain navigation offerings.

We primarily provide customer support through adfparty provider to whom we provide training arsdiatance with problem
resolution. We use three outsourced, hosted datarseto provide our services and industry stantlardware to provide our LBS. We
generally offer to our wireless carrier customerd generally maintain at least 99.9% uptime eveoyntim, excluding designated periods of
maintenance. Our internal targets for service uptame even higher. We have in the past, and meheifuture, not achieve our targets for
service availability and may incur penalties fdhuige to meet contractual service availability regments, including loss of a portion of
subscriber fees for the month or termination of wireless carrier customer agreement. We expetbtiracost of revenue will increase in both
absolute dollars and as a percentage of reventine asimber of our end users increases, includiogetlhrough bundled or free offerings,
average use of our services by end users increaseadditional operating costs and depreciatiooda®d with our planned data center
capacity and redundancy increases, as well asasedeamortization of capitalized software develagngests. In addition, we anticipate that
cost of revenue will increase over time as we caito enhance the richness of the content offeyexlir products and if we increase the level
of our revenue from automotive navigation solutions

Operating expenses

We classify our operating expenses into three caitegf research and development, sales and magkatith general and administrative.
Our operating expenses consist primarily of persboasts, which include salaries, bonuses, patarés, employee benefit costs and stock-
based compensation expense. Other expenses imokutteting program costs, facilities, legal, audidl &ax consulting and other professional
service fees. We allocate stock-based compensatipense resulting from the amortization of the ¥alue of options granted, based on the
department in which the option holder works. Weedke overhead, such as rent and depreciatioactoexpense category based on headc
Our operating expenses increased in absolute dafidiscal 2010 and fiscal 2011 as we became #gabmpany and built our infrastructure
and added employees across all categories to sumppogrowth, develop new services and productd,epand into international markets. We
expect our operating expenses to continue to isereafiscal 2012 as we continue in these endeavors

Research and developmerResearch and development expenses consist dyirahpersonnel costs for our development employees
use of outside consultants. We have focused oaarek and development efforts on improving the e&sise and functionality of our existing
services, as well as developing new service andymtoofferings in our existing markets and in nearkets. The majority of our research and
development employees are located in our developogriers in China and, as a result, a substgdigibn of our research and development
expense is subject to changes in foreign exchaatgs,motably the Chinese renminbi, or RMB.

Sales and marketingSales and marketing expenses consist primaripecfonnel costs for our sales and marketing staffmissions
earned by our sales personnel and the cost of tivagkgrograms and advertising. As we primarily refyour wireless carrier customers to
market and promote our services to their subsajlmr sales and marketing expenses consist phnedithe cost of supporting our wireless
carrier customers and attracting new wireless eactistomers to offer our LBS. We cooperate withwiveless carrier customers in
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marketing our LBS solutions to their subscriberpbgparing marketing materials and working withnthen promotional campaigns. We also
promote our service offerings through a varietptbfer programs and online advertisements.

General and administrativeGeneral and administrative expenses consist pitinad personnel costs for our executive, finanegal,
human resources and administrative personnel,,lagdlt and tax consulting and other professioaalises and corporate expenses.

Other income (expense), nébther income (expense), net consists primariliytefrest we earn on our cash and cash equivaelts
short-term investments. During fiscal 2009 and 2@tBer income (expense), net also included themsg resulting from the change in fair
value of our outstanding Series E preferred stoakants. We classified these warrants as lialslitie our balance sheets and recorded ch
in their fair value from period to period in othiecome (expense), net on our consolidated statendrimcome. As of December 31, 2009, all
remaining outstanding Series E preferred stockamisrhad been exercised and the warrant liability meclassified to preferred stock. The
preferred shares converted to common stock upoaoldiseng of our IPO and were reclassified as comstook and additional paid in capital.

Provision for income taxesOur provision for income taxes primarily consisfsorporate income taxes related to profits edifnem our
LBS in the United States. We expect our incomeetgpense for fiscal 2012 to be approximately 38%refax income because of the
concentration of earnings in the United States. éigctive tax rate could be reduced if our intéioreal revenue substantially increases as a
percentage of revenue, due to the lower corpoaateates available in certain countries outsiddthiged States and the availability of net
operating loss carryforwards in those countries.

Critical accounting policies and estimates

We prepare our consolidated financial statemenée@ordance with accounting principles generalteated in the United States, or
GAAP. In many cases, the accounting treatmentpzfrticular transaction is specifically dictated®$AP and does not require our judgment
in its application. In other cases, our judgmemetpuired in selecting among available alternagiweounting policies that allow different
accounting treatment for similar transactions. preparation of consolidated financial statemergs etquires us to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts eftgd&bilities, revenue, costs and expensesaated disclosures. We base our estimates on
historical experience and various other assumptisaiswe believe are reasonable under the circurossa In many instances, we could
reasonably use different accounting estimatesjrandme instances changes in the accounting estinaaé reasonably likely to occur from
period to period. Accordingly, actual results codiffer significantly from the estimates made by management. To the extent that there are
differences between our estimates and actual sgsult future financial statement presentatiorgrfsial condition, results of operations and
cash flows will be affected. We believe that theaamting policies discussed below are criticalnderstanding our historical and future
performance, as these policies relate to the migréfisant areas involving our judgments and estasa

Revenue recognitionWe recognize revenue when persuasive evidenar afrangement exists, delivery of those serviesslecurred,
the fee is fixed or determinable and collectabityeasonably assured. We primarily derive ouenexe from subscriptions to access our LBS,
which are generally provided through our wirelessier customers that offer our services to thefrssribers. Our wireless carrier customers
pay us based on several different revenue modelsiding (1) a monthly subscription fee per end ugd a fixed annual fee for any numbet
subscribers (up to specified thresholds) receivimgservices as part of bundles with other voiad @data services or (3) a revenue sharing
arrangement that may include a minimum fee pernussed, or (4) based on usage or other basis.

We recognize monthly fees related to our servioghé month we provide the services. We defer atsaateived in advance of the
service being provided and recognize the defemeauats when the monthly service
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has been provided. We recognize revenue for fixedial fees for any number of subscribers receivimgservices as part of bundles monthly
on a straight-line basis over the term of the agexg. Our agreements do not contain general riglhtsfund once the service has been
provided. We also establish allowances for estithatedits subsequently issued to end users by batews carrier customers. We defer
activation fees received upon the initiation oftaer services and recognize the deferred amourgistbe estimated average length of
subscription to the service, historically 16 months

We recognize as revenue the amount our wirelesgcaustomers report to us as we provide our sesyiwhich are net of any revenue
sharing or other fees earned and deducted by oetess carrier customers. We are not the pringipalider when selling access to our LBS
through our wireless carrier customers as the sildess directly contract with our wireless carmeistomers. In addition, we earn a fixed fee or
fixed percentage of fees charged by our wirelesseraustomers and our wireless carrier custorhave the sole ability to set the price
charged to their subscribers for our service. Ovelass carrier customers have direct responsilfit billing and collecting those fees from
their subscribers and we and our wireless cartistorners may offer subscribers a 30-day freeftsrabur service.

We also derive revenue from the delivery of custmdisoftware and royalties earned from the didtiobuwf this customized software in
certain automotive navigation applications. We galierecognize software customization revenue gigite completed contract method of
contract accounting under which revenue is recaghigpon delivery to, and acceptance by, the autdenstanufacturer of our on-board
navigation solutions. We generally recognize rgyedtvenue as the vehicles are produced, assuminthal conditions for revenue recogniti
have been met.

In certain instances, due to the nature and tirofrgonthly revenue and subscriber reporting fromwiueless carrier customers, we may
be required to make estimates of the amount of tl®8nue to recognize from a wireless carrier custdior the current period. For example,
certain of our wireless carrier customers do novjole us with sufficient monthly individual subdwer billing period details to allow us to
compute the allocation of monthly service feeshindividual end user’s service period, and irhsteses we make estimates of any required
service period revenue cutoff. In addition, if ved fo receive an accurate revenue report fromraless carrier customer for the month, we
need to estimate the amount of revenue that stmmutécorded for that month. These estimates mayreegdgment, and we consider certain
factors and information in making these estimateh sis:

» subscriber data supplied by our wireless carristauers
» wireless carrier customer specific historical suipsion and revenue reporting tren:
» end user subscription data from our internal systeand
« data from comparable distribution channels of dhepwireless carrier custome
If we are unable to reasonably estimate recogrezadlenue from a wireless carrier customer fovargperiod, we defer recognition of
revenue to the period in which we receive and eadidhe wireless carrier customer’s revenue reggadtall of our revenue recognition criteria

have been met. If we have recorded an estimateshuevamount, we record any difference betweenstimated revenue and actual revenu
the period when we receive the final revenue repiooim our wireless carrier customer, which tygdicakccurs within the following month.

Software development costd/e account for the costs of computer softwarelesxelop for internal use by capitalizing qualifyiogsts,
which are incurred during the application developtrstage, and amortizing those costs over the adjfilin’s estimated useful life, which
generally ranges from 18 to 24 months dependinthertype of application. Costs incurred and caigital during the application development
stage generally include the costs of software gamétion, coding, installation and testing. Suckts@rimarily include payroll and payroll
related expenses for employees directly involvethénapplication development, as well as thirdypdeveloper
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fees. We expense preliminary evaluation costsesdhe incurred before the application developrstade, as well as post development
implementation and operation costs, such as trgimraintenance and minor upgrades. We begin anmgttapitalized costs when a project is
ready for its intended use, and we periodicallysseas the estimated useful life of a project cemisid the effects of obsolescence, technology,
competition and other economic factors which mayitén a shorter remaining life.

We capitalized $1.6 million, $2.4 million and $Ir@llion of software development costs during fis2@D9, 2010 and 2011, respectively.
Amortization expense related to these costs, wiva$i recorded in cost of revenue, totaled $418,$989,000 and $2.0 million for fiscal 2009,
2010 and 2011, respectively.

We also account for the costs of computer softwmarelevelop for customers requiring significant nfigdtion or customization by
deferring qualifying costs under the completed amttmethod. All such development costs incurreddaferred until the related revenue is
recognized. We deferred $800,000, $1.3 million $2d million of software development costs duriisgdl 2009, 2010 and 2011,
respectively. Upon delivery of certain customizettware in fiscal 2011, we recognized in cost afereue $1.8 million of previously deferred
costs.

Impairment of long-lived asset$Ve evaluate longjived assets held and used for impairment whenewvents or changes in circumstar
indicate that their net book value may not be recable. We continually evaluate whether eventscmtdimstances have occurred that indicate
the balance of our property and equipment and gilde assets with definite lives may not be recafbts. Our evaluation is significantly
impacted by our estimates and assumptions of fuauenue, costs, and expenses and other fact@ns.dfent occurs that would cause us to
revise our estimates and assumptions used in anglifze value of our property and equipment, teatsion could result in a non-cash
impairment charge that could have a material impacabur financial results. When these factors ardimstances exist, we compare the
projected undiscounted future cash flows associattidthe related asset or group of assets ovér ¢ésémated useful lives against their
respective carrying amounts. We base the impairnifeanty, on the excess of the carrying amount d¢erfair value, based on market value
when available, or discounted expected cash fldwisase assets, and record it in the period in twiie make the determination.

Stock-based compensation experidge account for stock-based employee compensatiamgements under the fair value recognition
method, which requires us to measure the stockdbammpensation costs of share-based compensatammaments based on the grant date
fair value, and recognize the costs in the findratEtements over the employees’ requisite seéeed. We recognize compensation expense
for the fair value of these awards with time bagesting on a straight-line basis over an employesisiisite service period of each of these
awards, net of estimated forfeitures.

Our stock-based compensation expense was as follows

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)

Cost of revenui $ 97 $ 18 $ 4

Research and developmt 1,96t 2,604 237

Selling and marketin 1,00¢ 51€ 15E

General and administrati\ 1,072 1,78¢ 111

Total stocl-based compensation expel $4,131 $4,927 $507

As of June 30, 2011, there was $11.6 million ofeaognized stock-based compensation expense rétatetvested stock option awards,
net of estimated forfeitures, that we expect todm@gnized over a weighted average period of 2a8sye
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We utilize the Black-Scholes option-pricing modeietermine the fair value of our stock option aigarvhich requires a number of
estimates and assumptions. In valuing share-basgartia under the fair value accounting method, Sigant judgment is required in
determining the expected volatility of our commaeock and the expected term individuals will holditrshare-based awards prior to
exercising. The expected volatility of our stoclhased on the historical volatility of various ccamgble companies, as we do not have
sufficient historical data with regards to the ity of our own stock. The expected term of opisogranted represents the period of time that
options granted are expected to be outstandingeXpected term was based on an analysis of owrtuiat exercise and cancellation activity.
In the future, as we gain historical data for witsitin our own stock, the expected volatility aegpected term may change which could
substantially change the grant date fair valueubfre awards of stock options and ultimately theegwse we record. In addition, the estimation
of stock awards that will ultimately vest requijedgment, and to the extent actual results diffemf our estimates, such amounts will be
recorded as an adjustment in the period estimateseaised.

For fiscal 2009, 2010 and 2011, we calculated dlivevialue of options granted to employees usingBllaek-Scholes pricing model with
the following weighted average assumptions:

Fiscal Year Ended June 30

2011 2010 2009
Dividend yield — — —
Expected volatility 56% 74% 72%
Expected term (in year 4.5(C 4.8t 4.7¢€
Risk-free interest rat 1.61% 2.3% 2.4€%

Preferred stock warrantsin January 2006, we issued warrants to purch@g24 shares of our Series E convertible prefesteck.
Warrants to purchase 261,323 shares of our Seresmtertible preferred stock were outstanding aeJ0, 2009 and were classified as a
liability on the consolidated balance sheets. Therants are subject to remeasurement at each bad@eet date and any change in fair value is
recognized as a component of other income (expenst)As of December 31, 2009, all remaining @mnding Series E preferred stock
warrants had been exercised and the warrant bahiks reclassified to preferred stock.

We recorded charges of $843,000 and $346,000 & othome (expense), net for fiscal 2009 and 26d€pectively, to reflect an incre:
in the fair value of these warrants. We estimaledfair value using the Black-Scholes model, whiduires the input of highly subjective
assumptions.

Provision for income taxesWe use the asset and liability method of accagnfior income taxes. Under this method, incomeetgpense
is recognized for the amount of taxes payable fundable for the current year. In addition, defdri@x assets and liabilities are recognized for
the expected future tax effect of temporary diffees between the financial reporting and tax basassets and liabilities, and for operating
losses and tax credit carryforwards. We must makaraptions, judgments and estimates to determineustent provision for income taxes
and also our deferred tax assets and liabilitiesaany valuation allowance to be recorded againstfarred tax asset.

Our assumptions, judgments and estimates relatitteet current provision for income taxes take extoount current tax laws, our
interpretation of current tax laws and possiblecontes of current and future audits conducted bgidorand domestic tax authorities. We have
established reserves for income taxes to addresesata exposures involving tax positions that coik challenged by tax authorities. In
addition, we are subject to the continual examamatif our income tax returns by the Internal Reee8earvice, or IRS, and other domestic and
foreign tax authorities, including an examinatignIBS for our fiscal 2008, 2009 and 2010 tax resurdthough we believe our assumptions,
judgments and estimates are reasonable, changgeslaws or our interpretation of tax laws and tbsolution of the current and any future
audits could significantly impact the amounts pded for income taxes in our consolidated finansiatements.
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Our assumptions, judgments and estimates relatitteet value of a deferred tax asset take into atqgaedictions of the amount and
category of future taxable income, such as incamm foperations or capital gains income. In assgdsia realizability of deferred tax assets,
we consider whether it is more likely than not thatne portion or all of the deferred tax assets pisdiction by jurisdiction basis, will be
realized. Actual operating results and the undegymount and category of income in future yeatddcoender our current assumptions,
judgments and estimates of recoverable net deféawex$ inaccurate. Any of the assumptions, judgeand estimates mentioned above ct
cause our actual income tax obligations to diffenf our estimates, thus materially impacting onaficial position and results of operations.

Results of operations

The following tables set forth our results of opienas for fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009, as well pe@entage that each line item
represents of our revenue for those periods. THéaiaxal key metrics presented are used in additiame financial measures reflected in the
consolidated statements of income data to helvalsiate growth trends, establish budgets and medbkareffectiveness of our sales and
marketing efforts. The period to period compariebfinancial results is not necessarily indicatofdinancial results to be achieved in future
periods.

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)

Consolidated Statements of Income Dat

Revenue $210,49: $171,16: $110,88(
Cost of revenu 40,72( 29,48! 20,25(
Gross profi 169,77 141,68 90,63(
Operating expense
Research and developmt 56,53¢ 41,55¢ 23,50(
Sales and marketir 24,88¢ 17,197 16,53¢
General and administrati 19,757 14,51¢ 8,30z
Total operating expens: 101,17° 73,27! 48,33¢
Income from operation 68,59 68,41( 42,29:
Other income (expense), r 1,17: (407) (77€)
Income before provision for income tay 69,767 68,00: 41,51¢
Provision for income taxe 27,19: 26,59: 11,89¢
Net income $ 42,57« $ 41,41( $ 29,61¢
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Fiscal Year Ended June 30

2011 2010 2009
(as a percentage of revenue)
Revenue 10C% 10C% 10C%
Cost of revenur _ 18 _17 _ 18
Gross profil _81 _ 83 _ 82
Operating expense
Research and developmt 27 24 21
Sales and marketir 12 10 15
General and administratiy 9 _ 9 _ 8
Total operating expens _ 48 _43 _ 44
Income from operation 33 40 38
Other income (expense), r — — _ @
Income before provision for income tay 33 40 37
Provision for income taxe _ 13 _ 16 _ 10
Net income _ 20% _24% _21%

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2011 2010 2009
(in millions, except per user data

Additional Key Metrics
Average monthly revenue per user (ARF $ 0.7¢ $ 1.04 $ 1.2¢
Average monthly paying end ust 21.1 13.t 7.1

Comparison of the fiscal years ended June 30, 2012010

RevenueRevenue increased 23% from $171.2 million in fist@10 to $210.5 million in fiscal 2011. The increagas due to growth in
the average monthly paying end users from 13.5anilh fiscal 2010 to 21.1 million in fiscal 201drimarily resulting from the continued
adoption of Sprint's Simply Everything and Any MighiAnytime plans which include our LBS, as wellaasincrease in end users of AT&T
Navigator and growth through new carrier relatiopshincluding -Mobile and U.S. Cellular. We also experienced iicgmt revenue growth
from our automotive navigation partnership with ¢cduring fiscal 2011, with the launch of Ford MyBbuon certain models in North Ameri

We calculate average monthly paying end users far@ad by averaging the number of paying end usgreach month in the period, ¢
exclude any users that subscribe under daily ona@mians. Generally, we consider a paying end iaske a wireless carrier subscriber for
whom we are paid and for which such subscriber’bitaaevice has the capability to access our LB&rAge monthly revenue is calculated
by dividing revenue for the period associated \pilying end users by the number of months in thegeARPU is calculated by dividing
average monthly revenue by average monthly payitigusers. We exclude from our ARPU calculation sisexd revenue associated with our
automotive navigation solutions and advertisinghéligh our end users increased substantially, ®PW declined 27% to $0.76 in fiscal 2(
from $1.04 in fiscal 2010. The decline in ARPU vaae in large part to the September 2010 amendroentrtagreement with Sprint as
discussed below, whereby we now receive a fixedrfima Sprint to provide our services to subscritierSprints service bundles (up to cert
thresholds) and we no longer receive additionatémere for additional Sprint bundle subscribers usingservices. As a result of the changes to
our agreement with Sprint, and our plans to intoedwarious paid and free service plans throughleggecarriers and open marketplaces,
ARPU will no longer provide a meaningful indicatafrthe health of our business. We do not intendsithis metric beginning in fiscal 2012,
but will continue to report the number of subscribir our services.

56



Table of Contents

In September 2010, we amended our agreement withtSphich changed the way in which we receiveerawe from the majority of the
services we provide to Sprint’'s subscribers. Ratthan receiving a fee per subscriber per monthagveed to receive a guaranteed annual fixed
fee from Sprint for navigation applications proddde subscribers in bundles with other Sprint seswi The annual fee will change from yee
year over the contract period and limits the maximmumber of subscribers covered under such feginem year. Sprint will generally pay
these annual fees in advance. In return, Sprimegbthat our right to be Sprint’'s preferred suppfenavigation applications would be
broadened and our preferred supplier rights arenebed from December 31, 2010 to December 31, ZR{dfnt may terminate our agreement
for any reason, beginning June 30, 2012, by pragidiotice at least 30 business days prior to teatiin. We and Sprint also agreed that Sy
branded navigation services offered as part ofralled offering will transition to TeleNav brandeawuigation services over time. In addition,
bundle opportunities are expanded and may inclyaietS prepaid subscriber base in the future. A®gnize revenue for the aggregate
annual fees monthly on a straight-line basis olert¢érm of the agreement. Our portion of the reeesharing arrangements for monthly
recurring charge navigation subscribers, enterfuid® subscribers and revenue generated from mobitemerce services was increased under
the amendment and will also apply to revenue geéeefaom other premium services we may provideudbed and other subscribers during
the term of the agreement.

Growth in the number of end users in fiscal 20lifinprily reflects Sprint’s decision to continue tifes and promote certain bundles in
which all end users under those plans receiveigie to use our LBS without additional charge. Bessma substantial majority of our end users
are able to access our LBS through bundled offeringr ARPU has declined.

As a result of these pricing strategies, ARPU decliby $0.28 from $1.04 in fiscal 2010 to $0.7@&snal 2011; however, the average
monthly paying end users of our LBS increased I8 3®id our revenue increased 23% during the sanmedpdihe impact of this $0.28 decli
in ARPU for our 13.5 million average monthly payiegd users during fiscal 2010 was a reductionvyemae based on these end users of $44.¢
million for fiscal 2011. The impact of this lowelRPU was more than offset by the 7.6 million inceegsaverage monthly paying end users,
from 13.5 million for fiscal 2010 to 21.1 milliorof fiscal 2011, resulting in a net revenue increzfsk?24.1 million for fiscal 2011. We believe
we would not have achieved the $24.1 million inseel revenue had we not adopted these pricintegtes.

In fiscal 2010 and 2011, revenue from Sprint repmésd 55% and 42% of our revenue, respectively ravnehue from AT&T represented
34% and 37% of our revenue, respectively. No othistomer represented more than 10% of our reveneighier period.

Subscription fees from our GPS Navigator servigeasented 94% and 88% of our revenue in fiscal 2002011, respectively.

We primarily sell our services in the United Statediscal 2010 and 2011, revenue derived from.ddirces represented 97% and 96%
of our revenue, respectively.

Cost of revenueOur cost of revenue increased 38% from $29.5aniiin fiscal 2010 to $40.7 million in fiscal 201As a percentage of
revenue, cost of revenue increased from 17% imlf@810 to 19% in fiscal 2011. The substantial mjef our cost of revenue related to cc
of third party content and technology that we umsproviding our LBS such as map, POI, traffic, gase and weather data and voice
recognition technology. The remaining portion of oast of revenue included expenses associateddatthcenter operations, customer
support, the amortization of capitalized softwand atock-based compensation. In addition, we exggkosrtain capitalized software
development costs associated with revenue recadjfiiaen Ford during fiscal 2011. Cost of revenuea@ased at a higher rate than the 23%
increase in revenue for the comparable period pifynas a result of the third party content anated costs associated with the on-board
navigation revenue from Ford and, to a lesser ¢xtea effect of our fixed fee arrangement withiBpmvhich resulted in a lower rate of
revenue per end user in fiscal 2011 without anwedeint decrease in the respective costs relateddio end users. The
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increase in cost of revenue in absolute dollarsprsarily driven by the increase in our numbeenfl users. The majority of the increase in
cost of revenue in absolute dollars in fiscal 2@/E due to a 27% increase in third party contestsc@s well as increased software
amortization costs, including deferred softwaread@pment costs expensed in connection with revénowe Ford, and increased customer
support costs.

In September 2010, we entered into an amendmehetdbomTom Maps agreement, or the TomTom Maps Amemd. The terms of the
TomTom Maps Amendment were retroactively effecigeof August 1, 2010 and change the fee structummép and POI data we use to
provide its services for Sprint’s bundled offerinfbe material impact of the TomTom Maps Amendnighd better align the manner in which
we pay fees to TomTom Maps with the manner in wivetreceive revenue from Sprint. Pursuant to thmTam Maps Amendment, we will
pay TomTom Maps a percentage of the fees earned$qrint for basic navigation services and gros&dising and mobile commerce
revenue and a flat monthly fee per subscriber femium navigation services. We also will pay TomTelaps certain guaranteed minimum
payments for such services. Previously, we paid Tiam Maps a specific fee per subscriber or a pestetion fee for our Sprint bundled
offerings. The expiration of the license period fiavigation services provided by TomTom Maps forit8{s bundled offerings has been
changed from July 1, 2014 to the earlier of Decam®ie 2012 or the date of termination of our agreehwith Sprint with respect to those
bundled services.

We anticipate these changes to our TomTom Mapsagst will reduce in part the impact on our costesenue of the anticipated
increase in the number of Sprint bundle subscribisout offsetting increases in revenue. Howewas expect that our cost of revenue will
increase in both absolute dollars and as a pememirevenue as the number of our end users iseseaverage usage of our services by end
users increases and from amortization and depi@tiekpense associated with planned data centacitg@nd redundancy increases, as well
as increased amortization of capitalized softwaneetbpment costs. In addition, we anticipate tlost of revenue will increase over time as we
continue to enhance the richness of the conteatexdfby our products and if we increase the leveliorevenue from automotive navigation
solutions.

Gross profit. Our gross profit increased 20% from $141.7 millio fiscal 2010 to $169.8 million in fiscal 2014irparily due to an
increase in the number of our end users. Our gnasgin decreased from 83% in fiscal 2010 to 81%sital 2011. The decrease in gross
margin was due to the increased proportion of regarontributed from our on-board navigation sohsiovhich generally have higher
associated content costs and resulting lower gnasgins than our LBS services provided to our wBslcarrier customers. We expect our
gross margin to decline due to slowing revenue i@ a result of the new fixed fee arrangemernt ®grint and higher anticipated usage of
third party content by our end users. We also goatie we will earn lower gross margins on certdalreo product offerings, such as on-board
navigation products. Changes in product mix mag akuse gross margins to decline over time.

Research and developmer@®ur research and development expenses incre&8edr8m $41.6 million in fiscal 2010 to $56.5 milki in
fiscal 2011. The increase was primarily due todbsts associated with increased headcount to eatthedunctionality of our services and
develop new offerings and increased compensatidrbanefits for our existing employees, as wellragarease in costs related to the use of
consultants. As a percentage of revenue, reseacttevelopment expenses increased from 24% in 2834 to 27% in fiscal 2011. The total
number of research and development personnel isede206, from 686 at June 30, 2010 to 750 at Jun@®A. We believe that as we conti
to invest in expanding the LBS we offer, estabfislationships with new wireless carrier customers develop new services and products,
revenue from those investments and developmenttgffdll lag the related research and developmepérses. We expect that research and
development expenses will increase in absolutedodis we continue to enhance and expand the egaia products we offer.

Sales and marketingOur sales and marketing expenses increased 45%%t 7.2 million in fiscal 2010 to $24.9 million fiscal 2011.
As a percentage of revenue, sales and marketingneep increased from 10% in fiscal 2010 to 12%soaf 2011. The increase in sales and
marketing expenses as a percentage of revenue in
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fiscal 2011 was the result of increased investnrentr marketing and business development orgdaizstincluding the hiring of additional
and more experienced personnel, including two presidents. We expect that our sales and marke&pgnses will continue to increase in
absolute dollars as we expand our relationshipls witeless carrier customers and engage in progtammarket our services to their
subscribers.

General and administrativeOur general and administrative expenses incre28%gdfrom $14.5 million in fiscal 2010 to $19.8 liaih in
fiscal 2011. The increase was primarily due to ddaersonnel, consultants utilized for our preparetifor compliance with the Sarbar@sley
Act of 2002, legal costs, and audit and tax profesd services. Legal costs included settlememestfain intellectual property litigation and
increased legal fees for litigation, intellectuabperty protection and immigration. The total numbkgeneral and administrative personnel
increased 25%, from 60 at June 30, 2010 to 75re¢ 30, 2011. As a percentage of revenue, genedlaed@ministrative expenses were 9% in
fiscal 2010 and fiscal 2011. We expect our geramdl administrative expenses to increase in absdblkars in fiscal 2012 as we incur legal
fees and potentially other costs in connection \ifiggation in which we are named defendants orwineless carrier customers are named
defendants and for which they have notified us they are seeking or may seek indemnification frmnWe also expect to incur additional
general and administration expenses in fiscal 20fPbeyond associated with being a public compaciyding higher legal, corporate
insurance, audit and tax and financial reportingesses as well as the costs of maintaining cong@iavith Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act.

Other income (expense), néur other income (expense), net was $(407,0083d¢al 2010 and $1.2 million in fiscal 2011. THeaage
was primarily due to increased interest incometdudgher cash and cash equivalents and shortiterestments balances and, to a lesser
extent, elimination of the expense related to tivedgase in fair value of our Series E preferredkstearrants.

Provision for income taxesOur provision for income taxes increased 2% f&#6.6 million in fiscal 2010 to $27.2 million instal 2011
Our effective tax rate was 39% in fiscal 2010 arddl 2011.

The usage of our remaining U.S. federal loss carwdirds is substantially limited each fiscal yewiSection 382 of the Internal Revenue
Code. In addition, on September 30, 2008, the Stfa@alifornia enacted Assembly Bill 1452 into lawtich among other provisions,
suspended net operating loss deductions for ocalf2009 and 2010, extends for two years the canngrd period of any net operating losses
not utilized due to such suspension, and limitsutilezation of research and development credityfarwards to no more than 50% of the tax
liability before credits. We expect that for fis@il12 our effective tax rate will be approximatd82 and reflects favorable changes in
California tax law regarding apportioning incomette state, which results in an expected redudtiaur California state taxes.

We adopted the Financial Accounting Standards BaarBASB, standard for accounting for uncertaintincome taxes at the beginning
of fiscal 2010. As of June 30, 2011, our cumulatimeecognized tax benefit was $4.5 million, of wh647,000 was netted against deferred
tax assets. Upon adoption, we recognized no adgrgtin the liability for unrecognized income taxnbéts.

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federalgdittion, California, various states, and foreigx jurisdictions in which we have
subsidiaries. The statute of limitations remainrofwe fiscal 2000 through 2010 in U.S. and statesglictions, and for fiscal 2005 through 2010
in foreign jurisdictions. Fiscal years outside timgmal statute of limitation remain open to augittéx authorities due to tax attributes gener
in those early years which have been carried falvad may be audited in subsequent years whepadiliThe IRS is conducting an
examination of our U.S. federal income tax retdfondiscal 2009 and 2010. As of June 30, 2011,|R® has concluded the audit for our fiscal
2008 U.S. federal income tax return which resuitedo adjustments that have a material impact taconsolidated financial statements.

We believe it was reasonably possible that, asioé B0, 2011, the gross unrecognized tax benefitdd decrease (whether by payment,
release, or a combination of both) by as much ak ®llion in the next
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12 months. We recognize interest and penaltieseictl® unrecognized tax benefits as part of ouvipion for income taxes. We had $157,000
and $47,000 accrued for the payment of interestpamdlties at June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Comparison of the fiscal years ended June 30, 2002009

Revenue Revenue increased 54% from $110.9 million indis2009 to $171.2 million in fiscal 2010. The inase was due to growth in
the average monthly paying end users from 7.1 anilih fiscal 2009 to 13.5 million in fiscal 201Qjmparily due to adoption of Sprint’s Simply
Everything plans which include our LBS (Sprint Ngafiion), as well as an increase in end users of AN&avigator. Although our end users
increased substantially, our ARPU declined 19% f&in?8 in fiscal 2009 to $1.04 in fiscal 2010. Tdéxline in ARPU was due in part to the
increasing proportion of end users accessing awuicas through our wireless carrier customers’ e/itdbel offerings, for which we receive
lower monthly fees per end user when compared tdo@nded offerings. The contractual terms of aurdded offerings with certain wireless
carrier customers also provide us a lower per esed fee as the absolute number of subscriptiotteote bundled offerings increases, thereby
reducing ARPU. In addition, ARPU also declined assult of the July 1, 2009 reduction of our moytieles per end user for a majority of our
LBS that are bundled with other Sprint services.

Growth in revenue and number of end users for grmg@s presented primarily reflect Sprint’s deaisio offer and promote certain
bundles in which all end users under those plarmive the right to use our LBS without additionbhge. To benefit from increased numbers
of end users, we agreed to provide Sprint with lomventhly per end user fees for these bundles cosdta other plans with Sprint. In fiscal
2010, we further lowered pricing on bundled offgdrto Sprint, as discussed below. Because a stilstaajority of our end users are able to
access our LBS through bundled offerings, our ARRS declined; however, the substantial increaseiinber of end users has resulted in an
increase in revenue. In addition, AT&T’s decisiorprovide our GPS Navigator as a white label ofifgtio its end users, for which we are paid
a lower monthly fee per end user compared to TeldiManded offerings, also contributed to the declimour ARPU. Although the migration
of AT&T to a white label offering reduced our ARPthe number of end users subscribing to our sesulw@ugh AT&T has increased.

As a result of these pricing strategies, ARPU aecliby $0.24 from $1.28 in fiscal 2009 to $1.04isnal 2010; however, the average
monthly paying end users of our LBS increased I8 @hd our revenue increased 54% during the saniedpdihe impact of this $0.24 decli
in ARPU for our 7.1 million average monthly payiegd users during fiscal 2009 was a reduction iemae based on these end users of $20.1
million for fiscal 2010. The impact of this lowelRPU was more than offset by the 6.4 million inceegsaverage monthly paying end users,
from 7.1 million for fiscal 2009 to 13.5 million fdiscal 2010, resulting in a net revenue increas®60.3 million for fiscal 2010. We believe
we would not have achieved the $60.3 million inseel revenue had we not adopted these pricintegtes.

In fiscal 2009 and 2010, revenue from Sprint repmésd 61% and 55% of our revenue, respectively renehue from AT&T represented
29% and 34% of our revenue, respectively. No othiegless carrier or other customer represented tiame 10% of our revenue in either
period.

Effective July 1, 2009, we amended our agreemettt 8fprint and agreed to receive a reduced mon#ayper end user for a majority of
our LBS that are bundled with Sprint services. Wée agreed to provide certain activity based distincentives to Sprint for the remaindel
calendar 2009. In return, Sprint agreed to extamdight to be its exclusive provider of Sprint Ngation, agreed not to terminate our
agreement without cause prior to December 31, 28d@&ed to increase the share of any future adirggtrevenue we are entitled to receive
and modified certain other terms. In September 20E0further amended our agreement with Sprintctvishanged the way in which we
receive revenue from the majority of the servicespnovide to Sprint’'s subscribers. See “—Overview”.
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Subscription fees from our GPS Navigator servigeasented 92% and 94% of our revenue in fiscal 20002010, respectively.

We primarily sell our services in the United Statediscal 2009 and 2010, revenue derived from.ddirces represented 96% and 97%
of our revenue, respectively.

Cost of revenueOur cost of revenue increased 46% from $20.Zaniiin fiscal 2009 to $29.5 million in fiscal 2018s a percentage of
revenue, cost of revenue decreased from 18% ial f&09 to 17% in fiscal 2010. The substantial mjof our cost of revenue related to
costs of third party content and technology thatuse in providing our LBS such as map, POI, traffies price and weather data and voice
recognition technology. The remaining portion of oast of revenue included expenses associateddatthcenter operations, customer
support, the amortization of capitalized softwand atock-based compensation. Cost of revenue isedeat a slightly lower rate than the 54%
increase in revenue for the comparable periodrasudt of the use of lower cost content and lowest@amer support costs per end user resulting
from an increased portion of customer support miediby our wireless carrier customers and our greege of outsourcing. However, these
factors were patrtially offset by the decrease irPARand higher usage rates of third party conterdursyend users who purchase our service
part of a bundle. The increase in cost of revenuwsisolute dollars was primarily driven by the @ase in our number of end users. The
majority of the increase in cost of revenue in dltgodollars was due to a 38% increase in thirdypaontent costs and, to a lesser extent, from
a 43% increase in customer support costs as weltesased costs of data center operations.

Gross profit. Our gross profit increased 56% from $90.6 milliorfiscal 2009 to $141.7 million in fiscal 201Gparily due to an
increase in the number of our end users. Our gnasgin increased from 82% in fiscal 2009 to 83%idnal 2010.

Research and developmer@ur research and development expenses incre@8&edrdm $23.5 million in fiscal 2009 to $41.6 milki in
fiscal 2010. The increase was primarily due todbsts associated with increased headcount to eelthadunctionality of our services and
develop new offerings, increased compensation anefiis for our existing employees, as well as $dilion of stock compensation expense
associated with certain outstanding stock opti@nty that vested upon the closing of our IPO. fsraentage of revenue, research and
development expenses increased from 21% in fis¥@® 20 24% in fiscal 2010. The total number of egsk and development personnel
increased 31%, from 524 at June 30, 2009 to 686ars 30, 2010.

Sales and marketingOur sales and marketing expenses increased 40¥t6.5 million in fiscal 2009 to $17.2 million fiscal 2010. As
a percentage of revenue, sales and marketing expelesreased from 15% in fiscal 2009 to 10% irafi2010. The decline in sales and
marketing expenses as a percentage of revenuscal #010 was the result of leveraging our investritesales and marketing across a higher
revenue base.

General and administrativeOur general and administrative expenses increzs#dfrom $8.3 million in fiscal 2009 to $14.5 ok in
fiscal 2010. The increase was primarily due to ddaersonnel, consultants, audit and tax profeskfeea and legal expenses, as well as $1.3
million of stock compensation expense associateld &an outstanding stock option grant that vestazhupe closing of our IPO. The total
number of general and administrative personnekied 43%, from 42 at June 30, 2009 to 60 at Jyn2030. As a percentage of revenue,
general and administrative expenses increased8gérm fiscal 2009 to 9% in fiscal 2010.

Other income (expense), néur other income (expense), net was $(776,00f3¢al 2009 and $(407,000) in fiscal 2010. Thengea
was primarily due to decreases in the expenseetktatthe increase in fair value of our Seriesdgured stock warrants, partially offset by
lower interest income due to reductions in therggerates paid on our cash and cash equivalemded. As of December 31, 2009, all
remaining Series E preferred stock warrants had bgercised and the warrant liability was reclasdifo preferred stock. The preferred stock
converted upon the closing of our IPO and the prefestock was reclassified as common stock andiaxal paid in capital.
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Provision for income taxesOur provision for income taxes increased 124%nf&11.9 million in fiscal 2009 to $26.6 million fiscal
2010. Our effective tax rate increased from 29%sical 2009 to 39% in fiscal 2010. The increasthmeffective tax rate was primarily
attributable to a tax benefit in fiscal 2009 rethte the release of a portion of our valuationwaace against U.S. federal and state deferred ta
assets and a reduction in the forecasted fedes@areh credit for fiscal 2010 due to the expiratibthe federal research and development tax
credit effective December 31, 2009. The increase peatially offset by a tax benefit recognizedigtél 2010 for a tax deduction related to
Qualified Domestic Production Activities under Sect199 of the Internal Revenue Code and by tresasd of the remaining valuation
allowance related to U.S. federal and state defdme assets.

We recognize interest and penalties related tocogmized tax benefits as part of our provisionifi@ome taxes. We had $47,000 and $0
accrued for the payment of interest and penaltidsige 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Liquidity and capital resources
The following table sets forth the major sourced ases of cash for each of the periods set forthwbe

Fiscal Year Ended June 30

2011 2010 2009

(in thousands)
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 106,68( $44.,45( $23,04(
Net cash used in investing activiti (187,699 (9,81%) (6,999
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi (7,735 45,10 68
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cashaénts (56) (5) 164
Net increase (decrease) in ci $ (88,809 $79,73¢ $16,27¢

At June 30, 2011, we had cash and cash equivaedtshort-term investments of $203.3 million, whichmarily consisted of money
market mutual funds, municipal securities, corpotainds and commercial paper held by well-capgdlifancial institutions. From inception
until fiscal 2010, we financed our operations prilyathrough private sales of equity. On May 18120we completed our IPO of 6,550,000
shares of common stock. We raised net proceedstfreroffering of $44.6 million after deducting thederwriter’s discount and offering
expenses payable by us, based on an IPO price @ $&r share, including 1,050,000 shares of comstark purchased by the underwriter:
connection with the exercise of their over-allotmeption.

Our accounts receivable are heavily concentratedsimall number of customers. As of June 30, 20ddaccounts receivable balance
was $30.7 million, of which AT&T, Ford and WMobile represented 50%, 17% and 11%, respecti@ly.accounts receivable balance due 1
Sprint represented less than 10% of total accaeetsvable as of June 30, 2011 and will fluctuatedal upon the timing of invoicing and
payment under Sprint’s fixed annual fee arrangement

Our future capital requirements will depend on méagtors, including our growth rate, the timing andent of expenditures to support
development efforts, the expansion of researchdardlopment and sales and marketing activitiesh@adicount, the introduction of our new
and enhanced service and product offerings andrtheth in our end user base. We believe our caditash equivalents and anticipated cash
flows from operations will be sufficient to satishyr financial obligations through at least thetrigx months. However, we may experience
lower than expected cash generated from operatitigjtaes, revenue that is lower than we anticipategreater than expected cost of revenue
or operating expenses. Our revenue and operatiudtsecould be lower than we anticipate if, amotigeoreasons, our wireless carrier
customers, two of which we are substantially depehdpon for a large portion of our revenue, werknit or terminate our relationships with
them; we were to fail to successfully compete intighly competitive market, including against ccaetifors
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who offer their services for free; our wirelessrarcustomers were to elect not to market andibige our LBS to end users; or our wireless
carrier customers were to elect to lower the pradesged to their subscribers for our servicethinfuture, we may acquire businesses or
technologies or license technologies from thirdipar and we may decide to raise additional cafiitalugh debt or equity financing to the
extent we believe this is necessary to successtoltyplete these acquisitions or license these tdobies. However, additional financing may
not be available to us on favorable terms, if htadlthe time we make such determinations, whmla have a material adverse affect on our
business, operating results, financial conditiod Bauidity and cash position.

Net cash provided by operating activitieNet cash provided by operating activities was.@28illion, $44.5 million and $106.7 million
fiscal 2009, 2010 and 2011, respectively. The imeneent in cash provided by operating activities wasarily due to the increased number
of end users of our services and related revenoergted from those end users, offset to a lesseniely increases in our operating costs. (
provided by or used in operating activities hasdnisally been affected by growth in our end usasdand increases in our operating costs,
which are primarily due to increased headcountragélty payments for portions of the content preddn our services. In fiscal 2011, cash
provided by operating activities was provided pipiadly by net income of $42.6 million, non-cash aies for depreciation and amortization of
$7.7 million and stoclbased compensation of $4.1 million, and $50.6 arilfrom changes in our operating assets and liesililn fiscal 201C
cash provided by operating activities was provigadcipally by net income of $41.4 million, non-basharges for depreciation and
amortization of $5.1 million and stock-based congagion of $4.9 million offset by $7.0 million froohanges in our operating assets and
liabilities. In fiscal 2009, cash provided by opérg activities was provided principally by net @me of $29.6 million, non-cash charges for
depreciation and amortization of $2.5 million, $tdimsed compensation of $500,000, and revaluafipnederred stock warrants of $800,000
offset by $10.4 million from changes in our opeargtassets and liabilities.

Net cash used in investing activitied/e used net cash in investing activities of $#illion, $9.8 million and $187.7 million during fial
2009, 2010 and 2011, respectively. In fiscal 2@hé,cash was used primarily for purchases of ptg@erd equipment of $4.9 million and
internal software development costs of $1.2 milli@t purchases of $181.6 million of short-term stugents. In fiscal 2010, the cash was used
primarily for purchases of property and equipmdritf4 million and internal software developmenstsoof $2.4 million. In fiscal 2009, the
cash was used primarily for purchases of propeartyeuipment of $5.4 million and internal softwdeyelopment costs of $1.6 million. We
expect to increase our capital expenditures inréuperiods as we continue to invest in the infradtre needed to operate our services for an
increasing end user base, as well as in equipnmehtazilities for our growing worldwide employeedeaas we expand our business.

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activiti€aring fiscal 2009, 2010 and 2011, we generatisdd) cash in our financing
activities of $68,000, $45.1 million and $(7.7 naifl), respectively. In fiscal 2011, proceeds frdra &xercise of options for our common stock
was offset by repurchases of our outstanding stiocler our stock repurchase program. Cash genedrefisgal 2010 included net proceeds of
$44.6 million as a result of the completion of ¢R© in May 2010. In fiscal 2009, cash generated duaesto the proceeds of exercise of options
for our common stock.

Contractual obligations, commitments and contingencies

We generally do not enter into long term minimumghiase commitments. However, we have agreed ton@iynum annual license fees
to certain of our third party content providers.r@tincipal commitments, in addition to those rethto our third party content providers,
consist of obligations under facility leases fdiiag space in Sunnyvale, California; Kirkland, Wigfton; Ashburn, Virginia; Southfield,
Michigan; Shanghai, China; Beijing, China; Xi'anhi@a; and Chelmsford, England.
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The following table summarizes our outstanding @oelable contractual obligations as of June 30120

Payments due by perioc

Less than More than
Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 5 Y3ears 5 Years
(in thousands)
Operating lease obligations( $33,03! $ 2,45¢ $ 8,01z $8,12: $14,43¢
Purchase obligations(: 22,35¢ 15,14( 7,21¢€ — —
Total contractual obligatior $55,381 $17,59¢ $15,22¢ $8,12:¢ $14,43¢

(1) Consists of contractual obligations for office spander noncancelable operating lea
(2) Consists of minimum noncancelable financial ottments primarily related to fees owed to certhind party content providers,
regardless of usage lev

At June 30, 2011, we had a liability for unrecoguizax benefits and an accrual for the paymentlated interest totaling $4.5 million.
Due to uncertainties related to these tax mattegsare unable to make a reasonably reliable estiofavhen cash settlements with the taxing
authority will occur.

Warranties and indemnifications

Our agreements with our wireless carrier custortiesoffer our LBS generally include certain préeis for indemnifying them against
liabilities if our LBS infringe a third party’s ietlectual property rights or for other specifiedsens. We have in the past received
indemnification requests or notices of their intenseek indemnification in the future from our el@ss carrier customers with respect to
litigation in which our wireless carrier customé/e been named as defendants. See the sectibadcetitegal Proceedings.” As it relates to
past indemnification requests or notices, in cersituations we have agreed to defend or indentifywireless carriers for the indemnity
demands. For those notices where we have not agrgedvide indemnity or defense to date, or futleenands for indemnity, we may in the
future agree to defend and indemnify our wirelessiers or other customers, irrespective of whetihebelieve that we have an obligation to
indemnify them or whether we believe our LBS infénthe asserted intellectual property rights. Aligively, we may reject certain of our
wireless carrier or other customeirstiemnity demands, including the outstanding dermawthiich may lead to disputes with our wirelessiet
or other customers, negatively impact our relatigps with them or result in litigation against @ur wireless carrier or other customers may
also claim that any rejection of their indemnityrdds constitutes a material breach of our agremeéth them, allowing them to terminate
such agreements. If we make substantial paymergsesult of indemnity demands, our relationshifih wur wireless carrier or other
customers are negatively impacted or any of oueless carrier or customer agreements is terminategdyusiness, operating results and
financial condition could be materially harmed. date, we have not incurred material costs and ddae material liabilities related to such
obligations recorded in our consolidated finanstatements.

We have agreed to indemnify our directors, officard certain other employees for certain eventgourrences, subject to certain limits,
while such persons are or were serving at our itgoesuch capacity. We may terminate the inderaifon agreements with these persons
upon the termination of their services with us, temmination will not affect claims for indemnifitian related to events occurring prior to the
effective date of termination. The maximum amourpatential future indemnification is unlimited. Wiave a director and officer insurance
policy that limits our potential exposure. We bedighe fair value of these indemnification agreetménminimal. We have not recorded any
liabilities for these agreements as of June 300201 2011.

Based upon our historical experience and informativzown as of June 30, 2011, we do not believelikely that we will have
significant liability for the above indemnities &tne 30, 2011.
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Off-balance sheet arrangements

During fiscal 2009, 2010 and 2011, we did not han relationships with unconsolidated organizationnancial partnerships, such as
structured finance or special purpose entitiesctwviaiould have been established for the purposeadilfthting off-balance sheet arrangements
or other contractually narrow or limited purposes.

Recent accounting pronouncements

In January 2010, the FASB issued revised guidameaded to improve disclosures related to fair @aheasurements. This guidance
requires new disclosures as well as clarifies oedaisting disclosure requirements. New disclosuneder this guidance require separate
information about significant transfers in and ofitevel 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierararyd the reason for such transfers, and also
require purchases, sales, issuances, and settemérmation for Level 3 measurement to be inctuttethe rollforward of activity on a gross
basis. The guidance also clarifies the requirerteedetermine the level of disaggregation for failue measurement disclosures and the
requirement to disclose valuation techniques apdtsused for both recurring and nonrecurringJalue measurements in either Level 2 or
Level 3. The revised guidance was effective foeiiimh and annual fiscal years beginning after Deaamb, 2009, except for disclosure
requirements related to Level 3 measurement. Wptaddhe revised guidance during fiscal 2010 aedhttoption did not have a material
impact on our consolidated financial statement® fHvised accounting guidance for the rollforwafrddivity on a gross basis for Level 3 fair
value measurement will be effective for us in tingt fquarter of our fiscal 2012, which commencedioly 1, 2011. We do not expect the
revised guidance to have a material impact on onsalidated financial statements.

In May 2011, the FASB amended fair value measurémuet disclosure guidance to achieve convergenttelaternational Financial
Reporting Standards or IFRS. The amended guiddadéed existing fair value measurement guidaregjsed certain measurement guidance
and expanded the disclosure requirements concekeingl 3 fair value measurements. The guidancééstave for interim and annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2011. Adoption of thiglance is not expected to have a material effieciur consolidated financial statements.

In fiscal 2011, we adopted revised guidance whigiessedes certain guidance with respect to acewufar revenue arrangements with
multiple deliverables. The revised guidance chatigesletermination of when individual deliverabies multiple element arrangement may
be treated as separate units of accounting andfie®ttie manner in which the transaction considmmas allocated across separately
identifiable deliveries. The revised guidance wifsative for our fiscal year beginning July 1, 20Tte adoption of the revised guidance did
not have a material impact on our consolidatednfifed statements.

ITEM7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

Interest rate sensitivity The primary objectives of our investment actestare to preserve principal, provide liquidity amaximize
income without significantly increasing risk. Bylpy, we do not enter into investments for tradorgspeculative purposes. Some of the
securities we invest in are subject to market ks means that a change in prevailing interdssrmay cause the fair value of the investment
to fluctuate. To minimize this risk, we invest ivariety of securities, which primarily consistrabney market funds, commercial paper,
municipal securities and other debt securitiesavhéstic corporations. Due to the nature of thegestments and relatively short duration of
underlying securities, we believe that we do netehany material exposure to changes in the fairevaf our investment portfolio as a result of
changes in interest rates. Declines in interessrdtowever, will reduce future interest incomel0& appreciation or depreciation in interest
rates in fiscal 2010 and 2011 would not have hathterial impact on our interest income or the ¥alue of our marketable securities.

Foreign currency risk Substantially all of our revenue has been geadrat date from our end users in the United Statels as such, o
revenue has not been substantially exposed taifitions in currency exchange
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rates. However, most of our contracts with our {ese carrier customers outside of the United Seteslenominated in currencies other than
the U.S. dollar and therefore expose us to foreignency risk. Should the revenue generated outditlee United States grow in absolute
amounts and as a percentage of our revenue, wenendlasingly be exposed to foreign currency exgkarsks. In addition, a substantial
portion of our operating expenses are incurredideithe United States, are denominated in foreigreacies and are subject to changes in
foreign currency exchange rates, particularly then€se RMB. Additionally, changes in foreign cugmxchange rates may cause us to
recognize transaction gains and losses in oumstateof operations. An immediate 10% adverse changgchange rates on foreign
denominated receivables as of June 30, 2010 ared3r2011 would not have resulted in a materis.lo

To date, we have not used any foreign exchangeafahaontracts or similar instruments to attemphttigate our exposure to changes in
foreign currency rates.

ITEM 8.  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
The response to this item is submitted as a sepaeation of this Form 10-K. See Part IV, Item 15.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Clgécutive Officer and our Chief Financial Officeyaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of June@d,.Z'he term “disclosure controls and proceduras defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15
(e) under the Exchange Act, means controls and ptieeedures of a company that are designed taemisat information required to be
disclosed by a company in the reports that it fdlesubmits under the Exchange Act is recorded;gg®sed, summarized and reported, within
the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules amch. Disclosure controls and procedures includiiout limitation, controls and procedures
designed to ensure that information required tdibelosed by a company in the reports that it flesubmits under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to the company’s nesneit, including its principal executive and prpadifinancial officers, as appropriate
to allow timely decisions regarding required discite. Management recognizes that any controls eswtgures, no matter how well designed
and operated, can provide only reasonable assuddrahieving their objectives and management regeég applies its judgment in evaluat
the costbenefit relationship of possible controls and pores. Based on the evaluation of our disclosunérels and procedures as of June
2011, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Finafficer concluded that, as of such date, oucld&ire controls and procedures were
effective at the reasonable assurance level.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finah&eporting

The SEC, as required by Section 404 of the Sarb@mé=sy Act, adopted rules requiring every compamt files reports with the SEC to
include a management report on such company’snateontrol over financial reporting in its annu@port. In addition, our independent
registered public accounting firm must attest t effectiveness of our internal control over finahceporting.

Our management is responsible for establishingnagidtaining adequate internal control over finah@gorting to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of our finahodgorting and the preparation of financial stadars for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles.
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Management assessed our internal control overdinbreporting as of June 30, 2011. Managementdbisassessment on criteria
established imnternal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe Treadway Commission.
Based on our assessment, management has condhadexit internal control over financial reportingsweffective as of June 30, 2011. The
certifications of our principal executive officemdprincipal financial officer attached as Exhil8ts 1 and 31.2 to this report include, in
paragraph 4 of such certifications, information @enming our disclosure controls and proceduresi@ednal controls over financial reporting.

Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered pudticounting firm, has issued a report on our irgtecontrol over financial reporting,
which is included below.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Repogin

There were no changes in our internal control divancial reporting that occurred during the thneenths ended June 30, 2011 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely tatenally affect, our internal control over finantiaporting.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Control systems, no matter how well conceived gmerated, are designed to provide a reasonabl@&dban absolute, level of assurance
that the objectives of the control system are feftther, the design of a control system must reflee fact that there are resource constraints,
and the benefits of controls must be considereativel to their costs. Because of the inherent &tians in all control systems, no evaluation of
controls can provide absolute assurance that attalbissues and instances of fraud, if any, haenldetected. Because of the inherent
limitations in any control system, misstatements thuerror or fraud may occur and not be detected.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accouriing
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of TeleNne,

We have audited TeleNav, Inc.’s internal contraéofinancial reporting as of June 30, 2011, basedriteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the CommitteSponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Cassion (the COSO criteria).
TeleNav, Inc.’s management is responsible for nagiimg effective internal control over financiapating, and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financigboeting included in the accompanying ManagemeRg&port on Internal Control Over Financ
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an mpiron the Company’s internal control over finahc&porting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stededof the Public Company Accounting Oversightri@d@nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet amdbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigifenternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe®@tsr audit included obtaining an understanding tdrimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness et@st#ig and evaluating the design and operatifegtdfeness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsreg considered necessary in the circumstancefeliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonableaagsuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting princip
A company’s internal control over financial repogiincludes those policies and procedures thgté€ttain to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseofompany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgegaparation of financial statements in accor@awih generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expendituree®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely deteafainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lrareterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or detmisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdénaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policiepracedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, TeleNav, Inc. maintained, in allter@al respects, effective internal control overaficial reporting as of June 30, 2011,
based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
consolidated balance sheets of TeleNav Inc. aara# 30, 2011 and 2010, and the related consoliddtéeiments of income, convertible
preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (defi@t)d cash flows for each of the three years irpgreod ended June 30, 2011 of TeleNav, Inc.,
and our report dated September 8, 2011, expressedcualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Redwood City, California
September 9, 2011
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ITEM9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.

PART Il

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of Form 10aH€, information required by this Item 10 relatiogour executive officers is included
under the caption “Executive Officers of the Regist” in Part | of this Form 10-K.

The other information required by this Item 10risarporated by reference to our Proxy Statemernthi®2011 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders (to be filed with the Securities axdtiange Commission within 120 days of our June28@]1 fiscal year end) under the head
“Election of Directors,” “Corporate Governance, datSection 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Qxdiance.”

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item 11 is incarqted by reference to our Proxy Statement for 8tEl2Annual Meeting of Stockholde¢
(to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Cossion within 120 days of our June 30, 2011 fisegryend) under the headings “Corporate
Governance,” “Executive Compensation,” and “Comp#ios Committee Report.”

ITEM12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item 12 is incarqted by reference to our Proxy Statement for 8tel2Annual Meeting of Stockholde¢
(to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Cossion within 120 days of our June 30, 2011 fisegryend) under the headings “Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Managafrend “Equity Compensation Plan Information.”

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item 13 is incarqted by reference to our Proxy Statement for 8tel2Annual Meeting of Stockholde¢
(to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Cossion within 120 days of our June 30, 2011 fisegryend) under the headings “Corporate
Governance” and “Certain Relationships and RelRidy Transactions.”

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item 14 is incarqted by reference to our Proxy Statement for 8tel2Annual Meeting of Stockholde¢
(to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Cossion within 120 days of our June 30, 2011 fisearyend) under the heading “Ratification
of Appointment of Independent Registered Publicdoting Firm.”
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PART IV

ITEM 15.  EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) 1. Financial Statements
The following financial statements are filed astpdithis report and set forth on the page indidate

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfiinm 76
Consolidated Balance She: 77
Consolidated Statements of Inco 78
Consolidated Statements of Convertible PreferredkSand Stockholde’ Equity (Deficit) 79
Consolidated Statements of Cash Fle 80
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme 81

2. Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule lIl—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts i$ f&th on page 98 of this Form 10-K. All other ednlles are omitted because they
are not applicable or the required informationhieven in the Consolidated Financial Statements had\ibtes thereto.

3. Exhibits
See Item 15(b) below.

(b) Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed herewith or arearporated by reference to exhibits previouslydfikdth the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission.

Incorporated

Incorporated by Reference
by Referenc From Exhibit
Exhibit
Number Description From Form Number Date Filed
3.1 Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incatfwor of TeleNav, Inc 10-K 3.1 9/24/10
filed on May 18, 201C
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of TeleNav, Inc. dffeas of May 18, 201 16K 3.2 9/24/09
4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate of TeleNav, S-1/A 4.1 1/5/10
4.2 Fifth Amended and Restated Inves’ Rights Agreement, dated April 1 S-1 4.2 10/30/0¢
2009, between TeleNav, Inc. and certain holdefBetéNav, Inc.’s capital
stock named thereil
10.1 Form of Indemnification Agreement between Regidteard its directors and S-1 10.1 10/30/0¢
officers.
10.2# 1999 Stock Option Plan and forms of agreement timeter. S-1 10.2 10/30/0¢
10.3# 2002 Executive Stock Option Plan and forms of ages# thereunde S1 10.3 10/30/0¢
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Exhibit

Number

10.4#

10.5#

10.5.1#

10.6#

10.6.1#

10.7#

10.8#

10.9#

10.10#

10.10.1;

10.11

10.11.1

10.12

10.13¢t

10.13.1

Description

2009 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of agreemieateunder to be in effect
upon the closing of this offerin

Employment Agreement, dated as of April 20, 20@Gween TeleNav, In
and Douglas Miller

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dateti@stober 28, 200¢
between TeleNav, Inc. and Douglas Mill

Employment Agreement, dated as of April 7, 2009wken TeleNav, Inc. and
Loren Hillberg.

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefi@stober 28, 2009,
between TeleNav, Inc. and Loren Hillbe

Employment Agreement, dated as of May 4, 2005, eetwT eleNav, Inc. ar
Hassan Wahle

Employment Agreement, dated October 28, 2009, batweleNav, Inc. an
H.P. Jin.

Form of Employment Agreement between TeleNav, &mcl each of Y.C
Chao, Salman Dhanani, Robert Rennard and HassalaV

Severance Agreement and General Release, datédasuary 29, 2009,
between TeleNav, Inc. and William Bettenco

Amendment dated July 8, 2009 to the Severance Aggeeand General
Release, dated as of January 29, 2009, betweeNaelénc. and William
Bettencourt

Industrial/R&D Lease, dated as of October 9, 2@36and between TeleNa
Inc. and Roeder Family Trust

First Amendment dated October 27, 2006 to the lm@R&D Lease, dated
as of October 9, 2006, by and between TeleNav,dnd.Roeder Family Trust
B.

Shanghai Real Estate Lease Agreement, dated agsrib28, 2009, by an
between TeleNav Shanghai Inc. and Shanghai Dongféiging Culture
Development Cc

Sprint Master Application and Services Agreemeated as of January 30,
2009, by and between TeleNav, Inc. and Sprint dnil@anagement Compan

Amendment No. 1 effective as of July 1, 2009 toSipeint Master Applicatio
and Services Agreement, dated as of January 30, B§Cand between
TeleNav, Inc. and Sprint United Management Comp
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Incorporated

Incorporated

by Reference

by Reference From Exhibit
From Form Number Date Filed
S-1 10.4 10/30/0¢
S-1 10.5 10/30/0¢
S-1 10.5.1 10/30/0¢
S-1 10.6 10/30/0¢
S-1 10.6.1 10/30/0¢
S-1 10.7 10/30/0¢
S-1 10.8 10/30/0¢
S-1 10.9 10/30/0¢
S-1 10.10 10/30/0¢
S-1 10.10.1 10/30/0¢
S-1 10.11 10/30/0¢
S-1 10.11.1 10/30/0¢
S-1/A 10.12 12/8/09
S-1/A 10.13 2/2/10
S-1/A 10.13.1 2/2/10
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Incorporated
Incorporated by Reference
by Reference From Exhibit
Exhibit
Number Description From Form Number Date Filed
10.13.2 Amendment No. 2 effective as of December 16, 2008e Sprint Master S-1/A 10.13.2 1/5/10

Application and Services Agreement, dated as afidan30, 2009, by and
between TeleNav, Inc. and Sprint United Manager@amhpany.

10.13.3 Addendum effective as of March 12, 2010 to the8pviaster Application an S-1/A 10.13.3 4/26/10
Services Agreement, dated as of January 30, 200@nd between TeleNav,
Inc. and Sprint United Management Compe

10.13.4 Amendment No. 3 effective as of December 16, 2008¢ Sprint Maste 1C-Q 10.13.4 11/15/1(
Application and Services Agreement, dated as afidan30, 2009, as
amended, by and between TeleNav, Inc. and SpriitetdManagement
Company, effective as of September 1, 2(

10.14t License and Service Agreement, dated as of MarcR0@®8, by and betwee S-1/A 10.14 2/2/10
TeleNav, Inc. and AT&T Mobility LLC
10.14.1- First Amendment effective as of November 13, 2@08he License and Servi S-1 10.14.1 10/30/0¢

Agreement, dated as of March 19, 2008, by and letWeleNav, Inc. and
AT&T Mobility LLC.

10.14.2 Second Amendment effective as of November 20, 20@8e License and S-1 10.14.2 10/30/0¢
Service Agreement, dated as of March 19, 2008 noybeetween TeleNav, Inc.
and AT&T Mobility LLC.

10.14.3 Fourth Amendment effective as of June 16, 200%dd. ficense and Servit s-1 10.14.3 10/30/0¢
Agreement, dated as of March 19, 2008, by and mtwWeleNav, Inc. and
AT&T Mobility LLC.

10.14.4 Sixth Amendment effective as of October 13, 200th&License and Service S-1 10.14.4 10/30/0¢
Agreement, dated as of March 19, 2008, by and lEtWeleNav, Inc. and
AT&T Mobility LLC.

10.14.5% Seventh Amendment effective as of October 27, 20QBe License and S-1/A 10.14.5 12/8/09
Service Agreement, dated as of March 19, 2008 noybeetween TeleNav, Inc.
and AT&T Mobility LLC.

10.14.6° Eighth Amendment effective as of November 16, 20the License an S-1/A 10.14.6 1/5/10
Service Agreement, dated as of March 19, 2008 noybeetween TeleNav, Inc.
and AT&T Mobility LLC.

10.14.7 Ninth Amendment effective as of April 13, 2010 betLicense and Servit 10-K 10.14.7 9/24/10
Agreement, dated as of March 19, 2008, by and twWeleNav, Inc. and
AT&T Mobility LLC.
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Exhibit
Number

10.14.8

10.15%

10.15.1

10.15.2

10.16%

10.16.1

10.16.2

10.16.3

10.16.4°

10.16.5

10.16.6

10.16.7

10.16.8

10.16.9°

Incorporated

Incorporated

by Reference

by Reference From Exhibit

Description From Form Number Date Filed
Tenth Amendment effective as of January 18, 20%hed. icense and Service 10-Q 10.14.8 5/10/11
Agreement, dated as of March 19, 2008, by and EtwWeleNav, Inc. and
AT&T Mobility LLC.
License Agreement effective as of July 1, 2009ahg between TeleNav, Inc. S-1/A 10.15 12/8/09
and Tele Atlas North America, In
Amendment No.1 effective as of March 1, 2010 toltleense Agreement, S-1/A 10.15.1 4/26/10
dated as of July 1, 2009, by and between TeleN®v,and Tele Atlas North
America, Inc.
Amendment No. 2 effective as of August 1, 201thtlticense Agreemer 1C-Q 10.15.2 11/15/1(
dated as of July 1, 2009, by and between TeleN®v,and Tele Atlas North
America, Inc.
Data License Agreement, dated as of December 2,280and between S-1/A 10.16 2/2/10
Televigation, Inc. and Navigation Technologies Gugtion.
Third Amendment dated December 22, 2004 to the Diaense Agreemen S-1/A 10.16.1 4/26/10
dated as of December 1, 2002, by and between Telen, Inc. and
NAVTEQ North America, LLC.
Fourth Amendment dated May 18, 2007 to the Datarise Agreement, dated S-1/A 10.16.2 2/2/10
as of December 1, 2002, by and between TeleNavahlmt NAVTEQ North
America, LLC.
Fifth Amendment dated January 15, 2008 to the Ditense Agreemen S-1/A 10.16.3 2/2/10
dated as of December 1, 2002, by and between Teléia and NAVTEQ
North America, LLC.
Seventh Amendment dated December 16, 2008 to ttell@ense Agreemer S-1/A 10.16.4 4/26/10
dated as of December 1, 2002, by and among TeldNay,NAVTEQ Europe
B.V. and NAVTEQ North America, LLC
Eighth Amendment dated December 15, 2008 to tha Diaense Agreemer S1 10.16.5 10/30/0¢
dated as of December 1, 2002, by and between TeJéha and NAVTEQ
North America, LLC.
Territory License No. 1, dated as of December D220y and between S-1/A 10.16.6 4/26/10
Televigation, Inc. and Navigation Technologies Gwgtion.
Territory License No. 2, dated as of June 30, 2093nd betwee S-1/A 10.16.7 4/26/10
Televigation, Inc. and NAVTEQ North America, LL
Territory License No. 3, dated as of February &by and betwee S-1/A 10.16.8 4/26/10
TeleNav, Inc. and NAVTEQ North America, LL!
Territory License No. 5, dated as of March 6, 2df)6and between TeleNav, S-1/A 10.16.9 4/26/10

Inc. and NAVTEQ North America, LLC
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Exhibit
Number
10.16.10%1
10.16.111

10.16.121

10.17#

10.18#

10.19*

211

23.1

24.1
311

31.2

32.1~

32.2~

—+

Description

Territory License No. 6, dated as of May 18, 2af)7and between TeleNav,
Inc. and NAVTEQ North America, LLC

Territory License No. 7, dated as of May 18, 2a87and between TeleNa
Inc. and NAVTEQ North America, LLC

Ninth Amendment dated February 25, 2010 to the Dianse Agreemen
dated as of December 1, 2002 by and between TeldNavand NAVTEQ
North America, LLC.

Employment Offer Letter executed on June 28, 2@dt fTeleNav, Inc. to
Dariusz Paczusk

First Year Executive Employment Agreement datece 2By 2010 by an
between TeleNav, Inc. and Dariusz PaczL

Office Lease, dated as of June 28, 2011 and exdoutdune 30, 2011, by a
between TeleNav, Inc. and CA-Sunnyvale BusinesdeCeimited
Partnership

Subsidiaries of the registrai
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing.
Power of Attorney (contained in the signature piagthis Form 1-K).

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002 of Chief Executive Office

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002 of Chief Financial Office

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002 of Chief Executive Office

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Pursuant-
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002 of Chief Financial Office

treatment

* Portions of the exhibit have been omitted purst@uat request for confidential treatment filed wiitle Securities and Exchan

Commission
~ In accordance with Item 601(b)(32)(ii) of RegidatS-K and SEC Release No. 33-8238 and 34-47986| Rule: Managemerd’Report
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting andtifieation of Disclosure in Exchange Act Periodeports, the certifications furnist
in Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 hereto are deemed torapaay this Form 10-K and will not be deemed “filédt purposes of Section 18 of |
Exchange Act. Such certifications will not be dedrteebe incorporated by reference into any filingsler the Securities Act or the

Exchange Act, except to the extent that the registspecifically incorporates it by referen
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Incorporated

Incorporated by Reference

by Reference From Exhibit
From Form Number Date Filed
S-1/A 10.16.10 4/26/10
S-1/A 10.16.11 4/26/10
S-1/A 10.16.12 4/26/10
10-K 10.17 9/24/10
10-K 10.18 9/24/10

Filed herewitt

Filed herewitt
Filed herewitr
Filed herewitr
Filed herewith

Filed herewith

Filed herewith

Filed herewitt

Management contracts or compensation plans orgeraants in which directors or executive officers eligible to participate
Portions of the exhibit have been omitted purst@ain order granted by the Securities and Exch@ugemission for confidentie
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therednlp authorized.

TELENAYV, INC.
Dated: September 9, 20 By: s/ Dr. HP .N
Dr. HP Jin
Chairman of the Board of Directors, President and Chief Executive
Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each persbose signature appears below constitutes anairgpP Jin and
Douglas Miller, jointly and severally, as his ortieie and lawful attorneys-ifact and agents, with full power of substitutiordaasubstitutior
for him or her and in his or her name, place arddtin any and all capacities, to sign this FoaKland to file the same, with all exhibits
thereto, and other documents in connection thehewiith the Securities and Exchange Commissiomtgrg unto said attorneys-in-fact and
agents full power and authority to do and perfoemheand every act and thing requisite or necesedrg done in and about the premises
hereby ratifying and confirming all that said atieys-in-fact and agents, or his or their substitmtsubstitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be
done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed &éydhowing persons on behalf of the
registrant in the capacities and on the dates atelit

Name and Signature Title Date
/s/  Dr. HP JN Chairman of the Board of Directors, President September 9, 2011
Dr. HP Jin and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer
/s DoOUGLASM ILLER Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer (Principatdicial anc ~ September 9, 201
Douglas Miller Accounting Officer)
/sl SHAWN C AROLAN Director September 9, 201
Shawn Carolan
/s|  SAMUEL C HEN Director September 9, 201
Samuel Chen
/sI  HoNJANE (JASON) C HIU Director September 9, 2011
Hon Jane (Jason) Chiu
/s/  SooB ooNK oH Director September 9, 2011

Soo Boon Koh

/sl JOSEPHM. Z AELIT Director September 9, 2011
Joseph M. Zaelit
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of TeleNnc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of TeleNav, Inc. as of June 30, 20112846, and the related
consolidated statements of income, convertiblegprefl stock and stockholdeegjuity (deficit) and cash flows for each of thesthiyears in th
period ended June 30, 2011. Our audits also indltige financial statement schedule listed in Paritem 15.(a). These financial statements
and schedule are the responsibility of the Compmamanagement. Our responsibility is to expresspamian on these financial statements and
schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamliogUnited States.) Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &madbtain reasonable assurance about whethdintecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on aliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managemeniglhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaerferred to above present fairly, in all matenéspects, the consolidated financial
position of TeleNav, Inc. at June 30, 2011 and 2@hd the consolidated results of its operatiomsincash flows for each of the three yea
the period ended June 30, 2011, in conformity Wit8. generally accepted accounting principles. Als@ur opinion, the related financial
statement schedule, when considered in relatidhetdasic financial statements taken as a whoéseptts fairly in all material respects the
information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 10 to the consolidated firdrstatements, the Company changed its methodcoiating for uncertain tax
positions effective July 1, 2009.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), Telenav,
Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting @lsJune 30, 2011, based on criteria establishéatémnal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifriee Treadway Commission and our report datguie®eber 9, 2011, expressed an
unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Redwood City, California
September 9, 2011
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TELENAYV, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Assets
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel
Shor-term investment
Accounts receivable; net of allowances of $356 $2¢b at June 30, 2011 and 2010, respecti
Deferred income taxes, curre
Prepaid expenses and other current a
Total current asse
Property and equipment, r
Deferred income taxe
Deposits and other assi

Total asset

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued compensatic
Accrued royaltiet
Other accrued expens
Deferred revenu
Income taxes payab
Total current liabilities
Other liabilities
Commitments and contingenci
Stockholder’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value: 50,000 sharé®gared; no shares issued or outstant
Common stock, $0.001 par value: 600,000 share®angtl; 42,984 shares issued and 41,823 sl
outstanding at June 30, 2011; 42,140 shares issuwdutstanding at June 30, 2(
Additional pait-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive inco
Retained earning
Total stockholder equity

Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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June 30,

2011 2010
$ 24,05: $112,86:
179,25 —

30,71: 37,32
2,951 3,241
9,654 3,02(

246,62¢ 156,45
9,07¢ 9,631
1,58¢ 1,87¢
3,33: 5,75¢
$260,62° $173,72(
$ 3,17¢ $ 2,507
7,84 5,568:
4,15¢ 2,98¢
4,30¢ 2,721
48,49( 6,74¢€
49 1,02¢

68,02: 21,57¢

4,137 3,11(
42 42
115,06« 109,68’
537 39¢

72,82 38,90¢

188,46¢ 149,03°
$260,62° $173,72(
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TELENAYV, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenue
Cost of revenu
Gross profi
Operating expense
Research and developmt
Sales and marketir
General and administrati\
Total operating expens:

Income from operation
Interest incomt
Other income (expense), r

Income before provision for income ta»
Provision for income taxe

Net income
Net income applicable to common stockholders (sete 19)

Net income per share applicable to common stocldnsi
Basic

Diluted

Weighted average shares used in computing net ia@pplicable to common stockholde
Basic

Diluted

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Fiscal Year Ended June 30,

2011 2010 2009
$210,49:  $171,16.  $110,88(
40,72 29,48’ 20,25(
169,77 141,68: 90,63(
56,53 41,55¢ 23,50(
24,88¢ 17,19 16,53¢
19,75 14,51¢ 8,30z
101,17 73,27 48,33
68,50 68,41 42,29:
965 114 26¢
20€ (521) (1,044)
69,76 68,00: 41,51¢
27,19: 26,59: 11,89¢
$ 42,57 $ 4141  $ 29,61
$ 42,57 $2556(  $ 15,71¢
$ 101 $ 16/ $ 1.3¢
$ 094 $ 08 $ 057
41,97F 15,56¢ 11,27:
45,08t 30,83 27,72
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TELENAYV, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED ST OCK
AND STOCKHOLDERS'’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
(in thousands)

Accumulated Retainec Total
Convertible Preferred Stock Common Stock Additional Other Stockholders’
Comprehensive  Earnings
Paid-in Equity
Shares Amount Shares  Amount Capital Income (deficit) (deficit)
Balance at June 30, 2008 23,08 $ 50,16( 11,228 $ 1 $ 2918 $ 246 $(28,939 $ (25,765
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock
options — — 85 — 68 — — 68
Issuance of common stock upon grant of shares to
nonemployet — — 1C — 25 — — 25
Stocl-based compensation expel — — — — 482 — — 482
Accretion of Series E preferred stock divide — 1,20¢ — — — — (1,209 (1,20¢)
Comprehensive incom
Foreign currency translation adjustm — — — — — 15€ — 15€
Net income — — — — — — 29,61¢ 29,61¢
Comprehensive incorr — — — — — — — 29,77
Balance at June 30, 20 23,08 51,36¢ 11,32( 11 3,49( 404 (529 3,37¢
Issuance of Series E convertible preferred stocaup
exercise of warrants and reclassification of watri
liability 261 3,71¢ — — — — — —
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock
options — — 47¢ — 457 — — 457
Repurchase of common sta — — (201) — (210) — (1,019 (1,22¢)
Accretion of Series E preferred stock divide — 954 — — — — (954) (954)
Conversion of convertible preferred stock to commu
stock (23,349 (50,959 23,34: 23 50,92¢ — — 50,95:
Issuance of common stock in the form of a stock
dividend to Series E preferred stockholc — (5,089 63€ 1 5,08¢ — — 5,08¢
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of warl — — 12 — — — — —
Issuance of common stock in initial public offeri — — 6,55( 7 44,63: — — 44,63¢
Stocl-based compensation expel — — — — 4,927 — — 4,927
Excess tax benefit from employee stock option p — — — — 37t — — 37t
Comprehensive incom
Foreign currency translation adjustm — — — — — (5) — (5)
Net income — — — — — — 41,41( 41,41(
Comprehensive incorr — — — — — — — 41,40¢
Balance at June 30, 20 — — 42,14( 42 109,68 39¢ 38,90¢ 149,03
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock
options — — 844 1 2,622 — — 2,628
Repurchases of common stc — — (1,167) Q) (3,363) — (8,660 (12,024
Stocl-based compensation expel — — — — 4,137 — — 4,137
Excess tax benefit from employee stock option p — — — — 1,981 — — 1,981
Comprehensive incom
Foreign currency translation adjustment, ne!
taxes — — — — — (55) — (55)
Unrealized net gain on available-for-sale
securities, net of taxe — — — — — 19¢ — 192
Net income — — — — — — 42,57 42,57
Comprehensive incorr — — — — — — — 42,71
Balance at June 30, 20 = $ — 4182 $ 42 $ 11506: $ 537 $ 72,820 $ 188,46t

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TELENAYV, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands, except per share data)

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,

2011 2010 2009
Operating activities
Net income $ 42,57 $ 41,41( $29,61¢
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigsea by (used in) operating activitie
Depreciation and amortizatic 7,70¢ 5,09¢ 2,45:%
Accretion of premium on she«term investment 2,63( — —
Stoclk-based compensation expel 4,137 4,927 507
Write-off of capitalized softwar 714 — —
Revaluation of preferred stock warra — 34¢€ 84:
Excess tax benefit from employee stock option p (1,66€) (375) —
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl 6,60z (13,389 (9,385
Deferred income taxe 581 (2,64%) (2,47¢)
Prepaid expenses and other current a (6,639 17 (2,19¢)
Other asset 964 (1,243 (90¢)
Accounts payabl 40€ 587 522
Accrued compensatic 2,26¢ 1,79¢ 1,68
Accrued royaltiet 1,16¢€ (347) 1,417
Accrued expenses and other liabilit 2,31t 3,412 59
Income taxes payab 87t 1,402 (183)
Deferred revenu 42,04 3,44¢ 1,08¢
Net cash provided by operating activit 106,68 44,45( 23,04(
Investing activities
Purchases of property and equipm (4,89¢) (7,375 (5,36¢)
Additions to capitalized softwal (1,239 (2,440 (1,626
Purchases of shi-term investment (241,269 — —
Maturities of shor-term investment 17,64( — —
Proceeds from sales of st-term investment 42,06 — —
Net cash used in investing activiti (187,699 (9,815 (6,999
Financing activities
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti 2,62: 457 68
Proceeds from initial public offering, net of co — 44,63¢ —
Proceeds from exercise of Series E preferred st@ckants — 862 —
Repurchases of common stc (12,029 (1,229 —
Excess tax benefit from employee stock option p 1,66¢ 37E —
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi (7,735) 45,10« 68
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casaénts (56) 5) 164
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis (88,809 79,73¢ 16,27¢
Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of p¢ 112,86 33,12¢ 16,85(
Cash and cash equivalents, at end of pe $ 24,05: $112,86: $33,12¢
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informatior
Income taxes pai $ 26,99 $ 23,73 $15,91¢
Non-cash financing activities
Issuance of common stock in the form of a stockdeind to Series E preferred stockholc $ — $ 5,08¢ $ —

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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1. Organization and significant accounting policies
Description of business

TeleNav, Inc., also referred to in this report a®,” “our” or “us,” and our predecessor company evigicorporated in October 2009 and
September 1999, respectively, in the State of DatawWe are a leading provider of personalizedgsidn and location based services, or
LBS, that help on-the-go people make daily decsiaimout “where to go, how to get there, what toashal, even when to go” —and we make it
possible across mobile devices, mobile applicatiam®less carriers, automobiles, and enterpriseth domestically and abroad. We operal
a single segment. We refer to the fiscal years @ddae 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 as fiscal 201BIf&x10 and fiscal 2009, respectively.

Initial Public Offering

In May 2010, we completed our initial public offegi or IPO, whereby 8,050,000 shares of commorkst@ee sold to the public at a
price of $8.00 per share. We sold 6,550,000 staresmmon stock and selling stockholders sold 1,00 common shares. We received $
million in net proceeds, comprised of gross prosdeaim shares issued by us in the IPO of $52.4anilloffset by underwriting discounts of
$3.7 million and total offering costs of $4.1 nolti. Upon the closing of the IPO, all shares of estikile preferred stock outstanding
automatically converted into 23,345,247 sharesafroon stock, and we issued a stock dividend of#83shares of common stock to holders
of our Series E convertible preferred stock up@ndbnversion of those preferred shares into comstmok.

Basis of presentation

The consolidated financial statements and acconipgmptes have been prepared in accordance wittuatiag principles generally
accepted in the United States of America, or GARR consolidated financial statements include tte@ants of TeleNav, Inc. and our wholly
owned subsidiaries in China, the United Kingdom Brazil. All significant intercompany balances ar@hsactions have been eliminated in
consolidation. Certain prior year balances havelveelassified to conform to the current year pnésteon.

Our consolidated financial statements also inctheefinancial results of Shanghai Jitu Software &epment Ltd., or Jitu, located in
China. Based on our contractual arrangements Wéfshareholders of Jitu, we have determined thatsla variable interest entity, or VIE, for
which we are the primary beneficiary and are rezplito consolidate in accordance with Accountingi&ads Codification subtopic 810-10, or
ASC 810-10Consolidation: Overall Despite our lack of technical ownership, theristsxa parent-subsidiary relationship between TaleN
Inc. and Jitu, whereby through contractual arrareygtithe equity holders of Jitu have effectivelgigsed all of their voting rights underlying
their equity interest in Jitu to us. In additionrdugh the aforementioned agreements, we demoastuatability and intention to continue to
exercise the ability to absorb all of the expedtades and profits of Jitu.

The results of Jitu did not have a material imgaccthe Company’s overall operating results fordisz011.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith GAAP requires us to make estimates andrapsions that affect the amounts
reported in the consolidated financial statementsaccompanying notes. Significant estimates asdnagtions made by us are used for
revenue recognition and deferred revenue, thevédire of certain warrants, the recoverability af@mts receivable, stodiased compensatic
litigation, income taxes and deferred income tasetssand associated valuation allowances. Actsalteecould differ from those estimates.
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Revenue recognition

In October 2009, the Financial Accounting Stand&dard, or FASB, issued its revised standard whighersedes certain guidance with
respect to accounting for revenue arrangementsmittiple deliverables. The revised standard charige determination of when individual
deliverables in a multiple element arrangement b&greated as separate units of accounting andfie®tiie manner in which the transaction
consideration is allocated across separately ifi@oie deliverables. We adopted the revised stahgesspectively for fiscal 2011 as of July 1,
2010. Adoption of this standard did not have a mtémpact on our financial position, cash flowsresults of operations.

We recognize revenue when persuasive evidence afrangement exists, delivery of those servicebasrred, the fee is fixed or
determinable, and collectability is reasonably esduWe derive our revenue primarily from subs@oipsg to access our LBS, which are
generally provided through wireless carrier custantieat offer our services to their subscribersidRee is primarily comprised of subscripti
fees for the use of our LBS, as well as activatems related to certain services. Our wirelessaracustomers pay us based on several different
revenue models, including (1) a monthly subscripfee per end user, (2) a fixed annual fee forramymber of subscribers (up to specified
thresholds) receiving our services as part of besdlith other voice and data services, or (3) amee sharing arrangement that may include a
minimum fee per end user, or (4) based on usagther basis.

We recognize monthly fees related to our servioghe month we provide the services. We defer atsa@ceived in advance of the
service being provided and recognize the defemeauats when the monthly service has been proviMédrecognize revenue for fixed annual
fees for any number of subscribers receiving otrises as part of bundles monthly on a straighe-tiasis over the term of the agreement. Our
agreements do not contain general rights of rebimae the service has been provided. We also estteddlowances for estimated credits
subsequently issued to end users by our wirelgseicaustomers. We defer activation fees receiyaah the initiation of certain services and
recognize the deferred amounts over the estimatexhge length of subscription to the service, hisatly 16 months.

We recognize as revenue the amount our wirelesgcaustomers report to us as we provide our sesyiwhich are net of any revenue
sharing or other fees earned and deducted by aaless carrier customers. We are not the pringpalider when selling access to our LBS
through our wireless carrier customers as the sildess directly contract with our wireless carmeistomers. In addition, we may earn a fixed
fee or fixed percentage of fees charged by ourl@geecarrier customers and our wireless carrieioouers have the sole ability to set the price
charged to their subscribers for our service. Oneless carrier customers have direct responsilidit billing and collecting those fees from
their subscribers and we and our wireless cartistorners may offer subscribers a 30-day freefsrabur service. We provide tiered pricing to
certain of our wireless carrier customers basethemumber of paying end users in a given monthchvimay result in a discounted fee per
user depending on the number of end users. Revenagnized is based on the discounted fees eaonedgiven period.

We also derive revenue from the delivery of custmdisoftware and royalties earned from the didtiobuwf this customized software in
certain automotive navigation applications. We galierecognize software customization revenue gigite completed contract method of
contract accounting under which revenue is recaghimpon delivery to, and acceptance by, the autdenotanufacturer of our on-board
navigation solutions. We generally recognize rgyedtvenue as the vehicles are produced, assuminthal conditions for revenue recogniti
have been met.

In certain instances, due to the nature and tirofrgonthly revenue and subscriber reporting fromwiueless carrier customers, we may
be required to make estimates of the amount of tl®8nue to recognize
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from a wireless carrier customer for the curremiqae Estimates for revenue include our consideretif certain factors and information,
including subscriber data, historical subscriptol revenue reporting trends, end user subscrigatefrom our internal systems, and data
from comparable distribution channels of our otheeless carrier customers.

We may be required to make estimates of revenua fiven month if wireless carrier customers doprovide us with an LBS revenue
report in a timely manner. We record any differenbetween estimated revenue and actual revenhe meporting period when we determine
the actual amounts. To date, actual amounts hawveiffiered materially from our estimates.

Cost of revenue

Our cost of revenue consists primarily of the adghird party royalty based data, such as mamtpaif interest, traffic, gas price and
weather data, and voice recognition technologyweatise in providing our LBS. Our cost of revenls® ancludes expenses associated with
data center operations, customer support, the &atioin of capitalized software development cosis stock-based compensation.

In connection with our usage of licensed third padntent, our contracts with certain licensordude minimum guaranteed royalty
payments, which are payable regardless of the atémolume of revenue derived from the number gfngrend users. These contracts con
obligations for the licensor to provide ongoingwegs and, accordingly, we record any minimum gote@d royalty payments as an asset v
paid and amortize the amount to cost of revenue tineeapplicable period. Any additional royaltiagecbased on actual usage are expensed
monthly as incurred.

Foreign currency translation

The functional currency of our foreign subsidiaiig¢he local currency. Adjustments resulting frisamslating foreign functional
currency financial statements into U.S. dollarsramrded as part of a separate component of cdrapsése income in stockholders’ equity.
Foreign currency transaction gains and lossesaheded in our net income for each year. All asaet$liabilities denominated in a foreign
currency are translated into U.S. dollars at theharge rate on the balance sheet date. Reveniexpedses are translated at the average
monthly exchange rates during the year. Equitystaations are translated using historical exchaatgsr Foreign currency transaction gain
(loss) was $(205,000), $(81,000) and $(223,000jisoal 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Cash equivalents and short-term investments

Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid fixed-@nge investments with original maturities of threentts or less at the time of purchase,
including money market funds. Short-term investre@munsist of readily marketable securities witlemaining maturity of more than three
months from time of purchase. We classify all of cash equivalents and short-term investments\asl&ble for sale,” as these investments
are free of trading restrictions. These marketabtaurities are carried at fair value, with the afired gains and losses, net of tax, reported as
accumulated other comprehensive income and incladedseparate component of stockholders’ equaingcand losses are recognized when
realized. When we have determined that an other-ttsaporary decline in fair value has occurred,ahmunt of the decline that is related to a
credit loss is recognized in earnings. Gains argds are determined using the specific identiicatiethod. We had no material realized gains
or losses in fiscal 2011 and 2010.
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Concentrations of risk and significant customers

Financial instruments that subject us to signiftaancentrations of credit risk primarily consi$tcash, cash equivalents, short-term
investments and accounts receivable. We maintaiicash, cash equivalents and short-term investnvéitisvell-capitalized financial
institutions. Cash equivalents consist primarilyradney-market accounts. Our primary customers @&edasgs carriers and we do not require
collateral for accounts receivable. To manage thditrisk associated with accounts receivablegwaduate the creditworthiness of our
wireless carrier customers. We evaluate our acsa@geivable on an ongoing basis to determine taosrints not collectible. To date, we are
not aware of circumstances that may impair a spenifstomer’s ability to meet its financial obligats to us.

Revenue related to services provided through Spléxtel Corporation, or Sprint, comprised 42%, 5&8d 61% of revenue for fiscal
2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Receivabledrdne Sprint were 6% and 49% of total accounts reddle at June 30, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. Revenue related to services providezligh AT&T Mobility LLC., or AT&T, comprised 37%34% and 29% of revenue for fisi
2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Receivabledrdune AT&T were 50% and 38% of total accounts reabie at June 30, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. As of June 30, 2011, receivablesfrhra Ford Motor Company, or Ford and T-Mobile wé&i#6 and 11%, respectively. No other
customer represented 10% of our revenue or 10%rofezeivables for any period presented.

Our map and points of interest data have been geovprincipally through Tele Atlas North Americagl, now known as TomTom Maps
and Navigation Technologies Corporation or NAVTE{iscal 2011, 2010 and 2009. To date, we are wate of circumstances that may
impair either party’s intent or ability to continpeoviding such services to us.

Fair value of financial instruments

The estimated fair market value of financial instants, which include cash and cash equivalentst-syon investments, accounts
receivable, accounts payable and accrued expeag@mximates the carrying values of those instruméue to their relatively short maturiti

We measure certain financial instruments at fdime@n a recurring basis. We have establishedrarclgy, which consists of three leve
for disclosure of the inputs used to determinefdlirevalue of our financial instruments.

Level 1 valuations are based on quoted pricestieamarkets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 valuations are based on inputs that arergbble, either directly or indirectly, other thgumoted prices included within Level 1.
Such inputs used in determining fair value for Uegaluations include quoted prices in active neéskor similar assets or liabilities, quoted
prices for identical or similar assets or liabdgiin markets that are not active, or other inthasare observable or can be corroborated by
observable market data for substantially the &t of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3 valuations are based on information thanisbservable and significant to the overall failue measurement.
As of June 30, 2011 and 2010, we did not have @awelL3 financial instruments.
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Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, lessradated depreciation and amortization. Depreaiisccomputed using the straighte
method over the estimated useful lives of the retbe assets. Computers, automobiles and equiphaemt useful lives of three years and
fixtures and furniture have useful lives of fiveays. Leasehold improvements are amortized usingttaght-line method over the shorter of
the estimated useful lives of the assets or the tdrthe related lease.

We review our property and equipment for impairmehenever events or changes in circumstances irdilca carrying amount of an
asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability cdfettessets is measured by a comparison of the mguaipiounts to the future undiscounted
cash flows the assets are expected to genergpgérty and equipment are considered to be imghaiihe impairment to be recognized equals
the amount by which the carrying value of the asgeeeds its fair value. We have not recorded mpairment to our long-lived assets in any
of the periods presented.

Comprehensive income

Comprehensive income consists of net income aner attmprehensive income (loss), which includes datiwe foreign currency
translation gains or losses, and unrealized gaiddasses on available-for-sale securities. Foreigrency translation gains (losses) totaled
$(55,000), $(5,000) and $156,000 for fiscal 201M,®Rand 2009, respectively. Net unrealized gainavailable-for-sale securities totaled
$193,000 for fiscal 2011.

Stock-based compensation

We account for stock-based employee compensatiangements under the fair value recognition metiddch requires us to measure
the stock-based compensation costs of share-basggensation arrangements based on the grant-datalize, and recognize the costs in the
financial statements over the employees’ requssteice period. We recognize compensation expandéé fair value of these awards with
time-based vesting on a straight-line basis overthployee’s requisite service period of each ef¢hawards, net of estimated forfeitures.

Equity instruments issued to nonemployees are decoat their fair value on the measurement dateasmdubject to periodic adjustment
as the underlying equity instruments vest.

I ncome taxes

We utilize the asset and liability method of acdimgnfor income taxes, whereby deferred tax asséability account balances are
calculated at the balance sheet date using cuaetéws and rates in effect for the year in whiuoh differences are expected to affect taxable
income. Valuation allowances are provided when s&agy to reduce deferred tax assets to the amioatnivill more likely than not be realize

Research and software development costs

We expense research and development costs asddcUvie account for the costs of computer softwagalevelop for internal use by
capitalizing qualifying costs, which are incurradridg the application development stage, and amzingithose costs over the application’s
estimated useful life which generally ranges fradrtd 24 months, depending on the type of applicatiie capitalized $1.2 million, $2.4
million and $1.6 million of software developmenstoduring fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectivetyortization expense related to
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these costs, which has been recorded in cost ehtey totaled $2.0 million, $939,000 and $418,@bGiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively. In addition, we wrote off $714,000capitalized software development costs in fis€dl22due to impairment. As of June 30, 2
and 2010 unamortized capitalized software develaoproests, which were included in deposits and odissets, were $1.8 million and $3.2
million, respectively.

We also account for the costs of computer softwar@levelop for customers requiring significant nficdtion or customization by
deferring qualifying costs under the completed amttmethod. All such development costs incurreddaferred until the related revenue is
recognized. We deferred $2.1 million, $1.3 millemd $828,000 of software development costs dursogif2011, 2010 and 2009, respectiv
Development costs expensed to cost of revenuestb$il.8 million, $165,000 and $7,000 for fiscal 202010 and 2009, respectively. As of
June 30, 2011 and 2010 deferred capitalized softdavelopment costs, which were included in prepajenses and other current assets, and
deposits and other assets, were $2.2 million ar@ i$illion, respectively.

Advertising expense

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Adsingiexpense was $526,000, $182,000 and $662,008dal 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively.

Recent accounting pronouncements

In January 2010, the FASB issued revised guidameaded to improve disclosures related to fair @aheasurements. This guidance
requires new disclosures as well as clarifies tedaisting disclosure requirements. New disclosuneder this guidance require separate
information about significant transfers in and ofiLevel 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierararnyd the reason for such transfers, and also
require purchases, sales, issuances, and settleméoarmation for Level 3 measurement to be inctlioethe rollforward of activity on a gross
basis. The guidance also clarifies the requirertedetermine the level of disaggregation for falue measurement disclosures and the
requirement to disclose valuation techniques apdtsused for both recurring and nonrecurringfalue measurements in either Level 2 or
Level 3. The revised guidance was effective foerimh and annual fiscal years beginning after Deaamib, 2009, except for disclosure
requirements related to Level 3 measurement. Wptaddhe revised guidance during fiscal 2010 ardattoption did not have a material
impact on our consolidated financial statement® fHvised accounting guidance for the rollforwafrddivity on a gross basis for Level 3 fair
value measurement will be effective for us in tinst fquarter of our fiscal 2012, which commencesoly 1, 2011. We do not expect the
revised guidance to have a material impact on onsalidated financial statements.

In May 2011, the FASB amended fair value measuréiaea disclosure guidance to achieve convergenttelnternational Financial
Reporting Standards or IFRS. The amended guiddadéed existing fair value measurement guidamegjsed certain measurement guidance
and expanded the disclosure requirements conceleingl 3 fair value measurements. The guidancééstave for interim and annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2011. Adoption of thiglance is not expected to have a material effeaiur consolidated financial statements.

In fiscal 2011, we adopted revised standard whigfessedes certain guidance with respect to acecwufdr revenue arrangements with
multiple deliverables. The revised standard chatigesletermination of when individual deliverabiles multiple element arrangement may
treated as separate units of accounting and medtiezmanner in which the transaction considerasi@iiocated across separately identifiable
deliveries. The revised standard was effectiveotorfiscal year beginning July 1, 2010. The adoptibthe revised guidance did not have a
material impact on our consolidated financial stegats.
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2. Net income per share

In May 2010, all of our outstanding convertiblefereed stock converted into common stock in corinaatvith our IPO. Prior to our IP(
basic and diluted net income per share applicabt®mmon stockholders were presented in conformitly the two-class method required for
participating securities. Our Series E convertjirieferred stock was a participating security. Hoddef Series E convertible preferred stock
were each entitled to receive cumulative dividepayable prior and in preference to any dividendsuimy other shares of our capital stock. In
the event a dividend was paid on any share of camstack, Series E convertible preferred stockhaldesre entitled to a proportionate share
of any such dividend as if they were holders of own stock (on an as if converted basis).

Under the two-class method, basic net income pareshpplicable to common stockholders is compuyedivading the net income
attributable to common stockholders by the weiglaeetage number of common shares outstanding dtirengeriod. Net income applicable
common stockholders is determined by allocatingsiriduted earnings, calculated as net incomedas®nt period Series E convertible
preferred stock cumulative dividends, between comartd Series E convertible preferred stockholdgitated net income per share applice
to common stockholders is computed by using thghted average number of shares of common stockaowlisg, including potential dilutive
common shares assuming (i) the dilutive effectudbtanding stock options and warrants using thestrgy stock method and (ii) the issuanc
shares upon the conversion of outstanding Serié&eAes B, Series B Prime, Series C, Series C PaimdeSeries D convertible preferred stock.

Subsequent to our IPO, basic net income per shar@dulated by dividing the net income attribuéaiol common stockholders by the
weighted-average number of common shares outstgfidlirthe period. Diluted net income per shareoimputed by dividing the net income
attributable to common stockholders by the weigtareerage number of common shares outstanding éopéhiod, including potential dilutive
common shares assuming the dilutive effect of antlihg stock options and warrants using the trgastack method.

As a result of the completion of our IPO during toerth quarter of fiscal 2010, we allocated incopeéween the preferred and common
stockholders on a pro-rata basis over the numbeayd of the respective periods presented for mapof determining the income attributable
to common stockholders under each of the methotisirabove.
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The following table presents the calculation ofibasd diluted net income per share applicableotaraon stockholders (in thousands, except

per share amounts):

Net income applicable to common stockhold
Net income
Series E preferred cumulative divider
Undistributed earnings allocated to Series E pretestockholder
Net income applicable to common stockholc
Shares used in computing net income per sharecajpjdi to common stockholde
Basic:
Weighted average common shares used in computsig bat income per sha
Diluted:
Weighted average common shares used in computsig bet income per sha
Add weighted average effect of dilutive securit
Stock options
Common stock warran
Conversion of convertible preferred stc

Weighted average common shares used in computingdinet income

per share

Net income per share applicable to common stocldnsi
Basic

Diluted

Fiscal Year Ended June 30

2011 2010
$42,57¢ $ 41,410
— (954)
— (14,89¢)
$42,57 $ 25,56(
41,97 15,56¢
41,97 15,56¢
3,111 3,11¢
— 10
— 12,13¢
45,08 30,83:
$ 1.01 $  1.64
$ 0.9¢ $ 0.8:

2009
$ 29,61¢

(1,209)
(12,69:)

$ 15,71¢
11,27
11,27:
2,46¢
13,;31
27,72¢

$ 1.3¢
$ 0.57

The following outstanding shares subject to optieverants and convertible preferred stock werduebed from the computation of
diluted net income per common share for the penwdsented because including them would have haahdilutive effect (in thousands):

Options to purchase common stc
Warrants to purchase common st
Warrants to purchase Series E convertible prefesteok
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2009
29€
21
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3. Cash and cash equivalents and short-term invesents
Cash and cash equivalents and short-term invessngensisted of the following as of June 30, 20hlHbusands):

Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Cash $ 18,90( $ — $ — $ 18,90(
Cash equivalent:
Money market mutual func 5,15 — — 5,15
Total cash equivalen 5,15 — — 5,15
Total cash and cash equivale 24,05! — — 24,05
Shor-term investments
Asse-backed securit 1,032 — ©) 1,02¢
Certificate of depos 2,75( 1 — 2,751
Municipal securitie! 140,70! 244 — 140,94¢
Commercial pape 11,09: 3 — 11,09t
Corporate bond 23,35] 76 — 23,43:
Total shor-term investment 178,93¢ 324 3 179,25
Cash and cash equivalents and sterm
investment: $202,98:¢ $ 324 $ 3 $203,31(
Cash and cash equivalents consisted of the foligpasof June 30, 2010 (in thousands):
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Cash $ 17,85¢ $ — $ — $ 17,85¢
Cash equivalent:
Money market mutual func 95,00¢ — — 95,00¢
Total cash equivalen 95,00¢ — — 95,00¢
Cash and cash equivalel $112,86: $ — $ — $112,86:

The following table summarizes the cost and esgoh#ir value of short-term fixed income securitigssified as shoterm investment
based on stated maturities as of June 30, 20thdisands):

Amortized Estimated

Cost Fair Value

Due within one year $ 93,31: $ 93,40
Due within two year: 84,51 84,74¢
Due after two year 1,11( 1,10€
Total $178,93¢ $179,25°

As of June 30, 2011, we did not consider any ofiowestments to be other-than-temporarily impaired.
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4. Fair value of financial instruments

All of our cash equivalents and short-term investta@re classified within Level 1 or Level 2. Tlaér fvalues of these financial

instruments were determined using the followinguispat June 30, 2011 (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements at June 30, 2011 Using

Quoted Price:

Significant
in Active Other Significant
Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical
Assets Inputs Inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Description
Cash equivalent:
Money market mutual func $ 5,15¢ $ 5,15¢ $ — $ o
Total cash equivalen 5,15: 5,15: — —
Shor-term investments
Asse-backed securit 1,02¢ — 1,02¢ —
Certificate of deposl 2,751 — 2,751 —
Municipal securitie: 140,94¢ — 140,94¢ —
Commercial pape 11,09t — 11,09t —
Corporate bond 23,43 — 23,43: —
Total shor-term investment 179,25 — 179,25 —
Cash equivalents and sk-term investment $184,41( $ 5,15: $179,25° $ —

Where applicable, we use quoted prices in activikets for identical assets to determine fair vadtieevel 2 short-term investments. If
guoted prices in active markets for identical asae¢ not available to determine fair value, wequseted prices for similar assets and liabilities
or inputs that are observable either directly dirigctly. If quoted prices for identical or similassets are not available, we use third-party

valuations utilizing underlying assets assumptions.

The fair values of our financial instruments wee¢edmined using the following inputs at June 3Q,&20n thousands):

Fair Value Measurements at June 30, 2010 Using

Total
Description
Cash equivalent:
Money market mutual func $95,00/
Total cash equivalen $95,00¢

We did not have any financial liabilities to valag of June 30, 2011 or 2010.
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5. Property and equipment
Property and equipment consist of the followingtfinusands):

June 30,

2011 2010
Computers and equipment $ 16,98¢ $13,66:
Computer softwar 3,04( 1,74¢
Furniture and fixture 71z 62C
Automobiles 297 19:
Leasehold improvemen 2,33¢ 2,14(

23,37" 18,367
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize (14,299 (8,730
Property and equipment, r $ 9,07¢ $ 9,63

Depreciation and amortization expense was $5.7amjlb4.1 million and $1.9 million for fiscal 2012010 and 2009, respectively.

6. Commitments and contingencies

Our primary facilities are located in Sunnyvalelifdania, and Shanghai, Beijing and Xi’an, Chinagdaare leased under noncancelable
operating lease arrangements. Future minimum dpgrietase payments by fiscal year as of June 301 ¥&re as follows (in thousands):

2012 $ 2,45¢
2013 3,14
2014 4,871
2015 4,161
2016 and thereaftt 18,40
Total minimum lease paymer $33,03!

Rent expense was $2.4 million, $2.4 million and7$illion for fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009, respegiyv

Purchase obligations

As of June 30, 2011, we had an aggregate of $2Rliémof future minimum noncancelable financialnmmitments primarily related to
license fees due to certain of our third party eahproviders over the next three fiscal years. dgregate of $22.4 million of future minimum
commitments were comprised of $15.2 million duéisnal 2012, $6.1 million due in fiscal 2013 and Bnillion due in fiscal 2014. The above
commitment amounts exclude amounts already recaydeéde Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Contingencies

From time to time, we may become involved in lggalceedings, claims and litigation arising in thdimary course of business. When
we believe a loss or a cost of indemnificationrisgable and can be reasonably estimated, we atieeestimated loss or cost of
indemnification in our consolidated financial stagnts. Where the outcome of these matters is netrdmable, we do not make a provision in
our financial statements until the loss or coshdemnification, if any, is probable and can besogebly estimated or the outcome becomes
known.
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On November 17, 2009, WRE-Hol, LLC, or WRE-Holefila complaint against us in the U.S. District €éaurthe Western District of
Washington (Case No. 2:09-cv-01642-MJP). The lainaléges that certain of our products and/or sesvinfringe U.S. Patent No. 7,149,625,
and that we induce infringement and contributéhtibfringement of U.S. Patent No. 7,149,625 bythAccording to the patent, the
invention generally relates to a system and metbogdroviding navigation and automated guidanca toobile user. The complaint seeks
unspecified monetary damages, fees and expensésjanctive relief against us. On November 27, 2088RE-Hol served the complaint on
us. On January 25, 2010, we answered the WRE-Hoptaint asserting that the patent-in-suit is nétimged and is invalid and unenforceable.
On March 11, 2010, WRE-Hol amended its complairadd a new defendant, and we subsequently answepeshting our assertions that the
patent-in-suit is not infringed and is invalid amgenforceable. On April 27, 2010, we filed a reeieation request for all of the claims of the
asserted patent before the U.S. Patent and Traledffice. On April 29, 2010, we filed a motion ttag the litigation pending the
reexamination. On May 3, 2010, WRE-Hol filed a roatfor leave to amend the complaint against usisgeo add claims for
misappropriation of trade secrets against us andoomnders, Y.C. Chao, HP Jin and Robert Rennaf@EWHol’'s motion for leave to amend
also seeks to add a breach of contract claim agasnand a claim for wrongful inventorship involgitwo of our patents, requesting a
declaratory judgment that a WRE-Hol inventor be edras an inventor on these patents. On July 19,206& U.S. Patent and Trademark
Office issued an order granting inter partes reeémation of all 51 claims of the WRE-Hol ‘625 pate@®n July 23, 2010, the district court
issued an order granting WRE-Hol's motion for leaw@amend its complaint, but at the same time stalye entire litigation pending
completion of the reexamination. The stay of tkigdtion extends to the new claims the court alldw@n September 13, 2010, the U.S. Patent
and Trademark Office rejected 44 of the 51 WRE-phiknt claims in a non-final first office actiondaconfirmed seven of the 51 claims. On
November 15, 2010, WF-Hol responded to the office action, canceling satagns and adding others. On December 15, 201leNbs
responded to the office action and WRE-Hol's resgoi©®n April 4, 2011, the U.S. Patent and Trader@fice rejected WRE-Hol's
November 15, 2010 office action response, and yéR&-Hol 30 days to file a corrected response. WREitiedl its corrected response on
May 4, 2011. TeleNav responded to WRE-Hol’s filmg June 2, 2011. The next step will be a secorideoffction from the Patent Office,
which is expected within the next four months. Dai¢he preliminary status of the lawsuit and uraiettes related to litigation, we are unable
to evaluate the likelihood of either a favorablainfavorable outcome. We cannot currently estimatenge of any possible losses we may
experience in connection with this case. Accordingle are unable at this time to estimate the &ffetthis lawsuit on our financial condition,
results of operations, or cash flows.

On December 31, 2009, Vehicle IP, LLC, or Vehicke filed a complaint against us in the U.S. Dist@ourt for the District of Delaware
(Case No. 1:09-cv-01007-JJF). The plaintiff alletiest certain of our services, including our GPYiator and TeleNav Track, infringe U.S.
Patent No. 5,987,377, and that we induce infringgraad contribute to the infringement of U.S. Patéo. 5,987,377 by others. According to
the patent, the invention generally relates to\agadion system that determines an expected tinardfal. The complaint seeks unspecified
monetary damages, fees and expenses and injumneligbagainst us. Verizon Wireless was named es@efendant in the Vehicle IP litigatic
based on the VZ Navigator product and has dematide¢dve indemnify and defend Verizon against Vehl&l. AT&T was also hamed as a co-
defendant in the Vehicle IP litigation based onAf&T Navigator product. AT&T has tendered the defe of the litigation to us and we are
defending the case on behalf of AT&T. The courtdumted a scheduling conference for the litigatiorFebruary 7, 2011 and set a jury trial
date for November 5, 2012. The parties are engagedtt discovery, which has a cutoff date of Afil2012. The court will hold a claim
construction hearing on October 24, 2011. We aveldping our non-infringement and invalidity defeasn preparation for the case
dispositive motions. The parties are to submit chspositive motions by May 18, 2012. Due to theertainties related to litigation, we are
unable to evaluate the likelihood of either a falme or unfavorable outcome. We cannot currentiynede a range of any possible losses we
may experience in connection with this case. Acoglgt, we are unable at this time to estimate tifiecés of this lawsuit on our financial
condition, results of operations, or cash flows.
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On April 30, 2010, Traffic Information, LLC filed @mplaint against us in the U.S. District Courttfoe Eastern District of Texas (Case
No. 2:1(-cv-00145TJW). The lawsuit alleges that certain of our pidwand/or services infringe U.S. Patent No. 6,68, and that we indut
infringement and contribute to the infringementbs. Patent No. 6,785,606 by others. Accordinghéogdatent, the invention generally relates
to a system for providing traffic information tghurality of mobile users connected to a networtke Tomplaint seeks unspecified monetary
damages, fees and expenses and injunctive rekéfistgus. On May 28, 2010, Traffic Information, Lifi@d an amended complaint, adding a
new claim that certain of our products and/or sEwiinfringe U.S. Patent No. 6,466,862, and thaitnece infringement and contribute to the
infringement of U.S. Patent No. 6,466,862 by othArzording to the patent, the invention generadliates to a system for providing traffic
information to a plurality of mobile users connette a network. The amended complaint seeks urfigtononetary damages, fees and
expenses and injunctive relief against us. On MarsR2011, we answered the Traffic Information ctaimt asserting that the patent-in-suit is
not infringed and is invalid and unenforceable. Duéhe preliminary status of the lawsuit and uteiaties related to litigation, we are unable
to evaluate the likelihood of either a favorablainfavorable outcome. We cannot currently estimatenge of any possible losses we may
experience in connection with this case. Accordingle are unable at this time to estimate the &ffetthis complaint on our financial
condition, results of operations or cash flows.

On April 11, 2011, Walker Digital, LLC, or Walkeri@ital, filed a complaint against us and 13 othefedidants in the United States
District Court for the District of Delaware (Case.N.:11-CV-00309-SLR), alleging infringement of URatent No. 6,199,014, and seeking a
permanent injunction, damages and attorneys’ feesld judgment be found in favor of Walker Digit@in May 10, 2011, we filed an answer
denying the allegations. On June 30, 2011, Walkgit& dismissed its complaint against us withordjpdice.

On September 2, 2010, a purported stockholder eletisn was filed by David Smith in the United &District Court for the Northern
District of California (Case No. 3:10-CV-03942-S&)ainst us, certain of our officers and directars] certain of our underwriters for our
May 13, 2010 IPO, alleging violations of Sectiorisahd 15 of the Securities Act. On March 21, 2@dintiff filed an amended complaint
purporting to be brought on behalf of all persofwacquired shares of our common stock pursuasiitéPO and alleging that we, certain of
our officers and directors, and certain of our unditers for the IPO violated the Securities Actibguing the Registration Statement and
Prospectus, which the plaintiff alleges containederial misstatements and omissions in violatioBedtions 11, 12(a)(2) and 15 of the
Securities Act. The amended complaint sought adesification, compensatory damages, attorneys &l costs, rescission or a rescissory
measure of damages, equitable and/or injunctivefr@nd such other relief as the court may deevpenr. We filed a motion to dismiss
plaintiff’'s amended complaint on May 4, 2011. Omd2, 2011, following a successful mediation betwide parties, the Court entered a
stipulation and order regarding settlement andisteall proceedings. A hearing to approve settlenoéthe case will be held in November
2011. The settlement will include a payment of $8iBion to resolve all claims as to all defendarttghe litigation. The entire settlement
amount will be paid by our insurance carrier. Wendbanticipate any liability as a result of thigtter.

On June 6, 2011, Qaxaz, LLC, or Qaxaz, filed a dampagainst us and nine other defendants in thieed States District Court for the
District of Delaware, Case No. 1:11-cv-00492-LPifging infringement of U.S. Patent No. 7,917,285¢ seeking a permanent injunction,
damages and attorneys’ fees should judgment belfoufavor of Qaxaz. On July 29, 2011, we answehedQaxaz complaint asserting that the
patent-in-suit is not infringed and is invalid amgenforceable. Due to the preliminary status ofléhesuit and uncertainties related to litigation,
we are unable to evaluate the likelihood of eithéavorable or unfavorable outcome. We cannot atigrestimate a range of any possible
losses we may experience in connection with thég cAccordingly, we are unable at this time toreate the effects of this complaint on our
financial condition, results of operations or céskws.
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In addition, we have received, and expect to comtito receive, demands for indemnification from wireless carrier customers, which
demands can be very expensive to settle or defamtiyve have in the past offered to contribute tieeseent amounts and incurred legal fees in
connection with certain of these indemnity demawdsumber of these indemnity demands, including aeas relating to pending litigation,
remain outstanding and unresolved as of the datgi®form 10-K. Furthermore, in response to tltesaands we may be required to assume
control of and bear all costs associated with #femse of our wireless carrier customers in compéawith our contractual commitments. We
are not a party to the following cases; howevenuiteless carrier customers have requested thataemnify them in connection with such
cases:

In 2008, Alltel, AT&T, Sprint and T-Mobile each damded that we indemnify and defend them againstdéws/brought by patent
holding companies EMSAT Advanced Geo-Location Tedbgy LLC and Location Based Services LLC (colleely, “EMSAT"), in the
Northern District of Ohio (Case Nos. 4-cv-822, 4:08-cv-821, 4:08-cv- 817, 4:08-cv-818)eTlawsuits allege that the delivery of wireless
telephone services infringes U.S. Patents Nos65694, 6,324,404, 6,847,822 and 7,289,763 and weshecified damages. In 2009, after T-
Mobile also sought indemnification and defense f®oogle, Inc., Google intervened in the T-Mobitegktion. After claim construction and
related motion practice, EMSAT agreed to dismisslalms against Google in at least the T-Mobilé,sand in March 2011, EMSAT and
AT&T settled their claims. By March 2011, all th#BAT cases were either dismissed or stayed urgiltts. Patent & Trademark Office
completes its reexamination of the validity of fhegents at issue. Due to uncertainties relatettigation, we are unable at this time to evaluate
the likelihood of either a favorable or unfavorablecome. We have arbitrated with and compensatectarrier for our defense obligations,
without a negative effect on our financial conditioesults of operations, or cash flows. We haweyabdetermined the extent of our defense
obligations to the other wireless carriers, anccesenot currently estimate a range of other possiisiges we may experience in connection
this case. Accordingly, we are unable at this timestimate the overall effects of these casesuofirmancial condition, results of operations
cash flows.

In March and May 2009, AT&T and Sprint demanded tii@ indemnify and defend them against a lawswitight by Tendler Cellular of
Texas LLC in the Eastern District of Texas (Case 8309-cv-0115) alleging that the wireless carriafénge U.S. Patent No. 7,447,508 in
connection with the delivery of certain LBS as prtheir wireless telephone services and seekimgpecified damages. Tendler Cellular of
Texas is a patent holding company. In May 2009, ATr&sponded to the allegations, filing an answat the patent-in-suit is not infringed, is
invalid and unenforceable. In June 2009, Sprinttkdedsame. In June 2010, AT&T settled its claimthwiendler and we came to an agreement
with AT&T as to the extent of our contribution tomla AT&T’s settlement; however, there continuebdoa disagreement as to any additional
amounts that might be provided to AT&T as it refatie legal fees and expenses related to the debértse matter. We do not believe these
additional amounts will have a material effect am financial condition, results of operations, aslk flows.

In February 2010, Sprint demanded that we inderanify defend it against a lawsuit brought by AlfRed_evine, an individual, in the
Eastern District of Texas (Case No. 2:09-cv-003&iging that Sprint and Samsung infringe U.S. Rdt®os. 6,243,030 and 6,140,943 in
connection with providing wireless navigation sysse products and services. In March 2010, Sprepgaraded to the allegations, filing an
answer that the patents-in-suit are not infringed,invalid and unenforceable. Alfred Levine suloseqly denied these counterclaims and
requested that they be dismissed. At an initiaédaling conference held on August 30, 2010, thets®i a claim construction hearing date of
December 21, 2011 and a trial date of May 7, 2812 .agreed to indemnify and defend Sprint agairestatvsuit, and we are presently
defending Sprint as a result. On October 28, 20&0ine filed an amended complaint, adding groupdedéndants from AT&T, T-Mobile,
Verizon, HTC, Intermec, Kyocera, LG Electronics, tdlmla, Palm, Research In Motion and Sanyo. Indgnf011, AT&T demanded that we
indemnify and defend it in the lawsuit. We offetedndemnify and defend AT&T against the lawsuitthacertain limitations, and are preser
negotiating the scope of our indemnification oltiglas with AT&T. In February 2011, T-Mobile demarnfihat we indemnify and defend it
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in the lawsuit. We have agreed to indemnify ana&ddfT-Mobile against the lawsuit, with certain liations, and are presently defending T-
Mobile as a result. We cannot reasonably estintatehtat extent we will indemnify Sprint or Mobile or AT&T or the potential losses they ¢
we may experience in connection with such litigation January 10, 2011, the Court held a statufeoamce. On January 14, 2011, the
defendants filed a motion to modify the schedulmtive the claim construction hearing and trial datdune 2012 and November 2012,
respectively. On April 11, 2011, the Court granteghart the defendants’ motion, keeping the claanatruction hearing in December 2011 but
moving the trial date to August 6, 2012. On Jung2®a1, Research In Motion was dismissed from #se dased on a confidential license and
settlement agreement. On June 16, 2011, TeleNaednavintervene in the Levine litigation in the far District of Texas. On June 29, 2011,
the Court granted TeleNav’s motion to intervene.JOly 6, 2011, the judge assigned to the case, dttagg Judge Charles Everingham,
announced his retirement from the bench effecte@nber 30, 2011. At this time, we cannot readgrddiermine whether Judge
Everingham’s departure will affect the schedulediaim construction and trial. On July 14, 2011lyibe filed an answer and counterclaim to
TeleNav's declaratory judgment complaint in intertien, asserting patent infringement claims agaird¢Nav based on Levine’s previous
allegations against Sprint, T-Mobile and AT&T. Ongust 4, 2011, TeleNav answered Levine’s countienslaf patent infringement. TeleNav
shares the same claim construction hearing anidiate as the defendants in the case. Due to tberiainties related to litigation, we are
unable to evaluate the likelihood of either a faode or unfavorable outcome. We cannot currentiyna¢e a range of any possible losses we
may experience in connection with this case. Acioglgt, we are unable at this time to estimate tifiecés of this complaint on our financial
condition, results of operations or cash flows.

In February 2011, SourceProse, Inc. filed CaselNdl-cv-117 in the Western District of Texas, altegthat AT&T, MetroPCS, Sprint,
T-Mobile and Verizon each infringe U.S. Patents Ng$42,217 and 7,161,604, both titled “system method for synchronizing raster and
vector map images.” Although the complaint accusesart phone devices manufactured by Apple, RIMo@e, HTC, LG, Motorola, Nokia,
Palm, Samsung and others,” it does not identify @anyicular map software or services provided bpmusthers, and we have received nothing
that suggests that the plaintiff believes thatghtents at issue read on our products or servilmsetheless, Sprint and T-Mobile have both
demanded that we indemnify and defend them ag&mstceProse. Due to the preliminary status ofdtesulit and uncertainties related to
litigation, we are unable to evaluate the likelidldbat our products or services will be accuseaf@ither a favorable or unfavorable outcome
if they are, and cannot currently estimate a raxfgy possible losses we may experience in coimmewafith this case. Accordingly, we are
unable at this time to estimate the effects of thimplaint on our financial condition, results gleoations or cash flows.

While we presently believe that the ultimate outeashthese proceedings, individually and in theraggte, will not materially harm our
financial position, cash flows or overall trendg@sults of operations, legal proceedings are stiijenherent uncertainties and unfavorable
rulings could occur. Were unfavorable final outcent® occur, there exists the possibility of a matexdverse impact on our business, finar
position, cash flows or overall trends in resufteperations.

7. Guarantees and indemnifications

Our agreements with our wireless carrier and autbl@eonanufacturer and OEM customers that offerld®® generally include certain
provisions for indemnifying them against liabilgi@ our LBS infringe a third party’s intellectuptoperty rights or for other specified matters.
We have in the past received indemnification retpuesnotices of their intent to seek indemnifioatin the future from our wireless carrier
customers with respect to specific litigation claim which our wireless carrier customers have beaned as defendants. To date, we hav:
incurred material costs and do not have mateaaillties related to such obligations recordedun @onsolidated financial statements.
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We have agreed to indemnify our directors, officand certain other employees for certain eventsourrences, subject to certain limits,
while such persons are or were serving at our iggoesuch capacity. We may terminate the inderatifon agreements with these persons
upon the termination of their services with us, tewtmination will not affect claims for indemnifitan related to events occurring prior to the
effective date of termination. The maximum amourpatential future indemnification is unlimited. Wiave a directors and officers insurance
policy that limits our potential exposure. We bedighe fair value of these indemnification agreetséminimal. We had not recorded any
liabilities for these agreements as of June 301201 2010.

8. Preferred stock warrants

In January 2006, we issued warrants to purchas@2%3hares of Series E convertible preferred sibek exercise price of $3.300492
per share. The warrants, which expired in Deceribég, were issued in connection with the Decemb6é# assuance of $6,000,000 in
convertible notes payable. The fair value of therarts was calculated using the Black-Scholes tia@lnanodel and was amortized to interest
expense from the date of the issuance of the ctihleenotes payable in December 2004 through Jgr2@06, the date the notes were
converted to Series E convertible preferred sté¢arrants to purchase 11,361 shares were exercis#iDB, and warrants to purchase 261,323
shares were outstanding at June 30, 2009. All r@ngbutstanding warrants were exercised for casisideration totaling $862,000 as of
December 31, 2009.

The preferred stock warrants were classified dslifi@s in our consolidated balance sheets anegwseabject to remeasurement at each
balance sheet date, with the change in fair vadaegnized as a component of other income (expemse)T he following table summarizes the
related charge to other income (expense), netl@dssumptions used to determine the fair valdleeoivarrants at each balance sheet date
(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts):

Black-Scholes pricing model

Remaining
Fair value contractual Expectec Assumec
Total Risk-free
expens: per share term volatility interest rate dividends
Fiscal 201( $ 34¢€ $ — — — % — % —
Fiscal 200¢ $ 842 $ 9.61 0.t 75% 0.3%% —

During fiscal 2010 and 2009, we recognized totakoexpense of $346,000 and $843,000, respectieeteflect the change in fair value
of preferred stock warrants. As of December 3192@{l remaining outstanding warrants had beencdésed and a total of $2.9 million was
reclassified from warrant liability to preferreask.

9. Convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ eqity (deficit)
Reverse Stock Split

In December 2009, our stockholders approved an dment to our certificate of incorporation to effaabne for 12 reverse stock split of
our common and preferred stock. The record datéhtoreverse stock split was April 15, 2010, thieedae amendment to our certificate of
incorporation was filed with the Delaware Secrewfr$tate. The par value and the authorized shadrb® common and convertible preferred
stock were not adjusted as a result of the rewaossk split. The conversion ratios of each serfeavertible preferred stock were adjusted
accordingly. The reverse stock split is reflectethie accompanying consolidated financial statesantl related notes on a retroactive bas
all periods presented.
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Convertible preferred stock

In connection with our IPO in May 2010, our prevsbuauthorized and outstanding convertible prefésteck was converted into
common stock. All of our convertible preferred &t@utstanding converted into 23,345,247 shareswieon stock based on the shares of
convertible preferred stock outstanding and weed€86,139 shares of our common stock in the fdrenstock dividend to the holders of our
Series E convertible preferred stock upon the cetigai of the IPO. Holders of Series E convertibleferred stock were each entitled to
receive cumulative dividends, payable in cashaclsat our option, at the rate of $0.13272 peresipar annum. The cumulative dividend
became a fixed amount without further cumulatiomi@&pril 15, 2010.

Undesignated preferred stock

In October and December 2009, we received appfomal our board of directors and stockholders, respely, to amend our certificate
of incorporation upon the closing of our IPO tohaarize 50,000,000 shares of undesignated prefstoed, par value $0.001 per share. In
connection with the closing of our IPO, we filedamended and restated certificate of incorporatiah removed the previously authorized
convertible preferred stock (after conversion dsath shares outstanding to common stock) andéaéd 50,000,000 shares of undesignated
preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share. Thesignated preferred stock may be issued from tiintiene at the discretion of our board of
directors. As of June 30, 2011 and 2010, no sta&resdesignated preferred stock were issued otandg.

Common stock

We are authorized to issue 600,000,000 shares.00$@®ar value stock. The holders of each shacemimon stock have the right to one
vote.

Stock repurchase program

On November 15, 2010, we announced that our Bdlidrectors authorized a program for the repurchaagp to $20 million of our
shares of common stock through open market purehage timing and amount of repurchase transactiodsr this program will depend on
market conditions and other considerations. Unldsrgrogram, we utilized $12.0 million of cash épurchase 1,160,643 shares of our
common stock at an average purchase price of $J@Bshare during fiscal 2011. The repurchasedestae being held as treasury shares. As
of June 30, 2011, the remaining authorized amofistozk repurchases that may be made under thisalegase program was $8.0 million.

We use the par value method of accounting for aaksrepurchases. Under the par value method, constoek is first charged with the
par value of the shares involved. The excess oftlseof shares acquired over the par value isatéal to additional paid-in capital, or APIC,
based on an estimated average sales price pedisBaee with the excess amounts charged to retasreihgs. As a result of our stock
repurchases during fiscal 2011, we reduced comnumk &ind APIC by an aggregate of $3.4 million ahdrged $8.6 million to retained
earnings.

In addition to our stock repurchase program, dufisgal 2010 we repurchased from two of our formmployees a total of 200,590
shares of our common stock at the then currentdaiket value, for a total of $1.2 million.
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Common stock warrants

In connection with our IPO in May 2010, an outstagdvarrant to purchase 20,833 shares of commak stas net exercised for 12,239
shares of our common stock. No warrants to purcbasenon stock were outstanding as of June 30, 26812010.

Stock option plans

Under our 1999 Stock Option Plan, or 1999 Plan22BRecutive Stock Option Plan, or 2002 Plan, an@R2Bquity Incentive Plan, or
2009 Plan, eligible employees, directors, and clbesis are able to participate in our future perfance through awards of nonqualified stock
options, incentive stock options and restrictedlsimits through the receipt of such awards asaaiztbd by our board of directors. Incentive
stock options may be granted only to employeesitolase our common stock at prices equal to otegréaan the fair market value on the ¢
of grant. Nonqualified stock options to purchasea@ammon stock may be granted at prices not less 8% of the fair market value on the
date of grant. Options generally vest monthly avéour-year period beginning from the date of geamd generally expire 10 years from the
date of grant. Prior to our IPO, we granted optiountside of our stock option plans with terms sabsally similar to the terms of options
granted under our plans.

As of June 30, 2011, we had reserved 2,083,332sluircommon stock for issuance under the 2009 Blarthe first day of each of our
fiscal years, beginning with the 2012 fiscal yehe, number of shares available and reserved foams under the 2009 Plan will be annually
increased by an amount equal to the lesser of §66&hares of common stock; 4% of the outstanslirges of our common stock as of the
last day of our immediately preceding fiscal yearan amount determined by our board of directors.

A summary of our stock option activity is as folle\fin thousands, except per share amounts):

Options outstanding

Weighted
Weighted average
average remaining
Number of exercise prict contractual life
Aggregate
Balance as of June 30, 20 5,86: $ 3.5C
Granted 2,651 7.52
Exercisec (843) 3.11
Cancelec (489 6.87
Balance as of June 30, 20 7,187 $ 4.7¢ 7.0¢ $ 92,96¢
As of June 30, 201:
Options vested and expected to \ 6,947 $ 4.6¢ 7.01 $ 90,65¢
Options exercisabl 3,66¢ $ 2.2C 5.34 $ 56,90/

During fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009, the total casfeived from the exercise of stock options was #$#léon, $457,000 and $68,000,
respectively. During fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2008, tthtal intrinsic value of stock options exerciseas $7.0 million, $2.3 million and $169,000,
respectively.

During fiscal 2011, we granted restricted stocksutotaling 57,000 shares, which vest over thregs/éAs of June 30, 2011, restricted
stock units outstanding totaled 57,000 shares avitieighted average remaining contractual life 28Dears and an aggregate intrinsic valu
$1.0 million. Restricted stock units vested andezted to vest totaled 52,677 shares with a weigivedage remaining contractual life of 1.28
years and an aggregate intrinsic value of $934,
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As of June 30, 2011 and 2010, there were a totappfoximately 402,000 and 2.6 million shares, eetipely, available for grant under
our stock option and equity incentive plans.

Stock-based compensation

The following table summarizes the stock-based @meation expense recorded for stock options issuethployees and nonemployees
(in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,

2011 2010 2009
Cost of revenui $ 97 $ 18 $ 4
Research and developm 1,96t 2,60¢ 237
Selling and marketin 1,00¢ 51€ 15&
General and administrati\ 1,072 1,78¢ 111

Total stocl-based compensation expel $4,137 $4,921 $507

In May 2010, we recorded a stobksed compensation charge in the amount of $2IBmédssociated with options granted in 2006 to
founders which vested upon the closing of our IPO.

Commencing in December 2006 until our IPO, we galheobtained contemporaneous valuation analysesaped by an unrelated third
party valuation firm in order to assist us in detgring the fair value of our common stock. Priothe completion of our IPO, our board of
directors considered these reports when determthiadair value of our common stock and related@ge prices of option awards on the date
such awards were granted. We have also used thatngporaneous third party valuations for purpaseketermining the Black-Scholes fair
value of our stock option awards and related stmaded compensation expense.

We use the Black-Scholes pricing model to deterrthieefair value of stock options. The determinatidithe fair value of stock-based
payment awards on the date of grant is affectetthétock price as well as assumptions regardimgnaber of complex and subjective
variables. These variables include expected stdck polatility over the term of the awards, actaall projected employee stock option
exercise behaviors, risk-free interest rates apaebed dividends. The fair value of our stock apdigranted to employees was estimated using
the following weighted-average assumptions:

Fiscal Year Ended June 30

2011 2010 2009
Dividend yield — — —
Expected volatility 56% 74% 72%
Expected term (in year 4.5(C 4.8t 4.7¢€
Risk-free interest rat 1.61% 2.36% 2.4%
Weighted average fair value per share at grant $3.51 $4.7¢ $2.04

Dividend yield. We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsur common stock and do not plan to pay cagldefids in the
foreseeable future and, therefore, use an expéotatend yield of zero in the valuation model.

Expected volatility Due to the limited historical public market tragidata for our common stock, the expected vdiatilsed is based on
the historical volatility of various comparable coamies. In evaluating similarity, we considereddes such as industry, stage of a company’s
life cycle, revenue and market capitalization.
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Expected term The expected term represents the period thastoak-based awards are expected to be outstariebngptions granted
prior to fiscal 2008 the expected term was caledats the average of the option vesting and cdoabierms. For options granted beginnin
fiscal 2008, the expected term was based on aysisalf our historical exercise and cancellatiotiviy.

Risk-free interest rateThe risk-free rate is based on U.S. Treasury zeupon issues with remaining terms similar todkpected term
on the options.

At June 30, 2011, the total unrecognized stock-dbasenpensation cost related to employee optionsddas3 million, net of estimated
forfeitures and will be amortized over a weightagrage period of 2.9 years. The total fair valugtack options that vested during fiscal 2C
2010 and 2009, was $4.2 million, $700,000 and &Y, respectively. At June 30, 2011, the total cog@ized stock-based compensation cost
related to restricted stock units was $287,000phestimated forfeitures and will be amortized maaveighted average period of 2.29 years.
No restricted stock units vested during fiscal 2(

Sharesreserved for future issuance
Common stock reserved for future issuance waslEsvi® (in thousands):

June 30, 201
Stock options outstanding 7,18
Restricted stock units outstandi 57
Available for future grants of stock options ortrieged stock unit: 402
Total common shares reserved for future issu 7,64¢

10. Income taxes
The domestic and foreign components of income )los&re provisions for income taxes were as fofidim thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,

2011 2010 2009
United States $69,23: $68,80: $44,21:
Foreign 534 (799) (2,695

$69,76 $68,00¢ $41,51¢
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The provision for income taxes consists of theofwlhg (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,

2011 2010 2009
Current income taxe:

Federal $21,10( $23,22¢ $12,49(

State 5,39¢ 5,461 1,87:

Foreign 24E 18 12
Total current income taxe 26,74: 28,70 14,37
Deferred income taxe

Federal (599 (1,827 (1,96€)

State 1,051 (292) (510
Total deferred income taxi 452 (2,114 (2,476
Total provision for income taxe $27,19: $26,59: $11,89¢

The provision for income taxes differs from the amibcomputed by applying the statutory federal medax rate as follows (in
thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2011 2010 2009

Tax at federal statutory tax re $24,41¢ $23,80! $14,53:
State taxe—net of federal benef 4,191 3,51¢ 707
Non-deductible expenst 145 464 19t
Research and development cre: (652) (307) (399
Section 199 deductic (1,252) (1,089 —
Foreign income taxed at different ra 58 29¢ 95k
Stock-based compensation expel 763 617 14¢€
Other (47€) (450 12C
Change in valuation allowan — (262) (4,369
Total provision for income taxce $27,19: $26,59: $11,89¢

Our effective tax rate for fiscal 2011 and fiscal@ was 39%.
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effeEtemporary differences between the carrying am@ohfssets and liabilities for

financial reporting purposes and the amounts useth€ome tax purposes. Significant componentsuofn@t deferred tax assets were as
follows (in thousands):

June 30
2011 2010

Deferred tax asset

Federal, state and foreign net operating lo $ 2,812 $ 3,457

Federal and state tax crec 25€ 30¢

Stock-based compensatic 1,49: 1,26(

Accrued expenses and reser 4,407 4,10(
Total deferred tax asse 8,96¢ 9,12(
Deferred tax liabilities

Property and equipme (87E (26¢

Capitalized softwar (1,486 (2,062

Unrealized gain (119 —
Total deferred tax liabilities (2,47%) (2,330
Net deferred tax asse 6,49( 6,79(
Valuation allowanct (1,950 (1,669
Net deferred tax asse $ 4,54( $ 5,127

During fiscal 2011, the net increase to the vabratillowance was $281,000 primarily for Californiet operating loss carryforwards that
are not expected to be realized due to the expedtect of the California single sales factor agjporment election and the level of forecasted
taxable income in the state. As of June 30, 20ielyaluation allowance is attributable to bothestaid foreign net operating losses.

As of June 30, 2011, we had federal and stateperating loss carryforwards for income tax purpagfe®2.5 million and $9.7 million,
respectively. These loss carryforwards will begirexpire in 2021 for federal purposes and 2013fate purposes. In addition, we have federal
research and development tax credit carryforwaf@&384,000 as of June 30, 2011. The federal rebeaedlits will begin to expire in 2023.

The carryforwards assets and certain credits djestto annual limitation under Internal Revenum® € Section 382.

As of June 30, 2011, we also have foreign net diperdoss carryforwards of $5.2 million, which exgpin fiscal 2012. Due to uncertainty
regarding our ability to utilize the foreign netespting loss carryforwards, we have continued tontam a full valuation allowance for these
deferred tax assets.

On September 30, 2008, the State of Californiatedatssembly Bill 1452 into law which, among otlpeovisions, suspended net
operating loss deductions for our fiscal 2009 adti(2 extends for two years the carryforward pedbdny net operating losses not utilized
to such suspension, and limits the utilizationedfearch and development credit carryforwards tmaie than 50% of the tax liability before
credits. The new tax law deferred the utilizatidroor California net operating loss carryforwar@sn October 8, 2010, California enacted the
Budget Act of 2010, which extends the suspensiametbperating loss deductions to our fiscal 20id fesscal 2012.

We adopted the FASB standard for accounting foettamty in income taxes at the beginning of fis2@10. As of June 30, 2011, our
cumulative unrecognized tax benefit was $4.5 milliof which $647,000 was
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netted against deferred tax assets. Upon adoptiemecognized no adjustment in the liability forerognized income tax benefits. During

fiscal 2011, the cumulative unrecognized tax bémetreased by $1.6 million. The following is a tédr reconciliation of the total amounts of
unrecognized tax benefits (in thousands):

June 30, 201 June 30, 201
Unrecognized tax benefit—Beginning $ 2,92 $  1,14¢
Increase in tax positions taken during the curpemtod 1,57¢ 1,30¢
Increase in tax positions taken during the priatqak 96 467
Decrease in tax positions taken during the prioiope (78) —
Unrecognized tax bene—Ending $ 4,52 $ 2,92

Included in the balance of unrecognized tax bemefitlune 30, 2010 and 2011 were $2.3 million and fillion, respectively, that, if
recognized, would affect the effective tax rate.

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federalgdiction, California, various states, and foreigx jurisdictions in which we have
subsidiaries. The statute of limitations remainrofoe fiscal 2000 through 2011 in U.S. and statesglictions, and for fiscal 2005 through 2011
in foreign jurisdictions. Fiscal years outside tfigmal statute of limitation remain open to augittéx authorities due to tax attributes gener
in those early years which have been carried falvad may be audited in subsequent years whepadiliThe Internal Revenue Service, or
IRS, is conducting an examination of our U.S. fatlarcome tax returns for fiscal 2009 and 20100A3une 30, 2011, the IRS has concluded
an audit of our fiscal 2008 U.S. federal incomerbarn which resulted in no adjustments that heawsaterial impact to our financial
statements.

We believe it was reasonably possible that, asioé B0, 2011, the gross unrecognized tax benefitdd decrease (whether by payment,
release, or a combination of both) by as much ak ®illion in the next 12 months. We recognize it and penalties related to unrecognized
tax positions as part of our provision for fedestdite and foreign income taxes. We had accrued,$26 and $47,000 for the payment of
interest and penalties at June 30, 2011 and 2@%pectively.

11. Segment information

Operating segments are defined as componentseitarprise about which separate financial infororats available that is evaluated
regularly by the chief operating decision makerdecision making group, in deciding how to allocasources and in assessing performance.
Our chief operating decision maker is our chiefeesize officer. Our chief executive officer reviefisancial information presented on a
consolidated basis, accompanied by information tl@uenue by geographic region for purposes otatiag resources and evaluating
financial performance. We have one business agtittie provision of LBS, and there are no segmeaartagers who are held accountable for
operations, operating results and plans for lesetsomponents below the consolidated unit levetadkdingly, we operate in a single reporting
segment and operating unit structure.
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Revenue by geographic region is based on the ¢pitlofdress of our wireless carrier customers. Thewing table sets forth revenue and
property and equipment by geographic region (iugamds):

Fiscal Year Ended June 30

2011 2010 2009
Revenue
United State: $201,41c $166,220  $106,90:
International 9,077 4,93¢ 3,97¢
Total revenue $210,49. $171,16. $110,88(
Property and equipment
United State! $ 7,18 $ 7,73t $ 5,70
International 1,89¢ 1,902 913
Total property and equipment, $ 9,07¢ $ 9637 $ 6,61F

12. Related party transactions

In February 2005, we granted a long-term and nerést-bearing loan of $200,000 to the general memafgour China operations. The
balance of the loan was $75,000 and $110,000 asref 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The loaedsred by the employee’s personal
residence in China, as well as certain of the eygats shares of our common stock. The loan is ddebruary 2012, or upon the employee’s
termination of employment with us. The loan is nggdale through a bonus to the employee of approxain&30,000 per year starting in the
2007 calendar year, contingent upon the employe®iinued employment with us.

13. Employee savings and retirement plan

We sponsor a defined contribution plan under IrgeRevenue Code Section 401(k), or the 401(k) N&ost of our U.S. employees are
eligible to participate following the start of theimployment, at the beginning of each calendartmdemployees may contribute up to the
lesser of 100% of their current compensation todE(k) Plan or an amount up to a statutorily prieed annual limit. We pay the direct
expenses of the 401(k) Plan and beginning in JOB62we began to match employee contributions W#4mf an employee’s salary.
Contributions made by us are subject to certaiting@rovisions. We made matching contributions eewbrded expense of $1.3 million, $1.0
million and $720,000 for fiscal 2011, 2010 and 20@3pectively.

14. Quarterly financial data (unaudited)
Summarized quarterly financial information for 62011 and 2010 is as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended

Consolidated statements @ Sept. 30, Dec. 31, Mar. 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31, Mar. 31, June 30,

income data (in thousands) 2009 2009 2010 2010 2010 2010 2011 2011
(unaudited)

Revenue $36,04¢ $40,50: $45,107 $49,51C $51,10C $48,02: $57,11( $54,25¢

Gross profil 28,98 33,61 37,92¢ 41,15¢ 42,24¢ 39,19¢ 44,371 43,95¢

Net income 8,121 10,13¢ 12,541 10,617 12,35¢ 10,04( 11,16¢ 9,011

Net income per share applicable to comr
stockholders
Basic $ 03¢ $ 047 $ 05¢ $ 03z $ 02¢ $ 02 $ 027 $ 0.22
Diluted $ 018 $ 01¢ $ 02t $ 024 $ 027 $ 022 $ 028 $ o0.2
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Trade Receivable Allowance
Year Ended June 30, 20

Year Ended June 30, 20
Year Ended June 30, 20

SCHEDULE Il

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
(in thousands)

Beginning

Additions Write-off/
Balance (Recoveries Reductions
$ 20 $  23¢ $ (30
$ 22¢ $ 1,68F $ (1,66¢)
$ 24€ $ 3,98: $ (3,877
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3.2

4.1

4.2

10.1

10.2#
10.3#
10.4#

10.5#

10.5.14

10.6#

10.6.1#

10.7#

10.8#

10.9#

10.10#

10.10.1#

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Description

Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incatjmor of TeleNav, Inc.
filed on May 18, 201C

Amended and Restated Bylaws of TeleNav, Inc. dgffeas of May 18, 201
Specimen Common Stock Certificate of TeleNav,

Fifth Amended and Restated Inves’ Rights Agreement, dated April 1
2009, between TeleNav, Inc. and certain holdefBetéNav, Inc.’s capital
stock named therei

Form of Indemnification Agreement between Registeard its directors an
officers.

1999 Stock Option Plan and forms of agreement timeter.
2002 Executive Stock Option Plan and forms of ages# thereunde

2009 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of agreemieate¢under to be in effect
upon the closing of this offerini

Employment Agreement, dated as of April 20, 20@Gween TeleNav, In
and Douglas Miller

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefi@stober 28
2009, between TeleNav, Inc. and Douglas Mil

Employment Agreement, dated as of April 7, 2009wkeen TeleNav, Inc.
and Loren Hillberg

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefi@stober 28,
2009, between TeleNav, Inc. and Loren Hillbe

Employment Agreement, dated as of May 4, 2005, eetwT eleNav, Inc. ar
Hassan Wahle

Employment Agreement, dated October 28, 2009, atweleNav, Inc. an
H.P. Jin.

Form of Employment Agreement between TeleNav, &mcl each of Y.C
Chao, Salman Dhanani, Robert Rennard and HassalaV

Severance Agreement and General Release, datédasuary 29, 2009,
between TeleNav, Inc. and William Bettenco!

Amendment dated July 8, 2009 to the Severance Aggeeand General
Release, dated as of January 29, 2009, betweeNaelénc. and William
Bettencourt

Incorporated

Incorporated by Reference
by Reference From Exhibit Date
From Form Number Filed
10-K 3.1 9/24/10
10-K 3.2 9/24/09
S-1/A 4.1 1/5/10
S-1 4.2 10/30/09
S-1 10.1 10/30/09
S- 10.2 10/30/09
S-1 10.3 10/30/09
S-1 10.4 10/30/09
S-1 10.5 10/30/09
S-1 10.5.1 10/30/09
S-1 10.6 10/30/09
S-1 10.6.1 10/30/09
S-1 10.7 10/30/09
S-1 10.8 10/30/09
S-1 10.9 10/30/09
S-1 10.10 10/30/09
S-1 10.10.1 10/30/09
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10.11

10.11.1

10.12

10.13%

10.13.11

10.13.2t

10.13.31

10.13.4%

10.14%

10.14.11

10.14.2%

10.14.31

Description

Industrial/R&D Lease, dated as of October 9, 2@36and between TeleNav,
Inc. and Roeder Family Trust

First Amendment dated October 27, 2006 to the limd@R&D Lease, dated ¢
of October 9, 2006, by and between TeleNav, Ind.Roeder Family Trust E

Shanghai Real Estate Lease Agreement, dated agsrib28, 2009, by an
between TeleNav Shanghai Inc. and Shanghai Dongféiging Culture
Development Cc

Sprint Master Application and Services Agreemeated as of January 30,
2009, by and between TeleNav, Inc. and Sprint dnil@anagement Compan

Amendment No. 1 effective as of July 1, 2009 toSipeint Master Applicatiol
and Services Agreement, dated as of January 3@, 290and between TeleN:
Inc. and Sprint United Management Compe

Amendment No. 2 effective as of December 16, 2008¢ Sprint Master
Application and Services Agreement, dated as afidan30, 2009, by and
between TeleNav, Inc. and Sprint United ManagerGamhpany.

Addendum effective as of March 12, 2010 to the8pviaster Application an
Services Agreement, dated as of January 30, 2§0&nd between TeleNav, It
and Sprint United Management Compa

Amendment No. 3 effective as of December 16, 2008e Sprint Master
Application and Services Agreement, dated as afidan30, 2009, as amended,
by and between TeleNav, Inc. and Sprint United Nanaent Company,
effective as of September 1, 20.

License and Service Agreement, dated as of Mar¢cR0®8, by and between
TeleNav, Inc. and AT&T Mobility LLC

First Amendment effective as of November 13, 2@Dthe License and Servi
Agreement, dated as of March 19, 2008, by and letWeleNav, Inc. and
AT&T Mobility LLC.

Second Amendment effective as of November 20, 20@Be License and
Service Agreement, dated as of March 19, 2008 noybeetween TeleNav, Inc.
and AT&T Mobility LLC.

Fourth Amendment effective as of June 16, 200%ad. ficense and Servit
Agreement, dated as of March 19, 2008, by and lEtWeleNav, Inc. and
AT&T Mobility LLC.

Incorporated

Incorporated
by Reference

by Reference From Exhibit Date
From Form Number Filed
S-1 10.11 10/30/08
S-1 10.11.1 10/30/08
S-1/A 10.12 12/8/09
S-1/A 10.13 2/2/10
S-1/A 10.13.1 2/2/10
S-1/A 10.13.2 1/5/10
S-1/A 10.13.3 4/26/10
10-Q 10.13.4 11/15/10
S-1/A 10.14 2/2/10
S-1 10.14.1 10/30/08
S-1 10.14.2 10/30/08
S-1 10.14.3 10/30/09
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10.14.4% Sixth Amendment effective as of October 13, 200thtoLicense and Servi S-1 10.14.4 10/30/09

Agreement, dated as of March 19, 2008, by and etWeleNav, Inc. and
AT&T Mobility LLC.

10.14.5t Seventh Amendment effective as of October 27, 20@Be License and S-1/A 10.14.5 12/8/09
Service Agreement, dated as of March 19, 2008 noybeetween TeleNav,
Inc. and AT&T Mobility LLC.

10.14.61 Eighth Amendment effective as of November 16, 2@0®e License an S-1/A 10.14.6 1/5/10
Service Agreement, dated as of March 19, 2008 noybeetween TeleNav,
Inc. and AT&T Mobility LLC.

10.14.7t Ninth Amendment effective as of April 13, 2010 betlLicense and Servit 10-K 10.14.7 9/24/10
Agreement, dated as of March 19, 2008, by and atweleNav, Inc. and
AT&T Mobility LLC.

10.14.8t Tenth Amendment effective as of January 18, 20%hed icense and Servi 16-Q 10.14.8 5/10/11
Agreement, dated as of March 19, 2008, by and atweleNav, Inc. and
AT&T Mobility LLC.

10.15% License Agreement effective as of July 1, 2009aig between TeleNav, Ir S-1/A 10.15 12/8/09
and Tele Atlas North America, In

10.15.11 Amendment No.1 effective as of March 1, 2010 toltliense Agreemen S-1/A 10.15.1 4/26/10
dated as of July 1, 2009, by and between TeleNev,dnd Tele Atlas North
America, Inc.

10.15.2¢ Amendment No. 2 effective as of August 1, 201thmlticense Agreement, 10-Q 10.15.2 11/15/10
dated as of July 1, 2009, by and between TeleNev,adnd Tele Atlas North
America, Inc.

10.161 Data License Agreement, dated as of December 1, 230and betwee S-1/A 10.16 2/2/10
Televigation, Inc. and Navigation Technologies @ugion.

10.16.1t Third Amendment dated December 22, 2004 to the Diaense Agreemen S-1/A 10.16.1 4/26/10

dated as of December 1, 2002, by and between Teléon, Inc. and
NAVTEQ North America, LLC

10.16.2t Fourth Amendment dated May 18, 2007 to the Datarise Agreement, S-1/A 10.16.2 2/2/10
dated as of December 1, 2002, by and between Teldha and NAVTEQ
North America, LLC.

10.16.3t Fifth Amendment dated January 15, 2008 to the Dtanse Agreement, S-1/A 10.16.3 2/2/10
dated as of December 1, 2002, by and between Teldha and NAVTEQ
North America, LLC.
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10.16.5

10.16.61

10.16.71

10.16.8t

10.16.91

10.16.10t

10.16.11-

10.16.12-

10.17#

10.18#

10.19*
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23.1
24.1

Description

Seventh Amendment dated December 16, 2008 to ttell@ense
Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2002, by andsi@meleNav, Inc.,
NAVTEQ Europe B.V. and NAVTEQ North America, LL!

Eighth Amendment dated December 15, 2008 to the Diaense

Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2002, by andeleet TeleNav, Inc.

and NAVTEQ North America, LLC

Territory License No. 1, dated as of December D220y and betwee
Televigation, Inc. and Navigation Technologies Qugion.

Territory License No. 2, dated as of June 30, 2093&nd betwee
Televigation, Inc. and NAVTEQ North America, LL

Territory License No. 3, dated as of February &by and between
TeleNav, Inc. and NAVTEQ North America, LL!

Territory License No. 5, dated as of March 6, 2d86and between
TeleNav, Inc. and NAVTEQ North America, LL!

Territory License No. 6, dated as of May 18, 2af)7and between
TeleNav, Inc. and NAVTEQ North America, LL!

Territory License No. 7, dated as of May 18, 24f)7and betwee
TeleNav, Inc. and NAVTEQ North America, LL!

Ninth Amendment dated February 25, 2010 to the Detanse
Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2002 by anddeetWeleNav, Inc.
and NAVTEQ North America, LLC

Employment Offer Letter executed on June 28, 20dt fTeleNav, Inc.
to Dariusz Paczusk

First Year Executive Employment Agreement datece 28y 2010 by ar
between TeleNav, Inc. and Dariusz PaczL

Office Lease, dated as of June 28, 2011 and ex¢omdune 30, 201
by and between TeleNav, Inc. and CA-Sunnyvale BassrCenter
Limited Partnershig

Subsidiaries of the registrai
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing.
Power of Attorney (contained in the signature piagihis Form 1-K).

Incorporated
Incorporated by Reference
by Reference From Exhibit Date
From Form Number Filed
S-1/A 10.16.4 4/26/10
S-1 10.16.5 10/30/09
S-1/A 10.16.6 4/26/10
S-1/A 10.16.7 4/26/10
S-1/A 10.16.8 4/26/10
S-1/A 10.16.9 4/26/10
S-1/A 10.16.10 4/26/10
S-1/A 10.16.11 4/26/10
S-1/A 10.16.12 4/26/10
10-K 10.17 9/24/10
10-K 10.18 9/24/10

Filed herewitt

Filed herewitt
Filed herewitt
Filed herewitt
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31.1
31.2
32.1~

32.2~
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Description

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Pursuant to Section
of the Sarban«Oxley Act of 2002 of Chief Executive Office

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Pursuant to Section
of the Sarban«Oxley Act of 2002 of Chief Financial Office

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Pursuant to Section '
of the Sarban«Oxley Act of 2002 of Chief Executive Office

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Pursuant to Section !
of the Sarban«-Oxley Act of 2002 of Chief Financial Office

treatment

* Portions of the exhibit have been omitted pursuara request for confidential treatment filediwiihe Securities and Exchange

Commission
~ In accordance with Item 601(b)(32)(ii) of Regulati€-K and SEC Release No.-8238 and 3-47986, Final Rule: Managem'’s Report
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting andtfieation of Disclosure in Exchange Act PeriodReports, the certifications furnist
in Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 hereto are deemed torapaay this Form 10-K and will not be deemed “filédf purposes of Section 18 of 1
Exchange Act. Such certifications will not be dedrteebe incorporated by reference into any filingsler the Securities Act or the
Exchange Act, except to the extent that the regstspecifically incorporates it by referen
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From Form
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by Reference
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Number

Filed herewith

Filed herewitt

Filed herewitt

Filed herewith
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OFFICE LEASE

This Office Lease (this Lease”), dated as of the date set forth in Sectioofithe Summary of Basic Lease Information (the “
Summary "), below, is made by and betwe@#-S UNNYVALE B USINESSC ENTER L IMITED P ARTNERSHIP , a Delaware limited partnership (“
Landlord "), andT ELE N Av, | NC ., a Delaware corporation "fenant”).

SUMMARY OF BASIC LEASE INFORMATION

TERMS OF LEASE DESCRIPTION

1. Date June 28, 201

2. Premise
(Article 1).
2.1 “Premises” and The office/R&D buildings located at 920 DeGuigneaver 930 DeGuigne Drive and 950 DeGui
“ Project ™: Drive, Sunnyvale, California (collectively, theBuildings ” and each a Building” ), as set forth i

Exhibit A to this Lease, containing approximately 175,00%atele square feet of space in tl
entirety, and the Exterior Areas (as defined inti8acl.2below), commonly known, collectively,
“Sunnyvale Business CenterT’he approximate rentable square footage of thedBigbs are ¢

follows:
920 DeGuigne Drive 58,169 relaady. ft.
930 DeGuigne Drive 45,724 reteady. ft.
950 DeGuigne Drive 71,116 reteddy. ft.
3. Lease Teri
(Article 2).
3.1 Lease Term: The initial term of this Lease (the Ihitial Lease Term ”) shall commence on the Le
Commencement Date and end on the Lease Expiratia @r any earlier date on which this Le
is terminated as provided herein). As used heréliertm ” shall mean the Initial Lease Term .
any extension of the Term pursuant to the provisiofithis Lease
3.2 " Lease
Commencement ]
Date™ December 1, 2011; provided, however, that the L&ammmencement Date shall be delayed day-
for-day for each day of actual delay in the “Subttd Completion Date”ds defined in the Tene
Work Letter attached hereto &xhibit B (“* Tenant Work Letter ")) caused by Excusabl
Delay’ (as defined in the Tenant Work Lette
3.3 “ Lease Expiration
Date”: The day immediately preceding the eightit) anniversary of the Lease Commencement [
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4, “ Rent”
Base
(Article 3):

Period During
Lease Term

Lease Years 1 and .

Lease Year .
Lease Year :
Lease Year!
Lease Year |
Lease Year’

Lease Year !

Monthly Base

Rent Per
Rentable
Square Foot Monthly
(rounded to Installment Annual
the nearest of Base Ren Base Rent
100th of a
dollar)
$1.75 $ 306,265.7 $3,675,189.0
$1.80 $ 315,016.2 $3,780,194.4
$1.85 $ 324,466.6 $3,893,600.2
$1.91 $ 334,200.6 $4,010,408.2
$1.97 $ 344,226.7 $4,130,720.5
$2.03 $ 354,553.5 $4,254,642.1
$2.09 $ 365,190.1 $4,382,281.3

* Notwithstanding the foregoing, but subject to fmevisions of Section 3.Below, Tenant shall be entitled to an abatemeras
Rent in the total amount of Four Million Six Hundr&hirty-Five Thousand Three Hundred Ninety-Thregl@rs ($4,635,393.00) (theBase
Rent Abatement”), which shall be applied as follows: (1) $306,2650#5 month, for the first Lease Year; and (2) $80,0Q per month, fc
the second Lease Year; provided, however, thaa#eBRent is abated pursuant to Section 823, or 19.60f this Lease or Section 5df the
Work Letter for any Building, then the Base Rentafdment above shall apportioned among the Buildimggoportion to their relative squi
footage and the Base Rent Abatement above shalisigended until all other abatements under Se6tibnll.3and _19.6under _Section 5.bf
the Work Letter have ended, so as to afford Teti@nfull benefit of Rent abatement pursuant to Ssdtion 6.2 11.3, 19.6and 5.1before us
of the Base Rent Abatement described above antuthBase Rent Abatement described above afteratiessof any Rent Abatement un

said Lease provisions.

5. “ Tenant's Share”

(Article 4):

6. “Permitted Use”
(Article 5:

7. “Security Deposit”
(Article 22):

Prepaid Base Rent
(Article 3):

Prepaid Additional Re
(Article 3):

100%

General office, research and development and h#rotises consistent with comparable office/F
projects in the vicinity of the Project and in comhity with municipal zoning requirements of they
of Sunnyvale and other applicable Laws (as defineSection 25..below)

$306,265.75, as more particularly described in chetP2 below. In lieu of a cash Security Depc
Tenant may furnish a Letter of Credit (as definedmd pursuant to the termsExhibit F )

$226,248.75, as more particularly described inchetBbelow.

$65,250.14, as more particularly describeAtrticle 3 of this Lease



8. Address of Tenant
( Section 30.16 Before the Lease Commencement Date:

1130 Kifer Rd
Sunnyvale, CA 94086
Attn: General Counsel

From and after the Lease Commencement Date:

The Premises
Attn: General Counst

9. Address of Landlord CA-S UNNYVALE B uUsINESSC ENTERL IMITED
( Section 30.16: P ARTNERSHIP
2655 Campus Drive, Suite 100
San Mateo, CA 94403
Attn: Market Officer

and

Equity Office

2655 Campus Drive, Suite 100
San Mateo, CA 94403

Attn: Managing Counsel

and

Equity Office

Two North Riverside Plaza
Suite 2100

Chicago, IL 60606

Attn: Lease Administratio

10. Broker . . : .
(Section 30.2)): Cornish & Carey Commercial Newmark Knight Fre
11. “ Tenant Improvements”: Defined in the Tenant Work Lette

ARTICLE 1
PREMISES AND EXTERIOR AREAS
1.1 The Premises

1.1.1 Subject to the terms hereof, Landlord Ineteases the Premises to Tenant and Tenant hkrabsgs the Premises fr
Landlord. Landlord and Tenant acknowledge and agratthe rentable square footage of the Premses iset forth in_Section 2dt the
Summary. The parties acknowledge tBahibit A is intended only to show the approximate locatibthe Buildings in the Project, and no
constitute an agreement, representation or warragatyo the construction or precise area of the Bemor as to the specific location
elements of the Exterior Areas (defined in Secfidtbelow) or of the access ways to the Premises. &iqgses of this Lease, the terrhéase
Year ” shall mean each consecutive twelve (12) month detioing the Lease Term commencing on the Leasen@roement Date, provid
that the last Lease Year shall end on the Leasedixm Date.

1.1.2 Landlord shall deliver possession of thenktses to Tenant (the Premises Delivery Date”) upon the mutu
execution and delivery of this Lease by Landlord denant and satisfaction of the conditions sethfar Section 2.2below, and, except
specifically set forth in this Lease (including time Tenant Work Letter), Tenant agrees to acceptBihildings and Exterior Areas in th
condition and configuration existing on the dateeb§& without any obligation of Landlord to provide pay for any work or services relate:
the improvement of the Premises, and without apyesentation or warranty regarding the conditiothefBuildings or Exterior Areas for th
suitability or the conduct of Tenastbusiness; provided, however, that if, on or betbe first anniversary of the Lease Commencemaitd
(or, as to any defects in Landlord’'s Work [as defirin_Section 4.bf the Tenant Work Letter], not later than ten (&@)nths following th
Lease Commencement Date), Tenant notifies Landifovetiting that the rooftop HVAC units, or any dfeém, on the Buildings require repai
replacement, as evidenced by an audit or othertrégsued by a reputable and licensed service firm

3



reasonably acceptable to Landlord or of any othefeat in Landlords Work, then, except to the extent such repairseplacements a
necessitated by the negligence or willful misconidiicTenant or any Tenant Party (as defined iniSed0.1.2 below), Landlord shall perfor
such repairs or replacements at no cost to TeifaRénant does not give Landlord written noticeaofy such deficiency on or before said ¢
correction of any such deficiency shall be goverhgdhe provisions of Article Below and this sentence shall no longer apply difiteon, it
any of the Buildings are not in the Required Dalyw€ondition (defined below) as of the Premisesiel Date, then Landlord shall not
liable to Tenant for any damages, but Landlordhatcost to Tenant, shall promptly perform such workake such other action as may
necessary to place the same in the Required Dgli®endition; provided, however, that if Tenant does give Landlord written notice of a
such deficiency within six (6) months following theease Commencement Date, correction of such defigi shall be governed by
provisions of Article 7or Article 25 below, as applicable and this sentence shalbmger apply. As used in this Lease, the terReuired
Delivery Condition ” shall mean that the Premises are water tightpfallandlord’s Repair Obligations under Section GfZhe Lease ha
been performed, and the Premises is free of ashastbasbestamntaining building materials (a) in violation ohEronmental Laws as of t
Premises Delivery Date or (b) that Tenant will dibtin the performance of the Tenant ImprovementRAflo accordance with the Approv
Space Plan.

1.2 Exterior Areas . So long as the Premises includes all Buildirigs, Premises shall include the exterior areas dwiy
Landlord that surround the Buildings (which are ioyed with landscaping, parking areas and otherdwgments), as shown dxhibit A |,
subject to the rules and regulations referred tAriicle 5 of this Lease and the Underlying Documents (suelsare, collectively, referred
herein as the Exterior Areas ”). If the Premises does not include all Buildingsnttfd) Tenant shall only have the right to use théeEor
Areas in common with Landlord and its lessee(shefsuch unleased building, and (B) Landlord resethe right to close temporarily, m.
alterations or additions to, or change the locatibelements of the Project and the Exterior Argaeyided such changes do not mater
adversely affect or materially interfere with Tetiamccess to or use and enjoyment of the Premises.

ARTICLE 2
LEASE TERM

2.1 Lease Term. The Lease Term shall commence and, unlesgddesamer or extended as herein provided, shalkexpi thi
Lease Commencement Date and Lease Expiration Besgectively, specified in Sectioro8the Summary of Basic Lease Information. At
time during the Lease Term, Landlord may deliveTémant a notice substantially in the formEotibit C attached hereto, as a confirmatio
the information set forth therein, which Tenantlskaecute and return to Landlord within five (5yd of receipt thereof. If Tenant fails
execute and return (or reasonably object in writimgsuch notice within ten (10) business daysratteeiving a notice of such failure fri
Landlord, Tenant shall be deemed to have executddreturned it without exception. This Lease shalla binding contractual obligati
effective upon execution and delivery hereof bydlard and Tenant, notwithstanding the later comreerent of the Lease Term.

2.2 Early Occupancy. During the period commencing upon executiorthig Lease and ending on the Lease Commenc:
Date (the “Early Occupancy Period”), Tenant shall be permitted to enter the Premisethfopurpose of installing the Tenant Improvem
and performing the Tenant Improvement Work, subjedhe terms and conditions set forth in the TéMsork Letter, provided that, prior
Tenant’'s entry in the Premises, Tenant shall flrrtis Landlord certificates of insurance satisfagttw Landlord evidencing Tenast’
compliance with the requirements of Section 18eBow, and, if Tenant enters the Premises priothéocompletion of Landlord’ Work, ¢
schedule, for Landlord’s approval (which approvalsnot be unreasonablyithheld, conditioned or delayed), which schedshall describ
the coordination, if required, of the Tenant Imprment Work which may impact the Landlord’'s Workn@et's occupancy of the Premi:
during the Early Occupancy Period shall be subjedill of the terms, covenants and conditions ¢f ttease, including, without limitatic
Tenant's indemnity obligations set forth in Sectldhl below, except that Landlord agrees that Tersanbligation to pay Base Rent
“Direct Expenses” (defined in Section sbélow) shall be waived. Tenant shall, however, tteycost of all Utilities (as defined Bection 6.
below) and other services provided to the Prenysies to the Lease Commencement Date that are tegable under the terms of this Le
and are required by reason of Tenantbnstruction of the Tenant Improvement Work, sobjo reimbursement of the cost thereof a
Allowance Item pursuant tBxhibit B .

2.3 Extension Options.

23.1 Option Terms . Subject to the terms and conditions set fortleeeTenant shall have two (2) options (each, an *
Extension Option” and, collectively, the ‘Extension Options”), for successive periods of five (5) years eatle (' First Option Term ” anc
the “ Second Option Term”; and, each, an Option Term "); provided, however, that the second Extensioti@dpmay be exercised only if
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the first Extension Option has been duly exercisiefienant properly exercises an Extension Optierebinder, all of the terms, covenants
conditions of this Lease shall continue in fullderand effect during the applicable Option Terngjuding provisions regarding paymen
Additional Rent, which shall remain payable on teens herein set forth, except that (a) the Baset Bayable by Tenant during the Opi
Term shall be as calculated in accordance withi@e&t3.3and Section 2.3.%elow, (b) Tenant shall continue to possess andipcthe
Premises in their existing condition, “as &S of the commencement of such Option Term, anteas otherwise expressly provided in
Lease, including without limitation Section ©Pthis Lease, Landlord shall have no obligatiomefpair, remodel, improve or alter the Prem
to perform any other construction or other workroprovement upon the Premises, or to provide Tewétht any construction or refurbishi
allowance whatsoever, and (c) Tenant shall havéurtber rights to extend the Term of this Leaserathe expiration of the Second Opt
Term.

2.3.2 Exercise. The Extension Options contained in this Sectighshall be exercised by Tenant only in the follov
manner: (a) Tenant shall deliver written noticee(tfOption Interest Notice ”) to Landlord not more than eighteen (18) monthsless tha
thirteen (13) months prior to the Lease Expirafitate (as the same may have been extended), staéihgenant is interested in exercising
next succeeding Extension Option; (b) Landlord Isimalt later than fifteen (15) days before the @OptExercise Date, deliver to Tenant a ¢
faith written proposal of the Market Ratel(&ndlord’s Initial Proposal ”); and (c) if Tenant wishes to exercise such ExtenSiption, Tenar
must deliver an unconditional binding notice to demd (“ Exercise Notice") via certified mail, FedEx or hand delivery not latiean twelv:
(12) months prior to the Lease Expiration Datetfes same may have been extendedtion Exercise Date”), the time of such exerci
being of the essence; provided, however, that ifdl@rd fails to deliver Landlord’ Initial Proposal at least fifteen (15) days beftire Optio
Exercise Date as described above, then such Optiercise Date shall be extended to the date thigitéen (15) days following Landlord’
delivery to Tenant of Landlord'Initial Proposal. If Tenant timely exercises Ex¢ension Option as described above, then, upahcancurrer
with, such exercise, Tenant may, at its optiongptor reject Landlord’ Initial Proposal. If Tenant exercises the ExtengDption but fails t
accept or reject Landlord’s Initial Proposal, thiegnant shall be deemed to have rejected Landidritial Proposal. If Tenant fails to time
give its Exercise Notice, Tenant will be deemetidwe waived such Extension Option.

2.3.3 Market Rate Calculation . The Base Rent payable by Tenant for the Prendigesg the First Option Term shall
ninetyfive percent (95%) of the Market Rate (as definetbWw) for the Premises, and the Base Rent payableebant for the Premises dur
the Second Option Term shall be one hundred pe(d®®%o) of the Market Rate for the Premises, valagdf the commencement of s
Option Term, determined in the manner hereinaftervided; provided, however, that in the event thatLe N Av , | NC . , a Delawar
corporation (the “Original Tenant ") or a Permitted Assignee (as defined _in_Sectigh B, below) assigns this Lease prior to
commencement of the First Option Term to any péather than to a Permitted Assignee), then, nostéthding the foregoing, the Base F
payable by Tenant during the First Option Term Isbalone hundred percent (100%) of the Market Rat¢he Premises. As used herein,
term “Market Rate ” shall mean the annual amount of Base Rent at whitdnts, as of the commencement of the applicapt®®Term, ar
leasing non-sublease, non-equity space under ttesaifing ordinary rental market practices, at armength, that is comparable to the Pren
in the submarket in which the Project is locatdue (t Comparison Projects”), based upon binding lease transactions for tenantbe
Comparison Projects that, where possible, commencae to commence within six (6) months prior towdthin six (6) months after tl
commencement of such Option TermQbmparison Leases’). Comparison Leases shall include renewal and nemrenewal tenancies, t
shall exclude subleases and leases of space stbjacbther tenarg’expansion rights. Rental rates payable under @dsgm Leases shall
adjusted to account for variations between thisseeand the Comparison Leases with respect toh¢angth of the applicable Option Te
compared to the lease term of the Comparison Ledisgsental structure, including, without limitati, rental rates per rentable square
(including type, gross or net, and if gross, adijgsfor base year or expense stop), additionalateescalation provisions, all other paym:
and escalations; (c) the size of the Premises cadpa the size of the premises of the Compariseesks; (d) free rent, moving expenses
other cash payments, allowances or other monetargessions affecting the rental rate; (e) the agegaality of construction of the buildir
(including compliance with applicable codes, butleging Tenant Property); and (f) leasehold improvements anallowances granted to 1
lessee, including the amounts thereof in reneveade, and taking into account, in the case of rehipases (including this Lease), the vall
existing leasehold improvements (other than TesdPitbperty) to the renewal tenant.

2.3.4 Base Rent Determination. The Base Rent payable by Tenant for the Prendaesag each Option Term shall
determined as follows:

(@) If Tenant timely exercises the Extens@ption as described in Section 2.3l®ve, but rejects (or is deer
to have rejected) LandlorglInitial Proposal, then Landlord and Tenant shagiotiate in good faith in an attempt to deterntireeMarket Rai
for the Premises for



the applicable Option Term. If Landlord and Tenard able to agree on the Market Rate on or bef@alate that is ninety (90) days prio
the commencement of the applicable Option Term (tBitside Agreement Dat€”), then such agreement shall constitute a determmat
Market Rate for purposes of this Section, and theigs shall immediately execute an amendmentisoltbase stating the Base Rent for
applicable Option Term. If Landlord and Tenant anable to agree on the Market Rate prior to thesiDatAgreement Date, then within fifte
(15) days after the expiration of such negotiatpegiod, the parties shall meet and concurrentlyveelto each other in envelopes tl
respective good faith estimates of the Market Regeforth on a net effective rentable square festannum basis) (respectively.dndlord’ s
Determination ” and “ Tenant's Determination ”). Landlord’s Determination may not be more thaantlords Initial Proposal, but mi
otherwise be more or less than any proposal madebglord during the negotiating period prior te Butside Agreement Date, and, simile
Tenants Determination may be more or less than any palpnade by Tenant during such negotiating peribthd higher of such estimate:
not more than one hundred five percent (105%) eflolver, then the Market Rate shall be the avedddbe two. Otherwise, the Market R
shall be resolved by arbitration in accordance 8igletions 2.3.4(cnd 2.3.4(dpelow.

(c) Within fifteen (15) business days aftiee exchange of estimates, the parties shall sakeen arbitrator
independent real estate broker with at least fjeyéars of experience in leasing commercial offipace in the metropolitan area in which
Project is located (a Qualified Appraiser ”). If the parties cannot agree on a Qualified Appraiigen within a second period of se
(7) days, each shall select a Qualified Appraiset within ten (10) days thereafter the two appan@ualified Appraisers shall select
independent Qualified Appraiser and the indepenQeralified Appraiser shall be the sole arbitratbone party shall fail to select a Qualif
Appraiser within the second seven (7) day peribentthe Qualified Appraiser chosen by the othetypsrall be the sole arbitrator.

(d) Within twentyene (21) days after submission of the matter toattbétrator, the arbitrator shall determine
Market Rate by choosing whichever of the Landlofd&termination or the TenastDetermination the arbitrator judges to be momueate
The arbitrator shall notify Landlord and Tenantitsf decision, which shall be final and binding.thie arbitrator believes that expert ad
would materially assist him, the arbitrator mayametone or more qualified persons to provide expdutice. The fees of the arbitrator and
expenses of the arbitration proceeding, includimg fees of any expert witnesses retained by thiéraidr, shall be paid by the party wh
estimate is not selected. Each party shall payfehs of its respective counsel, the Qualified Amait appointed to select the indepen
Qualified Appraiser (if applicable), and the fedésoy witness called by that party.

(e) Until the matter is resolved by agreetmieztween the parties or a decision is renderednin arbitratio
commenced pursuant to this Section 2,3T¢nant’'s monthly payments of Base Rent shallnbani amount equal to the average of Landbrd’
and Tenans Determinations of the Market Rate delivered toheather pursuant to Section 2.3.4(b) above. Witkim (10) business de
following the resolution of such dispute by thetjgar or the decision of the arbitrator, as applieabenant shall pay to Landlord, or Landl
shall pay to Tenant, the amount of any deficiencgx@ess, as the case may be, in the Base Reatdfae paid.

2.3.5 _Rights Personal to TenanTenant$ right to exercise the Extension Options are peisto, and may be exercis
only by, the Original Tenant or any assignee o$ théase either permitted without Landlord’s congamisuant to_Section 148low (a “
Permitted Assigne€’) or otherwise approved by Landlord pursuant ttiche 14 (an “ Approved Assignee”), and only if the Original Tenal
any Permitted Assignee or any Approved Assignedirmoes to occupy at least sevelffitye percent (75%) of the rentable square footdghe
Premises at the time of such exercise. No assi@tbker than a Permitted Assignee and/or Approvesighee) or subtenant shall have any |
to exercise an Extension Option granted hereiadutition, if Tenant is in Default at the time iteggises an Extension Option, the exercise
be void, and, if Tenant does not properly exeraisd&xtension Option at a time when it is not in &éf, Landlord shall have, in addition to
of its other rights and remedies under this Ledse,right (but not the obligation) to terminate tremaining Extension Options and
unilaterally revoke Tenarg’exercise of such Extension Option, in which ¢hiselease shall expire on the Lease ExpiratioreDatless earli
terminated pursuant to the terms hereof, and Testait have no further rights under this Leaseetew or extend the Lease Term.

ARTICLE 3
RENT

3.1 Payment of Rent Tenant shall pay to Landlord or Landlsdagent, without prior notice or demand or any ffeit
deduction, at the place Landlord may from timeirteetdesignate in writing, by a check for currenoy l§y wire transfer) which, at the time
payment, is legal tender for private or public dahtthe United States of America, all Base Rent/additional Rent (defined below)
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(collectively, “Rent”). As used herein, Additional Rent ” means all amounts, other than Base Rent, that Ténhaequired to pay Landlo
hereunder. Monthly payments of Base Rent and mprtfiimated payments of “Direct Expenses” (defime&ection 4.lbelow) shall be pa
in advance on or before the first day of each ademonth during the Lease Term; provided, howethext, the installiment of Base Rent for
first full calendar month for which Base Rent is/gble hereunder and the installment of Direct Egpsrfor the first full calendar month
which such Additional Rent is payable hereundetl $fgapaid upon Tenarg’execution and delivery of this Lease. Exceptthsravise provide
herein, all other items of Additional Rent shallgmed within 30 days after Landlosiivritten request for payment. Rent for any padéénds
month shall be prorated based on the actual nupflays in the month.

3.2 Additional Rent Upon Default by Tenant. Landlord and Tenant acknowledge that to indueeaht to enter into this Lea
and in consideration of Tenaastagreement to perform all of the terms, covenantsconditions to be performed by Tenant underltbase, ¢
and when performance is due during the Lease Teamdlord has incurred (or will incur) significanbsts, including, without limitation, tl
following: (i) payment of the Allowance (as dese@tbin the Tenant Work Letter), (i) commissionsLndlord’s and/or Tenard’real esta
broker, (iii) attorneysfees and related costs incurred and/or paid by loathdn connection with the negotiation and prefiaraof this Leas
and/or (iv) the Base Rent Abatement granted to ieasa set forth in Item 4 of the Summary (colleelyy the “Inducements”). Landlord an
Tenant further acknowledge that Landlord would ima¢e granted the Inducements to Tenant but for Ate&nagreement to perform all of
terms, covenants, conditions and agreements toelfermed by it under this Lease for the entirei@hitease Term, and that Landlogd’
agreement to incur such expenditures and grant soietessions is, and shall remain, conditioned dparants faithful performance of all
the terms, covenants, conditions and agreemerite feerformed by Tenant under this Lease for theeeehtase Term. Accordingly, if tt
Lease is terminated prior to the expiration of thiéial Lease Term because a Default by Tenantl dwadur hereunder, Landlord shall
relieved of any unfulfilled obligation to grant lncements hereunder, or to incur further expensesrinection therewith, and Tenant shall
as liquidated damages for Landlsdgranting the Inducements and not as a penaltthirvien (10) days after the occurrence of :
termination because of the Default, as AdditionahRthe unamortized amount of those Inducemesstsiéfined below) incurred or gran
prior to the date of the Default (thé”te-Default Inducements”). Landlord may or, at Tenarstrequest, shall, after the occurrence of a D¢
that may lead to a termination, forward a statementenant setting forth the amount of the unamediPrebefault Inducements, but t
failure to deliver such a statement shall not bbeodeemed to be a waiver of the right to colleetRrebefault Inducements or to extend
date upon which such amount shall be due and pay#&dr purposes of this Section 3.2he unamortized amount of the Fefaul
Inducements shall equal the remaining principal ponent, measured on the date of the Default, tfaéggbtline amortization commencing
the first day of the twentieth (20) full calendar month of the Lease Term and cortigwover the Initial Lease Term of a principal amt
equal to the Pre-Default Inducements. Notwithstagdhe foregoing, Landlord shall not be entitleddoover Prédefault Inducements if, al
to the extent that, Tenant proves that such regowenld be duplicative of amounts that Landlorcbilerwise entitled to recover pursuar
California Civil Code Sections 1951.2 or 1951.4apsplicable.

ARTICLE 4
EXPENSES AND TAXES

4.1 General Terms. In addition to paying the Base Rent, Tenarmllshay, in accordance with Section 4hélow, for eac
Expense Year (defined in Section 4.Below), an amount equal to the sum of the followjogjlectively, the “Direct Expenses’): (a) Tenanté
Share of Expenses for such Expense Year, plusgiaits Share of Taxes for such Expense Year, plus fcjsagement fee equal to tr
percent (3%) of the Base Rent, Tenant’s Share pekses and TenastShare of Taxes payable by Tenant for the appécBlRpense Ye:
(without regard to the Base Rent Abatement desdribdtem 4 of the Summary) (thePermitted Management Fe€’). The obligations ¢
Tenant to pay the Additional Rent provided for liistArticle 4 shall survive the expiration or earlier terminatiointhis Lease. If this Lea
commences on a day other than the first day of>grefise Year or expires or terminates on a day altzer the last day of an Expense Y
Tenants payment of Direct Expenses for the Expense Yreavhich such commencement, expiration or termimatiocurs shall be prorat
based on the ratio between (x) the number of daygich Expense Year that fall within the Lease Teand (y) the number of days in s
Expense Year. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tershiall have no obligation to pay Direct Expenséscable to the 930 DeGuigne Build
until the earlier to occur of (i) December 1, 2043ii) the date that Tenant or a subtenant ocaufiie 930 DeGuigne Building or any port
thereof for the conduct of business.

4.2 Definitions of Key Terms Relating to Additional Rert .  As used in this Lease, the following termslidiave the meanini
hereinafter set forth:

421 “Expense Year” shall mean each calendar year in which any portérthe Lease Term falls, the par
acknowledging that, subject to Section 4Tkenant’s payment of Direct Expenses
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shall begin on the Lease Commencement Date, nata&ithing the later commencement of the paymentséBRent hereunder.

4.2.2 *“Expenses” shall mean all expenses, costs and amounts thatldrdnpays or accrues during any Expense
because of or in connection with the ownership, agament, maintenance, security, repair, replacemestoration or operation of the Proj
Landlord shall act in a commercially reasonable mearin incurring Expenses. Without limiting the dgoing, Expenses shall include: (i)
cost of supplying all Utilities, the cost of openat, repairing, maintaining and renovating theitytiltelephone, mechanical, sanitary, storm-
drainage, and elevator systems, and the cost aftemgince and service contracts in connection thitre(i) the cost of licenses, certificat
permits and inspections, the cost of contesting laawys that may affect Expenses, and the costs oiptong with any governmentally-
mandated transportationanagement or similar program; (iii) the cost dfimsurance premiums and deductibles; (iv) the ofdaindscapin
and re-lamping; (v) the cost of parkiagea operation, repair, restoration, and mainteziafwg) fees and other costs, including manage
and/or incentive fees, consulting fees, legal faed accounting fees, of all contractors and coastgdtin connection with the managem
operation, maintenance and repair of the Projedt) gayments under any equipmeaettal agreements; (viii) wages, salaries and
compensation, expenses and benefits, includingstbewéed thereon, of all persons engaged in theatipa, maintenance and security of
Project, and costs of training, uniforms, and empgéo enrichment for such persons; (ix) the costopdration, repair, maintenance
replacement of all systems and equipment (and caerge thereof) of the Project; (x) the cost of famal, alarm, security and other servi
replacement of wall and floor coverings, ceilinigdiand fixtures in common areas, maintenance gpldaement of curbs and walkways, re
to roofs and reeofing; (xi) rental or acquisition costs of sugsj tools, equipment, materials and personal ptppesed in the maintenan
operation and repair of the Project; (xii) the cofstapital improvements or any other items that(&) reasonably intended to effect econol
in the operation or maintenance of the Projecteduce current or future ExpenseC@st Saving Expenditures’), (B) reasonably intended
enhance the safety or security of the Project ®moitcupants, (C) replacements or modificationshef nonstructural portions of the B
Building (as defined in_Section 71#low) or the Exterior Areas that are required éefk the Base Building or the Exterior Areas in ¢
condition, or (D) required under any Law, excludamy such capital improvements or other items ntademedy a honcompliance with
Laws in effect as of the date of this Lease (basethe current interpretation of such Laws by agglle governmental authorities as of the
of this Lease), so long as any of the foregoingtahjiems in subparts (A) through (D) are amortiencluding reasonable actual or impt
interest on the amortized cost] over a period miktithat is the lesser of (1) the useful life oftsitem in accordance with GAAP (as defi
below), as reasonably determined by Landlord) §in(2he case of a Cost Saving Expenditure, théogesf time that Landlord reasona
estimates will be required for any cost savingsiteg) from such capital item to equal the cossath item; (xiii) except for costs and expel
which are the sole responsibility of Tenant pur$uanSection 7.2elow, all other costs paid or incurred by Landlewdperform Landlord
Repair Obligations (as defined in pursuant to $ecti.2.1below); and (xiv) except to the extent already ueld in Expenses or otherw
expressly excluded from Expenses, payments underegiprocal easement agreement, transportatioragenent agreement, castaring
agreement or other covenant, condition, restrictiosimilar instrument affecting the Project on ttage this Lease is signed which are ident
in attachedExhibit J (collectively, the “Underlying Documents”). Any expenditures described in clauses (xi), (xii)(®iii)) above the
constitute capital expenditures in accordance G¥AP (as defined below) are herein referred to a®armitted Capital Expenditure ”.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in thisake, Expenses shall not include the following, &edant shall not have a
obligation whatsoever to pay, perform or incur afyhe following costs, liabilities, maintenancepairs, premiums, losses, or other expe
(collectively, “Excluded Expenses):

€)) capital expenditures that do not coniermitted Capital Expenditures (in addition, &grmitted Capiti
Expenditures, except for Cost Saving Expenditusgsa)l be amortized [including reasonable actudhgouted interest on the amortized ¢
over the useful life of such item in accordancehwitistomary and generally accepted real estate gearent and accounting principles [
GAAP "], as reasonably determined by Landlord);

(b) depreciation or expense reserves;

(c) principal, interest (except as expregslyvided in subpart (xi) and clause (a) of thistiéa 4.2.2) and othe
payments on mortgage and other non-operating @éthisndlord;

(d) costs for which Landlord receives reimgament from a third party, including, without lation, insurance
condemnation proceeds (other than through the palybyeother tenants of the Project of their pata share of Expenses), and Landlord
use commercially



reasonable efforts to secure any reimbursementsitch it is entitled and will credit any such reeoy, whether during or after the Lease T
to Tenant;

(e) costs in connection with the marketimgeasing of space in the Project, including braker commission
lease concessions, rental abatements and constratiibwances; and costs incurred due to a viglatiathis Lease by Landlord;

® costs incurred in connection with thdesaround leasing, financing or refinancing of tReject, or an
portion thereof;

9) fines, interest and penalties incurrad tb the late payment of Taxes or Expenses, ofalye of Landlor
to timely pay any obligation;

(h) organizational expenses associated thvétcreation and operation of the entity that dtutsts Landlord;

0] any penalties or damages that Landlaygspgo Tenant under this Lease;

()] costs to complete Landlosd®Work or to place the Premises in the deliveryddiom required by the terms
this Lease;

(k) costs to maintain the Project in a dually sound condition, (1) except to the extem same constitL
Expenses pursuant to clause (xii) above or (2)gbiceconnection with a Casualty (as defined inti®acl1.1.1below) or a Taking (as defin
in Article 13below) and permitted by clauses (I) and (m) below;

)] costs of repairs or restoration occasiiy a Casualty or Taking other than the amourdnyf deductible
under any insurance policy carried by Landlord vpmted, however, that the amount of any such debliggtincluded among the Expenses !
be limited as provided in clause (m) below;

(m) [*****], provided, however, that if thid ease is not terminated as a consequence of thgalda pursuant
Article 11 and if Landlord performs the [*****] pursuant to sbArticle 11, Landlord may include the following amounts in Erges [*****]:

@ [*****] up to the amount (the “Annual Limit ") of [****] (provided, however, that
notwithstanding any contrary provision hereoffdf; any occurrence, [*****] exceeds the Annual Limthen, after such deductible is inclu
(up to the Annual Limit) in Expenses for the apahte Expense Year, such excess may be includetd tine Annual Limit) in Expenses for 1
immediately succeeding Expense Year, and any podfosuch excess that is not so included in Expefi@esuch immediately succeed
Expense Year may be included (up to the Annual f)imi Expenses for the next succeeding Expense, Y&t so on with respect to e
subsequent Expense Year; provided further, howdvat,(A) no portion of such deductible shall belimled in Expenses for any Expense *
that is not included, in whole or in part, in theri existing on the date of the earthquake occuereand (B) in no event shall the portion
such deductible that are included in Expensesrigrane or more Expense Years exceed, in the aggrdda**]. On the date of this Leas

[*****]

(2) deductibles from Landlosd’property insurance policy (other than earthqud&ductibles) up 1
$50,000.00 per occurrence;

(n) any fine, cost or expense (includingstrable legal expenses and consultafeiss) paid by Landlord
connection with the investigation or monitoring bfazardous Substances, in connection with any “Reaheédork” (as defined i
Section 25.2.3elow), or otherwise incurred by Landlord with respto Hazardous Substances (other than Tes&tdzardous Substanct
provided, however, that the foregoing shall not ifyotthe rights and obligations of the parties undeticle 25 of this Lease;

(0) costs arising out of the gross negligenillful misconduct, breach of lease, or violatiof any applicab
Laws by Landlord or any other Landlord Party;

(p) costs expressly made the sole obligatfdrandlord under the terms of this Lease;

[*****] Certain portions denoted with an asteriskatie been omitted and filed separately with the B&esiand Exchange Commission. Confidential treatirhas been reques
with respect to the omitted portions.



(@) costs and premiums for insurance notaroarily carried by owners of commercial propertsgstantiall
similar to, and in the vicinity of, the Project acginsurance payments;

) costs to acquire sculpture, paintingsintains or other objects of art;
(s) charitable and political contributions;

® costs associated with the operatiorhefliusiness of the partnership or entity which tiaiss the Landlor
as the same are distinguished from the costs ohtipa of the Project (which shall specifically inde, but not be limited to, accounting c
associated with the operation of the Project). €associated with the operation of the businesiseopartnership or entity which constitutes
Landlord include costs of partnership accounting &gal matters, and wages, salaries, fees ordrimgnefits (“Labor Costs ") paid tc
personnel above the level of general manager (geavihowever, that if such individuals provide &g directly relating to the operati
maintenance or ownership of the Project that, évjsted directly by a general manager or propertyagar or his or her general support s
would normally be chargeable as an operating ex@eha comparable office project, then the Labost€of such individuals may be inclu
in Expenses to the extent of the percentage of tine¢ that is spent providing such services toRhgect);

(u) costs paid to affiliates of Landlord fervices to the extent that such costs matertadbeed the competiti
cost for the services and materials rendered bglated persons or entities of similar skill, congmee and experience in an asnéngtl
transaction;

(v) advertising, marketing, and promotiocasts; or
(w) Taxes or Excluded Taxes.

4.2.3 “Taxes” shall mean all federal, state, county or local gorental or municipal taxes, fees, charges, assads
levies, licenses or other impositions, whether gahepecial, ordinary or extraordinary, that aedpor accrued during any Expense )
(without regard to any different fiscal year usedsich governmental or municipal authority) becaofser in connection with the ownerst
leasing or operation of the Project. Taxes shalluisle (a) real estate taxes; (b) general and dpgss@ssments; (c) transit taxes; (d) least
taxes; (e) personal property taxes imposed uporfixhgres, machinery, equipment, apparatus, systeappurtenances, furniture and o
personal property used in connection with the Ripjé) any tax on the rent, right to rent or otliezome from any portion of the Project o
against the business of leasing any portion offtftgect; (g) any assessment, tax, fee, levy orgeghamposed by any governmental agenc
by any non-governmental entity pursuant to any gievcost-sharing agreement, in order to fund tlwwigion or enhancement of any fire-
protection, street-, sidewalk- or road-maintenameéjseremoval or other service that is (or, before thactment of Proposition 13, wi
normally provided by governmental agencies to prigpewners or occupants without charge (other tttaough real property taxes); ¢
(h) any assessment, tax, fee, levy or charge dleaar measured by the area of the Premises ohdyréent payable hereunder, including
business, gross income, gross receipts, salescimestax with respect to the receipt of such R&ny: costs and expenses (including reasor
attorneys’ and consultant®&es) reasonably incurred in attempting to protestiice or minimize Taxes shall be included in Bawe the year i
which they are incurred. Notwithstanding anythiregdin to the contrary, Taxes shall exclude (i)exitess profits taxes, franchise taxes,
taxes, capital stock taxes, inheritance and suiresaxes, transfer taxes, estate taxes, federhlstate income taxes, and other taxes t
extent applicable to Landlorsl'general or net income (as opposed to rents,ptscei income attributable to operations at thgeRt) (i) any
Expenses or governmental taxes or fees paid statyaintain the Landlord entity in good standinglenapplicable Law, and (iii) any ite
required to be paid by Tenant under Sectionb&Bw (collectively “Excluded Taxes”). During the Term, upon written request by Tena
Landlord at least sixty (60) days before the exjgiraof any applicable appeal period, or if Landloin its good faith business judgment, de
the real property Taxes levied against the Prdjmcany tax fiscal year to be excessive, then Lamtlshall exercise commercially reason
efforts to seek Proposition 8 and other availabtgerty tax relief for such fiscal year and anyhstelief shall accrue to the benefit of Tenar
and to the extent set forth in Section 4.deBow.

4.3 Cost Sharing. If Landlord incurs Expenses or Taxes for the Projegether with one or more other buildings or @ies
whether pursuant to a reciprocal easement agreeg@nimon area agreement or otherwise or if the Bemrdoes not include the entire Prc
and Landlord incurs Expenses or Taxes benefittioty the Premises or any other space in the Prgach shared amounts shall be equil
prorated and apportioned between the Project acld ather buildings or properties or between therfses and the other areas of the Prc
as applicable, in Landlord’s reasonable discretion.
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4.4 Calculation and Payment of Expenses and Taxes

44.1 Statement of Actual Expenses and Taxes and Paymelny Tenant . Landlord shall give to Tenant, within 1
days after the end of each Expense Year a statefthent Statement”) setting forth the actual amount of Direct Experfeessuch Expens
Year, including Tenang’ Share of Expenses and Taxes for such Expense Y &a& amount paid by Tenant for such Expenser Yeasuant t
Section 4.4.2below is less or more than the actual sum of Témdbirect Expenses for such Expense Year (as sudurs are set forth
such Statement), Tenant shall pay Landlord the amolusuch underpayment, or receive a credit inatm®unt of such overpayment, witt
against the Rent next due hereunder; provided, henvéhat if this Lease has expired or terminated Benant has vacated the Premises, T
shall pay Landlord the amount of such underpaynmritandlord shall pay Tenant the amount of suctrpayment (less any Rent due), wi
30 days after delivery of such Statement. Any failof Landlord to timely furnish the Statement fory Expense Year shall not precl
Landlord or Tenant from enforcing its rights undleis Article 4. Notwithstanding the immediately peeling sentence, Tenant shall no
responsible for any Direct Expenses attributablarty Expense Year which are first billed to Tenaote than two (2) calendar years aftel
expiration of the applicable Expense Year, providhdt in all events Tenant shall be responsible Dinect Expenses levied by ¢
governmental authority or by any public utility cpamies at any time which are attributable to anpdfise Year (provided that Landl
delivers Tenant a hill for such amounts within t(2p years following Landlord’s receipt of the kitlerefor).

4.4.2 Statement of Estimated Expenses and Taxesl andlord shall endeavor to give to Tenant, facteExpense Ye:
a statement (the Estimate Statement”) setting forth Landlord’s reasonable estimatestttd Direct Expenses (the Estimated Direct
Expenses’) for such Expense Year, including Tenan8hare of Expenses and Taxes for such Expense Netwithstanding anything to t
contrary in this Lease, the Estimated Direct Expserfer any portion of the term during 2011 shall#9e50 per month per square foot of
Premises. Upon receiving an Estimate Statementarfteshall pay, with its next installment of BasenRen amount equal to the exces
(a) the amount obtained by multiplying (i) the safrthe Estimated Direct Expenses (as such amougdatiforth in such Estimate Statement)
(i) a fraction, the numerator of which is the nuentof months that have elapsed in the applicableege Year (including the month of s
payment) and the denominator of which is 12, owdrafly amount previously paid by Tenant for suctpdfise Year pursuant to t
Section 4.4.2 Until a new Estimate Statement is furnished (WwHiandlord shall have the right to deliver to Tetnanany time), Tenant sh
pay monthly, with the monthly Base Rent installnser@n amount equal to otwelfth (1/12) of the sum of the Estimated DiresfpEnses, ¢
such amount is set forth in the previous Estimasgetent delivered by Landlord to Tenant. Excepamessly provided in Section 4.4.any
failure of Landlord to timely furnish any Estime®éatement shall not preclude Landlord from enfagdta rights to receive payments and re
any previous Estimate Statement under this Article

443 Retroactive Adjustment . Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrdyyt subject to Section 4.4, if, aftel
Landlord’s delivery of any Statement, an increase or deereaBirect Expenses occurs for the applicable Bgpéeyear (whether, in the casi
Taxes, by reason of reassessment or error, ongicdse of Expenses, by a third-pateimbursement of costs or otherwise), Direct Bspt
for such Expense Year shall be retroactively adjlistf, as a result of such adjustment, it is deteed that Tenant has under overpair
Tenants Share of such Taxes or Expenses, Tenant shallgragiord the amount of such underpayment, or vecaicredit in the amount
such overpayment, with or against the Rent theneot due hereunder; provided, however, that if tléase has expired or terminated
Tenant has vacated the Premises, Tenant shallgragidrd the amount of such underpayment, or Laddibell pay Tenant the amount of s
overpayment (less any Rent due), within 30 dayer afich adjustment is made.

4.5 Taxes and Other Charges for Which Tenant Is Direcyy Responsible

45.1 Tenant shall pay, 10 days before delingueany taxes levied against Tenargquipment, furniture, trade fixtures .
other personal property located in or about theni&es (“Tenant’s Property ”). If any such taxes are levied against Landlord ©pibpert
(or if the assessed value of Landlarg'roperty is increased by the inclusion thereia wélue placed upon such equipment, furnituréyifes o
other personal property of Tenant), and if Landlpays such taxes (or such increased assessmeit)y ldndlord shall have the right to
regardless of the validity thereof (unless the s@iamely and successfully challenged by Tenanifaequested by Tenant, the same is n
by Landlord under protest as and to the extent by Law), Tenant shall, upon demand, repayatodlord the amount so paid.

4.5.2 Notwithstanding any contrary provisiondiey Tenant shall pay, 10 days before delinqueficgny rent tax, sales t:
service tax, transfer tax or value added tax, graher tax respecting the rent or services desdrherein or otherwise respecting this Le
(i) taxes assessed upon the possession, leagdegat®mn, management, maintenance, alteration,rreygse or occupancy by Tenant of
portion of the Project; and (iii) taxes assessaghtthis transaction or any document to
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which Tenant is a party creating or transferringirgerest in the Premises; provided, however, thatforegoing shall not be interpretec
require Tenant to pay any Excluded Taxes.

4.6 Tenant's Audit Rights . Within ninety (90) days after Tenast'eceipt of a Statement, Tenant may request aK bp bills
and evidence of expenses referenced in the Statgtherf'back up data”)and then, if Tenant disputes the amount of Direqidfises set for
in the Statement within thirty (30) days after Tetsreceipt of the back up data, Tenant or an agesigdated by Tenant may, after reasor
notice to Landlord and at reasonable times sultfettindlord’s reasonable scheduling requirementgpeéct Landlord’s records at Landlard’
offices, provided that Tenant has paid the amoulaisned to be due under the applicable Statemewt, T&nant agrees that any record
Landlord reviewed under this Section 4Hall constitute confidential information of Landdpwhich Tenant shall not disclose, nor permibé
disclosed by Tenant or Tenamticcountant, except to its attorneys or as magdpgred by applicable Law. If Tenant retains aarddo reviev
Landlord’s records, the agent must be with a CPA firm lieen® do business in the State of California anthsaccountant must not
compensated on a contingency fee or similar batided to the result of such audit. If after sugspiection, Tenant still disputes such Di
Expenses included in the Statement, Landlord anthfiteshall work together in good faith to resohenants objections. If the parties
unable to resolve such objections within sixty (88ys following the completion of Tenastinspection, then a determination as to the p
amount shall be made, at the expense of the patiggovided below, by a real estate professioxpérenced in lease audits who has
represented Landlord or Tenant in the preceding (B) years (a ‘Qualified Professional”) selected by mutual agreement of Landlord
Tenant and if the parties are unable to agree apQualified Professional, then such Qualified Pssienal shall be selected by applicatio
the presiding judge of the Santa Clara County Sap€&ourt. The Qualified Professional shall, in awent, be required to select and retai
independent certified public accountant to advisel assist such professional in his or her analysid determination hereunc
Notwithstanding anything contained in this Sectionthe contrary, if the actual amount of Direct Erpes due for any Expense Yea
determined by the Qualified Professional, [*****fhen Landlord shall pay the costs associated witth <ertification. In addition, if tt
determination by the Qualified Professional revéladd Landlord has overcharged or underchargednfetieen, within thirty (30) days after
results of such audit, Landlord shall reimburse argrthe amount of the overcharge or Tenant shalltba amount of the undercharge
applicable. Tenant hereby acknowledges that Temasate right to inspect Landlogibooks and records and to contest the amount ret
Expenses payable by Tenant shall be as set forthisrSection 4.6 and Tenant hereby waives any and all other rightsuant to applicak
Laws to inspect such books and records and/orritesbthe amount of Direct Expenses payable by fAtena

ARTICLE 5
USE OF PREMISES

Tenant shall not (a) use the Premises for any merpot permitted under Article 2felow, or for any purpose other than the Perrr
Use; or (b) do anything in or about the Premisext i) violates any of the Rules and Regulationsany provision of the Underlyii
Documents, or (ii) constitutes a nuisance. TenargBts and obligations under this Lease and Teésame of the Premises, including
Exterior Areas, shall be subject and subordinatinéoUnderlying Documents. Landlord agrees thatepkas may be required by Law, it
neither amend the Underlying Documents existingfabe date of this Lease nor enter into any newlddlying Documents if the same sl
materially adversely impact Tenant’'s use of or asde the Premises or subject Tenant to any mbiieci@ased cost or expense.

ARTICLE 6
SERVICES

6.1 Utilities Services. Tenant shall promptly pay, as the same become alleharges for water, gas, electricity, telep
sewer service, waste piclp and any other utilities, materials and servitenished directly to or used by Tenant on or aktbet Premise
during the Term (collectively, Utilities "), including, without limitation, (a) meter, us@dor connection fees, hoalp fees, or standby fe
and (b) penalties for discontinued or interrupted/iee, except to the extent of any Service Infatian (as defined below) caused by Land
or a Landlord Party. Tenant shall provide janitbsirvice to the Buildings at its sole cost andemge, provided that Tenant shall be respor
for all acts of such persons. At no time shall ofelectricity in the Premises exceed the capatfigxisting feeders and risers to or wiring in
Premises, as the same may be modified or impravaddordance with this Lease.

[*****] Certain portions denoted with an asteriskabe been omitted and filed separately with the Biesiand Exchange Commissi
Confidential treatment has been requested withexdp the omitted portions.
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6.2 Service Interruption . Except as otherwise expressly provided in thegse, any interruption or cessation of Utili
resulting from any causes, including, without liatibn, any entry for repairs pursuant to this Leas®l any renovation, redecoratior
rehabilitation of any area of the Project (eacH, $ervice Interruption” ), shall not render Landlord liable for damages tbegitperson ¢
property or for interruption or loss to TenanbBusiness, nor be construed as an eviction ofntenar work an abatement of any portiot
Rent, nor relieve Tenant from fulfillment of anyvemant or agreement hereof. Notwithstanding thedoing, if the entirety of one or mu
Buildings, or a material portion of one or more [Birigs is made untenantable for the Permitted Wsegomade of the Building or inaccess
for more than the Applicable Number (defined bel@fvfonsecutive business days after written ndtioen Tenant to Landlord as result of i
Service Interruption that is not caused by Tenariny Tenant Party, then Tenant, as its sole repsll be entitled to receive an abateme
Monthly Rent (defined below) payable hereunder tfe period beginning on the day immediately follogvisuch Applicable Number
consecutive business days and ending on the déy Serwice Interruption ends. If a Service Interiuptrenders less than the entire Pren
untenantable for the conduct of the Permitted Usssg made of the Premises or inaccessible, theuatmaf Monthly Rent abated shall
prorated in proportion to the percentage of thdalgle square footage of the Premises that is reddentenantable for the conduct of
Permitted Uses being made of the Premises or isaitife. As used in this Section 6.3 Applicable Number ” means (i) [*****], if Landlord
can correct the Service Interruption through reabtm efforts, or (ii) [*****], if Landlord cannot orrect the Service Interruption throt
reasonable efforts. In addition, if (4l or a material portion of the Premises is madinantable for the conduct of the Permitted Usisc
made of the Premises or inaccessible for [*****|rgmcutive days after written notice from TenantLémdlord as a result of a Serv
Interruption that does not result from a casuattpther event covered hy Article Bhd that Landlord can correct through reasonalfitets;
and (2) Landlord is not diligently pursuing suchrreation, then, unless the Service Interruptiondased by the act or omission of Tenai
any Tenant Party, the same shall constitute a HefguLandlord and the provisions of Section 1®&ow shall apply. As used herein, “
Monthly Rent ” means Base Rent and Tenant's monthly installroéftirect Expenses.

ARTICLE 7
REPAIRS

7.1 Tenant's Obligations.

7.1.1 Except to the extent expressly Landloabtigation under this Lease (including, without iiation, underSection
1.1.2,7.1.4 7.1.5, or 7.2, Articles 11, 13, or 25 and the Tenant Work LetterTenant shall, at its expense, perform all maiatee an
repairs (including replacement) to the Premisekeiep the Premises in good working order and iroradition reasonably consistent w
Comparable Buildings (defined below), Casualtieskiiigs, Hazardous Substances (other than Tenbiszardous Substances), and reaso
wear and tear excepted (collectivelyTénant’'s Repair Obligations”); provided, however, that, after completion of thexdt Improvemen
in accordance with the Approved Working Drawingsna@nt shall not be required to (i) replace anyipostof the Premises to comply with
foregoing obligation, unless and to the extent thath replacement is necessary to maintain sudiopts) of the Premises in a condit
reasonably consistent with comparable professigmadintained office/R&D buildings in the vicinityfahe Premises (“Comparable
Buildings ") or (ii) replace or upgrade any Buildings Systemstber improvements in the Premises if such Bugdiystems or improveme;
can otherwise be maintained in good working orahek ia a condition reasonably consistent with Corapker Buildings. In performing any st
repair or replacement, Tenant shall comply with résguirements of Sections 8.8.3 and_8.4below as if such repair or replacement wer
Alteration (defined in_Section 8.elow), including that Tenant shall cause any steghair or replacement to be performed by appr
contractors, in a good and workmanlike manner ancbinformance with all applicable Laws; providedwever, that if the estimated cos
such repair or replacement is less than SevEiMyg-Thousand Dollars ($75,000.00), then such remaieplacement shall, for purposes of
foregoing, constitute a Minor Alteration (as define Section 8.1below). Except to the extent made the obligatiorLafdlord under th
Lease, Tenant' Repair Obligations shall include: (a) floor caugs; (b) interior partitions; (c) doors; (d) thetérior side of demising wal
(e) Alterations; and (f) the heating, ventilatingdaair conditioning (“HVAC ") systems and equipment, the plumbing, sewer, drai
electrical, fire protection, elevator, escalatoife Isafety and security systems and equipment athetr omechanical, electrical &
communications systems and equipment (collectivtbly,” Building Systems”) that serve the Buildings or Exterior Areas, inchgliwithou
limitation, (i) any specialty or supplemental Builg Systems installed by or for Tenant, and (iiedctrical facilities and equipment, includ
lighting fixtures, lamps, fans and any exhaust pougint and systems, electrical motors and all aipptiances and equipment of every kind
nature, whether such items are located within ¢side of any Building, and whether they are insthby or for the benefit of Tenant or exis
of the date hereof.

[*****] Certain portions denoted with an asterislatle been omitted and filed separately with the Béesiand Exchange Commissi
Confidential treatment has been requested withexdp the omitted portions.
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7.1.2 Tenant shall also be responsible foredt gontrol within the Buildings, and for all trasgmoval and disposal from t
Buildings. With respect to all HVAC systems and ipguent serving the Buildings, Tenant shall obtaMA€ systems preventive maintena
contracts with bimonthly or monthly service in amtance with manufacturer recommendations, whicli sleasubject to the reasonable p
written approval of Landlord and paid for by Tenaatd which shall provide for and include replacetrdf filters, oiling and lubricating
machinery, parts replacement, adjustment of drefspoil changes and other preventive maintenainckyding annual maintenance of ¢
work, interior unit drains and caulking of sheettaheand recaulking of jacks and vents on an anbaals, and shall require that reason
detailed written service reports be provided todlard and Tenant concurrently upon the completibearh bimonthly or monthly servi
Tenant shall have the benefit of all warrantieslaiée to Landlord, including those regarding theéAC systems and other equipment, rela
to the portions of the Premises for which TensuRepair Obligations apply, or that would otherwisduce the cost incurred by Tenant
performance of Tenant’s Repair Obligations. Notati#imding the foregoing provisions of this SectichZ, if Tenant breaches its forego
obligation to carry HVAC preventive maintenance trtacts for a period of 10 business days after raticsuch failure by Landlord, Landlc
may thereafter, at its option, obtain the requHAAC systems preventive maintenance contracts oraiies behalf, in which case Tenant s
pay Landlord, within ten (10) days after receiptofinvoice therefor, the cost of such work (withoark-up by Landlord).

7.1.3 Notwithstanding the foregoing provisiorfstlis Section 7.1, Tenant shall notify Landlord in writing at led#teen
(15) business days prior to performing any TersaRepair Obligation (a) that materially affects &wilding Systems, the Base Building or
Exterior Areas, or (b) that constitutes a Capitap&r (as defined in Section 7.1bélow), provided that in the event of an emergefi@nan
shall only be required to provide such notice ag&sonable under the circumstances. Upon recefutob notice from Tenant, Landlord sl
have the right to consult with Tenant prior to suark being performed by Tenant in order to ensba¢ such Tenard’Repair Obligation shi
be performed in accordance with the requirementbisfLease and in a manner consistent with thedstals followed by owners and propt
managers of office/R&D projects substantially sanito, and in the vicinity of, the Project, as waably determined by Landlord. If Ten
fails to commence any TenastRepair Obligation within a reasonable time pespécified by Landlord (provided that Tenant sthae &
least fifteen (15) business days to commence adly pair or replacement, except in the event oéraergency, in which event Tenant s
promptly commence such repair or replacement) its fa thereafter diligently pursue the completmfnsuch Tenang Repair Obligation, the
Landlord may, but need not, following delivery aftize to Tenant of such election and the continaasfcsuch failure by Tenant beyond
applicable cure period, make or complete such Tesd&epair Obligation, in which event Tenant shall pandlord the cost of such work, p
a reasonable percentage of the cost thereof (nexdeed 10%) sufficient to reimburse Landlord fibroserhead, general conditions, fees
other costs or expenses arising from Land®idolvement with such repairs and replacememis, T&enant shall pay Landlord the cost the
within thirty (30) days after receipt of an invoitteerefor.

7.1.4 Notwithstanding the provisions_of Secfioh.1above to the contrary, if, at any time during tleate Term, any capi
repairs, replacements or improvements (as detethimaccordance with GAAP) Capital Repairs”) are required to be made to the Builc
Systems (excluding any specialty or supplementédBig Systems or any other equipment or facilitiekting to the particular use or mar
of use of the Premises, including any equipmenfiaoilities serving a computer server room, “cleaom” or laboratory space) the cost
which shall exceed SevenBive Thousand Dollars ($75,000.00), then, upon estby Tenant, unless such repairs, replacemel
improvements are required by the negligence ofwithisconduct of Tenant or any Tenant Partieqror Alterations to the Premises madi
or on behalf of Tenant or any Transferee, (a) Lamtlshall perform such repairs or replacementsTémant shall pay the first Severfire
Thousand Dollars ($75,000.00) of costs relatingette and (c) the remainder of such costs shafide by Landlord, subject, however, to
following: Tenant shall pay to Landlord, as Additad Rent, the portion of the cost of such repa&placements or improvements allocabl
the remaining Term (including any Extension Termbjch portion shall be determined by amortizing tost of the repairs, replacement
improvements on a straighite basis over the useful life thereof (as Landlshall reasonably determine in accordance with 8AAithe
(A) in cash upon demand or (B) in equal monthlytaliments with Base Rent over the remaining Ternel@iding any Extension Terr
together with interest on such amortized amountutated at the lesser of (i) eight percent (8%)am@mum or (ii) the maximum legal rate
interest allowed by the State of California.

7.1.5 Notwithstanding the foregoing provisiorighis Section 7.1o the contrary, and notwithstanding Section lfeHw
Landlord shall perform, and Tenant shall have rspoasibility to perform and Expenses shall notudel, any repairs or replacements n
necessary solely by the negligence or willful misdect of Landlord or any Landlord Party; providadwever, that, if such work is covered
Tenants insurance (or the insurance required to be chbrie Tenant hereunder), Landlord shall only begaiéd to pay any deductible
connection therewith and Tenant shall assign todlaad (or to any party designated by Landlord)iaflurance proceeds payable to Te
under Tenant’s property insurance required undeti®e10.3below attributable to such repairs.
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7.2 Landlord’'s Obligations.

7.2.1 Landlord shall maintain, repair and repléte following items (together with the work to performed by Landlol
under S ections 1.1.2, 7.1.4.1.5, or 7.2, and_Articles 11, 13, or 25herein the “Landlord’s Repair Obligations "): (a) the nonstructura
portions of the roofs of the Buildings, includinget roof coverings in a watéight condition, and otherwise reasonably conststeith
Comparable Buildings; (b) the Exterior Areas of tAmject, including, without limitation, the ParginFacilities, pavement, landscapi
sprinkler systems, sidewalks, driveways, curbditiig systems and other facilities, systems, eqgaipnand improvements in or serving
Exterior Areas in a condition reasonably consisteith the exterior areas surrounding Comparableldtwgs, and (c) routine repair
maintenance of the load bearing and exterior waflghe Buildings, including, without limitation, gnpainting, sealing, patching
waterproofing of such walls, in a condition readagaonsistent with Comparable Buildings.

~
C
~
c

7.2.2 Landlord, at its own cost and expense ggikx@s expressly provided in this Lease to theraont including i
Section 4.2.2and_Section 7.2.3 agrees to repair and maintain the structuraiiquus of the roof (specifically excluding the ragdverings), th
foundation, the footings, the floor slab and thaddearing walls and exterior walls of the Buildin@xcluding any glass and any rou
maintenance, such as painting, sealing, patchingveaterproofing of such walls, which maintenancerkwvshall be included in Landlorgl’
Repair Obligations and recoverable as a Direct Bs@g (collectively, the ‘Base Building ") in a condition reasonably consistent \
Comparable Buildings.

7.2.3 Notwithstanding_Section 10telow, to the extent any such maintenance, repaireplacement described in t
Section 7.2is made necessary by the negligence or willful prsiuct of Tenant or any Tenant Party, Tenant shayl to Landlord th
reasonable cost of such work, including a percentdghe cost thereof (not to exceed 10%) sufficterreimburse Landlord for all overhe
general conditions, fees and other costs or exgesmsging from Landlord involvement with such repairs and replacemeritsctly (and nc
as a Direct Expense) within ten (10) days afteeigcof an invoice therefor; provided, however,tthisuch work is covered by Landlogd’
insurance (or the insurance required to be cafrietlandlord hereunder), Tenant shall only be oldigao pay any deductible in connec
therewith.

7.3 Waiver .  Tenant hereby waives any rights under subgedtiof Section 1932 and Sections 1941 and 194BeCaliforni
Civil Code or under any similar Law.

ARTICLE 8
ADDITIONS AND ALTERATIONS

8.1 Landlord’s Consent to Alterations. Except for the Tenant Improvements (which Ishal governed by the terms of
Tenant Work Letter), Tenant may not make any imprognts, alterations, additions or changes to teeiBes or to any mechanical, plumt
or HVAC facilities or other systems serving therRiges (collectively, ‘Alterations ”) without Landlord’s prior written consent, which cons
shall be requested by Tenant not less than 30 lolsfgse commencement of work (except in the everggnoémergency, in which case Tel
shall provide such advance notice of the needHerAlteration as is reasonable under the circunsegn Such Landlord consent shall nc
unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed,vigeed that it shall be deemed reasonable for Laddto withhold its consent to a
Alteration that would materially and adversely affthe Base Building or any Building System#(iverse Alterations”). Notwithstanding th
foregoing and any provisions of Section &1the contrary, Tenant shall be permitted to miakerior, cosmetic or decorative, nstructura
Alterations without Landlord prior consent, provided that such Alterationsc@st less than Two Hundred Thousand Dollars (S2ID00) pe
project in any one Building, nor, in the case of anulti-Building project, more than Five Hundred Thousaral®s ($500,000.00) in t
aggregate, (b) do not constitute Adverse Alteratibrreunder, and (c) prior to commencing any sultérations, Tenant provides Landl
with not less than ten (10) business days’ pridttem notice thereof and a copy of any governmepéaimits required for such Alterations (*
Minor Alterations ”).

8.2 Manner of Construction . Landlord may impose reasonable conditiongsteansent to any Alteration. Without limiting
foregoing, before commencing any Alteration (ottlean a Minor Alteration), Tenant shall deliver taridlord, and obtain Landlorslwritter
approval of, each of the following items (to thetest applicable): plans and specifications (inahgdiany changes thereto); name:
contractors, and, if requested by Landlord, the esmmf material subcontractors, mechanics, labaaeds materialmen; required build
permits; and evidence of the insurance requireceui@ection 8.4elow. Tenant shall perform any Alteration in a dand workmanlik
manner, using materials of a quality reasonably@ama by Landlord or comparable to existing improeats, and in conformance with
applicable Laws and the National Electrical Coda@ &mndlord’'s contractor's rules and regulationsacted hereto agxhibit B-3 (“
Landlord’s Construction Rules ”). Without limiting the foregoing, if, as a reswf Tenants performance of any Alteration, Landlord becao
required under
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applicable Law to perform any inspection or give awotice relating to the Premises or such Altergtior to ensure that such Alteratiol
performed in any particular manner, Tenant shathgly with such requirement on Landlosdbehalf and promptly thereafter provide Land
with reasonable documentation of such complianeaait shall ensure that no Alteration impairs aoiydihg Systems or Landlord’ability tc
perform its obligations hereunder. Landlord mayiténdiscretion, require Tenant to obtain a liex @ompletion bond, or to provide alterr
form of security or evidence of the ability to pagasonably satisfactory to Landlord in an amoulffficdent to ensure the liefree completio
of the work and, as appropriate, naming Landloré @®ebligee. Before commencing any Alteration (exceptMinor Alterations), Tena
shall meet with Landlord to discuss Landlardiesign parameters and any code compliance igdpes. completion of any Alteration (exc
for Minor Alterations), Tenant shall cause a NotideCompletion to be recorded in the office of tkeorder of the county in which the Pro
is located in accordance with Section 3093 of thel Code of the State of California or any sucaesisaw. Tenant shall deliver to Landl
reproducible copies of the “as builffawings of each Alteration (in CAD format, if resgied by Landlord), as well as all related goveimtad
permits, approvals and other documents reasonaflyested by Landlord.

8.3 Payment for Alterations . For any Alteration, Tenant shall pay Landlordthin ten (10) days following dema
(a) Landlord’s reasonable out-of-pocket expensesried in reviewing such work; and (b) except foindt Alterations, a fee for Landlorgl’
oversight and coordination of such work equal t6%.0f its cost. Tenant shall, to the extent realyneequired by Landlord, conditi
payment to its contractors for any Alterations upeceipt of final lien releases and waivers (orhsather alternative protection fr
mechanics’ liens as shall be reasonably acceptatlandlord).

8.4 Construction Insurance . Tenant shall carry “Builder’s All Riskihsurance in an amount approved by Landlord cog
the construction of any Alteration (exclusive ofridr Alterations). All Alterations shall be insurédy Tenant pursuant to Article lifielown
immediately upon completion thereof.

8.5 Landlord’s Property . All improvements in and to the Premises, idaolg any Tenant Improvements and Alterations,
become the property of Landlord upon installatiod a&ithout compensation to Tenant (subject to T€satght to use and depreciate [to
extent paid for by Tenant] the same during the e€Bexrm), except that Tenant may remove any Tesdrbperty that Tenant can substan
to Landlord have not been paid for with the Allowarprovided to Tenant by Landlord, provided thatdrg repairs any damage caused by
removal and returns the affected portion of thenfses to, at Tenarst’election either (a) the configuration shown e Approved Constructic
Drawings or (b) a ‘Standard Office/R&D Configuration ", which, for purposes of this Lease, means a awifing openeffice environmer
with materials and finishes consistent, as readgrddtermined by Landlord, with the general offiogprovements located in the remainde
the Building or, if there are no general office toypements located in the remainder of the Buildithgn such materials and finishes mus
consistent with the general office improvementsated in other buildings in the Project. Notwithstang the foregoing, unless otherw
instructed by Landlord in writing before the expioa or earlier termination of this Lease, Tendmlk at its expense, (a) remove any Te
Specialized Improvements and Alterations (othentidterations which Landlord has previously agraedwriting may be surrendere
(b) repair any damage to the Buildings or othertipps of the Project caused by such removal, apdegtore the affected portion of
Buildings to its condition existing before the mition of such Tenant Specialized Improvementsumh Alterations; provided, however, tl
except to the extent any Lines are shown as patteoffenant Improvements on the Approved Space &tached hereto d&xhibit B -2 (the
removal of which shall be governed by Section 3®@@@w), Tenant shall have no obligation to remomg af the Tenant Improvements shc
on such Approved Space Plan; and provided, furtthext with respect to any Tenant Specialized Impnognts installed in the Premi
pursuant to the Tenant Work Letter, Tenant shatore the affected portion of the Premises to aadgtal Office/R&D Configuration.
Tenant’s request for Landloslapproval of any proposed Alterations containecuest (or if at any other time Tenant requests) ltndlorc
identify any portion of such Alterations that Laod will require Tenant to remove as provided abdhen Landlord will, at the time
approves such Alterations, or within 30 days aftiey other request, identify such portion of theeAdtions, if any, that Landlord will requ
Tenant to so remove. If Tenant fails to comple® ttmoval, repair or restoration required by thesti®n 8.5before the expiration or earl
termination of this Lease, (i) Landlord may do swlanay charge the reasonable cost thereof to Ternadt (ii) for purposes ohrticle 1€
below, Tenant shall be deemed to be in holdoveainyf affected portion of the Premises without Lardi® consent for the reasonable t
required for Landlord to complete such work. Withbenitation on other obligations of Tenant whialrgive the expiration of the Lease Te
the obligations of Tenant contained in this Sec8dishall survive the expiration of the Lease Termmy @arlier termination of this Lease.
used in this Lease, Tenant Specialized Improvements mean any modifications to the Tenant Improvemesfiiswn onExhibit B -2 or any
Alterations that are not normal and customary garafice improvements consistent with a Standafiic® R&D Configuration. Landlord ar
Tenant agree that, without limitation, if install@tie following Alterations will constitute TenaBfpecialized Improvements: any specialt
supplemental Building Systems or other equipmerfaoiiities relating to the use of the Premisesgarposes other than general office
including any equipment or facilities serving agah room” or laboratory space; internal stairwells;
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raised floors; meeting rooms (other than a custgnmaumber of conference rooms of customary sizegsssbom facilities; kitchens &
cafeterias (as distinguished from customary kitelienareas); and any areas requiring floor reiefment or enhanced systems requiren
(including library, file or computer rooms if thénave any such requirements).

8.6 Tenant Work Letter . Except as expressly provided in Section 8tove, this_Article 8shall not apply to any Ten:
Improvements constructed pursuant to the TenankWeitter.

ARTICLE 9
COVENANT AGAINST LIENS

Subject to Landlord obligation to fund the Allowance in accordancéhvthis Lease, Tenant shall keep the Premisesfiose any
liens or encumbrances arising out of any work peréal, materials furnished or obligations incurrgdob on behalf of Tenant or any Ten
Party (exclusive of Landlord’ Work). Tenant shall give Landlord written notiaeleast 20 days before commencing any such worthe
Premises (or such additional time as may be necgessaler applicable Laws) to afford Landlord thepogunity of posting and recordi
appropriate notices of namsponsibility. Tenant shall remove any such lieemcumbrance by bond or otherwise within 10 bussirdays aft:
notice by Landlord, and if Tenant fails to do s@nlord may pay the amount necessary to remove Keichor encumbrance, withc
responsibility for investigating the validity thefe The amount so paid by Landlord shall be reisbdrby Tenant, as Additional Rent, u
demand, without limiting other remedies availalld.andlord under this Lease. Nothing in this Lesisall authorize Tenant to cause or pe
any lien or encumbrance to affect Landlardhterest in the Project, and any lien or encumigacreated by, through or under Tenant
attach to Tenant'’s interest only.

ARTICLE 10
INDEMNIFICATION; INSURANCE

10.1  Indemnification and Waiver .

10.1.1 Tenant agrees that Landlord, its partnersnbers and Security Holders (defined_in Article HeBow), and the
respective partners, members, directors, officagents, employees and independent contractorsudiimg Landlord, collectively, the
Landlord Parties ") shall not be liable for, and are hereby releasenhfany responsibility for, any damage to persoproperty (or resultin
from the loss of use thereof) that is sustained@dyant or any party claiming by, through or undendnt, including any such damage cause
any active or passive act, omission or neglectngflaandlord Party or by any act or omission for gbhliability without fault or strict liabilit
may be imposed, except only, (a) to the extent slashage is caused by the negligence or willful orskict of any Landlord Party or b
breach of Landlord obligations hereunder, whether occurring befdoeing, or after the expiration of the Lease Teaml, in any such eve
is not covered by (e.g., exceeding the coveragisiirthe insurance required to be carried by Tenader Section 10.8r (b) to the extent su
limitation on liability is prohibited by applicableaws. Nothing in this Section 10shall limit the provisions of Section 10d¥ Article 21
below.

10.1.2 Tenant shall indemnify, defend, protectd anld harmless the Landlord Parties from any @bians, losses, clain
actions, liabilities, penalties, damages, costs exknses (including reasonable attorneys’ anduttamgs’ fees and expenses) ¢laims )
suffered or imposed upon or asserted against anglaed Party in connection with or arising from @ajy cause in, on or about the Prerr
(including a slip and fall) covered (or requiredite covered) by the insurance required of Tenadeu®ection 10.3 (b) the negligence
willful misconduct of Tenant or of any person claign by, through or under Tenant, or any of theimmbers, partners, officers, contract
agents, employees, invitees or licensees (eachlemant Party ” and, collectively, “Tenant Parties”), or (c) any breach by Tenant of :
representation, covenant or other term containdtlinLease, whether occurring before, during, fterahe expiration of the Lease Term. "
foregoing indemnification shall apply regardlessaafy active or passive negligence of the Landladi® and regardless of whether liab
without fault or strict liability may be imposed ap the Landlord Parties; provided, however, thatahg's obligations under this Section s
be inapplicable (i) to the extent such Claims afigen the negligence or willful misconduct of anwndlord Party or from a breach
Landlord’s obligations hereunder and, in any such eventpareovered by (e.g., exceeding the coveragedjntiite insurance required to
carried by Tenant hereunder or (ii) to the exteichsobligations are prohibited by applicable Laws.

10.1.3 Landlord shall indemnify, defend, protent @hold harmless Tenant and the other Tenant Bdirtien any Claim
suffered or imposed upon or asserted against Tesrasitich Tenant Party to the extent arising in esotion with or from the negligence
willful misconduct of Landlord or other Landlord laor from a breach of Landlorsl'obligations hereunder, whether occurring befdoeing
or after the expiration of the Lease Term and iy such event, are not covered either by (e.geeding
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the coverage limits) the insurance required todyeied by Tenant hereunder or otherwise covere@idmants indemnity obligations set forth
Section 10.1.2bove.

10.1.4 The provisions of this Section 18Hall survive the expiration or sooner terminatidrthis Lease with respect to ¢
Claim relating to any event or condition occurrorgexisting before such expiration or termination.

10.2 Tenant's Compliance With Landlord’s Fire and Casualty Insurance. Tenant, at its expense, shall comply witt
insurance company requirements pertaining to tieeafighe Premises. If Tenagttonduct or use of the Premises causes any ieciedhe
premium for such insurance policies, Tenant stathburse Landlord for such increase. Tenant, aiense, shall comply with all rules i
requirements of the American Insurance Associatiwh any similar body; provided, however, that three§oing shall not release Landlord fi
its obligation to perform the Landlord’s Work oryaof Landlord’s Repair Obligations.

10.3 Tenants Insurance. Tenant shall maintain the following coveragethe following amounts.

10.3.1 Commercial General Liability Insurance cawgrthe insured against claims of bodily injuryrgmnal injury an
property damage (including loss of use thereof§iagi out of Tenan$ operations, and contractual liabilities (coverthg performance |
Tenant of its indemnity agreements), including ad@r Form endorsement covering the insuring promssiof this Lease and Tenant’
indemnity obligations under Section 1@love, for limits of liability not less than:

Bodily Injury and $5,000,000 each occurrence
Property Damage Liabilit $5,000,000 annual aggregi
Personal Injury Liability $5,000,000 each occurrence

$5,000,000 annual aggreg:

Umbrella Liability Coverag: $5,000,000 each occurrer
$5,000,000 annual aggregate
The above limits may be met with any
combination of primary and excess polic

10.3.2 Property Insurance covering (i) all afffrniture, business and trade fixtures, officaipment, freestanding cabin
work, movable partitions, merchandise and all otteens of Tenant’s Property in or on the Premi§i@sany TenantSpecialized Improvemen
and (iii) all Alterations made to the Premises.sinsurance shall be written on a “special cau$ésss form”of physical loss or damage ba
for the full replacement cost value (subject tosoemble deductible amounts), and, except for Témdroperty, new without deduction
depreciation of the covered items, and in amourdgsmeet any cotsurance clauses of the policies of insurance,stuadl include coverage 1
damage or other loss caused by fire or other pedluding vandalism and malicious mischief, thefgter damage, including sprinkler leak
(but excluding damage from flood, tidal surge anitr events typically covered only by a “water ksion endorsement”bursting o
stoppage of pipes, and explosion.

10.3.3 Worker’'s Compensation and Emplogéiiability or other similar insurance to the extesquired by applicable Law

10.4 Form of Policies The minimum limits of insurance required to laered by Tenant shall not limit Tenasifiability. Sucl
insurance shall be issued by an insurance compgaatyhas an A.M. Best rating of not less thatVi-and shall be in form and conte
reasonably acceptable to Landlord. Term@ommercial General Liability Insurance shallr{aine the Landlord Parties and any other |
designated in writing by Landlord (Additional Insured Parties ") as additional insureds; and (b) be primary insugaas to all clain
thereunder and provide that any insurance carrieddndlord is excess and non-contributing with Treteinsurance. Landlord shall
designated as a loss payee with respect to Ter@rdfserty Insurance on the Ten&pecialized Improvements and Alterations whichraoi
Tenant’s Property (collectively, Tenant-Insured Improvements”). Tenant shall deliver to Landlord, on or before Bremises Delivery Da
and at least 15 days before the expiration datesedli certificates from Tenastinsurance company on the forms currently desg
“ACORD 25-S” (Certificate of Liability Insurancend “ACORD 28" Evidence of Commercial Property Insurance) or tpgwalent. Attache
to the ACORD 255 (or equivalent) there shall be an endorsementntathe Additional Insured Parties as additionalireds, and attachec
the ACORD 28 (or equivalent) there shall be an eseloent designating Landlord as a loss payee e#therct to Tenarg’Property Insuran
on any Tenant-Insured Improvements, and each sudbrgement shall be binding on Tenant’s insurameepany. Upon Landlord’ reques
Tenant shall deliver to Landlord, in lieu of sudrtdicates, copies of the policies of insuranoguieed to be carried under Section 18@wing
that the Additional Insured
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Parties are named as additional insureds and tadlard is designated as a loss payee with regpetenants Property Insurance on ¢
Tenantinsured Improvements. If Tenant fails to delivectsyolicies or certificates, then Landlord mayitatoption, procure such policies
the account of Tenant, in which event Tenant gy}l Landlord the cost thereof within five (5) dafter written demand.

10.5 Subrogation. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in thesase, each party waives, and shall cause itsanea carrie
to waive, any right of recovery against the othartyy any of its (direct or indirect) owners, oryasf their respective beneficiaries, trust
officers, directors, employees or agents for arsg lof or damage to property which loss or damagerisif the insurance required hereur
had been carried, would have been) covered byanser For purposes of this Section 10y, (a) any deductible with respect to a party’
insurance shall be deemed covered by, and recdeebngibsuch party under, valid and collectable peticof insurance, and (b) any contra
retained by Landlord to install, maintain or moniédfire or security alarm for the Buildings shiadl deemed an agent of Landlord.

10.6 Additional Insurance Obligations . Tenant shall carry and maintain during the Lekesan, at its expense, the amount
the insurance required to be carried by Tenant wthde Article 10, and such other types and amounts of insurancericgvthe Premises a
Tenants operations therein, as may be reasonably requbgteéandlord, but not in excess of the amounts tygpés of insurance then be
required by landlords of buildings comparable td anthe vicinity of the Buildings.

10.7 Landlord’s Insurance. Subject to reimbursement as an Expense in aacoedaith the provisions of Article Hereof
Landlord shall procure and maintain in effect trglaut the Lease Term commercial general liabiligurance, property insurance and/or
other types of insurance as are normally carrieddagonably prudent owners of commercial propedigsstantially similar to, and in t
vicinity of, the Project. Such coverages shallieluch amounts, from such companies and on sueh tihms and conditions as Landlord 1
from time to time reasonably determine, and Lardiksnall have the right, but not the obligationctange, cancel, decrease or increast
insurance coverages in respect of the Building, adftitional forms of insurance as Landlord sha#rdereasonably necessary, and/or ol
umbrella or other policies covering both the Builgliand other assets owned by or associated withlaahor its affiliates, in which event t
cost thereof shall be equitably allocated; provjdemivever, that Landlord shall, at all times durthg Lease Term, maintaispecial causes
loss” (or similar) property insurance coverage on the Basifding in the amount of the full replacementualthereof as reasonably estimi
by Landlord (without deduction for depreciatiom)pgect to reasonable deductible amountkgfidlord’s Casualty Policy "), and loss of ren
coverage for a period of not less than twelve (hahths.

ARTICLE 11
DAMAGE AND DESTRUCTION

11.1  Completion Estimate; Termination Rights.

11.1.1 Tenant shall promptly notify Landlord ofyadamage to the Premises resulting from any firetber casualty (“

Casualty ") of which Tenant is aware (Tenant’s Casualty Notice”). With reasonable promptness after discovering theu@lsy, Landlor
shall provide Tenant with written notice (th&Cbmpletion Estimate”) stating the reasonable estimate by an independeimtect selected |
Landlord with the approval of Tenant, which shait be unreasonably withheld or delayed, of the Bgtevhich it is reasonably possible us
standard working methods (without the payment arime or other premiums), to substantially compléie Landlord Casualty Repairs (the “
Landlord Restoration Date”) and the date by which it is reasonably possibleremant to substantially complete any Tenant Cas&dpair.
(the “ Final Restoration Date”, and the difference between the Landlord Restorddate and the Final Restoration Date is hereinrmedetc
as “Tenant’s Estimated Restoration Period’). As used herein, (A) Tenant Casualty Repairs” means the following, which work shall
performed by Tenant in accordance with the procesifor Alterations set forth in Article & this Lease: (i) if Tenant so elects, the rejpaic
restoration of any Tenant Specialized Improvememt#\lterations made to the Premises by Tenant pidothe date of the Casualty;
(ii) subject to Landlords rights pursuant to clause (B) below, if Tenarettd not to repair or restore any such Tenant Sfissil Improvemen
or Alterations, then Tenant Casualty Repairs shadlude repair and restoration of the affected ipartof the Premises to a Stanc
Office/R&D Configuration; and (B) ‘Landlord Casualty Repairs” means the repair and restoration of the Premiaekjding any damag
Building and/or Exterior Areas, the Front Entramgerk (as defined in_Section 4.102 the Tenant Work Letter) and the Tenant Improvets
performed pursuant to the Tenant Work Letter todbedition required by Section 11 ther than the Tenant Casualty Repairs; prov
however, that if Tenant elects not to repair otaesany Tenant Specialized Improvements or Alienat pursuant to clause (A) above, t
Landlord Casualty Repairs shall, at Landlsr@lection, include the repair and restoration f auch Tenant Specialized Improvement
Alterations, or the repair and restoration of tffecied portion of the Premises to a Standard &f&D Configuration.
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11.1.2 If the Completion Estimate indicates ttmgt Landlord Casualty Repairs and Tenant CasualpaiRe (together, the “
Required Casualty Repairs”) cannot be “substantially completed” (i.e., completed with the exception of “Punchtliitems”, as defined i
Exhibit B ) within one (1) year after the date of Tenant's@dty Notice (“Substantial Destruction”) (or, if the Casualty occurs during
last 12 months of the Lease TermHBhd of Term Casualty "], and the Completion Estimate indicates that the ReduCasualty Repai
cannot be substantially completed within the pewbdime beginning on the date of the Casualty hading a duration equal to 20% of
balance of the Term remaining on such date), tligereparty may terminate this Lease in its eniret partially with respect only to a
affected Building for which such Required Casud®tgpairs cannot be substantially completed withia () year after the date of Tenant’
Casualty Notice (or, in the case of an End of T@asualty, within such shorter period described ahaas the case may be; provided, how:
that if Landlord terminates this Lease pursuarthtoforegoing as a result of an End of Term Cagub#indlord may only terminate this Le.
with respect to any affected Building for which tRequired Casualty Repairs cannot be substantialigpleted within the period of tir
beginning on the date of the Casualty and havirduration equal to 20% of the balance of the Termaiging on such date. Any st
termination shall be delivered within 120 days raftelivery of the Completion Estimate to Landlomtarenant (or, in the case of an En
Term Casualty, within twenty (20) days after detivef the Completion Estimate to Landlord and Teéhand shall be effective on the late
60 days after the date of such termination noticeuch longer time as is reasonably required farahé to vacate the terminated Buildin
with due diligence, but subject to Force Majeureitaelates to Tenarg’ ability to surrender possession of the termin&edding(s) ir
accordance with Article 1Bbelow, not later than 90 days after the date of damomination notice.

11.1.3 If the Lease is not terminated by Landlmrdenant pursuant to Section 11.11ut (A) Landlord does not substantii
complete the Landlord Casualty Repairs on or betfloeeOutside Landlord Restoration Date (defineawgl then, provided that the Casu
was not caused by the negligence or intentionateniduct of Tenant or any Tenant Party, Tenant neamihate this Lease by notifyi
Landlord prior to the substantial completion of ttendlord Casualty Repairs. As used herei@utside Landlord Restoration Date” mean
the date occurring ninety (90) days after the lafefa) the expiration of the time set forth in tBempletion Estimate for Landlord Casu.
Repairs, or (b) the date occurring one (1) yeardfie date of Tenast'‘Casualty Notice (less the number of days seh fiorthe Completio
Estimate as the Estimated TenarRestoration Period); provided, however, that@iuside Landlord Restoration Date shall be extertdete
extent any delay in the substantial completionhef tandlord Casualty Repairs is caused by (x) Tesdwreach of its obligations under 1
Lease, which is not corrected within one (1) bussngay following delivery of email notice of suctesich to Tenant, (y) Tenastfequest for
change in any of the Landlord Casualty Repairs (gugh change being subject to Landlsrdpproval in its reasonable discretion an
approved, Tenarg’ payment of any net increase in the cost of thedload Casualty Repairs as a consequence of suahgel, an
(2) interference by Tenant or any Tenant Party withperformance of such Landlord Casualty Repeliish continues for one (1) business
after delivery of email notice to Tenant. Tenanalklassign to Landlord (or to any party designavgdLandlord) all insurance and ot
proceeds payable to Tenant under Tenant's Propestyrance pursuant to Section 1@Bove and, if applicable, any BuilderAll Risk
insurance required under Section 8bbve or the Tenant Work Letter, with respect todlard Casualty Repairs.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Landlord determsnin good faith that it will be unable to subsi@it complete the Landlo
Casualty Repairs with respect to any Building orbefore the Outside Landlord Restoration Date, leanddmay cease its performance of
Landlord Casualty Repairs and notify Tenant (thRestoration Date Extension Notic€) of such fact, which Restoration Date Exten
Notice shall set forth the date on which Landlaedsonably believes such substantial completioheiandlord Casualty Repairs will occ
Upon receiving the Restoration Date Extension Noticenant may terminate this Lease in its entioetgartially as provided iection 11.1.
above with respect to the Building(s) for which Héord has determined that it will be unable to sabsgally complete the Landlord Casui
Repairs on or before the Outside Landlord Reswmmébate, by notifying Landlord within ten (10) busss days after receiving the Restore
Date Extension Notice. If Tenant does not termirhi® Lease within such ten (10) business day fdetlee Outside Landlord Restoration C
automatically shall be amended to be the dateostt in the Restoration Date Extension Notice.

11.1.4 In addition to the foregoing, Landlord nmayminate this Lease in its entirety, if the readup expected cost of the Landl
Casualty Repairs (thelandlord’s Expected Repair Cost”) exceeds the Available Casualty Proceeds, asne@fbelow (herein a Shortfall
"). As used herein Available Casualty Proceeds means the net amount of the following: (a) thegereds of Landlord’ Casualty Policy ai
the proceeds of any Builder’s All Risk insurancquieed under Section 8above or the Tenant Work Letter, pii§ if Landlord fails to carry
Landlord’s Casualty Policy in accordance with this Lease, floceeds that would have been received by Lashdiad Landlord proper
carried such policy or policies, pl{s) if Tenant fails to carry Builder’s All Risk insance required under Section 8lbve or the Tenant Wc
Letter, such amounts as would be covered by sutihypand as are received by Landlord from Tenahis jfd) any damages received
Landlord from any third party on account of damé&mthe Premises or the Tenant Improvements (herginthe amounts specified in
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subparts (a), (b) and (c) of this sentence, tlasualty Receipts’), plus (e) any applicable deductibles (other than dedledikvith respect -
earthquake damage), pl@fs in the case of an earthquake, any earthquallaalibles that Tenant is required to pay pursuau8dction 4.2.2(m)
(1) (herein, with the amount specified in subpart fehts sentence, theDeductibles”) plus (g) five percent (5%) of the insurable value of
Premises (“Landlord’s Casualty Responsibility "), less (h) the amount of any Casualty Receipts received.daydlord, which a Securi
Holder is permitted to apply under the terms ohigseements with Landlord and, if applicable, witmant, and which the Security Holder ¢
apply, to pay any mortgage debt (th&é&curity Holder Application Amount ”). Notwithstanding the foregoing, any notice of teratian o
this Lease pursuant to the preceding sentenc&feftfall Termination Notice ”) shall set forth the amount of the Shortfall, CaguReceipts
Deductibles (with earthquake separately specifiedpdlord’s Casualty Responsibility, and the Security Holdpplication Amount, and t
ineffective if (x) Tenant, within 20 business dafter receiving such Shortfall Termination Notioetifies Landlord that Tenant agrees to
and provides Landlord with evidence reasonablysfatiory to Landlord of Tenamst’ability to pay, the Shortfall. If any Shortfalefminatior
Notice becomes ineffective because Tenant agreesiiimg to pay the Shortfall and this Lease is otiierwise terminated pursuant to
Section 11.1, then (i) Tenant, within three (3) business ddysrd.andlords request (which shall not be made more frequehtip once pt
calendar month), shall deliver to Landlord, as Aiddial Rent, in addition to any amounts requiredb® delivered to Landlord unc
Section 11.2 cash in the amount of that portion of the Shdrtfhich is equal to (A) the total cost of the Lamdl Casualty Repairs incurred
Landlord to date of such request, multiplied byeafion, the numerator of which is the Shortfall @dhe denominator of which is the Landlard’
Expected Repair Cost, less (B) the total amourthefpayments previously made by Tenant to Landpanduant to this sentence and (i
Landlord’s Expected Repair Cost is changed to reflect tineahcost of the Landlord Casualty Repairs, them $ihortfall and the amoul
payable pursuant to this sentence shall be adjesfeitably.

11.1.5 Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the damagnstitutes Substantial Destruction of one or nRugdings, but there
at least one Building that does not sustain Suliatabestruction, then Tenant shall have the righbtverride Landlord election to termina
pursuant to this Section 11.1b§ giving written notice to Landlord within thirt{80) days after receipt of LandloedCasualty Terminatic
Notice. In such event, this Lease shall be deeraadinated only with respect to the Building or Blirigs that have sustained Substa
Destruction and this Lease shall remain in fullcéorand effect with respect to any remaining Buddinin such event, the Rent shal
equitably abated based on the ratio that the rentajuare footage of the remaining Buildings béatbe total rentable square footage of &
the Buildings prior to the casualty.

11.1.6 In the event of any termination by LandlordTenant pursuant to this Article, neither pastyll have any obligatio
to the other under this Lease, (a) except withaesip any Building(s) for which this Lease is tetminated, (b) except for obligations aris
before such termination or obligations that suniive expiration or earlier termination of this Leaand (c) except that Tenant shall assit
Landlord (or to any party designated by Landlonfliresurance proceeds payable to Tenant under Tenaroperty insurance required ur
Section 10.3above (and, if applicable, any Builder's All Risksurance required under_Section 8@bve or the Tenant Work Letter) w
respect to any Tenant Specialized ImprovementsAdtiedations; provided, however, that, with respecany Tenant Specialized Improvem:
that Tenant can substantiate to Landlord have een lpaid for with the Allowance provided to TenbaytLandlord, Tenant shall be requiret
assign to Landlord only such portion of the proseed shall be necessary to restore the affectetibparf the Premises to a Stanc
Office/R&D Configuration.

11.2  Repair and Restoration. So long as this Lease is not terminated putsteaSection 11.hbove, Landlord shall promp
and diligently perform the Landlord Casualty Repasubject to reasonable delays for insurance i or other events of Force Majeure
defined in_Section 30.1p Such repair and restoration shall be to suhbisianthe same condition that existed before theu@ity, except f
any modifications required by Law and except foy arodifications to the Exterior Areas that are ceebly deemed desirable by Landlord,
consistent with the character of the Project, amaiat materially impair access to any of the Buifghi; provided, however, that, unless reqt
by Law, such modifications shall be subject to Telsapproval, which approval shall not be unreasgnaiithheld, conditioned or delayed
this Lease is not terminated pursuant to Sectioh ddove, then (a) if the Landlord Casualty Repaictuie the Alterations, Tenant Speciali
Improvements and/or repair and restoration of ffexted portion of the Premises to a Standard &fR&D Configuration, Tenant shall ass
to Landlord (or to any party designated by Landialil insurance proceeds applicable to such Ladd@asualty Repairs that are payabl
Tenant under Tenant's insurance required undeiid®e8t4, Section 10.3r the Tenant Work Letter; and (b) if the estimatedt of repairin
and restoring such improvements exceeds the amafunsurance proceeds received by Landlord fromahés insurance carrier, Landlc
shall not be required to spend more than the anmiusuch proceeds, provided that the foregoingl stwdlrelieve Tenant from the obligatior
carry the property insurance required to be carigd enant pursuant to Section 10.8l®bve and any Buildes’All Risk insurance requir
under Section 8.4bove or the Tenant Work Letter, nor shall the
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foregoing limit Tenant’s liability if Tenant fail®d perform such obligation. If this Lease is notimated pursuant to Section 1hhove, thel
following substantial completion of such LandlordgDalty Repairs, Tenant, at its expense and inrdanoe with_Sections 8.28.3 and 8.4
above, shall perform the Tenant Casualty Repan®yiged, however, that if the estimated cost of Tlemant Casualty Repairs exceeds
amount of insurance proceeds received by Tenamt Trenants insurance carrier, Tenant shall not be requivespend more than the amour
such proceeds, provided that the foregoing shalfelgeve Tenant from the obligation to carry thegerty insurance required to be carrie
Tenant pursuant to Section 10.3f20ve and any Builder’'s All Risk insurance requinedier Section 8.4bove or the Tenant Work Letter,
shall the foregoing limit Tenard’liability if Tenant fails to perform such obligan. If this Lease terminates with respect to anyidngs or
account of a Casualty, then, except as otherwipeessly to be assigned to Landlord (or to any pdeyignated by Landlord) in this Lee
Tenant shall be entitled to retain all insuranaecpeds attributable to damage to the Tesantbperty and otherwise payable to Tenant (
Tenant'’s insurance required under Section, &dction 10.®r the Tenant Work Letter with respect to such @gu

11.3 Rent Abatement. Landlord shall not be required to repair anyndge to Tenant’ Property or be liable for a
inconvenience or annoyance to Tenant or its ingjtee for any injury to Tenarg’business, resulting from any Casualty or from i@pair o
damage resulting therefrom performed in accordamitie this Lease; provided, however, that if any @dty damages any Building or ¢
Exterior Area necessary for Tenanticcess to any Building, then, during any time, the.a result of such damage, any portion of &dBg is
untenantable for the conduct of the Permitted We#sg made of the Building or is inaccessible, Manthly Rent shall be abated in propor
to the rentable square footage of such affecteidamcessible portion of such Building. If the Lamdl Casualty Repairs exclude any Te
Specialized Improvements or Alterations (or, in évent of a Casualty occurring before the Lease @entement Date, for which Tenant s
be responsible for repair and restoration of theahe Improvements and LandlosdVork in accordance with the Tenant Work Lettdrgn
provided that Tenant is required to repair andoresthe same as provided above or in the Tenank \Wetter, Tenans right to rent abateme
under the preceding sentence shall continue umgilearlier to occur of (a) the date that Tenantu@las Repairs are completed by Ten
(b) the Final Restoration Date, or (c) the daté Trenant recommences business operations in thagkdrportion of the Premises.

11.4 Waiver of Statutory Provisions. The provisions of this Lease, including thigiéle 11, constitute an express agreen
between Landlord and Tenant with respect to anyadgnto or destruction of any part of the Premiaed,any Law, including Sections 193:
and 1933(4) of the California Civil Code, relatitg rights or obligations concerning damage or desion in the absence of an exp
agreement between the parties shall not apply.

ARTICLE 12
NONWAIVER

No provision of this Lease shall be deemed waivweeither party hereto unless it is expressly waikgduch party in writing, and
waiver of any breach of any provision hereof shalldeemed to be a waiver of any subsequent brdasich provision or any other provis
hereof. Landlords acceptance of Rent shall not be deemed to bevamat any preceding breach by Tenant of any wiow hereof, other th:
Tenant’s failure to pay the particular Rent so ate#, regardless of Landloelknowledge of such preceding breach at the timeuof
acceptance. No acceptance of a lesser amount teaRent herein stipulated shall be deemed a waiveandlord’s right to receive the fi
amount due, nor shall any endorsement or stateareahy check or payment or any letter accompangiray check or payment be deeme
accord and satisfaction, and Landlord may accegh sheck or payment without prejudice to Landlerdght to recover the full amount d
No receipt of monies by Landlord from Tenant aftex giving of any notice or after the terminationtlis Lease shall affect such notice
reinstate or alter the length of the Lease Termamants right of possession hereunder. After the serefagotice or the commencement ¢
suit, or after a final judgment for possessionhaf Premises, Landlord may receive and collect et Rue, and the payment of such Rent
not waive or affect such notice, suit or judgment.

ARTICLE 13
CONDEMNATION

If any part of the Premises is permanently takenafoy public or quagpublic use or purpose, by power of eminent domaify
private purchase in lieu thereof (&aking "), then this Lease shall terminate as to the portfche@Premises subject to the Taking, effecti
of the date possession is required to be surredderthe authority. In addition, if any part of tReemises is permanently subject to a Tal
which is so substantial that the Premises canrastoreably be used by Tenant for the operation diliness, then Tenant may terminate
Lease in its entirety or with respect to any
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Building affected by the Taking. Any such termioatiby Tenant shall be effective as of the dategexen is required to be surrendered t
authority, and Tenant shall provide written notafetermination to Landlord within 90 days after Ban first receives written notice of st
surrender date. Except as provided above in thisl&rl 3, neither party may terminate this Lease as atre$al Taking. Tenant shall not as:
any claim against Landlord or the authority for amynpensation because of any Taking and Landloatl bk entitled to the entire award
compensation; provided, however, that Tenant dieate the right to file any separate claim availabl@enant for any Taking of Tenaat’
Property or any fixtures that Tenant has the riggrteunder to remove upon the expiration hereof,fananoving expenses. If this Least
terminated pursuant to this Article 13ll Rent shall be apportioned as of the dataiohgermination. If a Taking occurs and this Leiasaot st
terminated, the Monthly Rent shall be abated, liergeriod of such Taking, in proportion to the patage of the rentable square footage ¢
Premises, if any, that is subject to (or rendemacdessible by) such Taking. Tenant hereby waives rights it might have und
Section 1265.130 of The California Code of CivibBedure.

ARTICLE 14
ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING

14.1 Transfers . Tenant shall not, without Landlogd’prior written consent, which shall not be unreaddy withheld
conditioned or delayed, assign, mortgage, pledgpothecate, encumber, permit any lien to attaclotatherwise transfer this Lease or
interest hereunder, permit any assignment or dtlesfer of this Lease or any interest hereundeogmration of law, sublet any part of
Premises, enter into any license or concessioreagget, or otherwise permit the occupancy or usengfpart of the Premises by any per:
other than Tenant and its employees and contrataih, a “Transfer ”). If Tenant desires Landlord’consent to any Transfer, Tenant ¢
provide Landlord with written notice (theTransfer Notice ") of (i) the proposed effective date of the Traasfthe “Contemplated Effective
Date "), which shall not be less than 30 days nor more i@ hdays after the effective date of the Transfetidé, and the contemplated len
of the term of the proposed Transfer, (ii) a dggimyn of the portion of the Premises to be tramsfii(the “Contemplated Transfer Spac€’),
(iii) all of the material terms of the proposed Tster and the consideration therefor, including aiation of the Transfer Premium (definec
Section 14.3elow), the name and address of the proposed agsigabtenant, licensee or other occupafrghsferee”), and a copy of ¢
existing executed and/or proposed documentatiotaipérg to the proposed Transfer, and (iv) curréméncial statements of the propo
Transferee (or, in the case of a Transfer describeBection 14.6elow, of the proposed new controlling party(iesd)tified by an office
partner or owner thereof and any other informatiasonably required by Landlord in order to evauhe proposed Transfer. Within 30 ¢
after receiving the Transfer Notice, Landlord shaltify Tenant in writing of (a) its consent to theoposed Transfer, (b) its refusal to conse
the proposed Transfer and its reasons therefdig)ats exercise of its rights under Section 1dedow. Any Transfer made without Landlogd’
prior written consent (if so required by this Sen)i shall, at Landlord’s option, be void and shatlLandlords option, constitute a Defa
(defined in_Article 19elow). Tenant shall pay Landlord a fee of $1,500@ Landlords review of any proposed Transfer, whether o
Landlord consents thereto, plus any reasonablé fegsincurred by Landlord in connection with argposed Transfer.

14.2 Landlord's Consent. Subject to_Section 14 Helow, Landlord shall not unreasonably withholdndition or delay it
consent to any proposed Transfer; and, if Landttwes not provide written notice to Tenant apprownglisapproving any proposed Tran
within 30 days after receiving a Transfer Noticentaining all of the information required by Sectibf.1 above, then, if such failure
Landlord continues for five (5) business days afteecond written demand from Tenant to Landlorgi¢lvdemand shall specifically refere
the consequences of Landlesdfailure to so respond as provided in this Segtithen the Transfer shall be deemed disapprovethoi
limiting other reasonable grounds for withholdingnsent, it shall be deemed reasonable for Landiordithhold consent to a propo:
Transfer if:

14.2.1 The proposed Transferee has a charactepotation that is not consistent with the quaditghe Project; or

14.2.2 The proposed Transferee intends to us€didemplated Transfer Space for purposes thatatrpermitted under tk
Lease; or

14.2.3 The proposed Transferee is a governmenti&y er a nonprofit organization; or

14.2.4 The proposed Transferee is not a partgagonable financial strength in light of the resiloilities to be undertaken
connection with the Transfer on the effective d#tthe Transfer Notice; or
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Notwithstanding anything else herein to the comtrdri_andlord consents to any Transfer pursuarnhise Section 14.put Tenant doe
not enter into such Transfer within six (6) monthereafter, such consent shall no longer applysamth Transfer shall not be permitted ur
Tenant again obtains Landlord’s consent theretsyant and subject to the terms of this Article Nbtwithstanding anything to the contran
this Lease, if Tenant claims that Landlord has asoeably withheld its consent under this Sectiof d4 otherwise has breached or a
unreasonably under this Article 14ts sole remedies shall be a suit for contrachaiges (subject to Article 2elow) or declaratory judgme
and an injunction for the relief sought, and Tenhateby waives all other remedies, including amghts under California Civil Col
Section 1995.310 and any other right at law ortggoi terminate this Lease. In addition, to thee@xipermitted under applicable Laws, Te!
hereby waives, on behalf of any proposed Transfenggremedies against Landlord arising out of amgasonable withholding of consent
proposed Transfer or any breach of this Article &#4cept for any right to obtain a declaratory joggt or injunction for the relief sought.

14.3 Transfer Premium.

14.3.1 If Landlord consents to a Transfer, excepotherwise provided below, Tenant shall pay todlam fifty percen
(50%) of any Transfer Premium (defined below); pded, however, that, if Tenant enters into any sagé(s) of all or any portion of the !
DeGuigne Building that is effective prior to thédaof the date Tenant first occupies such Buildmgthe conduct of its business or the sei
anniversary of the Lease Commencement Date, tligigion shall not apply to such sublease(s) andameshall be entitled to retain ¢
hundred percent (100%) of any Transfer Premiuntirglado such sublease(s) until November 30, 20Ehant agrees that the timing of |
payments under any such sublease for the 930 De€wWgilding shall be determined by Tenant and tif#enhant in good faith and not i
manner intended to minimize the Transfer Premiuilyapke to Landlord during the period following Noveen 30, 2013. As used herein, “
Transfer Premium " means (i)(a) in the case of an assignment, anyiagenagion (including payment for leasehold improesns) paid by tt
assignee in consideration of such assignment; lanid ¢he case of a sublease, license, concessiother occupancy agreement, the amou
which all rent and other consideration paid by Tmansferee to Tenant for use and occupancy of tkeniBes pursuant to such agreer
(excluding any payments by the Transferee to Teohthe fair market value for services renderedTigpant to Transferee pursuant to
Transfer documents or for TenatProperty transferred by Tenant to Transfereeoimection with such Transfer and also excluding
“Transferee Liability Payments”, as defined beldim) either such case,Tenant’s Transfer Consideration”), exceeds (ii) the sum of (x) t
Monthly Rent payable by Tenant hereunder with respethe Contemplated Transfer Space for the t#freuch agreement, plus (y) the amc
of the Recoverable Expenses (as defined belowfimgléo such Transfer; provided, however, thathia case of a sublease, license, conce
or other occupancy agreement, Tenautprovement Expenses (as defined below) reldtrany Transfer shall be amortized on a straigte
basis, without interest, over the term of such egrent. For purposes hereofTfansferee Liability Payments” means payments made by
Transferee to Tenant for repairs, replacementmpravements, or as a result of any Claims, arifiog the negligence or willful miscondi
of the Transferee or any sums paid by the Transféoe Tenant pursuant to the Transfesegidemnity obligations under the Tran:
documentation, including any environmental indemolbligations.

14.3.2 As used in this Lease, thR&coverable Expenses relating to any Transfer means, collectively, tbkkofving: (a) an'
brokerage commissions and reasonable attorneyspraridssional fees paid by Tenant in connectioh wie Transfer (Leasing Expenses);
(b) the cost of any Tenant Improvements or Alteradipaid for by Tenantife., not funded by the Allowance in the Tenant Work egtimad
specifically to ready the Premises, or any portfereof, for occupancy by the Transferee; andn(thé case of the 930 DeGuigne Building,
cost of Tenant Improvements and Alterations mad@&édayant in or for the 930 DeGuigne Building930 DeGuigne Initial Improvements”)
not funded by the Allowance in the Tenant Work éettfThe Recoverable Expenses described in claidemd (c) above for a particu
Transfer are herein referred to as tHeprovement Expenses’ and shall be amortized over the term of the Tians

14.3.3 In the case of a sublease, license, comeessi other occupancy agreement, and notwithstgntlie provisions «
Section 14.3.10 the contrary, commencing on the first day of tenth during which (a) TenastTransfer Consideration from the partic
Transfer exceeds (b) the Leasing Expenses rel&dinge Transfer, plus the then amortized amourtheflImprovement Expenses relating
such Transfer (but, in the case of any subleas¢h@f930 DeGuigne Building, not sooner than the wsdcanniversary of the Lee
Commencement Date), and continuing on the first dfagach succeeding month during the term of supieeanent, Transferee shall |
directly to Landlord fifty percent (50%) of the aomi by which (1) Tenard’ Transfer Consideration received for such monteeds (2) tt
sum of (i) the Monthly Rent payable by Tenant unitiés Lease with respect to the Contemplated TearSpace for such month, plus (ii)
amortized amount of the Improvement Expenses nglath such Transfer that are allocated to such maguius (iii) any other sums paid
Tenant to Landlord for the use and occupancy ofdbetemplated Transfer Space pursuant to this Lissich month, such as payments
Capital Repairs pursuant to Section 7.drpayments for
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Alterations to comply with Laws pursuant Section128(any such payments described in this clause (ié)reerein referred to asAdditional
Rent Payments”), but Additional Rent Payments shall exclude any spaid to Landlord pursuant to this Lease for repaieplacements
improvements, or as a result of any Claims, toekkent arising from the negligence or willful miscluct of Tenant or any Tenant Pat
(other than the Transferee, unless such sums asemably recoverable by Tenant from the Transfese@ny sums paid to Landlord purst
to Tenant’'s indemnity obligations hereunder, inghgdTenants Environmental Indemnity (except to the extenhsndemnity obligations ari:
from the acts or omissions of the Transferee awoth sums paid by Tenant are not reasonably recoleebgbTenant from the Transferee) (
such Additional Rent Payments shall be calculafesljch Additional Rent Payments also affect otbggice in the Building or Project, on a
rentable square foot or other equitable basis uthgecircumstances); provided, however, that ifftregoing formula (ignoring for this purpc
only the amortized amount of the Improvement Expshsesults in a negative number for any month,saich negative amount shall be car
over and applied to reduce the amounts owing utitdeeformula in successive months. In the case addssignment, Tenant and the assii
shall be jointly and severally liable for paymehtay Transfer Premium.

14.3.4 Upon Landlord’s request, Tenant shall previdndlord with reasonable documentation of Tersacalculation of tr
Transfer Premium. Landlord or its authorized repngatives shall have the right, at all reasonabieg, to audit the books, records and pe
of Tenant relating to a Transfer, and shall haeeripht to make copies thereof. If the Transfemioen is found to be understated, Tenant
pay the deficiency within 10 days after demand, iatide Transfer Premium is understated by mora %, Tenant shall pay Landlosdtost
of such audit.

14.4 Landlord’s Option to Recapture. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary inmstirticle 14, except in the case o
Permitted Transfer (defined in Section 1&&ow), if Tenant proposes any Transfer affecting entirety of the Premises for a term th
effective during the final twelve (12) months okthease Term, then Landlord shall have the opfiordieu of consenting to a propos
Transfer, to recapture the Premises by giving amithotice to Tenant within 30 days after receivimg Transfer Notice. Such recapture ¢
automatically terminate this Lease as of the Coptatad Effective Date.

14.5 Effect of Consent If Landlord consents to a Transfer, (i) therte and conditions of this Lease shall not be deetmdéav:
been waived or modified, (ii) such consent shatl b® deemed a consent to any further Transfer Imafteor any transferee, (iii) Tenant s
deliver to Landlord, promptly after execution, amgmal executed copy of all documentation pertagnto the Transfer in form reasone
acceptable to Landlord, (iv) Tenant shall furnigsppon Landlords request, a complete statement, certified by dapendent certified pub
accountant or Tenamst'chief financial officer, setting forth in detdlle computation of any Transfer Premium resultiognf such Transfer; a
(v) such consent shall, so long as the Transfewdees, for itself, its (direct or indirect) ownethge respective beneficiaries, trustees, offi
directors, employees or agents of the Transferdesanh Transferee owners, and its Casualty insaraarrier, any right of recovery aga
Landlord, Landlords (direct or indirect) owners, or any of the respecbeneficiaries, trustees, officers, direct@mployees or agents
Landlord and such landlord owners consistent withwaiver made by Tenant pursuant to Section 4bdve, Landlord shall waive, and s
cause its insurance carrier to waive, any such o§hecovery against the Transferee, and any ah3ferees (direct or indirect) owners, or ¢
of their respective beneficiaries, trustees, officalirectors, employees or agents. In the casndaissignment, the assignee shall assu
writing, for Landlord’s benefit, all obligations dfenant under this Lease. No Transfer, whether aiitiithout Landlords consent, shall relie
Tenant or any guarantor of this Lease from anyilitgtunder this Lease. If this Lease is guarantbgad third party, Landlord’ consent to ai
Transfer shall not be effective unless any guaraoitthis Lease also consents to such Transferriting.

14.6 Additional Transfers. For purposes of this Lease, the terifransfer ” shall also include (a) if Tenant is a closely |
professional service firm, the withdrawal (whetketuntary, involuntary or by operation of law) afuéty owners holding 25% or more of
equity interests in the entity within a 12-monttripd; and (b) in all other cases, any transactip(gs' Change of Control”) resulting in th
acquisition of a Controlling Interest (defined be)oby one or more parties, none of which, alongagrether with other parties, owne
Controlling Interest immediately before such tranige(s). As used herein, Controlling Interest ” means any direct or indirect equity
beneficial ownership interest in Tenant that camfguon its holder(s) the power to control Tenarstused in this Article 14" control ” means
with respect to any party, the direct or indirectver to direct the ordinary management and policiesuch party, whether through
ownership of voting securities, by contract or otise (but not through the ownership of voting sé@s listed on a recognized securi
exchange). Notwithstanding anything to the contriaryhis Lease, neither a Transfer nor a “Changeoftrol” shall be deemed to he
occurred as a consequence of any issuance ordrafstock in a public exchange, or in connectidtih any public financing to Tenant.
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14.7 Occurrence of Default. Any sublease, license, concession or othenpmrecy agreement entered into by Tenant shi
subordinate and subject to the provisions of théade, and if this Lease is terminated during the @& any such agreement, Landlord <
have the right to: (i) treat such agreement asellttand repossess the Contemplated Transfer $yaapy lawful means, or (ii) require t
the transferee attorn to and recognize Landloriisdandlord (or licensor, as applicable) undertsagreement. If and so long as Tenant
Default, Landlord is irrevocably authorized, as d@et's agent and attorney-faet, to direct any transferee under any such ageeéto make ¢
payments under such agreement directly to Landiatdch Landlord shall apply towards Tenantbligations under this Lease) until s
Default is cured. Such transferee shall rely on epresentation by Landlord that Tenant is in Difamithout any need for confirmati
thereof by Tenant. No collection or acceptanceentt by Landlord from any transferee shall be deemedaiver of any provision of tt
Article 14 , an approval of any transferee, or a release ofifefrom any obligation under this Lease, whenea@ruing (except for tl
obligation to make the payments so received by laady§l In no event shall Landlorsl’enforcement of any provision of this Lease adainy
transferee be deemed a waiver of Landlord’s righriforce any term of this Lease against Tenaahgrother person.

14.8 Permitted Transfers. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary iistiArticle 14, Tenant may, without Landlors!’prio
written consent pursuant to Section 14ldove, (1) permit a Change of Control to occur,s(#)let all or any portion of the Premises t
Affiliate of Tenant or assign this Lease to anytloé following (a “Permitted Transferee”): (a) an Affiliate of Tenant, (b) a successo
Tenant by merger, nobankruptcy reorganization, or consolidation, orgc3uccessor to Tenant by purchase of all or sofislig all of
Tenant’s assets or Tenant’s capital stock Pefmitted Transfer ”), provided that (i) at least 10 business days befwelransfer (or if Tena
is bound to keep the transaction confidential witBi business days after announcement of the Trandfenant notifies Landlord of su
Transfer and supplies Landlord with any documemtinformation reasonably requested by Landlordtiedathereto, including reasona
documentation that the Transfer satisfies the requénts of this Section 14.8(ii) in the case of an assignment pursuant tasgga) ¢
(c) above, the assignee executes and deliversrdld@ a commercially reasonable instrument purst@anvhich the assignee assumes
Landlord’s benefit, all of Tenarst’obligations under this Lease; (iii) in the cafamassignment pursuant to clause (b) above oClmange ¢
Control, (A) the successor entity (including Tenaiollowing a “reverse triangular mergedr other similar transaction), has a net w
(computed in accordance with generally acceptedwatng principles) immediately after the Transfieat is not less than the Net Wc
Requirement (as defined below), and (B) if Tenaafole the Transfer is a closely held professioeavise firm, at least 75% of the eqt
interests in the entity immediately after the Tfansire held by persons who held at least 75%egtuity interests in the entity one year ¢
to the date of the Transfer; (iv) except in theeca$ a Change of Control, the Transferee is qedlifio conduct business in the Stat
California immediately upon the Transfer, (v) iretbase of a Change of Control, the Tenant undet¢se immediately after the Chang
Control meets the Net Worth Requirement; (vi) angtsproposed Transfer is made in good faith andwlo¢ther in a single transaction or
series of transactions, as a subterfuge to evageliligations and restrictions relating to Transfeet forth in this Article 14 and (vii) an'
Default by Tenant under this Lease is cured coectly with the consummation of the closing of thermitted Transfer. As used herein, “
Affiliate " means, with respect to any party, a person onetiitiit controls, is under common control with, ®icontrolled by such party. F
purposes hereof, the Net Worth Requirement ” shall be deemed satisfied if, as of the date imatelji after the Transfer or Change
Control, the Tenant under this Lease meets ondefdllowing criteria: (x) a Moodyg credit rating of not less than Aa3 and a Stané:
Poor’s credit rating of not less than Afprévided that the possession of one such agenitygrsihall be sufficient if there exists no applia
rating by the other agency); or (y) a Net WortHeatst equal to the Net Worth of the Tenant immediyaprior to the Transfer or Change
Control.

ARTICLE 15

SURRENDER OF PREMISES;
REMOVAL OF PERSONAL PROPERTY AND TRADE FIXTURES

15.1 Surrender of Premises  No act or omission by any Landlord Party dutiing Lease Term, including acceptance of ke
the Premises, shall be deemed an acceptance byokdraf a surrender of the Premises unless suaniris specifically acknowledged
writing by Landlord. Upon the expiration or earltermination of this Lease, Tenant shall, subjedhe provisions of Section 8gbhove and th
Article 15, quit and surrender possession of the Premiskartdlord with all of Tenang Repair Obligations performed in accordance wit
provisions of Section 7.&bove, all of “Tenant’s Compliance Obligations” foemed in accordance with the provisions of Secf6ri below
and otherwise in the condition required by Secbr.6below (collectively, the ‘Required Repair and Surrender Condition”). Without
limiting the generality of the foregoing, upon smder of the Premises, Tenant shall, at Tesasule cost and expense, have performe
caused to be performed) the following to Landlsrdéasonable satisfaction: (a) all interior wafldshe Buildings shall, if marked or damag
be repaired to the Required Repair and SurrendediGon, (b) all carpets shall be shampooed
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and cleaned, and all floors cleaned and waxedl(byoken, marred or nonconforming acousticaliogitiles shall be replaced so as to cont
to the Required Repair and Surrender Condition, @)dhe Building Systems and lighting shall bettie Required Repair and Surrer
Condition, including any burned out or broken lighulbs or ballasts replaced as required to plaemtin the Required Surrender Condit
and, unless and to the extent such obligations tteare been assumed by Landlord pursuant to SegtioRabove, Tenant shall have cause
be performed, at Tenast'sole cost and expense, all such Building Systamkjding all HYAC equipment, to be audited byeputable an
licensed service firm reasonably acceptable to laaddo confirm that it is in the Required RepaidaSurrender Condition. If Tenant fails
surrender possession of the Premises to Landloedtéordance with this Section 15.1hen, in addition to all of Landlorsl’'other rights ar
remedies, Landlord may, but need not, perform &wired repairs, replacements and other work intarnitle Premises, and Tenant shall
Landlord the cost thereof, including a fee for Limnd's oversight and coordination of such work equall®6 of its cost, within twen
(20) days after receipt of an invoice therefor.

15.2 Removal of Property. Not later than the expiration or earlier terntio@ of this Lease, Tenant shall, without expera
Landlord, (i) cause to be removed from the Premadetems that Tenant elects to remove and is fisgchto remove and all other items 1
Tenant is required to remove under the terms ofi@e8.5, and all Lines (defined in Section 30.B8ow), except for any Lines not require:
be removed under Section 3028ow), and (ii) repair all damage to the Premigssilting from such removal. If Tenant fails to ¢ty perforn
such removal and repair, then (a) Landlord mayalarsl charge the costs thereof (including storagpsy to Tenant, and (b) for purpose
Article 16 below, Tenant shall be deemed to be in holdovemgf Building not surrendered to Landlord in the Weggd Repair and Surrent
Condition, until such removal and repair is comglédt Tenant fails to remove such property from Eiemises, or from storage, within 30 ¢
after notice from Landlord, Landlord may deem allamy part of such property to be, at Landlsrdption, either (x) conveyed to Landl
without compensation, or (y) abandoned; providedyédver, that if and so long as Tenant diligentlynatences to remove such property f
the Premises, or from storage, within such 30-dayod and thereafter diligently proceeds to congkich removal, then such 88y periol
shall be extended for an additional ten (10) bissirdays.

15.3 Survival. Without limitation on other obligations of Tenamhich survive the expiration of the Lease Terng d@bligation
of Tenant contained in this Article Ehall survive the expiration of the Lease Termror @arlier termination of this Lease.

ARTICLE 16
HOLDING OVER

If Tenant fails to surrender any Building, or portiof any Building, upon the expiration or earltermination of this Lease, st
tenancy shall be subject to all of the terms amtiitmns hereof; provided, however, that, at thecbn of Landlord, such tenancy shall t
tenancy at sufferance or a tenancy from montitmth (terminable by either party by delivery of d&ys written notice), with respect to
entirety of such unsurrendered Building(s) only ahdll not constitute a renewal hereof or an extentor any further term, and Tenant s
pay Base Rent for such unsurrendered Building(g)rmbnthly rate equal to (a) for the [*****] of shcholding over, [*****] applicable durin
the last calendar month of the Lease Term; andi{i] applicable during the last calendar montH the Lease Term (or such other rat
Landlord and Tenant may mutually agree in theie gitcretion). Nothing in this Article 1¢hall be construed as consent by Landlord tc
holding over by Tenant, and Landlord reserves itjie to require Tenant to surrender possessiohe@Premises to Landlord as provided in
Lease upon the expiration or earlier terminationhé$ Lease. The provisions of this Article 48all not be deemed to limit or waive any o
rights or remedies of Landlord provided hereintoraw. If Landlord is unable to deliver possessidithe Premises, or any portion thereof,
new tenant or to perform improvements for a nevaméras a result of Tenaatholdover in any portion of the Premises, Tenhatl de liabl
for all damages, including lost profits, that Laordl incurs as a result of the holdover.

ARTICLE 17
ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATES; FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Within 15 business days after Landlord’s writterjuest, Tenant shall execute and deliver to Lantdoptospective lenders ¢
transferees, and within 15 business days after fitenaritten request, Landlord shall execute anlivdeto Tenants prospective lenders &
transferees, a commercially reasonable estoppéficate in favor of such third parties as the resfing party may reasonably desigr
including current and prospective Security Holdsmd prospective purchasers. Such estoppel

[*****] Certain portions denoted with an asteriskahe been omitted and filed separately with the Bies and Exchan(
Commission. Confidential treatment has been reqdesith respect to the omitted portions.
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certificate may contain, without limitation, a gatent (i) that this Lease, as amended to date fidliforce and effect; (ii) that Tenant is pay
Rent on a current basis; (iii) as to the existetzehe responding party’knowledge, of any defaults by the other parghts to offset agair
Rent, or claims against the other party; (iv) af ttease Commencement Date and the Lease Expilatitey (v) of the amount of Base R
that is due and payable; (vi) of the amounts ofaf’s Estimated Direct Expenses; (vii) of the statuarof improvements or repairs require
be completed by Landlord or Tenant in the Premiaad;(viii) of the amount of any Security Depositiéor any Letter of Credit. Upon delivt
(or deemed delivery) of an estoppel certificate, thsponding party shall be estopped from asseatiogntrary fact or claim against the party
(ies) to whom such estoppel certificate is addis$at is inconsistent with the matters addressetie estoppel certificate, and such reciy
party(ies) may rely upon the statements made ih sgtoppel certificate. Upon Landlosd’equest at any time during the Lease Term, ifaf
is not a public reporting company, Tenant shalljate to Landlord, for Tenarg’current fiscal year and the two (2) precedingdiigears, it
best available financial statements and, if coasistvith Tenang normal practice, audited by an independent @adtipublic accountar
Landlord shall exercise commercially reasonablertsfto keep all such financial statements confidémrovided that Landlord may disclc
the same to existing or prospective lenders, imvespartners, purchasers or other persons redgdmaking a need to review such finan
statements who agree in writing to keep such seesrconfidential in accordance with this Section.

ARTICLE 18
SUBORDINATION

This Lease shall be subject and subordinate tgralind or underlying leases, mortgages, trust daedsother encumbrances nov
hereafter in force against the Buildings or Prgjecty loan document secured by any of the foreg@ngLoan Document”), all renewals
extensions, modifications, supplements, consobaatand replacements thereof (eachS&¢urity Agreement”), and all advances made uj
the security of such mortgages or trust deedssarifeeach case the holder of such Security Agrae(each, a ‘Security Holder ") require:
in writing that this Lease be superior thereto;vied, however, that such subordination shall neteffective with respect to any fut
Security Agreement, unless and until the Securitydelr of such Security Interest delivers a subatiim, nondisturbance and attornm:
agreement (“SNDA ") from the applicable Security Holder, which SNDA Kharovide commercially reasonable protections T@nan
comparable in all material respects to those séh fa the Initial SNDA. In the event of the enfernent by any Security Holder of any rem
under any Security Agreement or Loan Document, fieshall, attorn to the Security Holder or to spehmnson or entity and shall recognize
Security Holder or such successor in the interedteandlord under this Lease without change in tlo@ipions hereof, provided that such p
has delivered a SNDA to Tenant as provided abodeagnees not to disturb Tenantccupancy so long as Tenant timely pays the Bee
otherwise performs its obligations hereunder. Irement shall any such Security Holder or succeissmterest be liable for or bound by (i)
payment of an installment of Rent or Additional Rerhich may have been made more than thirty (39¥dzefore the due date of s
installment, (ii) any act or omission of or defajt Landlord under the Lease (but the Security Eigldr such successor, shall be subject t
continuing obligations of Landlord to the extentseng from and after such succession to the exténthe Security Holdes, or suc
successor’s, interest in the Project), or (iii) @ngdits, claims, setoffs or defenses which Tensay exist against Landlord. Landlosdnteres
herein may be assigned as security at any timeydacurity Holder. Tenant shall, within 10 dayseduest by Landlord, any Security Hol
or other successor in interest, execute such fuitteruments as such party may reasonably deerassary to evidence or confirm
subordination or superiority of this Lease to ameg8ity Agreement, and/or any such attornment unsto this Section. Tenant hereby wa
any right it may have under Law to terminate oreot¥ise adversely affect this Lease or Termabligations hereunder in the event of
foreclosure.

The “Additional Provisions” attached heretoEaghibit F are incorporated herein by this reference and raguhat hereof.
ARTICLE 19
DEFAULTS; REMEDIES

19.1 Events of Default The occurrence of any of the following shall ditoge a “Default ”:

19.1.1 Any failure by Tenant to pay any Rent wkee unless such failure is cured within five (53ibess days after writt
notice; or

19.1.2 Abandonment of the Premises by Tenantglaaridonment” is defined in Section 1951.3 of thif@aia Civil Code);
28



19.1.3 Except as otherwise provided in this Secli®.1, any failure by Tenant to observe or perform attep provisior
covenant or condition of this Lease where suchufailcontinues for 30 days after written notice frbandlord; provided that if such failt
cannot reasonably be cured within suchda@-period, Tenant shall not be deemed to be irmaWeff it diligently commences such cure wit
such period, thereafter diligently pursues sucle cand completes such cure within a reasonabledftee Landlord’s written notice; or

19.1.4 Any failure by Tenant to observe or perfdira provisions of Articles 514, 17 or 18 above where such failt
continues for more than two (2) business days aftéce from Landlord; or

19.1.5 Tenant becomes in breach of Section 3026r130.18.1.3elow.

The notice periods provided herein shall, at tleetedn of Landlord, run concurrently with any netiperiods provided by Law, a
any notice delivered in order to be entitled to omence an unlawful detainer proceeding which idertithe alleged Tenant Default s
satisfy the notice condition for a Default pursuemnthis Section.

19.2 Remedies Upon Default. Upon the occurrence of any Default, Landlohdlshave, in addition to any other reme:
available to Landlord at law or in equity (whichatitbbe cumulative and nonexclusive), the optioptosue any one or more of the follow
remedies (which shall be cumulative and nonexck)siithout any notice or demand.

19.2.1 Terminate this Lease, in which event Tesaall immediately surrender the Premises to Laxddland if Tenant fai
to do so, Landlord may, without prejudice to anlyestremedy it may have for possession or arrearageent, enter upon and take posses
of the Premises and expel or remove Tenant ando#er person who may be occupying the Premisesyprpart thereof in any mantr
permitted by Law, without being liable for prosdoator any claim or damages therefor; and Landioay recover from Tenant the following:

(@) The worth at the time of award of theaid Rent which has been earned at the time of ®uotination; plus

(b) The worth at the time of award of thecamt by which the unpaid Rent which would have beamed afte
termination until the time of award exceeds the amb@f such rental loss that Tenant proves coulet ieeen reasonably avoided; plus

(c) The worth at the time of award of theoaimt by which the unpaid Rent for the balance efltbase Term aft
the time of award exceeds the amount of such Restthat Tenant proves could be reasonably avopdes;

(d) Any other amount necessary to compenkatellord for all the detriment proximately caudmed Tenanté
failure to perform its obligations under this Leasewhich in the ordinary course of things would lbely to result therefrom, includir
unamortized brokerage commissions and advertisipgreses, and expenses of placing the Premises Refuired Surrender Condition, ; and

(e) At Landlords election, such other amounts in addition to drein of the foregoing as may be permitted f
time to time by applicable Law.

As used in Sections 19.2.1(@)d (b) above, the Yworth at the time of award " shall be computed by allowing interest at a rat
annum equal to the lesser of the following (thBefault Rate ”): (i) the Prime Rate plus five percent (5%) per annamji) the highest ra
permitted by Law. As used in Section 19.2.Hbdve, the ‘worth at the time of award” shall be computed by discounting such amount :
discount rate of the Federal Reserve Bank of Sandisco at the time of award plus 1%. As usedislthase, the termPrime Rate” mean
the prime rate (or base rate) reported in the MdRates column or section of The Wall Street Jouasabeing the base rate on corporate |
at large U.S. money center commercial banks (wheth@ot such rate has actually been charged bysaoly bank) on the first day on wh
The Wall Street Journal is published in the momdtpding the month in which the subject sums ayalga or incurred.

19.2.2 Landlord shall have the remedy described in CaligoCivil Code Section 1951.4 (lessor may contitesse in effe
after lessee breach and abandonment and recover Rent asoinescdue, if lessee has the right to sublet ogassubject only to reasona
limitations). Accordingly, if Landlord does not eteto terminate this Lease on account of any defayiTenant, Landlord may, from time
time, without terminating this Lease, enforce dlite rights and remedies under this Lease, incgdhe right to recover all Rent as it beco
due.
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19.2.3 Landlord shall at all times have the rigdntsl remedies (which shall be cumulative with eatbler and cumulative a
in addition to those rights and remedies availaiplder Sections 19.2d4nd 19.2.2 above, or any Law or other provision of this Ledasvithou
prior demand or notice except as required by apple Law or this Lease, to seek any declaratofynative or other equitable relief, ¢
specifically enforce this Lease, or restrain ooénpa violation or breach of any provision hereof.

19.3 Subleases of Tenant If Landlord elects to terminate this Leaseamcount of any Default as set forth in this Artiti,
Landlord shall have the right to (a) terminate @wplease, license, concession or other occupan®emgnt entered into by Tenant
affecting the Premises, or, in Landlord’s sole abdolute discretion, or (b) succeed to Tergimferest in such subleases, licenses, conce
or other agreements. If Landlord elects to sucteetenants interest in any such subleases, licenses, caoness other agreements, Ter
shall, as of the date of Landlosdhotice of such election, have no further righbtointerest in the Rent or other consideratioreingble
thereunder.

19.4  Efforts to Relet . Unless Landlord provides Tenant with expresiten notice to the contrary, no estry, repossessic
repair, maintenance, change, alteration, additiefetting, appointment of a receiver or other actar omission by Landlord shall (a)
construed as an election by Landlord to terminhie Lease or Tenarst'right to possession, or to accept a surrendehefPremises,
(b) operate to release Tenant from any of its aliigns hereunder. Tenant hereby waives, for Teaadtfor all those claiming by, through
under Tenant, the provisions of Section 3275 of @adifornia Civil Code and Sections 1174(c) and 4 bf the California Code of Ci
Procedure and any rights, now or hereafter existmgedeem or reinstate, by order or judgmeningf@urt or by any legal process or writ,
Lease or Tenarg'right of occupancy of the Premises after any itggition of this Lease; provided, however, that, motre than one time duri
the Lease Term, Tenant may assert its rights uswighr provisions in connection with a nomnetary Default by Tenant only, and only on
condition that (i) such Default not result in anergency situation, with an imminent threat to the or safety of any persons or mate
damage to property, or a situation that would niatgrand adversely affect the condition of anytloé Buildings, the Building Systems or
Project generally, and (ii) concurrently with assey such rights, Tenant pays all sums owing byargmpursuant to Section 19.2vth respec
to such Default.

19.5 Landlord Defaults .

19.5.1 Landlord shall not be in default hereungigess it fails to begin within 30 days after vaittnotice from Tenant,
fails to pursue with reasonable diligence thereattee cure of any failure of Landlord to meet disligations hereunder. If Landlord is
default, Tenant shall, except as otherwise spedifiqrovided in this Lease to the contrary, haights and remedies available at Law c
equity (which shall be cumulative with each othémyluding without limitation, the right to seektaal damages, declaratory, injunctive
other equitable relief, to specifically enforcesthiease, or restrain or enjoin a violation or bheaicany provision hereof.

19.5.2 Without limiting Tenant’'s other rights pided in this Lease, if Landlord is in default ofridiord’s maintenance
repair obligations under this Lease and has fdieggerform such obligations within thirty (30) dagfter written notice from Tenant (provic
that, if such default poses an immediate thregetson or property, then only such cure periog asasonable under the circumstances sh
required), then, unless Landlord has commencedsapbceeding with due diligence to complete sudnkwTenant may, if Landlord’failure
continues for three (3) business days followingeeosd written demand from Tenant to Landlord anduiy Holder (which demand sh
specifically reference Tenant’s intent to exeréisegemedies in this Section 19,50erform such work and bill Landlord for the reaable cos
thereof; provided, however, that such three (3)riass day second notice shall not be requiredifdlard’s default poses an immediate th
to person or property and if Tenant’s initial ddfenotice to Landlord specifically references Tetarintent to exercise its remedies in
Section 19.5). Landlord shall pay for the reasonable cost athswork, together with interest thereon at the DifRate from the date
Landlord’s default, within thirty (30) days after receipt wfitten demand for payment from Tenant, togethéh weasonable supporti
documentation for such costs. Any such maintenanaepair work performed by Tenant pursuant to Beéstion 19.5hall be performed
accordance with the terms and conditions set fiortBection 7.1above; provided, however, that if Landlord failstitmely respond to reque
for approval or otherwise fails to timely cooperatehe maintenance or repair work performed byar¢ras required by Section 7Atove (o
the provisions of Article &ncorporated therein), then Tenant shall be peeahitd perform such work using qualified contractehéch normall
and regularly perform similar work in comparabldiag/R&D projects, in a good and workmanlike maniaed in conformance with .
applicable Laws. Tenant’'s and Landlord’s rights abtigations under this Section 19.5[2all survive the expiration or any earlier terntior
of this Lease.

19.5.3 Notwithstanding any provision of this Leasehe contrary, Tenant hereby covenants that poidche exercise of a
remedies for a default or breach by Landlord (ekéep
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Tenant’s remedies set forth in Section 19&h@ve or Section 1916elow, which shall be governed by the express pions of those Section
Tenant shall give notice and a reasonable timaute o any Security Holder of which Tenant has bgigan notice of its name and addres:
such purpose; provided, however, that, in the cassmy emergency, Tenant shall be permitted to salah actions as are reasonably nece
and to provide the Security Holder with the reqdin®tice reasonably promptly under the circumstance

19.6  Abatement Event. Without limiting Tenants other rights provided in this Lease, if the etjirof one or more Buildings, o
material portion of one or more Buildings, is madgenantable for the conduct of a Permitted Usa thwing made of such Building
inaccessible as a result of (a) Landlgrdailure to timely perform any of its obligatiomsmder this Lease, or (b) the presence of Haza
Substances brought on the Premises by LandlordLamndlord Party or (c) the presence of Hazardousstumces referenced in the Land
Environmental Reports (defined below) (or any brdaiwn products thereof) on or about the Premises(itheiolate Environmental Laws 1
the date of this Lease or (ii) causes any govermah@uthority to determine that the Premises or @myion thereof are not reasonably suit
for the conduct of the Permitted Use then beingenafdthe Premises (such circumstances set foriteins (a), (b) or (c) above shall be an “
Abatement Event”), then Tenant shall give notice of such AbatementEte Landlord and any Security Holder of which @ehhas bee
given notice, and if such Abatement Event contirfoe$*****] the “* Abatement Eligibility Date "), then Monthly Rent shall be abated for
period beginning on the day immediately followitng tAbatement Eligibility Date and ending on the tlzat the affected Building(s) are mi
tenantable for the conduct of Tenanbusiness and accessible; provided, howeverijrttihe event of any Abatement Event described ans
(c) above, Monthly Rent shall be abated hereundér t the extent that any Business Interruptiod &xtra Expense Insurance carriec
Tenant does not cover such Monthly Rent obligat@rcover the monthly rent obligation in any preesiso which Tenant relocates its busi
operations as a result of such Abatement Evengin lAbatement Event renders less than the entamiBes untenantable for the conduct o
Permitted Uses being made of the Premises or isaite, the amount of Monthly Rent abated shalbtoeated in proportion to the percent
of the rentable square footage of the Premisesghrahdered untenantable for the conduct of Téadntsiness or inaccessible. To the exte
Abatement Event is caused by an event covered biglég 11or 130f this Lease, then the terms of such Articleot113, as the case may
shall govern Tenant's right to abate Rent and ¢h@s of this Section 194hall not be applicable thereto.

ARTICLE 20
RIGHTS RESERVED TO LANDLORD

In addition to any and all other rights reservedlaydlord hereunder, Landlord may exercise at ang &any of the following righ
respecting the operation of the Project withoutility to Tenant of any kind; provided, howeverath.andlord shall not, however, exercise
of the following rights if the same would constéw breach of any of Landloedbbligations or other covenants contained in ltieigse, or i
such manner as (a) would unreasonably interfere W&nants use of, access to, or parking at the Premisdb)anaterially increases t
obligations or decreases the rights of Tenant utidel_ease:

20.1  Preparation for Reoccupancy. To decorate, remodel, repair, alter or othervpisgpare the Premises (or any Building)
reoccupancy at any time after Tenant permanentbates the Premises (or any Building), without réfig Tenant of any obligation to p
Rent.

20.2  Use of Lockbox. To designate a lockbox collection agent for aitns of amounts due Landlord. In that case, tite d
payment of Rent or other sums shall be the datkeohgens receipt of such payment or the date of actudéctibn if payment is made in t
form of a negotiable instrument thereafter dishedoupon presentment. However, if the applicablemmmt is not payment in full for t
corresponding obligation, Landlord may reject amyment for all purposes as of the date of recaifgotual collection by mailing to Ten:
within a reasonable time after such receipt orembibn a check equal to the amount sent by Tenant.

20.3 Repairs and Alterations. To perform the repairs of Landlord required pargsuto Section 7.8r elsewhere in this Lease a
in doing so, to transport any required materiabtigh the Project, to temporarily close entrance®tber facilities in the Project, or
temporarily suspend use of Exterior Areas as resdslgmecessary for such repair work. Landlord merfqym any such repairs during ordin
business hours, except that Tenant may requirevanl in the Buildings to be done after businessriduTenant pays Landlord for overtii
and any other expenses incurred. Landlord may geonit any work on any nearby building, land, stralley or way.

[*****] Certain portions denoted with an asteriskatie been omitted and filed separately with the Btesi and Exchang
Commission. Confidential treatment has been reqdesith respect to the omitted portions.
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20.4 Other Actions . To take any other action that is reasonablmimection with the operation, maintenance or pvasen o
the Buildings and the Project and not in violatadrihis Lease.

ARTICLE 21
LANDLORD EXCULPATION

The liability of the Landlord Parties to Tenant encbr relating to this Lease, the Premises or Landch operation, manageme
leasing, repair, renovation or alteration of therRises shall be limited to an amount equal to Lenad interest in the Project or the rent, si
insurance or condemnation proceeds received bylbahah connection with the Project (andlord’s Proceeds”). Tenant shall look solely
Landlord’s interest in the Project and LandlarédProceeds thereof for the recovery of any judgroersward against any Landlord Party.
Landlord Party shall have any personal liability &my judgment or deficiency, and Tenant herebywasiand releases such personal liabilit
behalf of itself and all persons claiming by, thyghuwr under Tenant. The limitations of liabilityrgained in this Article 2khall inure to th
benefit of the Landlord Partiegresent and future partners, members, beneficjaoffigers, directors, trustees, shareholders, @ganc
employees, and their respective partners, heicgessors and assigns. Under no circumstancesastyafiresent or future partner or membe
Landlord (if Landlord is a partnership or limiteidbility company) or any trustee or beneficiarylafndlord (if Landlord or any partner
member of Landlord is a trust) have any persoidility for the performance of Landloslobligations under this Lease. Notwithstanding
contrary provision herein, no Landlord Party sheallliable for any injury or damage to, or interfegce with, Tenans business, including loss
profits, loss of rents or other revenues, lossusfifiess opportunity, loss of goodwill, or loss eéuor for any form of special or conseque
damage, in each case however occurring; providedeter, that if Landlord breaches the provisionsAdfcle 14 above, Tenans suit fo
contract damages may include loss of rents fromptioposed Transfer and other direct damages sdfteyeTenant as a result of Landlagd’
breach.

ARTICLE 22
SECURITY DEPOSIT

Concurrently with its execution and delivery ofghiease, Tenant shall deposit with Landlord theuBgcDeposit, if any, as secur
for Tenants performance of its obligations under this Le#s&enant defaults under any provision of this Lesasandlord may, at its optic
without notice to Tenant, apply such portion of Security Deposit as is required to pay any plast-Rent, cure any default by Tenan
compensate Landlord for any other loss or damageethby such default (including all Rent or othamdges due upon termination of
Lease pursuant to Section 19.2Hove). If Landlord so applies any portion of tree&ity Deposit, Tenant shall, within five (5) busss day
after written demand therefor, restore the Secyposit to its original amount, and Tenant'’s falto do so shall, at Landloslbption, be
incurable Default. The Security Deposit is not a@vance payment of Rent or measure of damages. Aapplied portion of the Secur
Deposit shall be returned to Tenant within 30 dafysr the latest to occur of (a) the expiratiorthef Lease Term, or (b) Tenamwacation ar
surrender of possession of the Premises in accoedaiith the requirements of this Lease. Landlord/ rassign the Security Deposit t
successor Landlord under this Lease and therestftdl have no further liability to Tenant for theturn of the Security Deposit. Tenant s
not be entitled to any interest on the Security @#pand Landlord shall not be required to keepSkeurity Deposit separate from its o
accounts. Tenant hereby waives the provisions ofi@e1950.7 of the California Civil Code and anther Law governing the manner
application or timing of the return of a securigpwsit. Notwithstanding the foregoing to the comntrén lieu of a cash Security Deposit, Ter
may deposit with Landlord a Letter of Credit (adimked in and pursuant to the termsk¢hibit F ).

ARTICLE 23
RESERVED

ARTICLE 24
SIGNS

24.1  Signage Rights. Subject to the terms and conditions of this deti24, Tenant may, at its sole cost and expense,
signage identifying the Original Tenant and, to éxéent permitted below, a Transferee on the exterfi any Building (“Building Signage”)
or on any Project monument flonument Sighage” and collectively the “Signage”). The graphics, materials, size, color, design, fiettg
lighting (if any), specifications and exact locatiof the Signage (collectively, theSignage Specifications) shall be subject to approval
Landlord, which shall not be unreasonably withteld
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delayed provided the same are consistent with lord® sighage standards attached heret&xdbit H (“ Signage Standards). In addition
the Signage and all Signage Specifications ther&iafl be subject to Tenastteceipt of all required governmental permits apgrovals, ar
shall be subject to all applicable Laws, the Sign&tandards and all Underlying Documents. Tenamdyeacknowledges that, notwithstanc
Landlord’s approval of the Signage and/or the Signage Spaftitins therefor, Landlord has made no representbr warranties to Ten:
with respect to the probability of obtaining sugipevals and permits. In the event Tenant doeseueative the necessary permits and appr
for the Signage, Tenant’'s and Landlardights and obligations under the remaining piiows of this Lease shall not be affected. The of
installation of the Signage, as well as all codtsl@sign and construction of such Signage and thkrocosts associated with such Sign
including, without limitation, permits, maintenanaed repair, shall be the sole responsibility afidrg. Any approved Signage shall be inst:
and removed at Tenastexpense. Tenant, at its sole expense, shall amraiali Signage in good condition and repair dutimg Term. Prior 1
the expiration or earlier termination of this LeaSenant at its sole cost shall remove all of itm8ge and repair any and all damage caus
the Buildings and/or Project (including any fadiogdiscoloration) by such Signage and/or the rehofauch Signage from the Buildir
and/or Project.

24.2  Rights Personal to Tenant; Occupancy Requirements Tenants Signage Rights are personal to, and may be sreronl
by the Original Tenant and not by any assignedgssbe or Transferee of Tenanititerest in this Lease, except that Tenant meaysfer right
to the Signage to a Permitted Assignee, provided shich Permitted Assignee occupies at least fifilscent (50%) of the rentable sqt
footage of the Premises and the name of the Pexdnitssignee is not an “Objectionable Narag that term is defined below. Notwithstanc
the foregoing, (a) Tenastrights to Monument Signage relating to a paréic@uilding, if any, may be transferred to a Transé consented
by Landlord pursuant to Articlé4 or to a Permitted Assignee, provided that sueimdferee leases and occupies at least fifty pe(66fo) o
the rentable square footage of such Building amdrthme of the Transferee is not an “Objectionalbdendl’; and (b) as to each Buildir
Tenant’s rights to Building Sighage may be transférto a Transferee consented to by Landlord putsteaArticle 140r to a Permitte
Assignee, provided that such Transferee leasesoandpies one hundred percent (100%) of the rentstpleare footage of the partict
Building and the name of the Transferee is not@hjéctionable Name”. No other assignee, subless@eamsferee of Tenat'interest in th
Lease shall have the benefit of any of Tenantsn&jg Rights. For purposes hereofObjectionable Name” means any name that
Landlord’s commercially reasonable judgment, deésrérom or adversely affects the reputation, mads#ity or value of the Project.

ARTICLE 25
COMPLIANCE WITH LAW; HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES

25.1 Compliance with Laws.

25.1.1 Tenant's Obligations. Except as expressly made the obligation of Landisder Section 25.1.2Tenant, at it
expense, shall comply with all applicable Laws tintato (a) the operation of its business at thgjet, or (b) the use, condition, configura
or occupancy of the Premises, including the BugdBystems (collectively, Tenant's Compliance Obligations”); provided, however, th
Tenants Compliance Obligations shall not include the perfance of any Alterations to the Premises to cgmagth Laws if such Alteratior
would properly be classified as a capital expemditunder GAAP or would require structural modifioas to the Building, unless st
Alterations are related to or arise out of thedaihg (“ Tenant’s Specific Us€): (i) any Alterations made by Tenant or any TenantyParthe
Premises, (ii) any Tenant Specialized Improvement§ii) the use of the Premises for purposes othan general office use. If, in ordel
comply with any such Law, Tenant must obtain oivéelany permit, certificate or other document eviding such compliance, upon req
by Landlord, Tenant shall provide a copy of sucleuwtoent to Landlord promptly after request. In addit if a change to any Building
Exterior Areas becomes required under any appkchbiv as a result of Tenant’s Specific Use, Tesa@tmpliance Obligations shall inclt
and Tenant, upon demand, shall (x) make such chang@enant cost or, (y) if Tenant so elects, pay Landloml ¢bst of making such chan
and pay Landlord a fee for Landlosdbversight and coordination of such work equall6% of its cost. The judgment of any cour
competent jurisdiction or the admission of Tenantny judicial action, regardless of whether Landlis a party thereto, that Tenant
violated (or that, because of TenanBpecific Use, a change to the Building or ExteAveas has become required under) any of
applicable Laws shall be conclusive of that factbasween Landlord and Tenant. As used hereihaWs ” means the laws, ordinanc
regulations and requirements, whether now or hereaf effect, of the United States of America, 8tate of California, the local municipal
county governing body, and any other lawful auttyohiaving jurisdiction over the Project or the pest Notwithstanding anything to f
contrary in this Lease, this provision shall noplggo any express obligation of Landlord undertf®ec?5.1.2, any failure of the Premises
be in the Required Delivery Condition on the PrewiBelivery Date, any failure of the LandlasdVork to comply with Laws or any obligati
of the parties to comply with Environmental Lawsh{gh shall be governed by
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Section 25.2elow). Landlord shall promptly undertake and cogtgl at its cost, any change to the Premises odlbatis Work required 1
correct any failure of Landlord’s Work to complyttviapplicable Law.

25.1.2 Landlord’s Obligations. Landlord shall comply with all applicable Lawdating to the Base Building, except
the extent related to or arising out of Tenant'®&@jic Use, and provided further that Landladailure to comply therewith would prohi
Tenant from obtaining or maintaining a certificaeoccupancy for the Premises, or would unreasgnabtl materially affect the safety
Tenant’'s employees or create a significant heattatd for Tenant’'s employees, or would otherwiséenelly and adversely affect Tenant’
use of or access to the Premises or the Temanst of performing its obligations under this $&aNothing contained herein, however, she
deemed to prohibit Landlord from obtaining a vaceror relying upon a grandfathered right in ordeathieve compliance with applica
Laws so long as Landlorslfailure to comply with current Applicable Lawsedonot prohibit Tenant from obtaining or maintagnan certificat
of occupancy for the Premises materially affectdafety of Tenant’'s employees or create a sigmifibaalth hazard for Tenaatemployees, |
otherwise materially and adversely affect Termngte of or access to the Premises. Landlord sbalkermitted to include in Expenses any ¢
or expenses incurred by Landlord under this Art2feto the extent not prohibited by the terms_of Sertid.2above. In addition, upc
Tenants request, Landlord shall be responsible to maka&l@rations to the Premises to comply with Ladsuch Alterations would propel
be classified as a capital expenditure under GAARauld require structural modifications to the Blings, unless such Alterations are rel:
to or arise out of Tenant’s Specific Use, subjaotwever, to the following: except to the extentleded from Expenses by Section 4.2.2(k)
Tenant shall pay to Landlord, as Additional Rent,egual monthly installments hereunder with BasatRihe portion of the cost of st
Alterations allocable to the remaining Term (inéhglany Extension Term), which portion shall beedetined by amortizing the cost of s
Alterations on a straight line basis over the uskfteithereof (as Landlord shall reasonably deteerin accordance with GAAP), together v
interest on such amortized amount calculated atetfser of (i) eight percent (8%) per annum ort(i® maximum legal rate of interest allov
by the State of California.

25.2 Hazardous Substances; Mold Conditions

25.2.1 Prohibition Against Hazardous Substances

(@) Tenant shall not cause or knowingly egligently permit any Hazardous Substances (asektfbelow) to t
brought upon, produced, treated, stored, usedhaliged or disposed of in the Project Tenant's Hazardous Substances) withoul
Landlord’s prior written consent, which Landlord may givewdthhold in its sole discretion; provided, howev#at (i) Tenant may hand
store, use or dispose of small quantities of cuatgmffice and cleaning supplies in the conducTehants business, (ii) those items disclc
in the Initial Disclosure Certificate, as defined $ection 25.2.4elow, are hereby approved by Landlord, and (i@hdlord shall nc
unreasonably withhold, condition, or delay its camso Hazardous Substance to be used in the cbafllienants business in compliance w
Applicable Law, so long as Tenant has provideddadlord assurance reasonably satisfactory to Lashdliat such Hazardous Substances
not contaminate the Premises or pose a threatroagkes to the health or safety of the occupantswtees of the Premises. Any handl
transportation, storage, treatment, disposal orofisey Hazardous Substances in or about the Rrioye€enant and other Tenant Parties !
strictly comply with all applicable Laws. Tenantaslhbe solely responsible for obtaining and commdyiwith all permits necessary for
maintenance and operation of its business, inctydiithout limitation, all permits governing theeyshandling, storage, treatment, trans
discharge and disposal of Hazardous Substanceantshall indemnify, defend and hold Landlord amel ltandlord Parties harmless from
against any Claims (including, without limitatiasiminution in value of the Project, damages for lthes or restriction on use of leasable s
or of any amenity of the Project, damages arisinghfany adverse impact on marketing of space irPtiogect, Remedial Work, and sums |
in settlement of claims) to the extent resultingniror arising out of the use, storage, treatmeatsportation, release, or disposal of
Tenant’'s Hazardous Substances in, on or from thigliBgs or the Project during the TermT&nant’s Environmental Indemnity ”).

(b) Landlord shall have the right, at anydjnbut not more than one (1) time in any calendzaryunles
(x) Landlord has reasonable cause to believe teatiit has failed to fully comply with the provissoof this_Section 25.20r (y) required b
any lender or governmental agency), to inspecPiteenises and conduct tests and investigationstesrdime whether Tenant is in complia
with the provisions of this Section 25.2The costs of all such inspections, tests andstiyations indicating a violation of this Sectiop
Tenant shall be borne solely by Tenant if Tenaii isreach or violation of its obligations understérticle 25or any subsection hereof. 1
foregoing rights granted to Landlord shall not, lever, create (i) a duty on Landlosdpart to inspect, test, investigate, monitor dreotise
observe the Premises or the activities of TenaangrTenant Party with respect to Hazardous Subsiincluding, but not limited to, Tenant’
operation, use or remediation thereof, or (ii)iliapo on the part of Landlord or any Landlord Paffigr Tenants use, storage, treatme
transportation, release, or
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disposal of any Hazardous Substances, it beingratutel that Tenant shall be solely responsibleafbliability in connection with Tenarg’
Hazardous Substances. Any such entry on the Preiimyskandlord for inspection or testing shall coynwith Article 28.

25.2.2 Landlord Notification . Within a reasonable time following Tenamknowledge of any unauthorized release, sg
discharge of Tenarg’Hazardous Substances, in, on, or about the Resniignant shall provide written notice to Landluilly describing th
event. Tenant shall also provide Landlord with pycof any document or correspondence submittedr lmndehalf of Tenant to any regulat
agency as a result of or in connection with anyhsugauthorized release, spill or discharge. Withireasonable time (not more than
(5) business days) of receipt by Tenant of any imgrmotice of violation, permit suspension or $andisciplinary measure by a governme
agency relating to Tenast’actual or alleged failure to comply with any eommental law, rule, regulation, ordinance or pérmalating tc
Tenant’s Hazardous Substances at the Premisesnflgral provide written notice to Landlord.

25.2.3 Remedial Work . If any investigation or monitoring of site conditi® or any cleamyp, containment, restoratic
removal or remediation of Tenant's Hazardous Sulogts: (collectively, ‘Remedial Work “) is required under any applicable Laws as a r
of the handling, use, storage, treatment, tranaport or disposal of any TenastHazardous Substances, then Tenant shall perforause t
be performed the Remedial Work in compliance wipipleable Laws or, if Tenant Defaults in the penfiance of such Remedial Work
Landlord’s option, Landlord may cause such Remedial Workemerformed and Tenant shall reimburse Landlordie reasonable co
thereof within thirty (30) days after demand therefAll Remedial Work performed by Tenant shallgexformed by one or more contract
selected by Tenant and approved in advance inngrlily Landlord, and under the supervision of a aliimg engineer selected by Tenant
approved in advance in writing by Landlord, whigipeovals by Landlord shall not be unreasonably étt, conditioned or delayed. All co
and expenses of such Remedial Work shall be paifielynt, including, without limitation, the reasbhaincurred charges of such contractor
(s) or the consulting engineer, and Landlord’s eeable attorneys’ and experfees and costs incurred in connection with monitpiar reviev
of such Remedial Work.

25.2.4 Hazardous Substances Disclosure CertificatePrior to executing this Lease, Tenant has comp|eteelcuted ar
delivered to Landlord a Hazardous Materials DisatesCertificate (“Initial Disclosure Certificate "), a fully completed copy of which
attached hereto @xhibit E and incorporated herein by this reference. The detegp Hazardous Substances Disclosure Certifidzad be
deemed incorporated into this Lease for all purppaad Landlord shall be entitled to rely fully e information contained therein. Ter
shall, at such times as Tenant desires to handidupe, treat, store, use, discharge or disposewfor additional Hazardous Substances
about the Premises that were not listed on thélritisclosure Certificate, complete, execute aptivdr to Landlord an updated Disclos
Certificate (each, an Updated Disclosure Certificate”) describing Tenang then current and proposed future uses of Hazar8obstanci
on or about the Premises, which Updated Disclo€aificates shall be in the same format as thadthvis set forth irExhibit E or in sucl
updated format as Landlord may reasonably requina time to time. Tenant shall deliver an Updatddcdsure Certificate to Landlord 1
less than thirty (30) days prior to the date Ternatends to commence the manufacture, treatmeef,sterage, handle, discharge or dispos
new or additional Hazardous Substances on or atheuPremises, and Landlord shall have the righapprove or disapprove such nev
additional Hazardous Substances in its reasondditeetion. Tenant shall make no use of Hazardolstances on or about the Premises e:
as described in the Initial Disclosure Certificateas otherwise approved by Landlord in writingagtordance with this Section 25.2

25.2.5 Mold .

(@) Because mold spores are present es$emieerywhere and mold can grow in almost any méisation
Tenant acknowledges the necessity of adopting afat@ng good housekeeping practices, ventilatind @igilant moisture control within tl
Premises (particularly in kitchen areas, janitodmisets, bathrooms, in and around water fountairts other plumbing facilities and fixtur
break rooms, in and around outside walls, and éhaapund HVAC systems and associated drains) ®pthvention of mold (such measures, “
Mold Prevention Practices”). Tenant will, at its sole cost and expense keep athtain the Premises in good order and conditit
accordance with the Mold Prevention Practices akth@vledges that the control of moisture, and pn&wa of mold within the Premises, .
integral to its obligations under this Lease.

(b) Tenant, at its sole cost and expensal: sh

@ Reasonably monitor the Premises forpitesence of mold and any conditions that reasonzduiyb:
expected to give rise or be attributed to mold wmgus including, but not limited to, observed osprcted instances of water dam
condensation, seepage, leaks or any other watetrpéion (from any source, internal or externalp)argrowth, mildew, repeated complaints
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of respiratory ailments or eye irritation by Terianémployees or any other occupants of the Premigeany notice from a governmer
agency of complaints regarding the indoor air dquait the Premises (theMold Conditions "); and

2 Immediately notify Landlord in writing it observes, suspects, has reason to believentoid o
Mold Conditions exist at the Premises.

In the event of suspected mold or Mold Conditiohtha Premises, Landlord may cause an inspectigdheoPremises to be conducted, du
such time as Landlord may designate, to deternfingold or Mold Conditions are present at the Prestiprovided, however that any s
inspection will be conducted in accordance withidet28.

(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contramthis Lease, Tenant shall not be responsiblegod upon reque
Landlord at its sole cost, shall take all actioesassary to investigate, identify, and remediateraald to the extent that such remediatic
necessitated by (i) any deficiency in the Requibedivery Condition as of the Premises Delivery Di® any defect or condition arising
connection with Landlord’s Work, or (iii) any cotidin arising from Landlord failure to perform any repair, replacement orriovemen
which is Landlord’s obligation to perform under gm®visions of this Lease.

25.2.6 Surrender . Tenant shall surrender the Premises to Landlorah tipe expiration or earlier termination of this ke
free of (a) mold or Mold Conditions caused or exbated by the negligent or intentional acts or @iiss of Tenant or any Tenant Parties,
(b) Tenant’s Hazardous Substances placed on, albawgar the Premises, in each case to the extguiree by Environmental Laws. Tenant’
obligations and liabilities pursuant to the prowiss of this Section 25.¢hall be in addition to any other surrender reaqnéet in this Lease a
shall survive the expiration of the Lease Termror earlier termination of this Lease.

25.2.7 Definitions . As used in this Lease, the following terms shaltib&ned as follows:

(@) “Hazardous Substances means (1) any substance or material that is indusighin the definitions ¢
“hazardous substances,” “hazardous materials,”i¢t@xbstances,” “pollutant,” “contaminant,” “hazats$ waste,” or “solid wastelh any
Environmental Law (as hereinafter defined); (2rpleum or petroleum derivatives, including crudeari any fraction thereof, all forms
natural gas, and petroleum products or by-prodoctsvaste; (3) polychlorinated biphenyls (PGB’ (4) asbestos and asbestos conta
materials (whether friable or non-friable); (5)deand lead based paint or other lead containingeniadd (whether friable or nofmiable);
(6) urea formaldehyde; (7) microbiological pollutsin(8) batteries or liquid solvents or similar sfieals; (9) radon gas; (10) mildew, funcg
mold, bacteria and/or other organic spore matenibkther or not airborne, colonizing, amplifying aherwise that is a danger to health;
(11) any additional substance, material or wastetiié presence of which on or about the Premige®duires reporting, investigation
remediation under any Environmental Laws, (ii) egusr threatens to cause a nuisance on the Preorises/ adjacent area or propert)
poses or threatens to pose a hazard to the heakhfety of persons on the Premises or any adjaaeat or property, or (iii) which, if
emanated or migrated from the Premises, could itotest trespass by a hazardous substance, oriBhvis now or is hereafter classifiec
considered to be hazardous or toxic under any Bnmiental Laws.

(b) “ Environmental Laws " means all statutes, terms, conditions, limitatiomsstrictions, standarc
prohibitions, obligations, schedules, plans andetables that are contained in or promulgated putstea any federal, state or local le
(including rules, regulations, ordinances, codedgiments, orders, decrees, contracts, permitsjlatipns, injunctions, the common law, cc
opinions, and demand or notice letters issued,remtepromulgated or approved thereunder), relatigollution or the protection of t
environment, including laws relating to emissiotischarges, releases or threatened releases ofdéasaSubstances into ambient air, sul
water, ground water or lands or otherwise relatmghe manufacture, processing, distribution, tissgtment, storage, disposal, transpo
handling of Hazardous Substances including butinoted to the: Comprehensive Environmental Respadempensation and Liability Act
1980 (CERCLA), as amended by the Superfund Amentsreard Reauthorization Act of 1986 (SARA), 42 U.0601et seq.; Solid Wast
Disposal Act, as amended by the Resource Consenvatid Recovery Act of 1976 (RCRA), 42 U.S.C. 680%eq.; Federal Water Pollutic
Control Act, 33 U.S.C. 1258t seq; Toxic Substances Control Act, 15 U.S.C. 280%eq,; Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. 7404t seq,; and the Sa
Drinking Water Act, 42 U.S.C. § 300ét seq. “ Environmental Laws ” shall include any statutory or common law that Haseloped ¢
develops in the future regarding mold, fungus, ob@logical pollutants, mildew, bacteria and/or esttorganic spore material that i
Hazardous SubstanceEhvironmental Laws " shall not include laws relating to industrial hymgeor worker safety, except to the extent
such laws address asbestos and asbestos contamaitegials (whether friable or ndriable) or lead and lead based paint or other
containing materials.
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25.3 Landlord’s Environmental Representations and Obligations

25.3.1 Tenant acknowledges receipt of [*****] (fandlord’s Environmental Reports ”). Tenant also acknowledges tl
based on the information [*****]. Landlord repressnand warrants to Tenant that, to Landlsrihowledge as of the date of this Lease
except as may be disclosed in LandlsréEnvironmental Reports, the Premises do not acorday Hazardous Substances in amoun
conditions that violate applicable Environmentalisa provided, however, that if the foregoing repraation and warranty is untrue, tl
Landlord shall not be liable to Tenant for any dgew but Landlord, at no cost to Tenant, shallgrerfsuch investigation or monitoring of ¢
conditions or Remedial Work as shall be requiredenrapplicable Environmental Laws. For purposethisf Lease, whenever the phrase “
Landlord’s knowledge” or the “knowledg@f Landlord or words of similar import are usedcg\ttshall be deemed to mean and are limited 1
current actual knowledge only of [*****] at the rties indicated only, and not any implied, imputedconstructive knowledge of st
individual(s) or of Landlord or any Landlord Pasieand without any independent investigation ouinghaving been made or any impl
duty to investigate. Furthermore, it is understaod agreed that such individual(s) shall have nsgmal liability in any manner whatsoe
hereunder or otherwise related to the transactimtemplated hereby.

25.3.2 If Landlord obtains knowledge of the prese of Hazardous Substances in, on or about #miges in violation «
applicable Environmental Laws, Landlord shall, [**}, provide written notice to Tenant, containingasonable detail, of same. Landlord ¢
also provide Tenant with copies of any documentsarespondence submitted by or on behalf of Laxdio any regulatory agency
connection with such Hazardous Substances.

25.3.3 Landlord shall indemnify, defend and hb&tmless the Tenant Parties from and against&)] that any such
Tenant Parties may incur as a result of [*****] ndged of any such Tenant Parties by a governmemigiority [*****], (b) any action
proceeding or claim (a Cost Claim ") asserted against any Tenant Parties seeking tirgespch Tenant Parties to pay [*****] and (c) ¢
actions, proceedings, investigations, damagess.cespenses or liabilities asserted by any goventeh@uthority [*****] the Premises as
the date of this Lease. Notwithstanding the foregpLandlord’s obligations under this Section 25 shall not apply to [*****] (i) to the exter
covered by [*****]  (ii) to the extent that the [***] by the negligence or willful misconduct of anyenant Party, or (iii) to the extent t
[*****] by reason of the negligence or willful misenduct of any Tenant Party. In addition, the foiagandemnity obligation shall not bind
party that acquires Landlord’s interest in the 8cbpy foreclosure or deed in lieu of foreclosure.

25.4  Survival . Tenant’'s and Landlord’s representations and abiigs under this Article 28hall survive the expiration or of 1
Lease Term or any earlier termination of this Leas@#l all Claims within the scope of this ArticBb are fully, finally, and absolutely barred
the applicable statutes of limitations.

ARTICLE 26
LATE CHARGES

If any installment of Monthly Rent is not receivby Landlord or Landlord designee within five (5) business days aftedits date
Tenant shall pay to Landlord a late charge equtidgreater of 5% of the overdue amount or $25@ddition, any Rent that is not paid wit
10 days after its due date shall bear interesty fits due date until paid, at a rate equal to teéaDlt Rate. Suc